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Letter to shareholders

Dear shareholders,

In 2014, we delivered net profit attributable to shareholders of
CHF 3.5 billion, a 9% increase on the prior year. At the same time,
we continued to reduce risk-weighted assets (RWA) and improve
our leverage ratio, and we maintained the best fully applied
Basel Il common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio in our peer
group of large global banks, ending the year at 13.4%.

We owe thanks to our employees for their continued dedication
and hard work in providing superior advice and services to our
clients daily. This enabled us to deliver on our commitment of at-
tractive returns to our shareholders. As previously announced, we
are proposing an ordinary dividend of CHF 0.50 per share for the
financial year 2014, an increase of 100% on the prior year and a
payout ratio of 55%!" of reported net profit, which is in line with
our commitment to attractive shareholder returns. In addition, re-
flecting progress in the establishment of the new Group holding
company, including the successful completion of the share-for-
share exchange offer, we fully accrued a supplementary capital
return of CHF 0.25 per share in the fourth quarter of 2014. Sub-
ject to shareholder approval at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting (AGM), UBS Group AG intends to pay this one-time sup-
plementary capital return upon successful completion of the
squeeze-out procedure.

In 2014, we achieved the key strategic targets we set out in 2011
and 2012. Since the end of 2011, we have reduced RWA by over
CHF 160 billion, particularly in the Corporate Center — Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio, and added almost 700 basis points to our
fully applied Basel Il CET1 capital ratio, surpassing our long-stated
target of 13%. Furthermore, our Investment Bank today is less
complex and delivers more consistent underlying returns.

Now that we have completed our strategic transformation, we will
concentrate all our efforts on executing our strategy to unlock our
firm’s full potential. Our strategy centers on our leading wealth
management businesses and our premier universal bank in Switzer-
land, enhanced by our strong asset manager and investment bank.

As we expected, markets and the macroeconomic environment
during 2014 were influenced by heightened geopolitical tensions
in eastern Europe and the Middle East. Economic conditions in

1 Ordinary dividend per share as a percentage of diluted earnings per share.
more information on adjusted results.

2

leading developed economies differed greatly. This was reflected
in increasingly divergent central bank policies, as respective cen-
tral bank actions fueled ongoing appreciation of the US dollar
while weakening the euro and yen. At the same time, a sharp fall
in commodity prices in the latter half of the year contributed to
muted inflation expectations and to an increase in volatility, ad-
versely influencing client confidence and activity levels. Client risk
appetite remained subdued. All our business divisions demon-
strated resilience and their commitment to clients in this challeng-
ing environment, while delivering solid underlying performances.

In Wealth Management, adjusted? profit before tax was up 4%
on the prior year to CHF 2.5 billion, as the business attracted net
new money, drove high-quality revenues and managed costs care-
fully. It was another record-breaking year for Wealth Manage-
ment Americas, with operating income, loan balances, financial
advisor productivity, invested assets and adjusted? profit before
tax reaching all-time highs. Despite elevated charges for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters, the business delivered USD 1 bil-
lion in adjusted? profit before tax for the second year in a row. In
Retail & Corporate, 2014 was the best year for new Swiss retail
client acquisition since 2008. The business also achieved all of its
targets and grew adjusted? profit before tax 4%. Global Asset
Management delivered over CHF 0.5 billion in adjusted? profit
before tax and a substantial turnaround in net new money, at-
tracting almost CHF 23 billion excluding money market flows,
supported by greater engagement and collaboration with our
wealth management businesses. Client focus and resource effi-
ciency remained important drivers of our Investment Bank'’s suc-
cess. In particular, our strategic efforts to grow Corporate Client
Solutions bore fruit, with revenues up 8% year on year. We
achieved net cost reductions in Corporate Center, while reduc-
ing operational risks, strengthening controls and making progress
with our resolution and recovery plans through the establishment
of our Group holding company.

We are also pleased by the significant external recognition our
businesses’ achievements received during 2014 and into 2015.
UBS was confirmed as the largest wealth manager in the world in
Scorpio Partnership’s influential Global Private Banking Bench-
mark 20143, In Euromoney’s Private Banking Survey 2015, we

2 Please refer to “Group performance” in the “Financial and operating performance” section of this report for
3 The Scorpio Partnership Private Banking Benchmark 2014 — banks with assets under management of over USD 1 trillion.



Axel A. Weber

Chairman of the Board of Directors

received five global awards and were acknowledged as the firm
offering the best private banking services in Switzerland, western
Europe and Asia. Reflecting our standing as a leading brokerage
house and research provider, we took top position in several cat-
egories in the annual pan-European Thomson Reuters Extel Sur-
vey, including Leading Pan-European Equity House for the 11th
consecutive year. Other accolades included being named Equity
Derivatives House of the Year by International Financing Review
and Most Innovative Bank for M&A by The Banker.

Looking ahead to our 2015 AGM on May 7, in addition to votes
on existing members of the Board standing for re-election, share-
holders will have the opportunity to approve Jes Staley’s nomina-
tion to the Board. We believe his professional expertise would
strengthen the UBS Board of Directors further. This year's AGM
will be the first time our shareholders have the opportunity to
make binding decisions regarding remuneration for the Board of

Sergio P. Ermotti
Group Chief Executive Officer

Directors and Group Executive Board, in addition to the existing
advisory vote on our Compensation Report. In relation to com-
pensation, we have a stringent performance award framework
which has remained broadly consistent for the past three years.
Our robust compensation model fosters accountability by reward-
ing actions that help our firm achieve its medium and long-term
goals and deliver attractive and sustainable returns for our share-
holders. Overall, the firm’s performance award pool for 2014 was
CHF 3.1 billion, 5% lower than in 2013, weighing our strong per-
formance against the effects of charges for provisions for litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters.

For many years, we have been helping our clients invest sustainably
and responsibly. In 2014, we launched UBS and Society, an initia-
tive combining all our activities and capabilities in sustainable in-
vesting and philanthropy, as well as our firm’s interaction with the
wider community. We also published details of our environmental
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and social risk policy framework in a single, comprehensive docu-
ment. This guides us in identifying and dealing with environmental
and social risks arising from client and supplier relationships. We
aim to be a responsible corporate citizen and are therefore honored
by the external recognition our efforts have received. We were
named in the top three in our industry for 2014 in RobecoSAM’s
Corporate Sustainability Assessment, and we were rated best in
class in the 2014 Dow Jones Sustainability Indices, the FTSE4Good
Index Series and the CDP Climate Performance Leadership Index.
We also received the American Foreign Policy Association 2014

Corporate Social Responsibility award in acknowledgment of our
firm’s support of projects focusing on education and entrepreneur-
ship in communities around the world.

Finally, we would like to take this opportunity to thank both our
shareholders and our clients for the continued trust they place in
us. We are confident that by striving for excellence and putting
our clients at the center of everything we do, we can grow our
business profitably and continue delivering attractive returns to
shareholders.

13 March 2015
Yours sincerely,

UBS

Axel A. Weber
Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Sergio P. Ermotti
Group Chief Executive Officer



UBS Group AG key figures'

As of or for the year ended

CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12
Group results
Operatingincome 807 uE 2,423
Operatingexpenses 2567 24 27,216
Operating profit/{loss) before tax L A 3272 (1,799
Net profit/(loss) attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders 3,466 3,172 (2,480)
Diluted earnings per share (CHF)? 0.91 0.83 (0.66)
Key performance indicators?
Profitability
Rewmonequiy (ROE)%) 0 61 6.1
Return on assets, gross (%) 2.8 2.5 1.9
ot T oo o ek
GrOWth ............................................................................................................
Netprofitgrowth (%) 93
Net new money growth for combined wealth management businesses (%) 2.5 34 3.2
Resources
Common equity tir 1 captal ratio fuly appled, ) B4 28 58
Swiss SRB leverage ratio (phase-in, %) 5.4 4.7 3.6
Additional information
Profltablllty
....... "
120
1,259,797
45,949
182
40,032
238,113
.. 261,800
15.3
114
189
24
1,206,214
1,216,561
Other ...........................................................................
2,734 2,230
..................................................... 60155 . 62628
..................................................... 63526 . 54729
o L1394 m7a 1226
Tanglble book value per share (CHF) 12.14 11.07 10.54

1 Represents information for UBS Group AG (consolidated). Comparative information is the same as previously reported for UBS AG (consolidated) as UBS Group AG (consolidated) is considered to be the continuation
of UBS AG (consolidated). Refer to the “UBS Group — Changes to our legal structure” section and to “Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information. 2 Refer to “Note 9 Earnings per share (EPS) and shares outstanding” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. 3 Refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of
this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators. 4 Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report
for more information. 5 Net profit/(loss) attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders before amortization and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (annualized as applicable)/ average equity attributable to UBS
Group AG shareholders less average goodwill and intangible assets. Goodwill and intangible assets used in the calculation of tangible equity attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders as of 31 December 2014 have
been adjusted to reflect the non-controlling interests in UBS AG as of that date. 6 Based on phase-in Basel lll risk-weighted assets. 7 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure”
and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to
the "Capital management” section of this report for more information. 8 Group invested assets includes invested assets for Retail & Corporate. 9 Refer to the “UBS shares” section of this report for more information.

The 2014 results and the balance sheet in this report differ from those presented in our fourth quarter 2014 report issued on 10 February 2015. The net impact
of adjustments made subsequent to the publication of the unaudited fourth quarter 2014 financial report on net profit attributable to UBS Group AG share-
holders was a loss of CHF 105 million, which decreased basic and diluted earnings per share by CHF 0.03.

- Refer to “Note 37 Events after the reporting period” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information
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Shaping
the future

Annual Review 2014

The Annual Review 2014 “Shaping the future” will
be available at the beginning of April 2015 in an

iPad version at UBS Newsstand/Annual Review and
in a PDF version on ubs.com/investors.

Corporate information

UBS Group AG is incorporated and domiciled in Switzerland and operates
under the Swiss Code of Obligations as an Aktiengesellschaft, a stock
corporation. Its registered office is at Bahnhofstrasse 45, CH-8001 Zurich,
Switzerland, phone +41-44-23411 11, and its corporate identification number
is CHE-395.345.924. UBS Group AG was incorporated on 10 June 2014

and was established in 2014 as the holding company of the UBS Group.
UBS Group AG shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange and on the

New York Stock Exchange (ISIN: CH0244767585; CUSIP: H42097107).

UBS AG is incorporated and domiciled in Switzerland and operates under the
Swiss Code of Obligations as an Aktiengesellschaft, a stock corporation. The
addresses and telephone numbers of the two registered offices of UBS AG are:
Bahnhofstrasse 45, CH-8001 Zurich, Switzerland, phone +41-44-2341111;
and Aeschenvorstadt 1, CH-4051 Basel, Switzerland, phone +41-61-2885050.
The corporate identification number is CHE-101.329.561. UBS AG is a bank
and the main operating company of the UBS Group. The company was
formed on 29 June 1998, when Union Bank of Switzerland (founded 1862)
and Swiss Bank Corporation (founded 1872) merged to form UBS AG. UBS AG
shares are currently listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (ISIN: CH0024899483).



Contacts

Switchboards

For all general enquiries.
Zurich +41-44-234 1111
London +44-20-7568 0000
New York +1-212-821 3000
Hong Kong +852-2971 8888
www.ubs.com/contact

Investor Relations

UBS's Investor Relations team supports
institutional, professional and retail
investors from our offices in Zurich and
New York.

UBS Group AG, Investor Relations
P.O. Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland

investorrelations@ubs.com
www. ubs.com/investors

Hotline Zurich +41-44-234 4100
Hotline New York +1-212-882 5734
Fax (Zurich) +41-44-234 3415

Corporate calendar UBS Group AG

Media Relations

UBS's Media Relations team supports
global media and journalists from
offices in Zurich, London, New York
and Hong Kong.

www.ubs.com/media

Zurich +41-44-234 8500
mediarelations@ubs.com

London +44-20-7567 4714
ubs-media-relations@ubs.com

New York +1-212-882 5857
mediarelations-ny@ubs.com

Hong Kong +852-2971 8200
sh-mediarelations-ap@ubs.com

Office of the Company Secretary
The Company Secretary receives
enquiries on compensation and related
issues addressed to members of the
Board of Directors.

UBS Group AG, Office of the
Company Secretary
P.O. Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland

sh-company-secretary@ubs.com

Hotline +41-44-235 6652
Fax +41-44-235 8220

Imprint

Shareholder Services

UBS's Shareholder Services team, a unit
of the Company Secretary office, is
responsible for the registration of the
global registered shares.

UBS Group AG, Shareholder Services
P.O. Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland

sh-shareholder-services@ubs.com

Hotline +41-44-235 6652
Fax +41-44-235 8220

US Transfer Agent
For global registered share-related
enquiries in the US.

Computershare Trust Company NA
P.O. Box 30170

College Station

TX 77842-3170, USA

Shareholder online enquiries:
https://www-us.computershare.com/
investor/Contact

Shareholder website:
www.computershare.com/investor

Calls from the US +1-866-305-9566
Calls from outside

the US +1-781-575-2623

TDD for hearing impaired
+1-800-231-5469

TDD Foreign Shareholders
+1-201-680-6610

Publication of the first quarter 2015 report:

Annual General Meeting':

Publication of the second quarter 2015 report:

Publication of the third quarter 2015 report:

Tuesday, 5 May 2015
Thursday, 7 May 2015
Tuesday, 28 July 2015
Tuesday, 3 November 2015

Publisher: UBS Group AG, Zurich, Switzerland | www.ubs.com

Language: English/German | SAP-No. 80531E

© UBS 2015. The key symbol and UBS are among the registered and

1 The Annual General Meeting of UBS AG shareholders will also take place on Thursday, 7 May 2015.

unregistered trademarks of UBS. All rights reserved.
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UBS and its businesses

We are committed to providing private, institutional and corporate clients worldwide, as well as retail clients in Switzer-
land with superior financial advice and solutions while generating attractive and sustainable returns for shareholders.
Our strategy centers on our Wealth Management and Wealth Management Americas businesses and our leading univer-
sal bank in Switzerland, complemented by our Global Asset Management business and our Investment Bank. These
businesses share three key characteristics: they benefit from a strong competitive position in their targeted markets, are
capital-efficient, and offer a superior structural growth and profitability outlook. Our strategy builds on the strengths of
all of our businesses and focuses our efforts on areas in which we excel, while seeking to capitalize on the compelling
growth prospects in the businesses and regions in which we operate. Capital strength is the foundation of our success.
The operational structure of the Group is comprised of the Corporate Center and five business divisions: Wealth Manage-
ment, Wealth Management Americas, Retail & Corporate, Global Asset Management and the Investment Bank.

Wealth Management

Wealth Management provides comprehensive financial services
to wealthy private clients around the world — except those served
by Wealth Management Americas. UBS is a global firm with
global capabilities, and Wealth Management clients benefit from
the full spectrum of UBS's global resources, ranging from invest-
ment management solutions to wealth planning and corporate
finance advice, as well as a wide range of specific offerings. Its
guided architecture model gives clients access to a wide range of
products from third-party providers that complement our own
products.

Wealth Management Americas

Wealth Management Americas is one of the leading wealth man-
agers in the Americas in terms of financial advisor productivity
and invested assets. It provides advice-based solutions and bank-
ing services through financial advisors who deliver a fully integrat-
ed set of products and services specifically designed to address

the needs of ultra high net worth and high net worth individuals
and families. It includes the domestic US and Canadian business
as well as international business booked in the US.

Retail & Corporate

Retail & Corporate provides comprehensive financial products
and services to its retail, corporate and institutional clients in
Switzerland, maintaining a leading position in these client seg-
ments and embedding its offering in a multi-channel approach.
The retail and corporate business constitutes a central building
block of UBS's universal bank delivery model in Switzerland, sup-
porting other business divisions by referring clients to them and
assisting retail clients to build their wealth to a level at which we
can transfer them to our Wealth Management unit. Furthermore,
it leverages the cross-selling potential of products and services
provided by its asset-gathering and investment banking busi-
nesses. In addition, we manage a substantial part of UBS's Swiss
infrastructure and Swiss banking products platform, which are
both leveraged across the Group.



Global Asset Management

Global Asset Management is a large-scale asset manager with
well diversified businesses across regions and client segments. It
serves third-party institutional and wholesale clients, as well as
clients of UBS’s wealth management businesses with a broad
range of investment capabilities and styles across all major tradi-
tional and alternative asset classes. Complementing the invest-
ment offering, the fund services unit provides fund administration
services for UBS and third-party funds.

Investment Bank

The Investment Bank provides corporate, institutional and wealth
management clients with expert advice, innovative solutions, ex-
ecution and comprehensive access to the world’s capital markets.
We offer advisory services and access to international capital
markets, and provide comprehensive cross-asset research, along
with access to equities, foreign exchange, precious metals and
selected rates and credit markets, through our business units,
Corporate Client Solutions and Investor Client Services. The In-
vestment Bank is an active participant in capital markets flow
activities, including sales, trading and market-making across a
range of securities.

Corporate Center

Corporate Center is comprised of Core Functions and Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio. Core Functions include Group-wide control
functions such as finance (including treasury services such as
liquidity, funding, balance sheet and capital management), risk
control (including compliance) and legal. In addition, Core Func-
tions provide all logistics and support services, including opera-
tions, information technology, human resources, regulatory rela-
tions and strategic initiatives, communications and branding,
corporate services, physical security, information security as well
as outsourcing, nearshoring and offshoring. Non-core and Lega-
cy Portfolio is comprised of the non-core businesses and legacy
positions that were part of the Investment Bank prior to its
restructuring.

As of 1 January 2015, Corporate Center — Core Functions was
reorganized into two new components, Corporate Center — Ser-
vices and Corporate Center — Group Asset and Liability Manage-
ment (Group ALM).
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Our Board of Directors

\

The Board of Directors (BoD) of UBS Group AG and UBS AG, each under the leadership of the Chairman, decides on the strategy of the Group upon recom-
mendation of the Group Chief Executive Officer (Group CEQ), exercises ultimate supervision over senior management and appoints all Group Executive Board
(GEB) members. The BoD also approves all financial statements for issue and proposes the Chairman, who in turn is elected by the shareholders at the general
shareholders meeting. In addition, shareholders elect each member of the BoD individually, as well as the members of the Human Resources and Compensation
Committee. The BoD in turn appoints one or more Vice Chairmen, a Senior Independent Director, the members of the BoD committees other than the HRCC,
and their respective Chairpersons, and the Company Secretary. In 2014, our BoD met the standards of the Organization Regulations for the percentage of
directors that are considered independent.

10



1 Axel A.Weber Chairman of the Board of Directors/Chairperson of the Corporate Culture and Responsibility Committee/Chairperson of the Governance
and Nominating Committee 2 William G. Parrett Chairperson of the Audit Committee/member of the Corporate Culture and Responsibility Commit-
tee 3 Reto Francioni Member of the Corporate Culture and Responsibility Committee/member of the Human Resources and Compensation Commit-
tee 4lsabelle Romy Member of the Audit Committee/member of the Governance and Nominating Committee s Ann F. Godbehere Chairperson of the
Human Resources and Compensation Committee/member of the Audit Committee & Beatrice Weder di Mauro Member of the Audit Committee/mem-
ber of the Risk Committee 7Joseph Yam Member of the Corporate Culture and Responsibility Committee/member of the Risk Committee
8 Axel P. Lehmann Member of the Risk Committee 9 Helmut Panke Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee/member of the
Risk Committee 10 David Sidwell Senior Independent Director/Chairperson of the Risk Committee/member of the Governance and Nominating Commit-
tee 11 Michel Demaré Independent Vice Chairman/member of the Audit Committee/member of the Governance and Nominating Committee/member
of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee

11
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Our Group Executive Board

UBS Group AG and UBS AG operate under a strict dual board structure, and therefore the BoD delegates the management of the 1 2 3 4
business to the Group Executive Board (GEB). Under the leadership of the Group Chief Executive Officer, the Group Executive Board 5 6 7 8
has executive management responsibility for the UBS Group and its businesses. It assumes overall responsibility for the development 9 10

of the Group and business division strategies and the implementation of approved strategies.

12



- To read the full biographies of our Board members, visit

www.ubs.com/geb or refer to “Group Executive Board” in the
“Corporate governance” section of this report

1 Sergio P. Ermotti Group Chief Executive Officer 2 Lukas Gahwiler President Retail & Corporate and President Switzerland 3 Markus U. Diethelm Group
General Counsel 4 Philip J. Lofts Group Chief Risk Officer s Tom Naratil Group Chief Financial Officer and Group Chief Operating Officer & Andrea Orcel
President Investment Bank 7 Robert J. McCann President Wealth Management Americas and President Americas & Chi-Won Yoon President Asia Pacific
9 Jiirg Zeltner President Wealth Management 10 Ulrich Kérner President Global Asset Management and President Europe, Middle East and Africa

13
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The making of UBS

UBS has played a pivotal role in the development and growth of
Switzerland’s banking tradition since the firm’s origins in the mid-
19th century.

The origins of the banking industry in Switzerland can be
traced back to medieval times. This long history may help explain
the widespread impression, reinforced in popular fiction, that
Switzerland has always possessed a strong financial sector. In re-
ality, the size and international reach of the Swiss banking sector
we know today is largely a product of the second half of the 20th
century, strongly influenced by two banks: Union Bank of Switzer-
land and Swiss Bank Corporation (SBC), which merged to form
UBS in 1998.

At the time of the merger, both banks were already well-estab-
lished and successful in their own right. Union Bank of Switzer-
land celebrated its 100th anniversary in 1962, tracing its origins
back to the Bank in Winterthur. SBC marked its centenary in 1972
with celebrations in honor of its founding forebear, the Basler
Bankverein. The historical roots of PaineWebber, acquired by UBS
in 2000, go back to 1879, while S.G. Warburg, the central pillar
upon which UBS’s Investment Bank was built, commenced opera-
tions in 1946.

In the early 1990s, SBC and Union Bank of Switzerland were
both commercial banks operating mainly out of Switzerland. The
banks shared a similar vision: to become a world leader in wealth

1830 1840 1850 1860 1870 1880 1890 1900 1910 1920
1832
Do Read & 0.
1862
Basler Handelsbank
1882
Basler
Depositenbank
1895
1856 1872 Basler & Zircher . i
Bankverein Basler Bankverein Bankverein 1897 Swiss Bank Corporation
1889
1889 Schweiz.
Zilrcher Bankverein | Unionbank
1832
Sehroder Minchmeyer Hengst & C0.
1895
Phillips & Drew

1863
Eidgendssische Bank

1863
Toggenburger Bank

1862
Bank in Winterthur

1872

Aargauische Kreditanstalt

1919

1863
Bank in Baden
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1915

1914

Blyth, Eastman Dillon & Co.

1912 Union Bank of Switzerland

1919
Mitchell Hutchins, Inc.

1880
Paine & Webber

1879
Jackson & Curtis




management, a successful global investment bank and a top-tier
global asset manager, while remaining an important commercial
and retail bank in their home market of Switzerland.

Union Bank of Switzerland, the largest and best-capitalized
Swiss bank of its time, pursued these goals primarily through a
strategy of organic growth. In contrast, SBC, then the third-larg-
est Swiss bank, grew through a combination of partnership and
acquisition. In 1989, SBC started a joint venture with O'Connor, a
leading US derivatives firm noted for its dynamic and innovative
culture, its meritocracy and its team-oriented approach. O’Con-
nor brought state-of-the-art risk management and derivatives
technology to SBC, and in 1992 SBC moved to fully acquire
O’Connor. In 1994, SBC added to its capabilities when it acquired
Brinson Partners, a leading US-based institutional asset manage-
ment firm.

The next major milestone was in 1995, when SBC acquired
S.G. Warburg, the British merchant bank. The deal helped SBC fill

a strategic gap in its corporate finance, brokerage, and research
capabilities and, most importantly, brought with it an institution-
al client franchise that remains crucial to our equities business to
this day.

The 1998 merger of SBC and Union Bank of Switzerland into
the firm we know today created a world-class wealth manager
and the largest universal bank in Switzerland, complemented by a
strong investment bank and a leading global institutional asset
manager. In 2000, UBS grew further with the acquisition of
PaineWebber, establishing the firm as a significant player in the
US. UBS has established a strong footprint in the Asia Pacific re-
gion and emerging markets based on a presence in many of these
countries going back decades.

In 2007, the effects of the global financial crisis started to be
felt across the financial industry. This crisis had its origins in the
securitized financial product business linked to the US residential
real estate market. Between the third quarter of 2007 and the

1930 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020
........................................................................................................................................ 1997
1936
Potter Partners
.............................................................................................. 1987
1946
S.G. Warburg Group 199
1989
Brinson
Partners
1994
1945
1977
0'Connor & Associates 1992
..................................................................................................................................... 1997
1986
1945
1998
1928 2015
Interhandel 1967 UBS Switzerland AG
2014
UBS Group AG/
UBS AG

1977

1979

1942
Paine, Webber, Jackson & Curtis

1974 PaineWebber, Inc.

2000
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fourth quarter of 2009, we incurred significant losses on these
assets. We responded with decisive action designed to reduce risk
exposures and stabilize our businesses, including raising capital on
multiple occasions. More recently, we continued to improve the
firm’s capital strength to meet new and enhanced industry-wide
regulatory requirements. Our position as one of the world’s
best-capitalized banks, together with our stable funding and
sound liquidity positions, provides us with a solid foundation for
our success.

In 2012, the year of our 150th anniversary, we accelerated our
strategic transformation of the firm to create a business model
that is better adapted to the new regulatory and market circum-

16

stances and that we believe will result in more consistent and
high-quality returns. In 2013, we further advanced the execution
of our strategic transformation and by the end of 2014, we com-
pleted our strategic transformation process. We have further
reduced risk-weighted assets, improved our leverage ratio and
maintained the best fully applied Basel Ill CET1 capital ratio in our
peer group of large global banks. We will continue to execute our
strategy in order to achieve the firm’s long-term success and to
deliver sustainable returns for our shareholders.
- Refer to www.ubs.com/history for more information on UBS’s
history of more than 150 years
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UBS Group — Changes to our legal structure
The new legal structure of UBS Group

The new legal structure

During 2014, we established UBS Group AG as the holding com-
pany of UBS Group. This change is intended, along with other
measures already announced, to substantially improve the resolv-
ability of UBS Group in response to evolving too big to fail (TBTF)
regulatory requirements.

UBS Group AG was incorporated on 10 June 2014 as a wholly
owned subsidiary of UBS AG. On 29 September 2014, UBS Group
AG launched an offer to acquire all the issued ordinary shares of

Legal structure as of 31 December 2014

of UBS Group

UBS AG in exchange for registered shares of UBS Group AG on a
one-for-one basis. Following the exchange offer and subsequent
private exchanges on a one-for-one basis with various sharehold-
ers and banks in Switzerland and elsewhere outside the United
States, UBS Group AG acquired 96.68% of UBS AG shares by
31 December 2014.

UBS Group AG has filed a request with the Commercial Court
of the Canton of Zurich for a procedure under article 33 of the

Shareholders of
UBS Group AG

100. 00%

UBS Group AG

96.68%

UBS AG consolidated

UBS Group AG consolidated

00
M

100.00%"

3.32%

Non-controlling
shareholders of UBS AG

(V]33
Americas
Inc.

r 100.00 %

UBS
Financial
Services
Inc.

UBS Limited

30%

UBS
Securities

LLC

(V]:39
Switzerland
AG3

Other
subsidiaries?

1 Direct and indirect holdings. The entities specifically listed are the Group's individually significant subsidiaries as of 31 December 2014. Refer to “Note 30 Interests in subsidiaries and other entities” in the "Financial

information” section of this report for more information.

2 UBS AG and the significant subsidiaries shown in this chart hold in aggregate 100% of these other subsidiaries with very few exceptions.

3 UBS Switzerland

AG is a wholly owned, non-operating subsidiary of UBS AG. It is intended to become operational in the second quarter of 2015.
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Swiss Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading Act (the “SESTA
procedure”). If the SESTA procedure is successful, the shares of
the remaining minority shareholders of UBS AG will be automati-
cally exchanged for UBS Group AG shares, and UBS Group AG
will become the 100% owner of UBS AG. The timing and success
of the SESTA procedure are dependent on the court. We currently
expect that the SESTA procedure will be completed in the second
half of 2015.

UBS Group AG may continue to acquire additional UBS AG
shares using any method permitted under applicable law, includ-
ing purchases of UBS AG shares or share equivalents or exchanges
of UBS AG shares with UBS Group AG shares on a one for one
basis.

After the squeeze-out process is completed, we expect to pay
a supplementary capital return of CHF 0.25 per share to share-
holders of UBS Group AG.

UBS Group AG shares have been listed on the SIX Swiss Ex-
change (SIX) (Ticker symbol: UBSG) since 28 November 2014 and
also began regular-way trading on the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) (Ticker symbol: UBS) on the same date. UBS AG shares
were delisted from the NYSE on 17 January 2015. UBS AG shares
will also be delisted from SIX upon completion of the squeeze-out
process.

The changes to our legal structure do not affect our strategy,
our business and the way we serve our clients. They also have no
material effect on the organization, processes, roles and responsi-
bilities with respect to how UBS is managed and governed. UBS
Group AG's Board of Directors and Group Executive Board have
the same members as UBS AG's Board of Directors and Group
Executive Board, respectively.

Terms used in this report, unless the context requires otherwise

"“UBS," "UBS Group,” “UBS Group AG (consolidated),”
"Group,” “the Group,” "we,” “us" and “our”

"UBS AG (consolidated)”
"UBS Group AG" and "UBS Group AG (standalone)”
"UBSAG" and “UBS AG (standalone)”

UBS Group AG and its consolidated subsidiaries

UBS AG and its consolidated subsidiaries
UBS Group AG on a standalone basis

UBS AG on a standalone basis
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The new legal structure of UBS Group

Transaction overview

UBS Group AG - establishment of our Group holding company

Incorporation of
UBS Group AG

UBS Group AG became the new holding company of UBS Group

UBS Group held
97.29% of UBS AG shares

and held 90.40% of all UBS AG shares

Launch of the share-for-share
exchange offer

14 Oct 2014

A

10 June 2014

A

29 Sept 2014

Initial offer period

Key steps in the Group reorganization

— On 10 June 2014, the new entity UBS Group AG was incorpo-
rated as a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) under Swiss
law and as a wholly owned subsidiary of UBS AG with a regis-
tered domicile in Zurich.

— On 29 September 2014, UBS Group AG launched an offer to
acquire all issued ordinary shares of UBS AG in exchange for
registered shares of UBS Group AG on a one-for-one basis (the
exchange offer). During the initial offer period from 14 Octo-
ber to 20 November 2014, 90.40% of all issued UBS AG shares
were tendered.

— On 26 November 2014, the capital increase in connection with
the first settlement of the exchange offer was approved by
UBS AG, the sole shareholder of UBS Group AG at the time.

— On 28 November 2014, the first settlement of the exchange
offer was carried out and UBS Group AG became the holding
company of UBS Group and the parent company of UBS AG.
UBS Group AG shares started trading on the SIX and also be-
gan regular-way trading on the NYSE on the same date.

— A subsequent offer period was provided from 26 November to
10 December 2014.

— Following the exchange offer and subsequent private ex-
changes on a one-for-one basis with various shareholders and
banks in Switzerland and elsewhere outside the United States,
UBS Group AG held 96.68% of UBS AG shares by 31 Decem-
ber 2014.
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20 Nov 2014

UBS Group AG shares started trading on the SIX and NYSE

UBS Group AG held 96.68%
of UBS AG shares

26 Nov 2014 10 Dec 2014
28 Nov 2014 31 Dec 2014 6 Mar 2015

Subsequent offer period

— Further private exchanges have reduced the amount of out-
standing UBS AG shares by 17.1 million and as a result UBS
Group held 97.29% of UBS AG shares by 6 March 2015.

- Refer to the “UBS shares” section of this report for more
information on our shares

Transfer of deferred compensation plans

As part of the Group’s reorganization, in the fourth quarter of
2014, UBS Group AG assumed obligations of UBS AG as grantor
in connection with outstanding awards under employee share,
option, notional fund and deferred cash plans. At the same time,
UBS Group AG acquired the beneficial ownership of the financial
assets and 90.5 million treasury shares of UBS Group AG held to
hedge the economic exposure arising from these plans.

Obligations relating to these deferred compensation plans’
awards, which are required to be, and have been, granted by a
separate UBS subsidiary or local employing UBS AG branches,
have not been assumed by UBS Group AG and will continue on
this basis. Furthermore, obligations related to other compensation
vehicles, such as defined benefit pension plans and other local
awards, have not been assumed by UBS Group AG and are re-
tained by the relevant employing and/or sponsoring subsidiaries
or UBS AG branches.



Comparison UBS Group AG (consolidated) vs. UBS AG (consolidated)

The consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group were not af-
fected by the transaction. No cash offer was made for UBS AG
shares and therefore no cash proceeds have resulted from the is-
sue of the UBS Group AG shares in connection with the exchange
offer.

The table on the next page shows the differences between

UBS Group AG (consolidated) and UBS AG (consolidated) finan-
cial, capital and liquidity and funding information as of or for the
period ended 31 December 2014. These differences are recorded
in Corporate Center — Core Functions and relate to the following:

Assets, liabilities, operating income, operating expenses and
operating profit before tax relating to UBS Group AG are re-
flected in the consolidated financial statements of UBS Group
AG but not of UBS AG. UBS AG's assets, liabilities, operating
income, and operating expenses related to transactions with
UBS Group AG are not subject to elimination in the UBS AG
(consolidated) financial statements, but are eliminated in the
UBS Group AG (consolidated) financial statements.

The accounting policies applied under International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) in both financial statements are
identical. However, there are differences in equity and net
profit, as a small portion of UBS AG shares is still held by share-
holders with non-controlling interests (NCI) and due to differ-
ent presentation requirements related to preferred notes is-
sued by UBS AG.

Total equity of UBS Group AG consolidated includes NCl in UBS
AG. Most of the difference of CHF 1,500 million in equity at-
tributable to shareholders between the consolidated equity of

UBS Group AG and UBS AG relates to these NCI. Net profit
attributable to non-exchanged UBS AG shares since 26 Novem-
ber 2014 is presented as net profit attributable to NCI in the
consolidated income statement of UBS Group AG.

Preferred notes issued by UBS AG of CHF 2,013 million are
presented in the consolidated UBS Group AG balance sheet as
equity attributable to NCI, while in the consolidated UBS AG
balance sheet these preferred notes are required to be pre-
sented as equity attributable to preferred noteholders. For
2014, the consolidated financial statements of UBS Group AG
and UBS AG reflect the same net profit attributable to pre-
ferred noteholders as no additional profit has been attributed
to preferred noteholders following the date upon which UBS
Group AG became the holding company of the Group.

Most of the differences of CHF 1,864 million and CHF 451
million in common equity tier 1 and total capital, respectively,
were due to compensation-related regulatory capital accruals,
liabilities and capital instruments which are reflected on the
level of UBS Group AG, following the transfer of the grantor
function for the Group’s employee deferred compensation
plans during the fourth quarter of 2014. Respective charges to
consolidated UBS AG common equity tier 1 and total capital
will be made over the service period of the corresponding com-
pensation awards.
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Comparison UBS Group AG (consolidated) versus UBS AG (consolidated)

As of or for the year ended 31.12.14

UBS Group AG UBS AG Difference Difference
CHF million, except where indicated (consolidated) (consolidated) (absolute) (%)
Income statement
Operatingincome 28027 28026 1 0
Ol OB o 25,367 .. 5557 0 0.
Operating profit/(loss) before tax ... B8 2469 ® 0.
N O 0SS L 3040 3849 O 0
of which: net profit/(loss) attributable
LTOSRETEROIEIS | ettt et et e 3466 ... 3502 69 (1)
of which: net profit/(loss) attributable
| fopreferred noteholders Mz 12 0 0.
of which: net profit/(loss) attributable
to non-controlling interests 32 5 27 540
Balance sheet
Total assets 1,062,478 1,062,327 151 0
Toal s e, 1008110 1008162 G2 0
Tl Uty ) 4368 4165 . 03 0
of which: equity attributable
ool 50608 52108 . (1500 G)
of which: equity attributable
| fopreferred noteholders 0 2013 ... (2013 . (100)
of which: equity attributable
to non-controlling interests 3,760 45 3715
Capital information (fully applied)
Common equity tier 1 capital 28,941 30,805 (1,864) (6)

Swiss SRB leverage ratio (%) 4.1 4.1 0.0

Liquidity and funding
Liquidity coverage ratio (pro-forma, %) 123 123 0

Net stable funding ratio (pro-forma, %) 106 106 0

Share information
Shares issued (number of shares)

Shares outstanding (number of shares)

Tangible book value per share (CHF)
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External reporting concept

General requirements

Our external reporting requirements and the scope of our external
reports are defined by general accounting law and principles, rele-
vant stock and debt listing rules, specific legal and regulatory re-
quirements, as well as by our own financial reporting policies. As a
global firm with shares listed both on the SIX and the NYSE, we have
to prepare and publish consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) at least
on a half-yearly basis. Additionally, statutory financial statements
need to be prepared annually as the basis for the tax return, the
appropriation of retained earnings and a potential distribution of
dividends or capital contribution reserves, subject to approval at the
Annual General Meeting (AGM). Management’s discussion and
analysis (MD&A) complements our annual financial statements by
providing information on (i) our strategy and the operating environ-
ment in which we operate, (i) the financial and operating perfor-

Content of our external reporting documents

mance of our business divisions and Corporate Center, (jii) our risk,
treasury and capital management and (iv) our corporate governance,
corporate responsibility framework and compensation frameworks.

Our Annual Reports and Form 20-F

To give shareholders as well as other stakeholders access to infor-
mation on UBS Group AG and on UBS AG, both in a combined
manner and separately, we publish three distinct documents on
www.ubs.com/investors:

— A combined Annual Report providing all relevant and required
disclosures for both UBS Group AG and UBS AG, which is also
the basis for our combined Form 20-F filing;

— An Annual Report for UBS Group AG only and

— An Annual Report for UBS AG only, consisting of financial in-
formation related to UBS AG only, complemented by MD&A
on a UBS Group level.

Content

5. Corporate 6. UBSAG

governance, consolidat-

responsibili- ed financial

ty and com- statements
ment. pensation

| e Onsuded uneited (TR

6.UBSAG | 6.UBSAG
standalone | consolidated

financial SEC
disclosures

statements

Swiss

with Ordinance? federal
banking
law

All electronic Audited/unaudited Unaudited'
versions of — - — -
our reports are  Section 1.Changes  2.Operating 3.Financial 4. Risk,
available on to our environ- and treasury
www.ubs.com/ Group legal  ment and operating and capital
investors structure strategy performance  manage-
Prepared in accordance GRI/
Language  Publication
= English Electronic
N
These sections are based on the consolidated UBS Group.
Selective differences to UBS AG (consolidated) are described
in each section.
'UBS Group AG and UBS AG
Annual Report 2014
= English Electronic
and printed
German Electronic
and printed
UBS Group AG
Annual Report 2014
= English Electronic*
UBSAG
Annual Report 2014

- s

1 Certain disclosures in the “Risk, treasury and capital management” section are required by IFRS and subject to audit, and are an integral part of the Financial Statements. In section 5, only the compensation report is audited.

Content of the sections “Corporate responsibility” and “Our employees” is reviewed by Ernst & Young (EY) to ensure information has been prepared according to the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).

2 Content of the sec-

tions “Corporate Responsibility” and “Our employees” was prepared in accordance with Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Sustainability Reporting Guidelines. The “Compensation” section was prepared in accordance with

the Swiss Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (“Ordinance”).

accordance with Swiss law, the Annual Report will be available in print for shareholders at UBS AG's registered addresses and, on request, by mail.

3 The printed version of this report only contains summarized financial statements for UBS AG (standalone). 4 In

5 Following an exemption from certain reporting and other requirements

under the listing regulations of SIX Swiss Exchange, information relating to the corporate governance of UBS AG is not required to be published in the Annual Report 2014, but information about UBS AG continues to be
presented in response to US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requirements, and the compensation report of UBS AG is an abridged version of the compensation report of UBS Group AG.
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Future structural changes

UBS continues to implement additional measures to substantially
improve the Group’s resolvability in response to too big to fail
(TBTF) requirements in Switzerland and other countries in which
the Group operates. In Switzerland, we are progressing toward
the transfer of our Retail & Corporate business division and the
Swiss-booked business of our Wealth Management business divi-
sion into UBS Switzerland AG by mid-2015. Pursuant to the Swiss
Merger Act, we will transfer all relevant assets, liabilities and con-
tracts of clients of the Retail & Corporate business and the Swiss-
booked clients of the Wealth Management business. Under the
Swiss Merger Act, UBS AG will retain joint liability for obligations
existing on the date of the transfer that are transferred to UBS
Switzerland AG. UBS Switzerland AG will contractually assume
joint liability for contractual obligations of UBS AG existing on the
date of transfer. Neither UBS AG nor UBS Switzerland AG will
have joint liability for new obligations incurred by the other after
the effective date of the asset transfer.

To comply with new rules for foreign banks in the US under the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
(Dodd-Frank), by 1 July 2016 we will designate an intermediate
holding company that will own all of our US operations except US
branches of UBS AG. In the UK, we have begun to implement a
revised business and operating model for UBS Limited, which will
enable UBS Limited to bear and retain a larger proportion of the
risk and reward in its business activities.

Our strategy, our business and the way we serve our clients are
not affected by these changes. These plans do not require UBS to
raise additional common equity capital and are not expected to
materially affect the firm’s capital-generating capability.
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We are confident that the establishment of UBS Group AG as
the holding company of the Group along with our other an-
nounced measures will substantially enhance the resolvability of
the Group. We expect that the Group will qualify for a rebate on
the progressive buffer capital requirements, which should result in
lower overall capital requirements. The Swiss Financial Market Su-
pervisory Authority (FINMA) has confirmed that our proposed
measures are in principle suitable to warrant a rebate, although
the amount and timing will depend on the actual execution of
these measures and can therefore only be specified once all mea-
sures are implemented.

We may consider further changes to the Group's legal struc-
ture in response to regulatory requirements, including to further
improve the resolvability of the Group, to respond to capital
requirements, to seek any reduction in capital requirements to
which the Group may be entitled, and to meet any other regula-
tory requirements regarding our legal structure. Such changes
may include the transfer of operating subsidiaries of UBS AG to
become direct subsidiaries of UBS Group AG, the transfer of
shared service and support functions to service companies and
adjustments to the booking entity or location of products and
services. These structural changes are being discussed on an on-
going basis with FINMA and other regulatory authorities and re-
main subject to a number of uncertainties that may affect their
feasibility, scope or timing.

-> Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for

more information on our capital requirements
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Current market climate and industry drivers

The overall global economic climate improved modestly in 2014, but the business environment remained demanding for
the financial services industry. Profitability was curbed by lackluster market conditions with low interest rates and
muted client activity, amid an increasingly complex operating environment also driven by the expansion of regulatory

requirements.

Global economic and market climate

Global economies recovered moderately over the course of 2014.
However, the pace of the recovery remained slow in most parts of
the world and was marked by distinct divergence. Whereas the
US and the UK experienced stronger rates of growth with improv-
ing labor markets, economies in continental Europe remained
anemic and Japan relapsed into a recession in mid-2014. Among
key emerging markets, the still solid growth in China slowed due
to the ongoing real estate market downturn, Russia slipped into a
recession and Brazil's economy stagnated.

In many advanced economies, growth remained constrained
by high levels of public and private debt. Fiscal austerity policies,
even if less intense than in prior years, continued to pose head-
winds, as did concerns with regard to the stability of the banking
sector, particularly in the eurozone. Geopolitical uncertainty,
doubts about the pace of reforms in emerging economies, and
falling oil and commodity prices further restrained economic ac-
tivity in @ number of economies.

Despite such mixed growth, global equity markets rallied to
all-time highs, supported by strong liquidity, mostly due to
quantitative easing and high levels of corporate profitability, no-
tably in the US. Global fixed income markets were supported by
expansive monetary policies, low or falling inflation, and sub-
dued global economic activity. However, by the second half of
2014, market volatility was fuelled by concerns about a poten-
tial end to unconventional monetary policy measures in the US
and its consequences domestically and, especially, internation-
ally. Most notably, the stronger US economic recovery and mar-
ket expectations for divergent monetary policies between the
US and Europe or Japan resulted in a strong appreciation of the
US dollar.

The momentum of economic activity in the US improved
during 2014, with the recovery becoming more broad-based,
supported by an improving labor market and recovering con-
sumer and investor confidence. Wage inflation accelerated mod-
estly and falling energy prices kept inflation low, helping to lift
household purchasing power. Against this background, the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve) de-
cided to gradually taper its asset purchase program, concluding its
third round of quantitative easing in October 2014.

The Japanese economy suffered from a consumption tax in-
crease in April 2014, which stifled domestic demand, softened
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capital expenditures and set off a two-quarter recession around
mid-year. The Bank of Japan responded with a further round of
monetary easing. Consequently, the yen remained weak on global
foreign exchange markets during 2014, but inflation remained
below the central bank’s 2% target.

The recovery in the eurozone remained asymmetrical and frag-
ile, with growth insufficient to bring down unemployment. Falling
energy and food prices, alongside considerable weakness in the
eurozone, resulted in falling inflation and ultimately deflation by
the end of the year. Economic activity remained weak in France
and Italy throughout 2014, while Spain achieved a positive growth
rate in 2014. Germany’s economy slowed down around mid-year,
likely due to concerns about the impact of tighter sanctions
against Russia as a result of an escalation of the conflict in Ukraine.

Faced with the prospect of inflation sliding significantly below
target, the European Central Bank (ECB) introduced negative de-
posit rates and launched an asset-backed security (ABS) and cov-
ered-bond purchase program in June. Later, the ECB announced a
program of asset purchases (quantitative easing). The ECB also
carried out a comprehensive assessment of the largest banks in
the eurozone, consisting of an asset quality review and stress
tests. The results of this assessment, which also marked the for-
mal starting point of the Single Supervisory Mechanism as an im-

Currency exchange rates 1 January 2004 - 28 February 2015
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portant pillar of the European Banking Union, should help
strengthen confidence in the European banking system.

Contrary to most European countries, Switzerland experienced
another year of solid growth in 2014, supported by robust do-
mestic demand and a strong housing market on the back of low
interest rates. Nevertheless, inflation remained well below the
Swiss National Bank’s target of 2% during 2014.

Emerging economies posted highly inconsistent economic ac-
tivity, with some countries benefiting from improving growth in
advanced economies, while others were negatively impacted by
weakening consumer and investor confidence, as well as falling
commodity prices. Russia slipped into a recession in late-2014,
as a result of international sanctions stemming from the Ukraine
conflict, and plunging oil prices. Weak commodity prices also
slowed growth in Brazil. China’s economy still grew solidly in
2014, despite the onset of a recession in its real estate market,
which was the key catalyst for the global decline in prices for
basic materials and commodities. Financial markets in the
emerging world experienced volatility in 2014, given slowing
growth, a strong US dollar and concerns about the impact of a
pending normalization of US monetary policy, as well as geo-
political uncertainties.

Economic and market outlook for 2015

Overall, we expect lower oil prices as well as favorable financial
and monetary policy conditions to give momentum to a global
economic recovery in 2015. Global growth should pick up slightly
in 2015, underpinned by an acceleration in the US and modest
recoveries in Japan and Europe. The eurozone should benefit
from a weaker euro and lower oil prices, although the strength
of the recovery may prove uneven across the region and sensitive
to local political climate. The pace of UK economic growth should
remain solid, while the Swiss economy is facing the challenge of
a stronger currency and is expected to slow as a result. Among
emerging economies, China’s growth is expected to slip just
below 7%, if the real estate recession in the country persists. A
modest upturn in global trade should benefit net exports in
Asian emerging countries, while Russia’s economy is likely to
continue experiencing the impacts of international sanctions and
low oil prices.

- Refer to the “Impact of Swiss National Bank actions” sidebar in
the “Current market climate and industry drivers” section of this
report for more information on the effect of Swiss National Bank
actions effective January 2015

Industry drivers

The operating environment for the financial services industry re-
mained demanding over the course of 2014, reflecting challeng-
ing market conditions, continued headwinds due to the expan-
sion of the regulatory requirements, and a subdued macroeconomic
and market environment, among other reasons. All of these put
pressure on revenue growth.

Far-reaching regulatory reform proposals close
to finalization

During 2014, regulators and legislators continued to require fi-
nancial services firms to become simpler, more transparent and
more resilient. Against this backdrop, far-reaching regulatory ini-
tiatives, such as MiFID II/MiFIR and the Bank Recovery and Reso-
lution Directive in the European Union (EU), and cross-border re-
quirements for securities-based swap dealers in the US, were
progressed substantially or finalized. Additionally, further steps
were taken toward finalizing the Basel Ill capital and liquidity
framework, with the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
(BCBS) issuing global standards related to the calculation of the
leverage ratio denominator and the final framework for the Net
Stable Funding Ratio to address banks’ long-term liquidity risks.

Regulators also addressed TBTF by taking actions intended to
ensure that large, global financial services institutions can be re-
solved without causing a systemic disruption to the financial sys-
tem or requiring capital support from the taxpayer. The Financial
Stability Board (FSB) proposed to introduce global standards for
“total loss absorbing capacity” (TLAC). With this requirement, the
FSB aims to ensure that global systemically important banks have
adequate loss-absorbing capacity to enable an orderly wind-
down. The FSB proposed that a minimum Pillar 1 TLAC require-
ment be set within the range of 16% to 20% of risk-weighted
assets (RWA) and at least twice the Basel Ill tier 1 leverage ratio
requirement. To support cross-border resolution, the FSB, jointly
with the industry, also developed a resolution stay protocol. This
protocol imposes a stay on cross-default and early termination
rights under standard derivatives contracts of the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) between banks should
one of them become subject to resolution action in its jurisdiction.
The underlying purpose of this agreement is to give regulators
sufficient time to facilitate an orderly resolution of a troubled
bank. Eighteen major banks, including UBS, have adopted the
protocol.

-> Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” section of

this report for more information

Spotlight lingers on bank capitalization and balance sheets

In order to further increase trust in the banking sector, regulators
focused on the quality of banks’ balance sheets and the calcula-
tion of embedded risks, as well as increasing capital requirements,
such as the enhanced leverage ratio requirements for US top-tier
bank holding companies.

The ECB conducted a comprehensive review of balance sheets
and risk profiles of 130 European banks. The review consisted of
three elements: (i) a quantitative and qualitative supervisory as-
sessment of key risks, including liquidity, leverage and funding; (ii)
a review of the banks’ asset quality, including the accuracy of as-
set and collateral valuations and adequacy of related provisions,
aiming to enhance the transparency of banks’ exposures and (iii)
a stress test to examine the resilience of banks’ balance sheets to
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stress scenarios. In this review, banks were measured against a
capital threshold of 8% based on Capital Requirements Directive
IV definitions. The comprehensive assessment identified a capital
shortfall of EUR 25 billion for 25 banks at the end of 2013. Twelve
of those 25 banks covered their shortfall during 2014, and the
remaining banks were given up to nine months to close the iden-
tified gap. The comprehensive assessment also showed that in a
severe scenario, as defined by the ECB, the banks’ median CET1
capital ratio decreased by approximately four percentage points
from 12.4% to 8.3%. UBS Luxembourg SA was reviewed by the
ECB and passed the comprehensive assessment successfully.

Similar stress testing exercises were conducted in the UK and
the US. The Bank of England concluded that the resilience of the
banking system in the UK had improved significantly since the
capital shortfall assessment in 2013. The Bank of England’s stress
test results, and banks’ capital plans, indicated that the banking
system has the capacity to maintain its core functions in a stress
scenario, and that no system-wide macro-prudential actions were
needed. The Federal Reserve’s Comprehensive Capital Analysis
and Review (CCAR) showed that US firms had substantially in-
creased their capital since the first tests in 2009, with the aggre-
gate tier 1 common equity ratio more than doubling from 5.5%
to 11.6%.

Further to the above reviews, policymakers focused increas-
ingly on transparency with regard to the risks that banks hold on
their balance sheets. As a result, attention shifted to unweighted
capital ratios and to the way banks calculate the risks on their
balance sheets. In this context, the BCBS revised the standardized
approach to calculating credit risk, such as by relying less on exter-
nal credit ratings and the scope of national discretion or by
strengthening the link between the standardized and the internal
risk-based approach.

Increased focus on costs to compensate for
subdued revenues

In 2014, raising income levels remained a challenging task for the
financial services industry. Growth constraints imposed by the
expansion of regulatory requirements were compounded by de-
manding market conditions and various uncertainties arising
from, among other things, political tensions in Eastern Europe
and the Middle East and policy divergence among major central
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banks. These factors reduced investors’ risk appetites, leading to
subdued volumes and increased volatility. In addition, the contin-
ued low-interest rate environment and flat yield curves added
pressure on net interest margins and revenues.

As a result of this unfavorable revenue environment, and also
to offset rising regulatory costs, the industry further intensified its
efforts to increase operational efficiency and realign cost struc-
tures to match subdued revenue levels.

Continued need to update digital capabilities

In 2014, the financial industry progressed in adapting to the rap-
idly changing digital reality. However, constant innovation is nec-
essary in this area, in order to meet evolving client expectations
with regard to personalization, convenience and transparency,
and to master the challenge of new market participants and the
latest trends in financial technology services and products, such as
digital currencies, mobile payments and robo-advisory services. It
is equally important to anticipate the rise of non-traditional fi-
nancing options, such as crowd funding and peer-to-peer fund-
ing. The established financial industry has therefore intensified its
efforts to enhance its digital capabilities to address these chal-
lenges, for example by introducing more sophisticated and cus-
tomized online services, or by more closely embedding social me-
dia into its client-facing activities, in order to further strengthen
individual customer relationships.

A further challenge for the financial services industry, also re-
sulting from increased digitalization, is cyber-crime. The risks asso-
ciated with cyber-crime not only commanded increased aware-
ness and investment from the financial services industry, but also
attracted close attention from regulators in 2014. A number of
regulators in the US, notably the Federal Reserve, the Federal De-
posit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency (OCC) and the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (SEC), have been delving into the topic to identify cyber-secu-
rity risks inherent in financial institutions and to assess the finan-
cial industry’s current practices and overall resilience. Furthermore,
the US Congress has taken a keen interest in cyber-security and
the financial industry may see additional legislation in this area as
aresult. The EU, for its part, has made the mitigation of cyber-risk
a priority in its work program for 2015, which is also likely to be
followed by new legislation.



On 15 January 2015, the Swiss National
Bank (SNB) discontinued the minimum
targeted exchange rate for the Swiss franc
versus the euro, which had been in place
since September 2011. At the same time,
the SNB lowered the interest rate on
deposit account balances at the SNB that
exceed a given exemption threshold by 50
basis points to negative 0.75%. It also
moved the target range for three-month
LIBOR to between negative 1.25% and
negative 0.25% (previously negative
0.75% to positive 0.25%). These decisions
resulted in a considerable strengthening of
the Swiss franc against the euro, US dollar,
British pound, Japanese yen and several
other currencies, as well as a reduction in
Swiss franc interest rates. As of 28 Feb-
ruary 2015, the Swiss franc exchange rate
was 0.95 to the US dollar, 1.07 to the
euro, 1.47 to the British pound and 0.80
to 100 Japanese yen. Volatility levels in
foreign currency exchange and interest
rates also increased.

A significant portion of the equity of
UBS’s foreign operations is denominated
in US dollars, euros, British pounds and
other foreign currencies. The appreciation
of the Swiss franc would have led to an
estimated decline in total equity of
approximately CHF 1.2 billion or 2%
when applying currency translation rates
as of 28 February 2015 to the reported
balances as of 31 December 2014. This
includes a reduction in recognized
deferred tax assets, mainly related to the
US, of approximately CHF 0.4 billion (of
which CHF 0.2 billion relates to temporary
differences deferred tax assets), which
would be recognized in Other compre-
hensive income.

Similarly, a significant portion of our

Basel Il risk-weighted assets (RWA) are
denominated in US dollars, euros, British
pounds and other foreign currencies.
Group Asset and Liability Management
(Group ALM) is mandated with the task of
minimizing adverse effects from changes
in currency rates on our fully applied CET1
capital and capital ratios. The Group Asset
and Liability Management Committee
(Group ALCO), a committee of the UBS
Group Executive Board, can adjust the
currency mix in capital, within limits set by
the Board of Directors, to balance the
effect of foreign exchange movements on
the fully applied CET1 capital and capital
ratio. As the proportion of RWA denomi-
nated in foreign currencies outweighs the
capital in these currencies, the significant
appreciation of the Swiss franc against
these currencies benefited our Basel lll
capital ratios. On a fully applied basis for
Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB),
we would have experienced the following
approximate declines in our capital and
RWA balances when applying currency
translation rates as of 28 February 2015
to the reported balances as of 31 De-
cember 2014: CHF 0.5 billion or 2% in
fully applied common equity tier 1 (CET1)
capital, CHF 0.8 billion or 2% in fully
applied total capital, CHF 5.8 billion or
3% in fully applied RWA and CHF 45.1
billion or 5% in the fully applied leverage
ratio denominator.

Consequently, based solely on foreign
exchange movements, we estimate that
our fully applied Swiss SRB CET1 capital
ratio would have increased by approxi-
mately 10 basis points and the fully
applied leverage ratio would have

improved by approximately 10 basis
points. In aggregate, UBS did not
experience negative revenues in its
trading businesses in connection with the
SNB announcement.

However, the portion of our operating
income denominated in non-Swiss franc
currencies is greater than the portion of
operating expenses denominated in
non-Swiss franc currencies. Therefore,
appreciation of the Swiss franc against
other currencies generally has an adverse
effect on our earnings in the absence of
any mitigating actions.

In addition to the estimated effects from
changes in foreign currency exchange
rates, our equity and capital are affected
by changes in interest rates. In particular,
the calculation of our net defined benefit
assets and liabilities is sensitive to the
assumptions applied. Specifically, the
changes in applicable discount rate and
interest rate related assumptions for our
Swiss pension plan during January and
February would have reduced our equity
and fully applied Swiss SRB CET1 capital
by around CHF 0.7 billion. Also, the
persistently low interest rate environment
would continue to have an adverse effect
on our replication portfolios, and our net
interest income would further decrease.

Furthermore, the stronger Swiss franc may
have a negative impact on the Swiss
economy, which, given its reliance on
exports, could impact some of the
counterparties within our domestic
lending portfolio and lead to an increase
in the level of credit loss expenses in
future periods.
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Regulation and supervision

The Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) is UBS’s home country regulator and consolidated supervisor.
As a financial services provider with a global footprint, we are also regulated and supervised by the relevant authorities
in each of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. The following sections summarize the key regulatory require-
ments and supervision of our business in Switzerland as well as in the US and the UK, our next two largest areas of

operation.

Regulation and supervision in Switzerland

The Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks of 8 Novem-
ber 1934, as amended (Banking Act), and the related Swiss Fed-
eral Ordinance on Banks and Savings Banks of 17 May 1972, as
amended (Banking Ordinance), impose certain requirements on
UBS as a group under provisions on consolidated supervision of
financial groups and conglomerates. These requirements include
provisions on capital, liquidity, risk concentration and organiza-
tional requirements.

UBS AG, which is currently UBS Group AG's only subsidiary, is
a fully licensed Swiss bank and securities dealer under the Bank-
ing Act. We may engage in a full range of financial services activ-
ities in Switzerland and abroad, including retail banking, commer-
cial banking, investment banking and asset management. The
Banking Act, Banking Ordinance and the Financial Market Super-
vision Act of 22 June 2007, as amended, establish a framework
for supervision by FINMA, empowering it to issue its own ordi-
nances and circulars, which contribute to shaping the Swiss legal
and regulatory framework for banks.

-> Refer to the “UBS Group - Changes to our legal structure”

section for more information on the establishment of
UBS Group AG

Swiss banks have to comply with the Basel lll accord, as imple-
mented by Switzerland. Furthermore, the Swiss Parliament
amended the legal framework for banks to address the lessons
learned from the financial crisis and, in particular, the too big to
fail issue. The amended sections are applicable to the largest
Swiss banks, including UBS, due to our size, complexity, organi-
zation and business activities, as well as our importance to the
financial system. These provisions contain specific, more strin-
gent, capital and liquidity requirements and provisions to ensure
that systemically relevant functions can be maintained in case of
insolvency. In addition, and in line with global requirements, we
are required to produce and update recovery plans and resolution
planning materials aimed at increasing the firm’s resilience in the
case of a crisis, and to provide FINMA and other regulators with
information on how the firm could be resolved in the event of an
unsuccessful recovery. During 2014, UBS has made significant
progress in improving its resolvability via changes to its legal
structure.
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- Refer to the “Capital management” and “Liquidity management”
sections of this report for more information on capital and
liquidity requirements

- Refer to the “UBS Group - Changes to our legal structure”
section for more information on the establishment of
UBS Group AG

The Federal Act of 10 October 1997 on the Prevention of
Money Laundering in the Financial Sector defines a common stan-
dard for due diligence obligations to prevent money laundering
for the whole financial sector.

The legal basis for the investment funds business in Switzer-
land is the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes
(Collective Investment Schemes Act) of 23 June 2006, which
came into force on 1 January 2007. FINMA, as supervisory author-
ity for investment funds in Switzerland, is responsible for the au-
thorization and supervision of the institutions and investment
funds subject to its control.

As a securities broker and issuer of shares listed in Switzerland,
we are governed by the Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Se-
curities Trading of 24 March 1995. FINMA is the competent su-
pervisory authority with respect to securities broking.

FINMA fulfills its statutory supervisory responsibilities through
licensing, regulation, monitoring and enforcement. Generally,
prudential supervision in Switzerland is based on a division of
tasks between FINMA and authorized audit firms. Under this two-
tier supervisory system, FINMA has responsibility for overall super-
vision and enforcement measures while the authorized audit firms
carry out official duties on behalf of FINMA. The responsibilities of
external auditors encompass the audit of financial statements, the
risk-based assessment of banks’ compliance with prudential re-
guirements and on-site audits.

FINMA is the resolution authority for Swiss banks and securities
dealers. FINMA may open resolution or insolvency proceedings if it
determines that a bank has reached the point of impending insol-
vency. Under Swiss law, all assets and liabilities of a bank fall into
the FINMA resolution proceedings, irrespective of where they are
located. Statutory FINMA resolution tools include transferring activ-
ities of the bank to a bridge entity or the conversion of debt into
equity. Any such measure would need to comply with statutory
safeguards, including the requirement to ensure creditors are not
worse off than in liquidation and the equal treatment of creditors.



As UBS Group is considered a Swiss systemically relevant bank,
we are subject to more rigorous supervision than most other
banks. We are directly supervised by the FINMA group “Supervi-
sion of UBS,"” which is supported by teams specifically monitoring
investment banking activities, risk management and legal matters
as well as solvency and capital aspects. FINMA's supervisory tools
include meetings with management at the group and divisional
level, reporting requirements encompassing control and business
areas, on-site reviews in Switzerland and abroad, and exchanges
with internal audit and host supervisors in other jurisdictions. In
recent years, FINMA has implemented the recommendations is-
sued by the Financial Stability Board and the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision, and complemented the Supervisory College,
established in 1998 with the UK Financial Services Authority (FSA)
and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) to promote
supervisory cooperation and coordination, with a General Super-
visory College — including more than a dozen of UBS’s host regu-
latory agencies — and a Crisis Management College, which is also
attended by representatives from the Swiss National Bank (SNB)
and the Bank of England.

The SNB contributes to the stability of the financial system
through macro-prudential measures and monetary policy, while
also providing liquidity to the banking system. It does not exercise
any banking supervision authority and is not responsible for en-
forcing banking legislation, but works together with FINMA, in
particular with respect to regulation of Swiss systemically relevant
banks. The SNB may also carry out its own enquiries and request
information directly from the banks. In addition, the SNB is tasked
by Parliament with the designation of Swiss systemically relevant
banks and their systemically relevant functions in Switzerland.
Currently, UBS, Credit Suisse, Zurcher Kantonalbank and Raif-
feisen are required to comply with specific Swiss rules for system-
ically relevant banks.

-> Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” and “Risk

factors” sections of this report for more information

Regulation and supervision in the US

Our operations in the US are subject to a variety of regulatory re-
gimes. UBS maintains branches and representative offices in sev-
eral states, including Connecticut, lllinois, New York, California
and Florida. These branches are licensed either by the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) or the state banking au-
thority of the state in which the branch is located. The represen-
tative offices are licensed as loan production offices by the OCC.
Each US branch and representative office is subject to regulation
and supervision, including on-site examination by its federal
banking authority or its licensing state and by the Federal Reserve.
We are subject to oversight regulation and supervision by the
Federal Reserve under various laws because we maintain branches
in the US. These include the International Banking Act of 1978,
the Federal Reserve Act of 1913 and the Bank Holding Company
Act of 1956 (BHCA), each as amended, and related regulations.
On 10 April 2000, UBS was designated a financial holding com-

pany under the BHCA, as amended by the Gramm-Leach-Bliley
Act of 1999. Financial holding companies may engage in a
broader spectrum of activities than holding companies of US
banks or foreign banking organizations that are not financial
holding companies. These activities include expanded authority to
underwrite and deal in securities and commodities and to make
merchant banking investments in commercial and real estate en-
tities.

We also maintain state and federally-chartered trust compa-
nies and a Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)-insured
depository institution subsidiary, which are licensed and regulated
by state regulators or the OCC. Only the deposits of UBS Bank
USA, headquartered in the state of Utah, are insured by the FDIC.
The regulation of our US branches and subsidiaries imposes activ-
ity and prudential restrictions on the business and operations of
those branches and subsidiaries, including limits on extensions of
credit to a single borrower and on transactions with affiliates.

To maintain our financial holding company status, (i) the
Group, our federally-chartered trust company (Federal Trust Com-
pany) subsidiary and UBS Bank USA are required to meet certain
capital ratios, (ii) our US branches, our Federal Trust Company,
and UBS Bank USA are required to maintain certain examination
ratings, and (i) UBS Bank USA is required to maintain a rating of
at least “satisfactory” under the Community Reinvestment Act of
1977.

The licensing authority of each state-licensed US branch may,
in certain circumstances, take possession of the business and
property of UBS located in the state of the UBS offices it licenses.
Such circumstances generally include violations of law, unsafe
business practices and insolvency. As long as we maintain one or
more federal branches licensed by the OCC, the OCC also has
the authority to take possession of all the US operations of UBS
under broadly similar circumstances, as well as in the event that
a judgment against a federally licensed branch remains unsatis-
fied. This federal power may pre-empt the state insolvency re-
gimes that would otherwise be applicable to our state-licensed
branches. As a result, if the OCC exercised its authority over the
US branches of UBS pursuant to federal law in the event of a UBS
insolvency, all US assets of UBS would generally be applied first to
satisfy creditors of these US branches as a group, and then made
available for application pursuant to any Swiss insolvency pro-
ceeding.

A major focus of US governmental policy relating to financial
institutions in recent years has been combating money laundering
and terrorist financing. Regulations applicable to UBS and our
subsidiaries require the maintenance of effective policies, proce-
dures and controls to detect, prevent and report money launder-
ing and terrorist financing, and to verify the identity of our clients.
As a result, failure to maintain and implement adequate programs
to prevent money laundering and terrorist financing could result
in significant legal and reputational risk.

In the US, UBS Financial Services Inc. and UBS Securities LLC,
as well as our other US-registered broker-dealer subsidiaries, are
subject to laws and regulations that cover all aspects of the secu-
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rities and futures business, including sales and trading practices,
use and safekeeping of clients’ funds and securities, capital re-
quirements, record-keeping, financing of clients’ purchases of
securities and other assets, and the conduct of directors, officers
and employees. These entities are regulated by a number of dif-
ferent government agencies and self-regulatory organizations,
including the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA). Each entity is
also regulated by some or all of the following: the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE), the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board, the US Department of the Treasury, the Commodities Fu-
tures Trading Commission (CFTC) and other exchanges of which
it may be a member, depending on the specific nature of the re-
spective broker-dealer’s business. In addition, the US states and
territories have local securities commissions that regulate and
monitor activities in the interest of investor protection. These reg-
ulators have a variety of sanctions available, including the au-
thority to conduct administrative proceedings that can result in
censure, fines, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the sus-
pension or expulsion of the broker-dealer or its directors, officers
or employees.

UBS Global Asset Management (Americas) Inc. and our other
US-registered investment adviser entities, are subject to regula-
tions that cover all aspects of the investment advisory business
and are regulated primarily by the SEC. Some of these entities are
also registered as commodity trading advisers (CTA) and/or com-
modity pool operators (CPO) and in connection with their activi-
ties as CTA and/or CPO are regulated by the CFTC. To the extent
these entities manage plan assets of employee benefit plans sub-
ject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
their activities are subject to regulation by the US Department of
Labor.

- Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” and “Risk

factors” sections of this report for more information
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Regulation and supervision in the UK

Our operations in the UK are mainly regulated by two bodies: the
Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA), newly established as an af-
filiated authority of the Bank of England, and the Financial Con-
duct Authority (FCA). The PRA'S main objective relating to the
banking sector is to promote the safety and soundness of UK-reg-
ulated financial firms. The FCA is responsible for securing an ap-
propriate degree of consumer protection, protecting the integrity
of the UK financial system and promoting effective competition in
the interest of consumers.

The PRA and FCA operate a risk-based approach to supervision
and have a wide variety of supervisory tools available to them,
including regular risk assessments, on-site inspections (which may
relate to an industry-wide theme or be firm-specific) and the abil-
ity to commission reports by skilled persons, who may be the
firm’s auditors, information technology specialists, lawyers or
other consultants as appropriate. The UK regulators also have a
wide set of sanctions at their disposal, which may be imposed
under the Financial Services and Markets Act (FSMA).

Some of our subsidiaries and affiliates are also regulated by the
London Stock Exchange and other UK securities and commodities
exchanges of which they are a member. We are also subject to the
requirements of the UK Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, where
relevant.

Financial services regulation in the UK is conducted in accor-
dance with EU directives which require, among other things, com-
pliance with certain capital and liquidity adequacy standards, cli-
ent protection requirements and conduct of business rules (such
as the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 1). These direc-
tives apply throughout the EU and are reflected in the regulatory
regimes of the various member states.

-> Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” and “Risk

factors” sections of this report for more information



Regulatory and legal developments

In 2014, several important international regulatory and legal initiatives advanced or came into force. Key developments
included the finalization of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID) Il and the Bank Recovery and Resolu-
tion Directive, as well as the publication of proposals for Total Loss Absorbing Capacity (TLAC) by the Financial Stability

Board (FSB).

Key developments in Switzerland

Swiss Federal Council publishes concept for new article

on immigration

In February 2014, Swiss cantons and voters accepted an initiative
against “mass immigration” and the Swiss Federal Council pub-
lished its concept for implementing the new article of the Federal
Constitution on immigration in June. Key elements of the concept
are quantitative limits and quotas, defined by the Federal Council
on an annual basis, becoming effective as of February 2017. The
Federal Council drafted an implementation law in February 2015.
The Federal Council will start its negotiations with the European
Union (EU) on the amendment of the Swiss-EU bilateral agree-
ment on the free movement of persons. The extent to which UBS
could be impacted, such as in its recruitment of foreign nationals
to work in Switzerland or due to effects on Swiss corporate clients
and the Swiss economy, will depend on the final implementation
of the initiative in Swiss law and the outcome of negotiations with
the EU.

Swiss Federal Council issues drafts of Federal Financial Services
Act and Financial Institutions Act

In June 2014, the Swiss Federal Council issued drafts of a Federal
Financial Services Act (FFSA) and Financial Institutions Act (FinlA).
The FFSA would govern the relationship between financial inter-
mediaries and their clients for all financial products and includes
provisions on matters such as (i) the provision of financial services
subject to the obligation to publish a prospectus, (ii) the obliga-
tion to provide clients with a simple, comprehensible basic infor-
mation sheet, (iii) the distribution of the corresponding code of
conduct at points of sale (i.e., the obligations to provide informa-
tion and conduct research) and (iv) legal enforcement. According
to the Federal Council, the FFSA would support the creation of
uniform competitive conditions for financial intermediaries and
improve client protection. With the FinlA, the Federal Council pro-
poses to provide for the supervision of all financial service provid-
ers that operate an asset management business under a single
law. The published draft of the FinlA would (i) require licensing of
managers of individual client assets and managers of Swiss occu-
pational benefits schemes and (i) require the introduction of a tax
compliance rule that requires new assets to be inspected before
acceptance. The latter requirement applies to all countries that
have not signed an agreement for the automatic exchange of in-

formation with Switzerland. The Federal Council initiated a con-
sultation that ran until 17 October 2014 for both items of legisla-
tion. The nature and extent of the impact on UBS will remain
difficult to assess until the Federal Council presents its final draft
to the Swiss Parliament, which is expected to take place in 2015.

Swiss Federal Council submits Financial Market Infrastructure Act
In September 2014, the Swiss Federal Council submitted to the
Swiss parliament the Financial Market Infrastructure Act (FMIA).
The FMIA would make substantial changes to the regulation of
financial market infrastructure in Switzerland and would imple-
ment the G20 commitments on OTC derivatives in Switzerland,
including (i) mandating clearing via a central counterparty, (ii)
transaction reporting to a trade repository, (iii) risk mitigation
measures and (iv) mandatory trading of derivatives on a stock ex-
change or another trading facility once this has also been intro-
duced in partner states, such as the EU, the US and APAC jurisdic-
tions. FMIA would also (i) introduce new licensing requirements
for stock exchanges, multilateral trading facilities, central coun-
terparties, central depositaries, trade repositories and payment
systems, (i) impose transparency requirements for multilateral
and organized trading facilities and (iii) establish a basis for regu-
lating high-frequency trading, should this be deemed necessary.
FMIA is intended to make Swiss regulation of OTC derivatives
equivalent to the European Market Infrastructure Regulation and
to achieve compliance with international standards. An equiva-
lence determination by the EU would allow Swiss companies to
benefit from intra-group exemptions provided by EU regulation
and otherwise provide a more level playing field with EU peers.
Without such exemptions, costly clearing and margin require-
ments would apply.

FINMA publishes leverage ratio and revised disclosure circulars,
and further guidance on RWA calculations

In November 2014, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Au-
thority (FINMA) published a new circular on the leverage ratio and
a revised circular on disclosure. The new FINMA Circular “Lever-
age ratio — banks” covers the calculation rules for the leverage
ratio in Switzerland. For Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB),
the new circular revises the way the leverage ratio denominator
(LRD) is calculated in order to be aligned with the rules issued by
the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) in January 2014. This
change became effective on 1 January 2015. We are using a one-
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year transition period, under which the existing Swiss SRB defini-
tion may still be used, but we are required to disclose both lever-
age ratios (based on existing Swiss SRB rules as well as on the BIS
Basel Il rules) starting with our first quarter 2015 reporting. The
current minimum leverage ratio requirement as a percentage of
the risk-based capital ratio requirement (excluding the counter-
cyclical buffer requirement) remains unchanged for Swiss SRB.

The Basel lll rules also require disclosure of the leverage ratio
and liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) as of 2015. These disclosure
requirements are included in the revised FINMA Circular “Disclo-
sure — banks,” which came into force on 1 January 2015.

During 2012, FINMA began requiring banks using the internal
ratings-based (IRB) approach to apply a bank-specific IRB multi-
plier when calculating risk-weighted assets (RWA) for owner-oc-
cupied Swiss residential mortgages. This multiplier is applied to
new and renewed mortgages. The entire owner-occupied Swiss
residential mortgage portfolio is subject to this multiplier, which is
being phased in through 2019. FINMA has notified us that the
RWA increase will be extended to Swiss income-producing resi-
dential and commercial real estate from the first quarter of 2015,
with a phased implementation through 2019. FINMA also an-
nounced that the RWA levels of other asset classes are to be re-
viewed. We understand these reviews to be in anticipation of the
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) expected pru-
dential reforms (e.g., reduction in the variability of capital ratios or
capital floors).

Swiss Federal Council mandates the Brunetti group to develop
Swiss financial market strategy

In December 2014, senior experts representing the private sector,
authorities and academia (the Brunetti group) appointed by the
Swiss Federal Council and mandated to further develop the strat-
egy of Switzerland’s Financial market, published its final report.
The Brunetti group made recommendations with regard to
(i) safeguarding systemic stability/TBTF, (i) preserving market ac-
cess, (iii) improving the tax environment and (iv) efficient organi-
zation of regulatory processes. The Brunetti group stated that the
Swiss TBTF approach compares favorably with the approaches of
other countries and therefore no reorientation of the prevailing
regulatory model is necessary. Although an international compar-
ative analysis has confirmed that the Swiss regulatory model is, in
principle, suitable to address the TBTF problem, the Brunetti
group argued that certain adjustments in the model are necessary
to eliminate the implicit government guarantee in the long term.
The Brunetti group’s work on the TBTF regime served as the basis
for the Swiss Federal Council’s review report on the Swiss TBTF
law that was presented to the Swiss parliament in February 2015.
In its report, the Swiss Federal Council confirmed the findings of
the Brunetti group and mandated the Federal Department of Fi-
nance to set up a working group with representatives of FINMA
and SNB that is expected to submit proposals to the Swiss govern-
ment by the end of 2015. The Brunetti group also emphasized the
importance of Swiss financial services providers’ access to foreign
markets with a view to maintaining the competitiveness of the
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Swiss financial center. Following a recommendation made by the
Brunetti group, the Swiss Federal Council submitted a draft law
on 17 December 2014 for consultation, proposing to move to-
wards a “paying agent” principle for Swiss withholding tax. The
Brunetti group also analyzed the Swiss regulatory and supervisory
processes and proposed various improvements, including that the
institutionalized dialogue among governmental authorities, mar-
ket participants and research be expanded.

Key developments in the European Union

EC proposes structural measures to improve resilience of EU
credit institutions

In January 2014, the European Commission (EC) proposed a reg-
ulation on “Structural measures improving the resilience of EU
credit institutions.” It includes two main measures: (i) a ban on
proprietary trading and investments in hedge funds and (ii) an
additional potential separation of certain trading activities, includ-
ing market-making, “risky securitization” and complex deriva-
tives, which will not be mandatory, but rather based on supervi-
sory discretion. Overall, there is a material degree of supervisory
discretion in the application of the proposed requirements, partic-
ularly in relation to the separation of trading and investment
banking activities. Potential derogations from the separation re-
guirements are available for jurisdictions with equivalent legisla-
tion. The European Parliament and Council of the EU are currently
reviewing the EC proposal. While neither has yet finalized its po-
sition, changes to the proposals during the political negotiations
are likely. In light of this, it is unclear at this stage whether, and to
what extent, UBS branches and entities, in particular UBS AG Lon-
don branch and UBS Limited, will be impacted.

EU remuneration rules under Capital Requirements Directive
come into effect

Also at the beginning of 2014, EU-wide remuneration rules came
into effect under Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV). The
rules include provisions on the amount and form of variable remu-
neration that may be paid to employees identified as material risk
takers, as defined by the European Banking Authority (EBA). A key
element of the rules is the introduction of a maximum ratio of 1:1
for variable to fixed remuneration (bonus cap). The cap may be
increased to 2:1 with shareholders’ consent. These restrictions ap-
ply to material risk takers at all banks active in the EU, including
UBS. As a non-EU headquartered firm, UBS is required to apply
these restrictions to material risk takers employed by EU subsidiar-
ies or branches, but not globally. Further regulatory attention to
the topic of remuneration is expected. The EBA is due to review
the Committee of European Banking Supervisors' guidelines on
remuneration in the first half of 2015.

Economic and Financial Affairs Council (ECOFIN) agreement on
EU-FTT postponed to 2015

Despite the commitment made by the 11 participating EU mem-
ber states, no agreement on the EU Financial Transaction Tax was



reached in 2014. There is still divergence among participating
member states on the design of the EU-FTT, including the rate,
scope, possible exemptions, territorial application and collection
mechanism. A statement issued at the December 2014 ECOFIN
meeting said that the 11 participating member states will con-
tinue to work on reaching agreement in the first half of 2015,
with the aim of introducing an EU-FTT in January 2016. The tax
would be based on equities and certain derivatives, but no agree-
ment on the definition has yet been reached.

MIFID Il and MiFIR enter into force

In July 2014, the EU Markets in Financial Instruments Directive Il
and Regulation package (MiFID II/MiFIR) entered into force. The
majority of the requirements relating to investor protection, trad-
ing issues and third country market access will apply to firms only
from January 2017, although there are transitional provisions in
several areas. However, level 2 legislation on MiFID II/MiFIR has
been under discussion since May 2014, when the European Se-
curities and Markets Authority (ESMA) published a consultation
paper on its proposed technical advice to the European Commis-
sion on delegated acts, as well as a first discussion paper on pro-
posed draft Regulatory Technical Standards (RTS) and Implement-
ing Technical Standards (ITS) under MiIFID II/MiFIR. The papers
covered categories of investor protection, transparency, data
publication, market data reporting, microstructural issues (in-
cluding algorithmic and high-frequency trading), requirements
applying to trading venues, commodity derivatives, portfolio
compression and post-trade issues. In mid-December 2014,
ESMA issued its final report on the technical advice taking into
account industry feedback received in the summer consultation,
and asked for further views on the RTS through a related fol-
low-up consultation paper. A further Level 2 consultation was
issued in 2015. MIFID II/MiFIR will affect many areas of UBS’s
business, including the Investment Bank, Wealth Management
and Global Asset Management. An assessment of the potential
impact and the development of implementation measures are
ongoing.

UK PRA publishes Policy Statement and Supervisory Statement
on its approach to supervising international banks

In September 2014, the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA)
published a Policy Statement and Supervisory Statement. In sum-
mary, the PRA's approach, which applies to both existing and new
branches, is centered on an assessment of (i) the equivalence of
the home state’s supervision of the whole firm, (i) the branch’s UK
activities and (iii) the level of assurance the PRA gains from the
home state supervisor (HSS) over resolution. Where the PRA is
satisfied on these matters, it will also need to have a clear and
agreed division of prudential supervisory responsibilities with the
HSS. Where the PRA is not satisfied, it will consider the most ap-
propriate course of action, which could include refusing authori-
zation of a new branch or cancelling authorization of an existing
branch (requiring the non-European Economic Area (EEA) firm to
exit the UK market or to establish a UK subsidiary). For existing

non-EEA branches, the PRA will focus its supervision on under-
standing whether the branch undertakes critical economic func-
tions and on working with the HSS to gain adequate assurance
that these functions could be resolved in line with the PRA's objec-
tives. The PRA policy is applicable to UBS Limited and UBS AG
London Branch and could have implications for the nature of busi-
ness and the legal structure of UBS’s UK operations. However,
additional guidance from the PRA will be required to more accu-
rately assess the impact.

Operational start of SSM — milestone in the implementation of
the EBU
The implementation of the European Banking Union (EBU) passed
a milestone with the operational start of the Single Supervisory
Mechanism (SSM) on 4 November 2014. Now the ECB directly
supervises 120 significant banks in the eurozone, representing
82% of total banking assets in the euro area. UBS Luxembourg
SA is one of the banks in the SSM. Prior to the start of the SSM,
the ECB had published the results of a comprehensive assess-
ment on 26 October 2014. UBS Luxembourg SA successfully
passed the comprehensive assessment. The SSM is one of the
two pillars of the EU banking union, along with the Single Reso-
lution Mechanism (SRM). Key elements of the SRM include the
establishment of a Single Resolution Board (SRB) and a Single
Resolution Fund (SRF). Significant banks that are subject to direct
ECB supervision under the SSM and cross-border banks would be
resolved by the SRB. The SRM entered into force on 1 January
2015, at which time the SRB became fully operational, while the
resolution function of the SRM and the bail-in tool will apply as
of 1 January 2016, in line with the EU Bank Recovery and Reso-
lution Directive (BRRD). UBS Luxembourg SA would be subject to
resolution by the Single Resolution Board should a resolution be-
come necessary.
-> Refer to the “Current market climate and industry drivers”
section in this report for more information on the ECB'’s
comprehensive assessment of banks

BRRD comes into force in the EU

Another important development was the finalization of the
BRRD that came into force in July 2014. The BRRD seeks to
achieve a harmonized approach to the recovery and resolution
of banks in the EU and broadly covers measures relating to re-
covery and resolution planning, early intervention powers for
authorities and resolution tools should a bank fail or be deemed
likely to fail. The majority of the BRRD applies from 1 January
2015 and the bail-in tool will apply from 1 January 2016. UBS’s
EU subsidiaries will be subject to the requirements of the BRRD,
while EU member states have the right to apply the provisions of
the BRRD to UBS's EU-based branches in certain circumstances.
The overall impact is difficult to assess at this stage, as the EU
resolution authorities have broad discretion in setting some of
the key requirements of the BRRD, and many technical stan-
dards and guidelines are yet to be finalized.
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Key developments in the US

SEC approves final rule on cross-border requirements for
securities-based swap dealers

In June 2014, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) ap-
proved a final rule addressing certain cross-border requirements for
securities-based swap dealers, including definitions of certain key
terms, activities that count toward determining whether an entity is
required to register, procedures for substituted compliance applica-
tions and an anti-fraud rule. The SEC expects to address other as-
pects of its 2013 proposed framework for cross-border application
of its securities-based swap rules in future rulemakings. No deadline
for registering as a securities-based swap dealer was contained in
the final rule. We anticipate registering UBS AG as a securities-based
swap dealer when registration requirements become effective.

FDIC and Federal Reserve feedback on 2013 resolution plans of
first-wave filers

In August 2014, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
and the Federal Reserve provided feedback on the 2013 resolution
plans of first-wave filers (11 large and complex banking organiza-
tions, including UBS, that initially filed resolution plansin 2012). The
reviews identified shortcomings that will need to be addressed in
the 2015 submissions, including assumptions that the agencies re-
gard as unrealistic or inadequately supported, and the failure to
make changes in firm structure and practices that would enhance
the prospects for orderly resolution. The agencies also indicated that
the first-wave filers must make significant progress in addressing the
agencies’ concerns before they file their 2015 resolution plans. If a
first-wave filer is unable to address the regulators’ concerns, the
agencies may find that a plan is not “credible” as required by Dodd-
Frank and may take a number of actions, including imposing more
stringent capital, leverage, liquidity or other requirements, restrict-
ing its US activities or the growth of its US operations, or requiring it
to divest assets and operations that affect its resolvability.

CFTC cross-border rules sustained

In September 2014, a US district court granted summary judgment
to the CFTC on the basis that the CFTC's cross-border interpretative
guidance and policy statement was not reviewable, as it has not
been applied in practice. The CFTC'’s cross-border interpretation
and policy statement have significant extraterritorial effect and cre-
ate both uncertainty and significant implementation issues for
swap dealers, including UBS. Subsequently, the CFTC extended
no-action relief regarding transaction-level requirements: for
non-US swap dealers entering into swaps with most non-US per-
sons until 30 September 2015, unless the CFTC decides to take
action earlier; for reporting of transactions with non-US persons
until 1 December 2015; and for certain inter-affiliate transactions
until 31 December 2015.

Federal Reserve, FDIC and OCC impose a liquidity coverage ratio
on large banks

In September 2014, the Federal Reserve, the FDIC and the Office
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of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) issued a rule imposing
a liquidity coverage ratio on large banks. Under the final rule, a
large bank will be required to continuously maintain enough
high-quality liquid assets to cover 100% of its total net cash out-
flows over a 30-day period of financial stress. The rule will apply
to foreign banks that have US bank holding company subsidiaries
and similar requirements are expected for foreign banks that do
not have a US bank holding company, such as UBS.

Federal Reserve, FDIC and OCC adopt final SLR for banks
Separately, the Federal Reserve, the FDIC and the OCC adopted a
final supplementary leverage ratio (SLR) for banks that are subject
to the advanced approaches risk-based capital rules. This SLR rule
revises the way the denominator of the SLR is calculated in order
to align it with BIS rules issued in January 2014. Certain required
public disclosures must be made starting in the first quarter of
2015, and the minimum SLR requirements will be effective from
1 January 2018. Earlier in 2014, US regulators approved a final
enhanced supplementary leverage ratio requirement for US top-
tier bank holding companies (BHC), with more than USD 700 bil-
lion in consolidated assets or USD 10 trillion in assets under cus-
tody, currently the eight largest US banks. Under this rule, BHCs
are required to maintain a Tier 1 capital leverage buffer of at least
2% above the Basel Il minimum supplementary leverage ratio
requirement of 3%, for a total of 5% (6% for insured depository
institutions). UBS is not subject to this requirement.

Federal Reserve issues final rule on due date for large BHC's
capital plans and stress test results

In October 2014, the Federal Reserve issued a final rule adjusting
the due date for large BHCs to submit capital plans and stress test
results from 5 January to 5 April, beginning with the 2016 cycle.
The final rule also adopts, with some adjustments, the limitation
on a BHC's ability to make capital distributions to the extent that
its actual net capital issuances are less than the amount indicated
in its capital plan. The rule reaffirmed that an intermediate hold-
ing company (IHC) formed in anticipation of the IHC rule, such as
that of UBS, would not be subject to risk-based capital, liquidity
and risk management standards until 1 July 2016, the capital plan
rule until the 2017 cycle, and the stress testing rule and Compre-
hensive Capital Analysis and Review (CCAR) process until the
2018 cycle.

Far-reaching regulatory reform proposals close to
completion on the international level

OECD presents a standard for tax information exchange

In February 2014, following a G20 mandate, the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) presented a
new single global Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial
Account Information in Tax Matters, the Common Reporting
Standard (CRS). In July 2014, the OECD released the full CRS, in-
cluding the Model Competent Authority Agreement, a commen-
tary, and a CRS schema. The CRS obliges countries and jurisdic-



tions to obtain all financial information from their financial
institutions and exchange that information automatically with
other jurisdictions, on an annual basis, subject to appropriate
safeguards including certain confidentiality requirements and the
requirement that information may be used exclusively for the tax
purposes foreseen.

At the Global Forum meeting in October 2014, all OECD and
G20 countries as well as a majority of financial centers endorsed
the new OECD/G20 standard. 58 jurisdictions (early adopters)
committed to launch the first automatic exchanges in 2017 and
35 jurisdictions committed to start in 2018.

Upon the OECD revealing the full global standard in July 2014,
the EU signaled that it will align its legislation with the new inter-
national standard. In October, a political agreement was reached
on amending Directive 2011/16/EU on administrative cooperation
in the field of direct taxation (DAC), followed by its full endorse-
ment. The revised DAC reproduces the OECD standard at EU level,
with first exchange of information expected to take place in 2017,
in line with the early adopters. Austria was given one additional
year of transition for implementation. The DAC entered into force
on 5 January 2015 and will be applicable from 1 January 2016
(except in Austria).

In May 2014, the Swiss Federal Council endorsed the OECD
Declaration on Automatic Exchange and in October of that year,
the Swiss Federal Council approved the mandates for negotia-
tions on introducing the automatic exchange of information with
the EU, the United States and other countries and entered into
negotiations with the European Commission. Switzerland com-
mitted to launch the first automatic exchanges in 2018, one year
after the early adopters. In November 2014, the Federal Council
approved a declaration on Switzerland joining the OECD Multilat-
eral Competent Authority Agreement (MCAA), which sets out the
conditions for the annual exchange of account information be-
tween the competent authorities of two countries, in accordance
with the OECD standard. In January 2015, the Swiss Federal
Council launched a consultation on the introduction of the auto-
matic exchange of information. The consultation package in-
cludes a federal draft law for the implementation of the auto-
matic exchange of information, the ratification of the
OECD/Council of Europe administrative assistance convention
and the ratification of the MCAA. The consultation runs until
21 April 2015.

BCBS review of risk-based capital framework
The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) issued a dis-
cussion paper in 2013 on “The regulatory framework: balancing
risk sensitivity, simplicity and comparability” with a number of
proposals on how to reform the Basel risk-based capital frame-
work. In 2014, the BCBS published proposals to address excessive
variability in risk-weighted asset calculations with the objective of
improving consistency and comparability in bank capital ratios.

In October 2014, the BCBS consulted on a revised standard-
ized approach for measuring operational risk capital. With this,
the BCBS aims to address certain weaknesses identified in the

existing approaches and to streamline the framework. In Novem-
ber 2014, the BCBS published its report on “Reducing excessive
variability in banks’ regulatory capital ratios," giving an overview
of its priorities and next steps. The report addresses three areas: (i)
policy measures, which aim to develop prudential proposals to
improve the standardized, non-modelled approaches for calculat-
ing regulatory capital that will also provide the basis for the use of
floors and benchmarks; (i) disclosure requirements related to risk
weights by amending Pillar 3 of the Basel framework and (iii) mon-
itoring in order to ensure proper implementation of risk-weighted
asset variability through Hypothetical Portfolio Exercises (HPEs)
under the Committee’s Regulatory Consistency Assessment Pro-
gram (RCAP). In its report the BCBS outlines its objective to final-
ize key pillars of its framework by the end of 2015, i.e., the stan-
dardized approach requirements for credit risk, market risk and
operational risk, the capital floor framework, and internal model
requirements for credit risk and market risk. In addition, the BCBS
confirmed that it is continuing to undertake a longer-term review
of the structure of the regulatory capital framework considering
whether a more fundamental reform is necessary.

In December 2014, the BCBS published three consultations.
One consultation covers the BCBS proposals for revising the stan-
dardized approach to credit risk, such as by relying less on exter-
nal credit ratings, reducing the scope of national discretion or by
strengthening the link between the standardized and the IRB ap-
proach. One of the key aspects of the current proposal is that the
corporate and bank exposures would be based on a limited num-
ber of drivers and no longer risk-weighted by reference to their
external credit ratings. The second consultation outlines the de-
sign of the capital floor framework, which would be based on
revised standardized approaches for credit, market and opera-
tional risk. The calibration of the floor is outside the scope of the
consultation. The third proposal covers the outstanding issues in
terms of the fundamental review of the trading book, and sets
out a limited set of revisions to the earlier BCBS's consultation on
a proposed market risk framework, which was published for con-
sultation in October 2013.

FSB proposes standards on TLAC

With regard to addressing TBTF, an important development was
the publication for consultation of the proposed standards on To-
tal Loss-Absorbing Capacity (TLAC) by the Financial Stability Board
(FSB) in November 2014. These standards aim to build up ade-
quate loss-absorbing capacity for global systemically important
banks to ensure that an orderly wind-down is possible. The FSB
proposes that a minimum Pillar 1 TLAC requirement be set within
the range of 16% to 20% of RWA and at least twice the Basel lll
tier 1 leverage ratio requirement.

BCBS issues revised Pillar 3 disclosure requirements

In January 2015, the BCBS issued revised Pillar 3 disclosure re-
guirements that aim to improve comparability and consistency of
disclosures. To this end, the BCBS introduced harmonized tem-
plates. These include prescriptive, fixed-form templates for quan-
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titative information that is considered essential for the analysis of
a bank’s regulatory capital requirements, as well as templates with
a more flexible format for information that is considered mean-
ingful to the market but not central to the analysis of a bank’s
regulatory capital adequacy. In addition, banks may accompany
the disclosure requirements in each template with a qualitative
commentary that explains a bank’s particular circumstances and
risk profile. According to the BCBS timeline, banks will be required
to publish their first Pillar 3 reports under the revised framework
concurrently with their year-end 2016 financial reports. Under the
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new requirements, we will be mapping the financial statements
into regulatory risk categories and we will present semiannually
and annually comprehensive sets of standardized disclosure ta-
bles. Amendments to our Pillar 3 reporting will further include
the quarterly disclosure of a RWA flow statement in a granularity
similar to the one we have so far been disclosing annually. The
standardized tables are designed to improve the comparability
between banks and are expected to require implementation in-
vestment.



Our strategy

We are committed to providing our clients with superior financial advice and solutions while generating attractive and
sustainable returns for shareholders. Our strategy centers on our leading wealth management businesses and our
premier universal bank in Switzerland, enhanced by our strong asset manager and investment bank. These businesses
share three key characteristics: they benefit from a strong competitive position in their targeted markets, are capital-
efficient, and offer a superior structural growth and profitability outlook. Our strategy builds on the strengths of all of
our businesses and focuses our efforts on areas in which we excel, while seeking to capitalize on the compelling growth
prospects in the businesses and regions in which we operate. Capital strength is the foundation of our success.

Our strategic transformation

In 2011, we laid out three critical objectives for UBS: execut-
ing our strategy, delivering for our clients and unlocking our
growth potential. We accelerated the execution of our strategy in
2012 and have since made substantial progress focusing our ac-
tivities on a set of highly synergistic, less capital and balance
sheet-intensive businesses dedicated to serving clients and
well-positioned to maximize value for shareholders. We have
reached our targeted Basel Il CET1 capital ratio of 13%, signifi-
cantly reduced risk-weighted assets and costs, while simultane-
ously growing our business and enhancing our competitive posi-
tioning. We have successfully grown our unrivaled wealth
management businesses and transformed our Investment Bank to
focus on its traditional strengths in advisory, research, equities,
foreign exchange and precious metals. At our Investor Update on
6 May 2014, we provided information on the progress of execut-
ing our strategy. By the end of 2014, we completed our strategic
transformation process. Through the continued successful execu-
tion of our strategy, we believe we can sustain and grow our busi-
ness and maintain a prudent capital position. While our strategy
remains unchanged going forward, we updated and extended
several of our annual performance targets, which are outlined in
the table at the end of this section.

Achieving greater effectiveness and efficiency is imperative for
the success of our strategy. We remain fully committed to achiev-
ing the cost reductions announced at the 2014 Investor Update,

with a net cost reduction target of CHF 1.4 billion versus full-year
2013 by the end of 2015, including CHF 1.0 billion in Corporate
Center — Core Functions and CHF 0.4 billion in Corporate Center —
Non-Core and Legacy Portfolio. After that, we target additional
net cost reductions of CHF 0.7 billion as we exit our Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio.

Our commitment to a prudent capital position is based on
maintaining a fully applied CET1 capital ratio of at least 13% and
a post-stress fully applied CET1 capital ratio of at least 10%. From
2014 onwards, our deferred contingent capital plan awards will
qualify as additional tier 1 capital under Basel lll requirements.
Through our compensation programs, we intend to build approx-
imately CHF 2.5 billion in additional tier 1 capital over the next
five years, which will eventually replace the high-trigger loss-ab-
sorbing capital recognized as tier 2 capital. Additional tier 1 capi-
tal is an important component of our future capital structure and
we have also started building additional tier 1 capital through
external issuance from UBS Group AG. An optimized capital struc-
ture enables us to meet regulatory requirements while targeting
optimal shareholder returns.

As discussed further above, we continue to adapt our legal
structure to improve UBS’s resolvability in response to evolving
too big to fail (TBTF) requirements in Switzerland and other coun-
tries in which UBS operates. The changes to our legal structure
do not affect our strategy, our business and the way we serve our
clients.

- Refer to the “UBS Group — Changes to our legal structure”

section of this report for more information
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Delivering attractive shareholder returns

We are committed to delivering sustainable performance and at-
tractive returns to shareholders. We have delivered progressive
capital returns in 2011, 2012 and 2013. In 2014, we achieved our
capital ratio target of a fully applied CET1 capital ratio of at least
13% and met our objective of maintaining a post-stress fully
applied CET1 capital ratio of at least 10%. Subject to maintaining
our CET1 capital ratio target and our objective for the post-stress
CET1 capital ratio, we are targeting a total payout ratio of at least
50% of net profit attributable to UBS shareholders.

In line with our dividend policy, we propose a 100% increase
in our ordinary dividend to CHF 0.50 per share for the financial
year 2014, which will be paid out of capital contribution re-
serves. The ex-dividend date is expected to be 11 May 2015. In
addition, following the successful completion of the squeeze-
out procedure, we expect to pay a supplementary capital return
of CHF 0.25 per share to be paid to shareholders of UBS Group
AG. This supplementary capital return is separate and in addition
to the proposed ordinary dividend described above and will also
be paid out of capital contribution reserves.
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Total capital return per share

CHF per share
0.25
Proposed
one-time
0.50 supplementary
+ capital return
following
0.25 squeeze-out
0.15
0.10
—
Financial year 20M 2012 2013 2014
Payout ratio 9% N/M 30% 55%
(ordinary dividend)'

CET1 capital ratio  ~6.7% ~9.8% 12.8% 13.4%

fully applied

M Ordinary dividend

M Proposed one-time supplementary capital return

Proposed ordinary dividend for 2014

1 Ordinary dividend per share as a % of diluted earnings per share.



Our annual performance targets

The table below outlines our annual performance targets for the
Group, the business divisions and the Corporate Center for 2015
and beyond. These performance targets are based on adjusted
results that exclude items that management believes are not

Annual performance targets

representative of the underlying performance of our businesses,
and assume constant foreign currency translation rates, unless

otherwise indicated.

Group
Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (fully applied)'
Risk-weighted assets (fully applied)'

Swiss SRB leverage ratio denominator (fully applied)?
Cost/income ratio
Return on tangible equity

Business division

Wealth Net new money growth
Management Cost/income ratio
Wealth Net new money growth
Management Cost /income ratio
Americas

Retail & Corporate Net new business volume growth for retail business
Net interest margin

Cost/income ratio

Profit before tax
Net new money growth excluding money market flows
Cost/income ratio

Global Asset
Management

Return on attributed equity
Risk-weighted assets (fully applied)"?
Funded assets®

Cost/income ratio

Investment Bank

Corporate Center

Core Functions Net cost reduction**

Non-core and Risk-weighted assets (fully applied)'

Legacy Portfolio
Net cost reduction

At least 13.0%

< CHF 215 billion by year-end 2015
< CHF 200 billion by year-end 2017
CHF 900 billion by 2016

60-70%

around 10% in 2015

> 15% from 2016

3-5%
- 0,
55-65% Combined annual profit before tax

2-49% growth of 10-15% through the cycle

75-85%

1-4%
140-180 bps
50-60%

CHF 1 billion in the medium term
3-5%
60-70%

> 15%

CHF 70 billion
CHF 200 billion
70-80%

CHF 1.0 billion by year-end 2015

~CHF 40 billion by year-end 2015
~CHF 25 billion by year-end 2017

CHF 0.4 billion by year-end 2015%°¢
Additional CHF 0.7 billion after 2015%7

1 Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB) as of 31 December 2014. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information. 2 Based on the rules
applicable as of 6 May 2014. 3 Represents a limit, not a target. 4 Measured by 2015 year-end exit rate versus full-year 2013 adjusted operating expenses, net of changes in charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory
5 Measured net of FX movements and changes in regulatory demand of temporary nature. 6 Does not assume constant foreign currency translation rates. 7 Reduction in annual adjusted operating
expenses versus full-year 2013.

and similar matters.
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Wealth Global Asset
. Corporate & Investment Bank
Retail Management - . . Management
. Institutional Banking Switzerland .
Switzerland Switzerland

UBS is the pre-eminent universal bank in
Switzerland, the only country where we
operate and maintain leading positions
in all five of our business areas: retail,
wealth management, corporate and
institutional banking, investment bank
services and asset management. We are
fully committed to our home market

as our leading position in Switzerland is
crucial in terms of sustaining our global
brand and profit stability. Drawing on our
network of around 300 branches and
4,500 client-facing staff, complemented
by modern digital banking services and
customer service centers, we are able to
reach approximately 80% of Swiss
wealth and serve one in three house-
holds, high net worth individuals and
pension funds, more than 120,000
companies, and 85% of banks domiciled
in Switzerland. In 2014, Euromoney
acknowledged our pre-eminent position
in Switzerland with its prestigious Best
Bank in Switzerland award for the third
consecutive year.

Our universal bank model is central to
our success. We differentiate ourselves

by leveraging our strengths across all
segments. We have a cross-divisional
management approach which promotes
cross-divisional thinking, enables seamless
collaboration across all business areas

and allows us to utilize our resources
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efficiently. As a result, we are in an
excellent position to meet our clients’
needs with a comprehensive range of
banking products and services. Our
universal bank model has proven itself
to be highly effective and consistently
contributes substantially to the Group.

Our distribution is based on a multi-
channel strategy. We strive to offer a
unigue client experience, giving clients the
choice how to interact with us —

via branches, customer service centers or
digital channels. Our expanding electronic
and mobile banking offering is very
well-regarded and we see a steadily rising
number of users and client interactions.
Client feedback remained excellent with
87% of Apple App Store reviewers

awarding the maximum five stars. Our
e-banking service counted over 1.4 million
clients, with more than 250,000 using our
market-leading personal financial
management tool. We received external
recognition with the “Master of Swiss
Web 2014" award for our e-banking
services and the “Master of Swiss Apps
2014" award for our co-operation with
SumUp. The Celent Model Bank Award
2014 and Visa's Contactless & Mobile
Award 2014 highlighted our outstanding
security solution for e-banking authentica-
tion. We will continue building on our
position as the leading multi-channel
bank in Switzerland and our tradition as
innovator in digital services to capture
market share and increase efficiency.

UBS Mobile banking downloads

in thousands

500

375

250

125

2012

2013 2014



Measurement of performance

Performance measures

Key performance indicators

Our key performance indicator (KPI) framework focuses on
key drivers of total shareholder return, measured by the dividend
yield and price appreciation of our shares. Our senior manage-
ment reviews the KPI framework on a regular basis by considering
prevailing strategy, business conditions and the environment in
which we operate. The KPlIs are disclosed consistently in our quar-
terly and annual reporting to facilitate comparison of our perfor-
mance over the reporting periods.

The Group and business divisions are managed based on this
KPI framework, which emphasizes risk awareness, effective risk
and capital management, sustainable profitability and client fo-
cus. Both Group and business division KPlIs are taken into account
in determining variable compensation.

- Refer to the “Compensation” section of this report for

more information

In addition to KPIs, we disclose our performance targets.
These performance targets, which are defined in order to track
the achievement of our strategic plan, are based on our KPIs as
well as on additional balance sheet and capital management per-
formance measures.
- Refer to the “Our strategy” section of this report for more
information on performance targets

Changes to our key performance indicators in 2014

In 2014, we made certain changes to our KPI framework to
further enhance its relevance by reclassifying certain KPIs to
“Additional information,” or redefining them to focus on our
specific wealth management or retail businesses.

“Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)” for the Group is
now reported as “Additional information” rather than as a KPI, as
we consider this metric less meaningful and relevant than other
existing KPIs in measuring Group performance. We also report
our “Swiss SRB Basel Il common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio
(%) (phase-in)” as “Additional information” rather than as a KPI.
Our Swiss SRB Basel lll CET1 capital ratio on a fully applied basis
remains a KPI. At the Group level, we replaced the KPI “Net new
money growth (%)” with “Net new money growth for combined
wealth management businesses (%),” focusing on net new
money generated only by our wealth management businesses, by
excluding net new money from Global Asset Management and
Retail & Corporate from this measure.

“Recurring income as a % of income (%)” is no longer a
Wealth Management Americas KPI, but is instead reported as
“Additional information,” consistent with the way this metric is
reported in Wealth Management.

We replaced our Retail & Corporate KPI “Net new business
volume growth (%)” with “Net new business volume growth for
retail business (%),” excluding our corporate and institutional
business from this measure as its net new business volume is vol-
atile by nature and therefore provides limited insight. The revised
measure better reflects management’s view on our business. As
“ Additional information,” we also show “Business volume for re-
tail business (CHF billion)” and “Net new business volume for re-
tail business (CHF billion).” “Impaired loan portfolio as a % of
total loan portfolio, gross (%)" is no longer a Retail & Corporate
KPI, but is instead reported as “Additional information.”

Additionally, we replaced the KPI “Net new money growth
(%)" for Global Asset Management with “Net new money growth
excluding money market flows (%).” Money market flows are vol-
atile by nature, and metrics excluding these flows therefore pro-
vide more focused insight.

New key performance indicators in 2015

In 2015, return on tangible equity (ROTE) will replace return
on equity (RoE) as a KPI. RoE will continue to be reported as “Ad-
ditional information.” In addition, net margin on invested assets
for Wealth Management, Wealth Management Americas and
Global Asset Management will become a KPI. We will continue to
report gross margin on invested assets as a KPI for these business
divisions.

Client/invested assets reporting

We report two distinct metrics for client funds:

— The measure “client assets” encompasses all client assets man-
aged by or deposited with us, including custody-only assets.

— The measure “invested assets” is more restrictive and includes
only client assets managed by or deposited with us for invest-
ment purposes.

Of the two, invested assets is a more important measure.

Net new money in a reported period is the amount of invested
assets that are entrusted to us by new or existing clients less those
withdrawn by existing clients or clients who terminated their rela-
tionship with us. Interest and dividend income from invested as-
sets is not counted as net new money inflow. However, in Wealth
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Measurement of performance

Management Americas we also show net new money including
interest and dividend income in line with historical reporting prac-
tice in the US market. The Investment Bank does not track in-
vested assets or net new money.

When products are managed in one business division and sold
by another, they are counted in both the investment management
unit and the distribution unit. This results in double-counting
within our total invested assets, as both units provide an indepen-
dent service to their client, add value and generate revenues.
Most double-counting arises when mutual funds are managed by
Global Asset Management and sold by Wealth Management and
Wealth Management Americas. The business divisions involved
count these funds as invested assets. This approach is in line with
both finance industry practices and our open architecture strat-
egy, and allows us to accurately reflect the performance of each
individual business. Overall, CHF 173 billion of invested assets
were double-counted as of 31 December 2014 (CHF 156 billion as
of 31 December 2013).

- Refer to “Note 35 Invested assets and net new money” in

the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information
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Seasonal characteristics

Our main businesses may show seasonal patterns. The Investment
Bank’s revenues have been affected in some years by the seasonal
characteristics of general financial market activity and deal flows
in investment banking. Other business divisions may also be im-
pacted by seasonal components, such as lower client activity lev-
els related to the summer and end-of-year holiday seasons, an-
nual income tax payments (which are concentrated in the second
quarter in the US) and asset withdrawals that tend to occur in the
fourth quarter.
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Change in net profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders
from continuing operations between current and comparison °®
periods/net profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders from
Net profit growth (%) continuing operations of comparison period
Change in business division performance before tax between
current and comparison periods/business division performance [ [ [ [ J [
Pre-tax profit growth (%) before tax of comparison period
) - Operating expenses / operating income before credit loss (expense) °® P P P °® °
Cost/income ratio (%) or recovery
Net profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders (annualized
as applicable)/average equity attributable to UBS Group AG share- [ J
Return on equity (RoE) (%) holders
Return on attributed equity (RoaE)  Business division performance before tax (annualized as P
(%) applicable)/average attributed equity
Operating income before credit loss (expense) or recovery PY P
Return on assets, gross (%) (annualized as applicable)/average total assets
Swiss SRB leverage ratio Swiss SRB Basel Il common equity tier 1 capital and loss-absorbing °®
(phase-in, %) capital /total adjusted exposure (leverage ratio denominator)
Swiss SRB Basel Ill common equity  Swiss SRB Basel Ill common equity tier 1 capital / Swiss SRB Basel Il °
tier 1 capital ratio (fully applied, %) risk-weighted assets
Net new money for the period (annualized as applicable)/invested
assets at the beginning of the period. Group net new money
growth is reported as net new money growth for combined wealth [ J [ [ [ J
management businesses. Global Asset Management net new
Net new money growth (%) money growth excludes money market flows.
Gross margin on invested assets Operating income before credit loss (expense) or recovery
’ : ; [ [ [
(bps) (annualized as applicable)/average invested assets
Net new business volume (i.e., total net inflows and outflows of
client assets and loans) for the period (annualized as applicable)/ PY
Net new business volume growth business volume (i.e., total of client assets and loans) at the
for retail business (%) beginning of the period
Net interest margin (%) Net interest income (annualized as applicable)/average loans [
Value at Risk (VaR) expresses maximum potential loss measured
Average VaR (1-day, 95% confidence, to a 95% confidence level, over a 1-day time horizon and based [
5 years of historical data) on five years of historical data
A
rillar 3| New key performance indicators in 2015
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Key performance indicators Definition ) == S=< [
Net margin on invested assets (bps)  Business division performance before tax P °® °

(annualized as applicable)/average invested assets

Return on tangible equity (ROTE) (%)  Net profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders before amortization and impairment of
goodwill and intangible assets (annualized as applicable)/average equity attributable to UBS o
Group AG shareholders less average goodwill and intangible assets UBS Group AG'

1 Goodwill and intangible assets are adjusted to reflect the non-controlling interests in UBS AG. A A
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Wealth Management

Wealth Management provides wealthy private clients with investment advice and solutions tailored to their individual
needs. At the end of 2014, we had a presence in nearly 50 countries and invested assets of CHF 987 billion.

Business

We provide comprehensive financial services to wealthy private
clients around the world, with the exception of those served by
our colleagues in Wealth Management Americas. UBS is a
global firm with global capabilities, and our clients benefit from
a full spectrum of resources, ranging from investment manage-
ment solutions to wealth planning and corporate finance ad-
vice, as well as the specific offerings outlined below. Our guided
architecture model gives clients access to a wide range of
products from third-party providers that complement our own
products.

Strategy and clients

We are one of the pre-eminent wealth managers globally and aim
to provide our clients with superior investment advice and solu-
tions in line with their individual financial objectives.

The wealth management business has attractive long-term
growth prospects and we expect its growth to outpace that of
gross domestic product globally. From a client segment perspec-
tive, the global ultra high net worth market, including family of-
fices, has the highest growth potential, followed by the high net
worth market. Our broad client base and strong global footprint
put us in an excellent position to capture the growth opportuni-
ties across regions and segments.

Invested assets by client domicile

We provide wealth management solutions, products and ser-
vices to wealthy private clients as well as financial intermediaries.
Investment management and portfolio construction lie at the
heart of our offering. Clients who opt for a discretionary invest-
ment mandate delegate the management of their assets to a
team of professional portfolio managers. Those who prefer to be
actively involved can choose an advisory mandate. The portfolios
of advisory mandate clients are monitored and analyzed closely,
and they receive tailored proposals to help them make informed
investment decisions. All clients can also invest in the full range of
financial instruments, from single securities such as equities and
bonds to various investment funds, structured products and alter-
native investments. Additionally, we offer clients advice on struc-
tured lending and corporate finance. Our integrated client service
model allows us to bundle capabilities from across the Group to
identify investment opportunities in all market conditions and cre-
ate solutions that suit individual client needs. This collaboration is
also crucial to our focused expansion in key onshore markets,
where we continue to benefit from the established business rela-
tionships of our local Investment Bank and Global Asset Manage-
ment teams.

We cater to the specific needs of our diverse client segments.
Our ultra high net worth clients have access to the infrastruc-
ture we offer to our institutional clients. This includes the In-
vestment Bank’s trading platforms and our Institutional Solu-
tions Group’s services. In addition, through our Global Family

Invested assets by client wealth

% Total: CHF 987 billion
Asof 31.12.14
B Americas
Asia Pacific
27 M Europe, Middle East and Africa
Switzerland

% Total: CHF 987 billion
Asof 31.12.14
10
M < CHF 1 million
CHF 1-5 million
B CHF 5-10 million
” > CHF 10 million
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Office Group, our most sophisticated ultra high net worth cli-
ents benefit from tailored institutional coverage and global ex-
ecution provided by dedicated specialist teams from both
Wealth Management and the Investment Bank. We offer our
high net worth clients the full range of our investment manage-
ment capabilities. For example, UBS Advice, which forms part of
our advisory mandate offering, provides our clients with tai-
lored investment advice. It is an industry first in terms of how it
uses state-of-the-art technology to systematically monitor cli-
ents’ portfolios to detect risks as well as deviations from their
selected investment strategies. We believe that both our advi-
sory and discretionary mandate offerings provide a superior
value proposition as they both draw on the full range of our
investment management capabilities. We aim to grow our man-
dates business as it offers premium pricing opportunities and
contributes to higher recurring revenues.

Our booking centers across the globe give us a strong local
presence that allows us to book client assets in multiple locations.
The strength and scope of our franchise also enable us to adapt
swiftly to the changing legal and regulatory environment.

In Asia Pacific, we are accelerating our growth with a focus on
Hong Kong and Singapore, the leading financial centers in the
region. We are also developing our presence in major onshore
markets such as Japan and Taiwan, and investing further in our
local footprint in China to help capture long-term growth oppor-
tunities.

In the emerging markets, we are focused on key growth mar-
kets such as Mexico, Brazil, Turkey, Russia, Israel and Saudi Arabia.
We regularly assess our local presence to ensure proximity to our
clients in key markets, with the aim of serving them most effi-
ciently out of key hubs in the major emerging regions. Many
emerging market clients prefer to book their assets in established
financial centers and, to that end, we are strengthening our cov-
erage for such clients through our booking centers in Switzerland,
the US, and the UK.

Invested assets by asset class

In Europe, our long-established local presence in all major mar-
kets supports our growth ambition. We recognized early the con-
verging needs of clients and combined our offshore and onshore
businesses. This gives clients across the region access to our ex-
tensive Swiss product offering, and creates economies of scale by
enabling us to deal efficiently with increased regulatory and fiscal
requirements. In 2014, we extended our Swiss platform and of-
fering to our German domestic business — a major milestone in
terms of capitalizing on our existing global capabilities.

In Switzerland, based on our integrated business model, we col-
laborate closely with our colleagues in the retail, corporate, asset
management and investment banking businesses. This creates op-
portunities to expand our business through client referrals and gen-
erates efficiencies by enabling us to make use of UBS's extensive
branch network, which includes 100 wealth management offices.

Our Global Financial Intermediaries business supports our
growth ambitions by providing us with access to markets and cli-
ents beyond our own client advisor network. Additionally, it acts
as a strategic business partner for more than 2,200 financial inter-
mediaries in all major financial centers. It offers them professional
investment advisory services, a global banking infrastructure and
tailored solutions, helping financial intermediaries to advise their
end-clients more effectively.

Looking ahead, we want to continue to build on our leading
position by adapting our business for the digital age. Digitalization
represents an important opportunity for us to differentiate our-
selves and respond to our evolving client base. Accordingly, we are
making significant investments in our IT platform and e-capabilities.

Organizational structure
Headquartered in Switzerland, we have a presence in nearly 50
countries with approximately 230 offices, of which 100 are in

Switzerland. As of the end of 2014, we employed approximately
16,700 people worldwide. Of these, approximately 4,250 were

Invested assets by currency
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client advisors. We are governed by executive, operating and risk
committees and are primarily organized along regional lines with
our business areas being Asia Pacific, Europe, Global Emerging
Markets, Switzerland and Global Ultra High Net Worth. Our busi-
ness is supported by the Chief Investment Office and a global In-
vestment Products and Services unit, as well as central functions.

Competitors

Our major global competitors include the private banking opera-
tions of Credit Suisse, JP Morgan, HSBC, BNP Paribas, Deutsche
Bank, Julius Bar and Citigroup. In the European domestic markets,
we primarily compete with the private banking operations of
large local banks such as Barclays in the UK, Deutsche Bank in
Germany and UniCredit in Italy. In Asia Pacific, the private banking
franchises of HSBC, Citigroup and Credit Suisse are our main
competitors.

Investment advice and solutions

As part of a global, integrated firm, we are a dynamic wealth
manager with investment management capabilities at our core.
Our client advisors are proactive in their relationships with clients,
and we have a systematic process for developing a thorough un-
derstanding of our clients’ financial objectives and risk appetite. In
addition, our wealth planners — part of our specialist product
team — often support client advisors as they guide their clients in
making financial decisions based on their life-cycle needs. With
this comprehensive overview, we offer them wealth planning ad-
vice and products, and we ascertain their investment strategy,
which serves as the foundation for the investment solutions we
offer them. Client advisors regularly review their clients’ investor
profiles to make sure they correspond to their evolving priorities
and changing risk tolerance. Our bespoke training programs and
the ongoing support the firm provides to our client advisors en-
able them to deliver superior advice and solutions to our clients.
For example, we require all of our client advisors to obtain the
Wealth Management Diploma, a program accredited by Switzer-

land’s State Secretariat For Economic Affairs (SECO) that ensures
a high level of knowledge and expertise. For our most senior cli-
ent advisors, we offer extensive training through the Wealth Man-
agement Master program.

Our global Chief Investment Office synthesizes the research
and expertise of our global network of economists, strategists,
analysts and investment specialists across all business divisions
worldwide. These experts closely monitor and assess financial
market developments. This allows us to deliver real-time insights
and to include local expertise in our global investment process.
Using these analyses, and in consultation with our external part-
ner network at the UBS Investor Forum, which includes many of
the world’s most successful money managers, the Chief Invest-
ment Office establishes a clear, concise and consistent investment
view — the UBS House View.

The UBS House View identifies and communicates investment
opportunities and market risks to help protect and grow our cli-
ents’ wealth, and we aim to apply and implement it consistently
in our clients’ portfolios. The UBS House View is also reflected in
our strategic and tactical asset allocations, both of which under-
pin the investment strategies for our flagship discretionary man-
dates. The strategic asset allocation is an essential part of our
disciplined style of managing and growing our clients’ wealth,
and ensures that our clients remain on course to meet their finan-
cial goals over the long term. It is complemented by our tactical
asset allocation, which uses our global expertise to help our cli-
ents navigate markets and ultimately improve the risk and return
trade-off potential of their portfolios.

Our Investment Products and Services unit ensures our solu-
tions are in step with market conditions by aligning our discretion-
ary and advisory offerings with our UBS House View. Our products
are aimed at achieving positive performance in various market
scenarios. They are developed from a wide range of sources, in-
cluding Investment Products and Services, Global Asset Manage-
ment, the Investment Bank and third parties, as we operate within
a guided architecture model. By aggregating private investment
flows into institutional-size flows, we can offer our clients access
to investments normally available only to institutional clients.

Superior investment advice and solutions for our clients’ wealth

Return

UBS House View
Clear positions

Client understanding  Analysis
Determining our clients’ goals Gathering market
intelligence
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Wealth Management Americas

Wealth Management Americas develops advice-based relationships through its financial advisors, who deliver a fully
integrated set of wealth management solutions designed to address the needs of high net worth and ultra high net

worth individuals and families.

Business

We are one of the leading wealth managers in the Americas in
terms of financial advisor productivity and invested assets. Our
business includes the domestic US and Canadian business as well
as international business booked in the US. We have attractive
growth opportunities and a clear strategy focused on serving our
target client segments. As of 31 December 2014, invested assets
totaled USD 1,032 billion.

Strategy and clients
Our goal is to be the best wealth management business in the
Americas. With our client-focused, advisor-centric strategy, we

deliver advice-based wealth management solutions and banking
services through our financial advisors in key metropolitan mar-

Geographical presence in key markets

kets, providing a fully integrated set of products and services to
meet the needs of our target client segments — high net worth
clients and ultra high net worth clients — while also serving the
needs of core affluent clients. We define high net worth clients as
those with investable assets of between USD 1 million and USD
10 million, and ultra high net worth clients as those with invest-
able assets of more than USD 10 million. Core affluent clients are
defined as those with investable assets of between USD 250,000
and USD 1 million. The Global Family Office — Americas, a joint
venture between Wealth Management Americas and the Invest-
ment Bank, was launched in 2013 with the objective of seam-
lessly offering the global resources and reach of the entire firm by
providing integrated, comprehensive wealth management and
institutional-type services to selected Family Office clients. Our
Wealth Advice Center serves emerging affluent clients with in-
vestable assets of less than USD 250,000. We are committed to

Canada 4 offices:
Calgary, Montreal, Toronto, Vancouver

ALASKA
MONTANA

SOUTH DAKOTA

OREGON IDAHO
WYOMING

NEVADA UTAH

CALIFORNIA

ARIZONA NEW MEXICO

HAWAII

Wealth Management Americas offices:
<5 5-15 B > 15
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providing high-quality advice to our clients across all their finan-
cial needs by employing the best professionals in the industry,
delivering the highest standard of execution, and running a
streamlined and efficient business.

We believe we are uniquely positioned to serve high net worth
and ultra high net worth investors in the world’s largest wealth
market. With a network of about 7,000 financial advisors and
USD 1,032 billion in invested assets, we are large enough to be
relevant, but focused enough to be nimble, enabling us to com-
bine the advantages of large and boutique wealth managers. We
aim to differentiate ourselves from competitors and be a trusted
and leading provider of financial advice and solutions to our cli-
ents by enabling our financial advisors to leverage the full re-
sources of UBS, including unique access to wealth management
research, a global Chief Investment Office, and solutions from our
asset-gathering businesses and the Investment Bank. These re-
sources are augmented by our commitment to an open architec-
ture platform and are supported by our partnerships with many of
the world’s leading third-party institutions. Moreover, our wealth
management offering is complemented by banking, mortgage
and financing solutions that enable us to provide advice on both
the asset and liability sides of our clients’ balance sheets.

We believe the long-term growth prospects of the wealth
management business are attractive in the Americas, with high
net worth and ultra high net worth expected to be the fastest
growing segments in terms of invested assets in the region. In
2014, our strategy and focus led to a continued improvement in
financial results, retention of high-quality financial advisors and
net new money growth. Building on this progress, we aim for
continued growth in our business by developing our financial ad-
visors' focus towards delivering holistic advice across the full spec-

Invested assets by asset class

trum of client needs, leveraging the global capabilities of UBS to
clients by continuing to expand our cross business collaboration
efforts throughout the firm, and delivering banking and lending
services that complement our wealth management solutions. We
also plan to continue investing in improved platforms and tech-
nology, while remaining disciplined on cost. We expect these ef-
forts to enable us to achieve higher levels of client satisfaction,
strengthen our client relationships, and lead to greater revenue
productivity among our financial advisors.

Organizational structure

Wealth Management Americas consists of branch networks in the
US, Puerto Rico, Canada and Uruguay, with 6,997 financial advi-
sors as of 31 December 2014. Most corporate and operational
functions are located in the Wealth Management Americas home
office in Weehawken, New Jersey and the UBS Business Solutions
Center in Nashville, Tennessee.

In the US and Puerto Rico, we operate primarily through UBS
subsidiaries. Securities and operations activities are conducted pri-
marily through two registered broker-dealers, UBS Financial Ser-
vices Inc. and UBS Financial Services Incorporated of Puerto Rico.
Our banking services in the US include those conducted through
the UBS AG branches and UBS Bank USA, a federally regulated
bank in Utah, which provides Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora-
tion (FDIC)-insured deposit accounts, collateralized lending ser-
vices, mortgages and credit cards.

Canadian wealth management and banking operations are
conducted through UBS Bank (Canada), and Uruguayan wealth
management operations are conducted through UBS Financial
Services Montevideo.

Invested assets by client wealth
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Competitors

We compete with national full-service brokerage firms, domes-
tic and global private banks, regional broker-dealers, indepen-
dent broker-dealers, registered investment advisors, trust com-
panies and other financial services firms offering wealth
management services to US and Canadian private clients, as
well as foreign non-resident clients seeking wealth manage-
ment services within the US. Our main competitors include the
wealth management businesses of Bank of America, Morgan
Stanley and Wells Fargo.

Products and services

We offer clients a full array of solutions that focus on their individ-
ual financial needs. Comprehensive planning supports clients
through the various stages of their lives, including education
funding, charitable giving, estate strategies, insurance, retirement
and trusts, and foundations, with corresponding product offer-
ings for each stage. Our advisors work closely with internal con-
sultants in areas such as wealth planning, portfolio strategy, re-
tirement and annuities, alternative investments, managed
accounts, structured products, banking and lending, equities and
fixed income. Clients also benefit from our dedicated Wealth
Management Research team, which provides research guidance
to help support our clients’ investment decisions.

Our offering is designed to meet a wide variety of investment
objectives, including wealth accumulation and preservation, in-
come generation and portfolio diversification. To address the full
range of our clients’ financial needs, we also offer competitive
lending and cash management services such as securities-backed

lending, resource management accounts, FDIC-insured deposits,
mortgages and credit cards.

Additionally, our UBS Equity Plan Advisory Services is a leading
provider of equity compensation plan services and advice to more
than 150 US corporations, representing one million participants
worldwide. For corporate and institutional clients, we offer a ro-
bust suite of solutions, including equity compensation, adminis-
tration, investment consulting, defined benefit and contribution
programs and cash management services.

Our clients can choose asset-based pricing, transaction-based
pricing or a combination of both. Asset-based accounts have access
to both discretionary and non-discretionary investment advisory
programs. Non-discretionary advisory programs enable the client to
maintain control over all account transactions, while clients with
discretionary advisory programs authorize investment professionals
to manage a portfolio on their behalf. Depending on the type of
discretionary program, the client can give investment discretion to
a qualified financial advisor, a team of our investment professionals
or a third-party investment manager. Separately, we also offer mu-
tual fund advisory programs, whereby a financial advisor works
with the client to create a diversified portfolio of mutual funds
guided by a research-driven asset allocation framework.

For clients who favor individual securities, we offer a broad
range of equity and fixed income instruments. In addition, quali-
fied clients may invest in structured products and alternative in-
vestment offerings to complement their portfolio strategies.

All of these solutions are supported by a dedicated capital mar-
kets group. This group cooperates with the Investment Bank and
Global Asset Management in order to access the resources of the
entire firm, as well as with third-party investment banks and asset
management firms.
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Retail & Corporate

As the leading retail and corporate banking business in Switzerland, our goal is to deliver comprehensive financial
products and services to retail, corporate and institutional clients, provide stable and substantial profits for the Group
and create revenue opportunities for other businesses within the Group.

Business

We provide comprehensive financial products and services to our
retail, corporate and institutional clients in Switzerland, maintain-
ing a leading position in these client segments and embedding
our offering in a multi-channel approach. As shown in the “Busi-
ness mix” chart below, our retail and corporate business gener-
ates stable profits which contribute substantially to the overall fi-
nancial performance of the Group. We are among the leading
players in the retail and corporate loan market in Switzerland,
with a well collateralized lending portfolio of CHF 137 billion as of
31 December 2014, as shown in the “Loans, gross” chart below.
This portfolio is managed conservatively, focusing on profitability
and credit quality rather than market share.

Our retail and corporate business constitutes a central building
block of UBS’s universal bank delivery model in Switzerland, sup-
porting other business divisions by referring clients to them and
assisting retail clients to build their wealth to a level at which we
can transfer them to our Wealth Management unit. Furthermore,
we leverage the cross-selling potential of products and services
provided by our asset-gathering and investment banking busi-
nesses. In addition, we manage a substantial part of UBS’s Swiss
infrastructure and Swiss banking products platform, which are
both leveraged across the Group.

Business mix

Strategy and clients

We aspire to be the bank of choice for retail clients in Switzerland
by delivering value-added services. Currently, we serve one in three
Swiss households. Our distribution network is comprised of around
300 branches, 1,250 automated teller machines including self-ser-
vice terminals, and four customer service centers, as well as state-
of-the-art digital banking services. Technology is fundamentally
transforming the way we deliver our products and services. We
are, therefore, continuously expanding and enhancing our
multi-channel offering and will continue to build on our long tra-
dition as a leader and innovator in digital services to deliver supe-
rior client experience, capture market share and increase efficiency.
Moreover, we follow a life-cycle-based product approach to pro-
vide our clients with tailored solutions to meet their particular
needs in their different stages of life. With regard to execution, we
ensure a client-focused and efficient sales process.

Our size in Switzerland and the diversity of businesses we op-
erate put us in an advantageous position to serve all our clients’
complex financial needs in an integrated and efficient way. We
aim to be the main bank of corporate and institutional clients
ranging from small and medium-sized enterprises to multination-
als, and from pension funds and insurers to commodity traders
and banks. We serve more than 120,000 companies, including

Loans, gross

% Total income: CHF 3,836 million
For the year ended 31.12.14
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more than 85% of the 1,000 largest Swiss corporations, as well
as one in three pension funds in Switzerland, including 75 of the
largest 100, and 85% of banks domiciled in Switzerland. We
strive to selectively expand our market share in Switzerland with
focus on the cash flow-based lending and fee and trading busi-
ness. Additionally, we systematically expand our international
footprint leveraging our product capabilities to optimally serve
Swiss corporate clients with activities abroad as well as global cor-
porate clients with headquarters in Switzerland.

Our clients value the good work we do and have rewarded it
once again: for the fourth consecutive year, in 2014, the interna-
tional finance magazine Euromoney named UBS “Best Domestic
Cash Manager Switzerland” on the basis of a survey of cash man-
agers and Chief Financial Officers. We were recognized by our
clients for our extraordinary quality in the annual “Agent Banks in
Major Markets"” survey carried out by the Global Custodian mag-
azine.

As the leading retail and corporate banking business in Swit-
zerland, we understand the importance of our role in supporting
our clients’ needs. We continuously review structures and pro-
cesses in order to simplify our service commitments across the
business, including streamlining our processes, reducing the ad-
ministrative burden on our client advisors and enhancing their
long-term productivity without compromising our risk standards.

Continuous development, particularly of our client-facing
staff, is a crucial element of our strategy, as this is our key to en-
suring superior client service. We are the only bank in Switzerland
with a mandatory certification scheme for our client advisors ac-
knowledged by an independent third party.

Organizational structure

We are a core element of UBS's universal bank delivery model in
Switzerland, which allows us to extend the expertise of the entire
bank to our Swiss retail, corporate and institutional clients. Swit-
zerland is the only country where we operate in retail, corporate
and institutional banking, wealth and asset management, as well
as investment bank services.

To ensure consistent delivery throughout Switzerland, the Swiss
network is organized into 10 geographical regions. Dedicated
management teams in the regions and in the branches derived

from all business areas are responsible for executing the universal
bank model, fostering cross-divisional collaboration and ensuring
that the public and clients have a uniform experience based on a
single corporate image and shared standards of service.

Competitors

In the Swiss retail banking business, our competitors are Raif-
feisen, Credit Suisse, the cantonal banks, Postfinance, and other
regional and local Swiss banks.

In the Swiss corporate and institutional business, our main
competitors are Credit Suisse, the cantonal banks and foreign
banks in Switzerland.

Products and services

Our retail clients have access to a comprehensive life-cycle-based
offering, comprising easy-to-understand products including cash
accounts, payments, savings and retirement solutions, investment
fund products, residential mortgages, a loyalty program and advi-
sory services. We provide financing solutions to our corporate cli-
ents, offering access to equity and debt capital markets, syndi-
cated and structured credit, private placements, leasing and
traditional financing. Our transaction banking offers solutions for
payment and cash management services, trade and export fi-
nance, receivable finance, as well as global custody solutions to
institutional clients. In 2014, we launched a number of product
and service innovations. Examples include the UBS Asset Wizard,
which enables our globally invested clients to analyze the risks
and performance of their portfolios with just a few clicks, digitally
and in real time. Additionally, we launched SME Fast Credit based
on a lean credit process that includes fast credit decisions and ef-
ficient credit monitoring, which optimally addresses small and
medium-sized enterprise needs and helps us realize significant
efficiency gains. To best leverage our value proposition to clients,
close collaboration with our Investment Bank is a key building
block in our universal bank strategy. This enables us to offer capi-
tal market products, foreign exchange products, hedging strate-
gies and trading, as well as to provide corporate finance advice in
fields such as mid-market mergers and acquisitions, corporate
succession planning and real estate.
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Global Asset Management

Global Asset Management is a large-scale asset manager with well diversified businesses across regions and client
segments. We serve third-party institutional and wholesale clients, as well as clients of UBS’s wealth management
businesses with a broad range of investment capabilities and styles across all major traditional and alternative asset

classes.

Business

Our investment capabilities encompass traditional investments in-
cluding equities, fixed income, multi-asset and currency strate-
gies, as well as alternative investments including hedge funds,
real estate, infrastructure and private equity funds. Complement-
ing the investment offering, our fund services unit provides ad-
ministration services for traditional and alternative UBS and third-
party funds. Invested assets totaled CHF 664 billion and assets
under administration were CHF 520 billion as of 31 December
2014. We are a leading fund house in Europe, the largest mutual
fund manager in Switzerland and one of the leading fund of
hedge funds and real estate investment managers in the world.

Strategy

Our mission is to bring the best of Global Asset Management to
our clients by drawing on the full breadth of our capabilities to
deliver high-quality solutions and services, and by acting as a
trusted partner. We offer a broad range of investment capabilities
and styles across all major traditional and alternative asset classes.
We are focused on delivering superior investment performance
and carefully managing our product shelf to ensure we can offer
distinctive and innovative products for our clients. Across our

Invested assets by client segment

business, we have a clear focus on fostering an environment that
attracts, develops and retains world-class professionals.

Our aim is to drive profitable and sustainable growth across
our client segments. In third-party distribution, we are focusing
our growth ambitions on key markets, strengthening our institu-
tional business and accelerating the growth of our wholesale
business. We are also intensifying our collaboration with UBS's
wealth management businesses to deliver products and solutions
for their clients.

Our global business model has proven resilient to challenging
market conditions, positions us well to benefit from shifting mar-
ket dynamics, and provides a solid foundation to capture growth
opportunities.

Going forward, we will build on our strengths, including alter-
natives and passive investments. In alternatives, we continue to
work to expand our successful platform, building on our estab-
lished positions in real estate, hedge funds and fund of hedge
funds, and leveraging this expertise across all investment areas. In
passive investments, we continue to develop our well established
capabilities, including indexed strategies and exchange-traded
funds (ETF), to meet growing demand for these products from
both institutional and individual investors. Nearly one-third of our
invested assets now fall into this category and our platform is
highly scalable.

Invested assets by region’
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1 Assets represented are totals for the Global Asset Management business division worldwide.
The regional split is primarily based on the client servicing location.



Following a challenging period, the asset management indus-
try has seen a resurgence in asset inflows. The long-term outlook
is positive, with three main drivers indicating continued industry
inflows: (i) populations are aging in developed countries and this
will increase future savings requirements; (i) governments are
continuing to reduce support for pensions and benefits, leading
to a greater need for private provision; and (iii) emerging markets
are becoming ever more important asset pools.

Clients and markets

We serve third-party institutional and wholesale clients, and cli-
ents of UBS's wealth management businesses. As shown in the
“Invested assets by client segment” chart, as of 31 December
2014 approximately 71% of invested assets originated from third-
party clients. These comprised institutional clients, such as corpo-
rate and public pension plans, governments and central banks,
and wholesale clients, such as financial intermediaries and distri-
bution partners. UBS's wealth management businesses repre-
sented 29% of invested assets. Geographically, our client base is
broadly diversified, as shown in the “Invested assets by region”
chart.

Competitors

Our competitors include global firms with wide-ranging capabili-
ties and distribution channels, such as BlackRock, JP Morgan As-
set Management, BNP Paribas Investment Partners, Amundi,
Goldman Sachs Asset Management, AllianceBernstein Invest-
ments, Schroders and Morgan Stanley Investment Management.

Our other competitors include firms with a specific market or as-
set class focus.

Organizational structure

At the end of 2014, we employed 3,817 personnel in 24 coun-

tries, and have our principal offices in London, Chicago, Frankfurt,

Hartford, Hong Kong, New York, Paris, Singapore, Sydney, Tokyo

and Zurich.

Our structure is organized around our:

— investment and business areas (as detailed under products and
services below);

— client servicing and distribution teams, including regional
teams responsible for third-party wholesale and institutional
distribution, and dedicated global teams covering sovereign
clients, consultants, ETFs and UBS’s wealth management busi-
nesses,

— global product development and management function;

— regional heads of Americas, Asia Pacific, Switzerland and
EMEA to provide regional governance and oversight;

— adivisional COO function including global product control and
logistics, fund services, business risk and regulatory manage-
ment, fund treasury, global marketing, and strategic planning
and development;

— support functions including shared services provided by Corpo-
rate Center.
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Global Asset Management

Investment capabilities and services

Equities

Core global, regional, country,
emerging markets

Opportunity, high alpha

Small cap, sector, thematic,
sustainable

Growth style — global, US,
emerging markets

Fixed income

Global

Country and regional
Money market

Short duration

Core and core plus

Sector specific

Structured beta
and indexing

Indexed equity, fixed income,
commodities, real estate and
alternatives

Alternative beta
Rules-based
ETF, pooled funds, mandates

Structured funds

Global investment
solutions

Global, regional and country
multi-asset

Asset allocation
Currency management
Return and risk targeted

Structured solutions

Fund services

Fund/Product set-up

Fiduciary and regulatory
services
Net asset value calculation

Middle office services
Reporting and accounting

Investor services

Long/short, unconstrained,
market neutral

Emerging markets

High yield
Quantitative

High dividend
Multi-strategy

Unconstrained

Customized solutions

0'Connor A&Q hedge fund solutions

Global

Single manager hedge funds:

Multi-manager hedge fund

Global multi-strategy BLEEicE

Customized fund of hedge fund

Regional and sector equity solutions

long/short
Gl g Hedge fund advisory programs

Convertible arbitrage Listed securities

Merger arbitrage Farmland

Products and services

We offer our clients investment products and services in equities,
fixed income, single and multi-manager hedge funds, global real
estate, infrastructure, private equity, and multi-asset solutions.
These can be delivered in the form of active or passive, segre-
gated, pooled or advisory mandates, as well as a broad range of
registered investment funds, ETFs and other investment vehicles
in a wide variety of jurisdictions. We also offer fund administra-
tion services for UBS and third-party funds. The “Investment capa-
bilities and services” chart illustrates the distinct offerings of each
area.
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Equities offers a wide spectrum of active investment strategies
with varying risk and return objectives. Global and regional ca-
pabilities in the US, Europe, APAC and emerging markets are
complemented by growth and quantitative styles. Strategies
include core, high alpha, unconstrained, long-short, small cap,
sector, thematic and high dividend.

Fixed income offers a diverse range of active global, regional
and local market-based investment strategies. Its capabilities in-

Global real estate

Country and regional

Income, core, value-added and
opportunistic strategies

Multi-manager funds

Risk management

: Private labeli
Multi-manager ERlEoE

International distribution

Advisory services support

Ancillary services for fund
of hedge funds

Infrastructure and

private equity

Direct infrastructure investment
Infrastructure fund of funds

Private equity fund of funds
and private banking products

clude single-sector strategies such as government and corporate
bond portfolios, multi-sector strategies such as core and core
plus bond, and extended sector strategies such as high yield and
emerging market debt. In addition to this suite of traditional
fixed income offerings, the team also manages unconstrained
fixed income, currency strategies and customized solutions.
Structured beta and indexing offers indexed, alternative beta
and rules-based strategies across all major asset classes on a
global and regional basis. Its capabilities include indexed equi-
ties, fixed income, commodities, real estate and alternatives
with benchmarks ranging from mainstream to highly custom-
ized indices and rules-driven solutions. Products are offered in
a variety of structures including ETFs, pooled funds, structured
funds and mandates.

Global investment solutions (GIS) offers active asset allocation,
currency and multi-manager investment strategies as well as
structured solutions and advisory services. It manages a wide
array of regional and global multi-asset investment strategies
across the full investment universe and risk/return spectrum,
customized and risk-managed strategies, convertible bonds



and multi-manager strategies. GIS also supports clients in a
wide range of advisory functions including outsourced chief
investment officer, manager selection, pension risk manage-
ment, risk advisory, global tactical asset allocation and custom
mandates.

O’Connor is a global, relative value-focused, single-manager
hedge fund platform. It is dedicated to providing investors with
strong absolute and risk-adjusted returns, differentiated from
those available from long-only investments in traditional asset
classes.

A&Q hedge fund solutions (A&Q) offers a full spectrum of
multi-manager hedge fund solutions and advisory services in-
cluding a wide range of strategies that provide professionally
managed exposure to hedge fund investments with tailored
risk and return profiles.

Global real estate actively manages real estate investments
globally and regionally within Asia Pacific, Europe and the US,
across the major real estate sectors. Its capabilities are focused
on core and value-added strategies, but also include other

strategies across the risk/return spectrum. These are offered
through open and closed-end private funds, real estate invest-
ment trusts, customized investment structures, multi-manager
funds, individually managed accounts and real estate securi-
ties.

Infrastructure and private equity manages direct infrastructure
investment and multi-manager infrastructure and private eg-
uity strategies for both institutional and private banking cli-
ents. Infrastructure asset management manages direct invest-
ments in core infrastructure assets globally. Alternative Funds
Advisory (AFA) infrastructure and AFA private equity construct
broadly diversified fund of funds portfolios across the infra-
structure and private equity asset classes, respectively.

Fund services, a global fund administration business, offers a
comprehensive range of flexible solutions, including fund
set-up and fiduciary and regulatory services as well as report-
ing and accounting for traditional investment funds, managed
accounts, hedge funds, real estate funds, private equity funds
and other alternative structures.
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Investment Bank

The Investment Bank provides corporate, institutional and wealth management clients with expert advice, innovative
solutions, execution and comprehensive access to the world’s capital markets. We offer advisory services and access to
international capital markets, and provide comprehensive cross-asset research, along with access to equities, foreign
exchange, precious metals and selected rates and credit markets, through our business units, Corporate Client Solutions
and Investor Client Services. The Investment Bank is an active participant in capital markets flow activities, including

sales, trading and market-making across a range of securities.

Business

The Investment Bank is organized as two distinct but aligned busi-
ness units:

Corporate Client Solutions includes all advisory and financing
solutions businesses, origination, structuring and execution, in-
cluding equity and debt capital markets in service of corporate,
financial institution, sponsor clients and UBS's wealth manage-
ment businesses.

Investor Client Services includes execution, distribution and
trading for institutional investors and provides support to Corpo-
rate Client Solutions and UBS’s wealth management businesses. It
is comprised of our equities businesses, including cash, derivatives
and financing services, cross-asset class research capabilities, and
our foreign exchange franchise, precious metals, rates and credit
businesses. The Investor Client Services unit also provides distribu-
tion and risk management capabilities required to support all of
our businesses.

Strategy

We aspire to provide best-in-class services and solutions to our
corporate, institutional and wealth management clients, through
an integrated, solutions-led approach, driven by intellectual capi-
tal and leveraging our award-winning electronic platforms. With
our client-centric business model, we are an ideal partner to our
wealth management businesses, Retail & Corporate and Global
Asset Management, and we are well positioned to provide our
clients with deep market insight as well as global coverage and
execution.

We continue to focus on our traditional strengths in advisory,
capital markets, equities and foreign exchange businesses, com-
plemented by a re-focused rates and credit platform, in order to
deliver attractive, sustainable, risk-adjusted returns. Supported by
world-class research and technology capabilities, we continue to
pioneer innovative and integrated solutions across asset classes.
We are thus able to support our clients as they adapt to evolving
market structures, driven by regulatory and technological changes.

Our Corporate Client Solutions business unit is comprised of
our advisory and capital markets businesses and financing solu-
tions, which are geared toward industries and geographies that
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offer the best opportunities to meet our long-term strategic goals.
We are present in all major financial markets, with coverage based
on a comprehensive matrix of country, sector and product bank-
ing professionals.

Within Investor Client Services, our industry-leading equities
business continues to leverage its global distribution platform and
comprehensive product capabilities, to support a broad client
base, including UBS's wealth management businesses, and insti-
tutional and retail investors, providing access to primary and sec-
ondary equity markets globally. Our foreign exchange and pre-
cious metals businesses, underpinned by a world-class distribution
platform, continue to be a cornerstone of our services. Consistent
with our strategy, our rates and credit businesses are focused on
client flow and solutions, in addition to executing and clearing
exchange-traded fixed income and commodities derivatives. It
serves our capital markets business through an intermediation
model, similar to our equities and foreign exchange businesses.

To ensure the ongoing successful execution of our strategy, we
continue to invest in technology and selectively recruit talent in
key areas across the business. Furthermore, we remain focused on

The Investment Bank has continued to deliver consistent
and balanced income

CHF million, except where indicated
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1 Refer to the table "Adjusted results” in the "Group performance” section of this report for
more information.



our ongoing cost reduction programs and on strengthening our
operational risk framework. In 2014, we further optimized inter-
nal efficiencies by implementing a targeted technology plan. This
plan is based on a long-term portfolio approach across businesses
aimed at enhancing the effectiveness of our platform for clients.
In addition, we will continue to undertake targeted measures to
simplify our production processes, achieve leaner front-to-back
processes and operate with a reduced real-estate footprint.

To support our goal of earning attractive returns on our allo-
cated capital, we operate within a tightly controlled framework of
balance sheet, risk-weighted assets and leverage ratio denomina-
tor. Consistent with this, we assess both the Corporate Client
Solutions and the Investor Client Services business units based on
the returns they generate individually, as well as assessing the sup-
port and contribution they provide across our two business units.

Organizational structure

At the end of 2014, we employed 11,794 personnel in over 35
countries, and had our principal offices in Hong Kong, London,
New York, Singapore, Sydney, Tokyo and Zurich.

To ensure that our corporate and institutional clients benefit
from our global reach and capabilities in tailoring solutions to
meet their individual needs, we are organized into two client-cen-
tric business units: Corporate Client Solutions and Investor Client
Services. Dedicated management teams in these business units
complement our global product capabilities with their regional
expertise to foster cross-product and cross-divisional collabora-
tion, enabling us to deliver the firm’s comprehensive range of ser-
vices to our clients.

We are governed by executive, operating and risk committees
and operate through UBS AG branches, and other subsidiaries of
UBS Group. Securities activities in the US are conducted through
UBS Securities LLC, a registered broker-dealer. In the UK, Invest-
ment Bank activities are conducted mainly out of UBS AG London
Branch and UBS Limited, consistent with the modified operating
model implemented during 2014 for UBS Limited.

Competitors

Our Investment Bank’s strategy and scope is unique, but other
competing firms are active in many of the businesses and markets
in which we participate. For our leading equities, foreign ex-
change and corporate advisory businesses, our main competitors
are the major global investment banks, including Bank of America
Merrill Lynch, Barclays, Citigroup, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank,
Goldman Sachs, JP Morgan Chase and Morgan Stanley.

Products and services

Corporate Client Solutions

This unit provides client coverage, advisory, debt and equity capi-
tal market solutions and financing solutions for corporate, finan-
cial institution, sponsor clients and UBS’s wealth management

businesses. Corporate Client Solutions works closely with Investor

Client Services in the distribution and risk management of capital

markets products and financing solutions. With a presence in all

major financial markets, it is managed by region and is organized
on a matrix of product, industry sector and country banking pro-
fessionals. Its main business lines are as follows:

— Advisory provides bespoke solutions for our clients’ most com-
plex strategic challenges. This includes mergers and acquisi-
tions advice and execution, as well as refinancing, spin-offs,
exchange offers, leveraged buyouts, joint ventures, takeover
defense, corporate broking and other advisory services.

— Equity capital markets offers equity capital-raising services, as
well as related derivative products and risk management solu-
tions. Its services include managing initial public offerings, fol-
low-ons, including rights issues and block trades, as well as
equity-linked transactions and other strategic equities solu-
tions.

— Debt capital markets helps corporate and financial institution
clients in raising debt capital including investment-grade and
emerging market bonds, high-yield bonds, subordinated debt
and hybrid capital. It also provides leveraged capital services,
which include event-driven (acquisition, leveraged buy-out)
loans, bonds and mezzanine financing. All debt products are
provided alongside risk management solutions, including de-
rivatives in close collaboration with our foreign exchange, rates
and credit businesses.

— Financing solutions serves corporate and investor clients across
the globe by providing customized solutions across asset
classes via a wide range of financing capabilities, including
structured financing, real estate finance and special situations.

— Risk management includes corporate lending and associated
hedging activities.

Investor Client Services

Investor Client Services, which includes our equities business and
our foreign exchange, rates and credit business, provides a com-
prehensive distribution platform with enhanced cross-asset deliv-
ery as well as specialist skills to our corporate, institutional and
wealth management clients.

Equities

We are one of the world’s largest equities houses and a leading
participant in the primary and secondary markets for cash equities
and equity derivatives. We provide a full front-to-back product
suite globally, including financing, execution, clearing and cus-
tody services. Our franchise takes a client-centric approach in
serving hedge funds, asset managers, wealth management advi-
sors, financial institutions and sponsors, pension funds, sovereign
wealth funds and corporations globally. We distribute, structure,
execute, finance and clear cash equity and equity derivative prod-
ucts. Our research franchise provides in-depth investment analysis
on companies, sectors, regions, macroeconomic trends, public
policy and asset-allocation strategies. The main business lines of
the equities unit are:
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Cash provides clients with liquidity, investment advisory, trade
execution and consultancy services, together with comprehen-
sive access to primary and secondary markets, corporate man-
agement and subject matter experts. We offer full-service
trade execution for single stocks and portfolios, including cap-
ital commitment, block trading, small cap execution and com-
mission management services. In addition, we provide clients
with a full suite of advanced electronic trading products, direct
market access to over 100 venues worldwide, including low-
latency execution, innovative algorithms and pre-trade, post-
trade and real-time analytical tools. Our broker and intermedi-
ary services franchise offers execution and price improvement
to retail wholesalers.

Derivatives provides a full range of flow and structured prod-
ucts, convertible bonds and strategic equity solutions with
global access to primary and secondary markets. It enables cli-
ents to manage risk and meet funding requirements through a
wide range of listed, over-the-counter, securitized and fund-
wrapped products. We create and distribute structured prod-
ucts and notes for institutional and retail investors with invest-
ment returns linked to companies, sectors and indices across
multiple asset classes, including commodities.

Financing services provides a fully integrated platform for our
hedge fund clients, including prime brokerage, capital intro-
duction, clearing and custody, synthetic financing and securi-
ties lending. In addition, we execute and clear exchange-traded
equity derivatives in more than 45 markets globally. The busi-
ness efficiently manages its allocated resources to deliver at-
tractive, risk-adjusted returns.

Foreign exchange, rates and credit

This unit consists of our leading foreign exchange franchise and

our market-leading precious metals business, as well as select

rates and credit businesses. These businesses support the execu-
tion, distribution and risk management related to corporate and
institutional client businesses, and they also meet the needs of

UBS’s wealth management clients via targeted intermediaries. We

are focused on building a leading agency execution and electronic

trading business, and continue to maintain high levels of balance
sheet velocity. The main business lines are:

— Foreign exchange provides a full range of G10 and emerging
markets currency and precious metals services globally. We are
a leading foreign exchange market-maker in the professional
spot, forwards and options markets. We provide clients world-
wide with first-class execution facilities (voice, electronic, algo-
rithmic) coupled with premier advisory and structuring capabil-
ities when tailored solutions best fit our clients’ positioning,
hedging or liquidity management. We have been present in
physical and non-physical precious metals markets for almost
one century, providing trading, investing and hedging across
the precious metals spectrum.

— Rates and credit encompasses sales, trading and market-mak-
ing in a selected number of rates and credit products, including
standardized rates-driven products, interest rate swaps, medi-
um-term notes, government and corporate bonds, bank notes,
credit derivatives and the execution and clearing of ex-
change-traded fixed income and commodities derivatives. In
addition, we work closely with Corporate Client Solutions, pro-
viding support to our debt capital markets businesses and tai-
loring customized financing solutions for our clients.



Corporate Center

Corporate Center is comprised of Core Functions and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. Core Functions include Group-wide
control functions such as finance (including treasury services such as liquidity, funding, balance sheet and capital
management), risk control (including compliance) and legal. In addition, Core Functions provide all logistics and support
services, including operations, information technology, human resources, regulatory relations and strategic initiatives,
communications and branding, corporate services, physical security, information security as well as outsourcing, near-
shoring and offshoring. Non-core and Legacy Portfolios is comprised of the non-core businesses and legacy positions
that were part of the Investment Bank prior to its restructuring.

Corporate Center — Core Functions

At the end of 2014, 23,637 personnel were employed in Corporate
Center — Core Functions. Core Functions allocates the majority of
its treasury income, operating expenses and personnel associated
with control and shared services functions to the businesses for
which the respective services are performed based on service
consumption and financial resource usage.

As of 1 January 2015, Corporate Center — Core Functions was
reorganized into two new components, Corporate Center — Ser-
vices and Corporate Center — Group Asset and Liability Manage-
ment (Group ALM).

Group Chief Financial Officer

Our Group Chief Financial Officer (Group CFO) is responsible for
ensuring transparency in, and the assessment of, the financial
performance of our Group and business divisions and for the
Group’s financial accounting, controlling, forecasting, planning
and reporting processes. The Group CFO also provides advice on
financial aspects of strategic projects and transactions. The Group
CFO is responsible for divisional and UBS Group financial control
functions. The Group CFO is also responsible for management
and control of the Group’s tax affairs and for treasury and capital
management, including management and control of funding and
liquidity risk with independent oversight from the Group Chief
Risk Officer (Group CRO), and UBS's regulatory capital ratios. Af-
ter consultation with the Audit Committee of the Board of Direc-
tors (BoD), our Group CFO makes proposals to the BoD regarding
the accounting standards adopted by the Group, and defines fi-
nancial reporting and disclosure standards. Together with the
Group Chief Executive Officer (Group CEO), the Group CFO pro-
vides external certifications under sections 302 and 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and, in coordination with the Group
CEO, manages relations with investors and external analysts. The
Group CFO supports the Group CEQ in strategy development and
key strategic topics. The Corporate Development function sup-
ports UBS’s senior management in the definition, implementation
and monitoring of UBS’s strategy.

Group Chief Operating Officer

Our Group Chief Operating Officer (Group COO) is responsible for
the management of the Group COO functions, which from Janu-
ary 2014 onward includes Group Technology, Group Operations,
Group Corporate Services and Business Design & Effectiveness.
The Group COO is responsible for providing quality, cost-effective
and differentiating Group-wide IT services and tools in line with
the needs of the business divisions and Corporate Center and for
the delivery of a wide range of operational services across all busi-
ness divisions and regions. The Group COO is also responsible for
supplying real estate infrastructure and general administrative ser-
vices, and for directing and controlling all supply and demand
management activities for the entire firm. He supports the firm
with its third-party sourcing strategies and takes responsibility for
the bank’s nearshore, offshore, outsourcing and supplier-related
processes. The Group COO supports the firm in enabling change
and transition to better serve our clients by redefining the level of
services and product offerings throughout the firm, improving the
effectiveness and efficiency of UBS’s operating model and pro-
cesses, reducing complexity and enhancing the flexibility and agil-
ity of the organization.

Group Chief Risk Officer

The Group Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the development
of the Group’s risk appetite framework, its risk management and
control principles and risk policies. In accordance with the risk
appetite framework approved by the Board, the Group CRO is
responsible for the implementation of appropriate independent
control frameworks for credit, market, treasury, country, compli-
ance and operational risks within the Group. The Group CRO is
also responsible for the development and implementation of the
frameworks for risk measurement, aggregation, portfolio controls
and, jointly with the Group CFO, for risk reporting. The Group
CRO decides over transactions, positions, exposures, portfolio lim-
its and risk provisions/allowances in accordance with the risk con-
trol authorities delegated to him. The Group CRO has manage-
ment responsibility over the divisional, regional and firm-wide
risk control functions, and monitors and challenges the bank’s
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risk-taking activities. In January 2014, the compliance and opera-
tional risk organizations were brought together to form a single
function focusing on the control of our regulatory, conduct and
operational risks across all business divisions. This integrated unit
reports to the Group CRO. Also effective January 2014, our Group
Security Services function became part of the Group CRO area.

Group General Counsel

Our Group General Counsel (Group GC) is responsible for legal
matters, policies and processes, and for managing the legal func-
tion of our Group. The Group GC is responsible for reporting legal
risks and material litigation, and for managing litigation, internal,
special and regulatory investigations. The Group GC assumes re-
sponsibility for legal oversight in respect of the Group’s key regu-
latory interactions and for maintaining the relationships with our
key regulators with respect to legal matters.

Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio

Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio is comprised
of the non-core businesses and legacy positions that that were
part of the Investment Bank prior to its restructuring, and is over-
seen by a committee consisting of the Group Chief Executive
Officer, the Group Chief Financial Officer and the Group Chief
Risk Officer.
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Non-core and Legacy Portfolio’s businesses and positions are
being managed and exited over time with the objective of max-
imizing shareholder value, in line with our strategic plan. We
have established clear priorities for regions, counterparties and
product lines and have developed detailed wind-down plans
with the objective of achieving capital benefits at optimized cost.
Non-core and Legacy Portfolio works closely with sales manag-
ers and bankers in the Investment Bank as well as with trading
market contacts in attempting to execute the most appropriate
strategy for each situation, and has built strong management
information systems to track the progress of risk-weighted as-
sets (RWA) and leverage ratio denominator reductions and exit
costs. The wind-down and exit strategies include negotiated bi-
lateral settlements with specific counterparties, third-party nova-
tions, including transfers to central clearing houses, agreements
to net down trades with other dealer counterparties and portfo-
lio sales. Significant simplification of books and trades also con-
tributed to our strong progress, and dynamic risk management
and hedging of positions effectively mitigated profit and loss
volatility in the portfolio.

Fully applied RWA for Non-core and Legacy Portfolio as of
31 December 2014 were CHF 36 billion. As of 31 December
2014, 1,480 personnel were employed within Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio compared with 1,585 personnel as of 31 De-
cember 2013.



Risk factors

Certain risks, including those described below, may impact
our ability to execute our strategy and affect our business activi-
ties, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Be-
cause the business of a broad-based international financial ser-
vices firm such as UBS is inherently exposed to risks that become
apparent only with the benefit of hindsight, risks of which we are
not presently aware or which we currently do not consider to be
material could also impact our ability to execute our strategy and
affect our business activities, financial condition, results of opera-
tions and prospects. The order of presentation of the risk factors
below does not indicate the likelihood of their occurrence or the
potential magnitude of their consequences.

Fluctuation in foreign exchange rates and continuing low
or negative interest rates may have a detrimental effect
on our capital strength, our liquidity and funding position,
and our profitability

On 15 January 2015, the Swiss National Bank (SNB) discon-
tinued the minimum targeted exchange rate for the Swiss franc
versus the euro, which had been in place since September 2011.
At the same time, the SNB lowered the interest rate on deposit
account balances at the SNB that exceed a given exemption
threshold by 50 basis points to negative 0.75%. It also moved the
target range for three-month LIBOR to between negative 1.25%
and negative 0.25%, (previously negative 0.75% to positive
0.25%). These decisions resulted in an immediate, considerable
strengthening of the Swiss franc against the euro, US dollar, Brit-
ish pound, Japanese yen and several other currencies, as well as a
reduction in Swiss franc interest rates. The longer-term rate of the
Swiss franc against these other currencies is not certain, nor is the
future direction of Swiss franc interest rates. Several other central
banks have likewise adopted a negative-interest-rate policy.

A significant portion of the equity of UBS's foreign operations
is denominated in US dollars, euros, British pounds and other for-
eign currencies.

Similarly, a significant portion of our Basel Ill risk-weighted as-
sets (RWA) are denominated in US dollars, euros, British pounds
and other foreign currencies. Group Asset and Liability Manage-
ment (Group ALM) is mandated with the task of minimizing ad-
verse effects from changes in currency rates on our capital ratios.
The Group Asset and Liability Management Committee, a com-
mittee of the UBS Group Executive Board, can adjust the currency
mix in capital, within limits set by the Board of Directors, to bal-
ance the effect of foreign exchange movements on the fully ap-
plied CET1 capital and total capital ratio. As a result, the propor-
tion of RWA denominated in foreign currencies outweighs the
capital in these currencies, and any further significant apprecia-
tion of the Swiss franc against these currencies would be expected

to benefit our Basel Ill capital ratios, while a depreciation of the
Swiss franc would be expected to have a detrimental effect.

The portion of our operating income denominated in non-Swiss
franc currencies is greater than the portion of operating expenses
denominated in non-Swiss franc currencies. Therefore, appreciation
of the Swiss franc against other currencies generally has an adverse
effect on our earnings in the absence of any mitigating actions.

In addition to the estimated effects from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, our equity and capital are affected by
changes in interest rates. In particular, the calculation of our net
defined benefit assets and liabilities is sensitive to the discount
rate applied. Any further reduction in interest rates would lower
the discount rates and result in an increase in pension plan deficits
due to the long duration of corresponding liabilities. This would
lead to a corresponding reduction in our equity and fully applied
CET1 capital. Also, a continuing low or negative interest rate en-
vironment would have an adverse effect on the re-pricing of our
assets and liabilities, and would significantly impact the net inter-
est income generated from our wealth management and retail
and corporate businesses. The low or negative interest rate envi-
ronment may affect customer behavior and hence the overall bal-
ance sheet structure. Any mitigating actions that we may take to
counteract these effects, such as the introduction of selective de-
posit fees or minimum lending rates, could result in the loss of
customer deposits, a key source of our funding, and/or a declin-
ing market share in our domestic lending portfolio.

Furthermore, the stronger Swiss franc may have a negative im-
pact on the Swiss economy, which, given its reliance on exports,
could impact some of the counterparties within our domestic
lending portfolio and lead to an increase in the level of credit loss
expenses in future periods.

Regulatory and legal changes may adversely affect our
business and our ability to execute our strategic plans

Fundamental changes in the laws and regulations affecting
financial institutions can have a material and adverse effect on our
business. In the wake of the 2007-2009 financial crisis and the
following instability in global financial markets, regulators and
legislators have proposed, have adopted, or are actively consider-
ing, a wide range of changes to these laws and regulations. These
measures are generally designed to address the perceived causes
of the crisis and to limit the systemic risks posed by major financial
institutions. They include the following:

— significantly higher regulatory capital requirements;

— changes in the definition and calculation of regulatory capital;

— changes in the calculation of RWA, including potential require-
ments to calculate or disclose RWA using less risk-sensitive
standardized approaches rather than the internal models ap-
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proach we currently use as required by FINMA under the
Basel Ill framework;

— changes in the calculation of the leverage ratio or the introduc-
tion of a more demanding leverage ratio;

— new or significantly enhanced liquidity requirements;

— reqguirements to maintain liquidity and capital in jurisdictions in
which activities are conducted and booked;

— limitations on principal trading and other activities;

— new licensing, registration and compliance regimes;

— limitations on risk concentrations and maximum levels of risk;

— taxes and government levies that would effectively limit bal-
ance sheet growth or reduce the profitability of trading and
other activities;

— cross-border market access restrictions;

— a variety of measures constraining, taxing or imposing addi-
tional requirements relating to compensation;

— adoption of new liquidation regimes intended to prioritize the
preservation of systemically significant functions;

— reqguirements to maintain loss-absorbing capital or debt instru-
ments subject to write down as part of recovery measures or a
resolution of the Group or a Group company, including re-
guirements for subsidiaries to maintain such instruments;

— requirements to adopt structural and other changes designed
to reduce systemic risk and to make major financial institutions
easier to manage, restructure, disassemble or liquidate, includ-
ing ring-fencing certain activities and operations within sepa-
rate legal entities; and

— requirements to adopt risk and other governance structures at
a local jurisdiction level.

Many of these measures have been adopted and their imple-
mentation has had a material effect on our business. Others will be
implemented over the next several years; some are subject to legis-
lative action or to further rulemaking by regulatory authorities be-
fore final implementation. As a result, there remains a high level of
uncertainty regarding a number of the measures referred to above,
including whether (or the form in which) they will be adopted, the
timing and content of implementing regulations and interpreta-
tions and/or the dates of their effectiveness. The implementation
of such measures and further, more restrictive changes may mate-
rially affect our business and ability to execute our strategic plans.

Notwithstanding attempts by regulators to coordinate their ef-
forts, the measures adopted or proposed differ significantly across
the major jurisdictions, making it increasingly difficult to manage
a global institution. The absence of a coordinated approach,
moreover, disadvantages institutions headquartered in jurisdic-
tions that impose relatively more stringent standards. Switzerland
has adopted capital and liquidity requirements for its major inter-
national banks that are among the strictest of the major financial
centers. This could disadvantage Swiss banks, such as UBS, when
they compete with peer financial institutions subject to more le-
nient regulation or with unregulated non-bank competitors.

- Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” in this report

for more information on changes in 2014
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Regulatory and legislative changes in Switzerland

Swiss regulatory changes have generally proceeded more
quickly in capital, liquidity and other areas than those in other ma-
jor jurisdictions, and FINMA, the SNB and the Swiss Federal Coun-
cil are implementing requirements that are significantly more oner-
ous and restrictive for major Swiss banks, such as UBS, than those
adopted or proposed by regulatory authorities in other major
global financial centers. In December 2014, a group of senior ex-
perts representing the private sector, authorities and academia
(the Brunetti group) appointed by the Swiss Federal Council pub-
lished recommendations on, among other things, safeguarding
systemic stability and too big to fail (TBTF), including with respect
to the calculation of RWA, higher leverage ratio and withdrawing
regulatory waivers at the level of the entity holding systemically
relevant functions. The Brunetti group’s work on the TBTF regime
served as the basis for the Swiss Federal Council’s review report on
the Swiss TBTF law that was presented to the Swiss parliament in
February 2015. In its report, the Swiss Federal Council confirmed
the findings of the Brunetti group and mandated the Federal De-
partment of Finance to set up a working group with representa-
tives of FINMA and SNB that is expected to submit proposals to the
Swiss government by the end of 2015. This may result in further
changes to the Swiss TBTF and regulatory regime.

Capital requlation: A revised banking ordinance and capital ad-
equacy ordinance implementing the Basel Ill capital standards and
the Swiss TBTF law became effective on 1 January 2013. As a
systemically relevant Swiss bank, we are subject to base capital
requirements, as well as a progressive buffer that scales with our
total exposure (a metric that is based on our balance sheet size)
and market share in Switzerland. In addition, Swiss governmental
authorities have the authority to impose an additional countercy-
clical buffer capital requirement of up to 2.5% of RWA. This au-
thority has been exercised to impose an additional capital charge
of 2% in respect of RWA arising from Swiss residential mortgage
loans. FINMA has further required banks using the internal ratings
based approach to use a bank-specific multiplier when calculating
RWA for owner-occupied Swiss residential mortgages, which is
being phased in through 2019. FINMA has notified us that the
RWA increase should be extended to Swiss income producing and
commercial real estate from the first quarter of 2015. FINMA also
announced that the RWA levels of other asset classes are to be
reviewed. We understand these reviews to be in anticipation of
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) expected
prudential reforms, for example, the reduction in the variability of
capital ratios or capital floors.

In addition, we have mutually agreed with FINMA to an incre-
mental operational capital requirement to be held against litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters and other contingent liabili-
ties, which added CHF 17.5 billion to our RWA as of 31 December
2014. There can be no assurance that we will not be subject to
increases in capital requirements in the future either from the im-
position of additional requirements or changes in the calculation
of RWA or other components of the existing minimum capital
requirement.



The BCBS has issued far-reaching proposals (i) on revising the
standardized approach to credit risk, e.g., by relying less on ex-
ternal credit ratings, reducing the scope of national discretion
and strengthening the link between the standardized and the
IRB approach, (ii) on mandatory disclosure of RWA based on the
standardized approach and (iii) on the design of a capital floor
framework. If adopted by the BCBS and implemented into
Swiss regulation, implementation of disclosure or capital calcu-
lations based on the standardized approach would result in sig-
nificant implementation costs to us. In addition, a capital stan-
dard or floor based on the standardized approach would likely
be less risk sensitive and would likely result in higher capital re-
quirements.

Liquidity and funding: We are required to maintain a Liquidity
Coverage Ratio (LCR) of high-quality liquid assets to estimated
stressed short-term funding outflows and will be required to
maintain a Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), both of which are
intended to ensure that we are not overly reliant on short-term
funding and that we have sufficient long-term funding for illiquid
assets.

We currently calculate our LCR under supervisory guidance
from FINMA. FINMA has issued a circular, which requires us to
calculate our leverage ratio using new rules that align the lever-
age ratio denominator with the rules issued by the Bank of Inter-
national Settlements (BIS). We will make use of a one-year transi-
tion period under which the prior definition may still be used, but
we must disclose both measures of LCR commencing with the
first quarter of 2015.

Neither the international nor Swiss standards for the calcula-
tion of NSFR have been fully implemented.

These requirements, together with liquidity requirements im-
posed by other jurisdictions in which we operate, require us to
maintain substantially higher levels of overall liquidity than was
previously the case. Increased capital requirements and higher li-
quidity requirements make certain lines of business less attractive
and may reduce our overall ability to generate profits. The LCR
and NSFR calculations make assumptions about the relative likeli-
hood and amount of outflows of funding and available sources of
additional funding in a market or firm-specific stress situation.
There can be no assurance that in an actual stress situation our
funding outflows would not exceed the assumed amounts.

Resolution planning and resolvability: The revised Swiss bank-
ing act and capital adequacy ordinances provide FINMA with ad-
ditional powers to intervene to prevent a failure or resolve a fail-
ing financial institution. These measures may be triggered when
certain thresholds are breached and permit the exercise of consid-
erable discretion by FINMA in determining whether, when or in
what manner to exercise such powers. In case of a threatened
insolvency, FINMA may impose more onerous requirements on us,
including restrictions on the payment of dividends and interest.
Although the actions that FINMA may take in such circumstances
are not yet defined, we could be required directly or indirectly, for
example, to alter our legal structure (e.g., to separate lines of
business into dedicated entities, with limitations on intra-group

funding and certain guarantees), or to further reduce business risk

levels in some manner. The Swiss banking act also provides FINMA

with the ability to extinguish or convert to common equity the li-

abilities of a bank in connection with its resolution.

Swiss TBTF requirements require systemically important banks,
including us, to put in place viable emergency plans to preserve
the operation of systemically important functions despite a failure
of the institution, to the extent that such activities are not suffi-
ciently separated in advance. The Swiss TBTF law provides for the
possibility of a limited reduction of capital requirements for sys-
temically important institutions that adopt measures to reduce
resolvability risk beyond what is legally required. Such actions
would likely include an alteration of the legal structure of a bank
group in a manner that would insulate parts of the group to ex-
posure from risks arising from other parts of the group thereby
making it easier to dispose of certain parts of the group in a recov-
ery scenario, to liquidate or dispose of certain parts of the group
in a resolution scenario or to execute a debt bail-in. However,
there is no certainty with respect to timing or size of a potential
capital rebate.

We have announced a series of measures to improve our re-
solvability:

— In December 2014, UBS Group AG completed an exchange
offer for the shares of UBS AG and now holds approximately
97% of the outstanding shares of UBS AG and is the holding
company for UBS Group.

— We plan to establish a new banking subsidiary of UBS in Swit-
zerland and filed a formal application for a banking license in
the third quarter of 2014. The subsidiary, which will be named
UBS Switzerland AG, will include our Retail & Corporate busi-
ness division and the Swiss-booked business within the Wealth
Management business division. We expect to implement this
change in a phased approach starting in mid-2015.

— In the United Kingdom, in consultation with UK and Swiss
regulators, we have implemented the first stages of a revised
business and operating model for UBS Limited in the second
quarter of 2014 with a follow-up phase scheduled for imple-
mentation during the second quarter of 2015. This change
entails UBS Limited bearing and retaining a greater degree of
the risk and reward of its business activities. We have increased
the capitalization of UBS Limited accordingly.

— In the United States, new rules for foreign banks promulgated
by the Federal Reserve System under Sections 165 and 166 of
Dodd-Frank will require an intermediate holding company to
own all of our operations other than US branches of UBS AG
by 1 July 2016. As a result, we will designate an intermediate
holding company to hold all our US subsidiaries.

We may consider further changes to our legal structure in re-
sponse to regulatory requirements in Switzerland or in other
countries in which we operate, including to further improve our
resolvability, to respond to Swiss and other capital requirements
and to respond to regulatory required changes in legal structure.
Such changes may include the transfer of operating subsidiaries
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of UBS AG to become direct subsidiaries of UBS Group AG, the
transfer of shared service and support functions to service compa-
nies and adjustments to booking entity or location of services or
products. Structural changes are being discussed on an ongoing
basis with FINMA and other regulatory authorities and remain
subject to a number of uncertainties that may affect feasibility,
scope and timing. Movement of businesses to a new subsidiary
(subsidiarization) will require significant time and resources to im-
plement. Subsidiarization in Switzerland and elsewhere may cre-
ate operational, capital, funding and tax inefficiencies and in-
crease our and counterparties’ credit risk. Refer to “Regulatory
and legislative changes outside Switzerland” for a description of
other regulatory and legislative developments that may affect
these decisions and further discussion of these risks. There can be
no assurance that the execution of the changes we have planned
or may implement in the future will result in a material reduction
in the progressive capital buffer as permitted under the Swiss
TBTF law or that these changes will satisfy existing or future re-
quirements for resolvability or mandatory structural change in
banking organizations.

Market requlation: The Swiss government has also held a con-
sultation on proposed regulations that would affect the terms of
client relationships, including providing clients of financial inter-
mediaries and consumer groups a right of collective action against
a financial intermediary. These laws may, if enacted, have a mate-
rial impact on the market infrastructure that we use, available
platforms, collateral management and the way we interact with
clients. In addition, these initiatives may cause us to incur material
implementation costs.

Regulatory and legislative changes outside Switzerland

Regulatory and legislative changes in other locations in which
we operate may subject us to a wide range of new restrictions
both in individual jurisdictions and, in some cases, globally.

Banking structure and activity limitations: Some of these regu-
latory and legislative changes may subject us to requirements to
move activities from UBS AG branches into subsidiaries. Such
“subsidiarization” can create operational, capital and tax ineffi-
ciencies, increase our aggregate credit exposure to counterparties
as they transact with multiple entities within UBS, expose our
businesses to higher local capital requirements, and potentially
give rise to client and counterparty concerns about the credit
quality of individual subsidiaries. Such changes could also nega-
tively affect our funding model and severely limit our booking
flexibility.

For example, we have significant operations in the UK and we
currently use UBS AG’s London branch as a global booking center
for many types of products. We have been required by the Pru-
dential Regulatory Authority (PRA) and by FINMA to increase very
substantially the capitalization of our UK bank subsidiary, UBS
Limited, and may be required to change our booking practices to
reduce or even eliminate our utilization of UBS AG’s London
branch as a global booking center for the ongoing business of the
Investment Bank. In addition, the UK Independent Commission
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on Banking has recommended structural and non-structural re-
forms of the banking sector, most of which have been endorsed
by the UK government and implemented in the Financial Services
(Banking Reform) Act. Key proposed measures include the
ring-fencing of retail banking activities in the UK (which we do
not expect to affect us directly), additional common equity tier 1
capital requirements of up to 3% of RWA for retail banks, and the
issuance by UK banks of debt subject to bail-in provisions. Fur-
thermore, the European Commission published its proposal for a
“Regulation on bank structural reform” in January 2014. The ob-
jectives of the Regulation center on the reduction of the systemic
impact of banks and addressing the too big to fail problem. Pro-
posals include the separation of retail banking activities from
wholesale banking activities together with a ban on proprietary
trading and lending to hedge funds and private equity funds. Sig-
nificant divergence in views on the scope and application of these
proposals persists at the EU level with full potential political agree-
ment not likely before early 2016. Issues that remain the subject
of debate include how prescriptive to be as to separation require-
ments and which trading activities entities can and cannot en-
gage in. The applicability and implications of such changes to
branches and subsidiaries of foreign banks are also not yet en-
tirely clear, but they could have a material adverse effect on our
businesses located or booked in the UK and other EU locations.

In February 2014, the Federal Reserve Board issued final rules
for foreign banking organizations (FBO) operating in the US (un-
der Section 165 of Dodd-Frank) that include the following: (i) a
requirement for FBO with more than USD 50 billion of US non-
branch assets to establish an intermediate holding company (IHC)
to hold all US subsidiary operations, (ii) risk-based capital and
leverage requirements for the IHC, (iii) liquidity requirements, in-
cluding a 30-day onshore liquidity requirement for the IHC, (iv)
risk management requirements including the establishment of a
risk committee and the appointment of a US chief risk officer, (v)
stress test and capital planning requirements and (vi) a debt-to-
equity limit for institutions that pose “a grave threat” to US finan-
cial stability. Requirements differ based on the overall size of the
foreign banking organization and the amount of its US-based as-
sets. We expect that we will be subject to the most stringent re-
quirements based on our current operations. We will have to es-
tablish an IHC by 1 July 2016 and meet many of the new
requirements. The IHC will not need to comply with the US lever-
age ratio until 1 January 2018.

US regulators published final regulations implementing the
Volcker Rule in December 2013 and generally extended until
2015 the time to conform to this rule and the related regulations.
In general, the Volcker Rule prohibits any banking entity from en-
gaging in proprietary trading and from owning interests in hedge
funds and other private fund vehicles. The Volcker Rule also
broadly limits investments and other transactional activities be-
tween a bank and funds that the bank has sponsored or with
which the bank has certain other relationships. The Volcker Rule
permits us and other non-US banking entities to engage in certain
activities that would otherwise be prohibited to the extent that



they are conducted solely outside the US and certain other condi-
tions are met. We will be required to establish an extensive global
compliance framework to ensure compliance with the Volcker
Rule and the available exemptions. Moreover, the Volcker Rule
may affect the way in which we conduct certain business lines.
We continue to evaluate the final rule and its impact on our activ-
ities. The Volcker Rule could have a substantial impact on market
liquidity and the economics of market-making activities.

OTC derivatives regulation: In 2009, the G20 countries com-
mitted to require all standardized over-the-counter (OTC) deriva-
tive contracts to be traded on exchanges or trading facilities and
cleared through central counterparties by the end of 2012. This
commitment is being implemented through Dodd-Frank in the US
and corresponding legislation in the EU, Switzerland and other
jurisdictions, and has and will continue to have a significant effect
on our OTC derivatives business, which is conducted primarily in
the Investment Bank. For example, we expect that, as a rule, the
shift of OTC derivatives trading to a central clearing model will
tend to reduce profit margins in these products, although some
market participants may be able to offset this effect with higher
trading volumes in commoditized products. Although we are pre-
paring for these thematic market changes, the changes are likely
to reduce the revenue potential of certain lines of business for
market participants generally, and we may be adversely affected.

These mandatory clearing requirements will be supplemented
by mandatory requirements to trade such clearable instruments
on regulated venues under the forthcoming Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive (MiFID Il) and the Markets in Financial Instru-
ments Regulation (MiFIR). These two pieces of legislation, to-
gether with the more detailed implementing measures, due to
take effect in early 2017, have the potential to bring about a ma-
jor change to many aspects of the way financial services are pro-
vided in and into the European Economic Area. All areas of the
provision of financial services are impacted across all client types.
Some notable areas covered include increased pre and post-trade
transparency, particularly into the area of fixed income products;
further restrictions on the provision of inducements; the introduc-
tion of a new discretionary trading venue with the aim of regulat-
ing broker crossing networks; trading controls for algorithmic
trading activities; increased conduct of business requirements and
strengthened supervisory powers which include powers for au-
thorities to ban products or services in particular situations. We
will not know the full effect of this legislation until the details of
the implementing legislation and national implementation (where
applicable) are completed. We expect that this legislation will ne-
cessitate changes in business models and procedures in a number
of areas. This will likely entail the expenditure of significant time
and resources on an on-going basis and, in common with some
other legislative proposals in this area, may also reduce the reve-
nue potential of some of our businesses.

UBS AG registered as a swap dealer with the Commodity Fu-
tures Trading Commission (CFTC) in the US at the end of 2012,
enabling the continuation of its swaps business with US persons.
We expect to register UBS AG as a securities-based swap dealer

with the SEC, when its registration is required. Regulations issued
by the CFTC impose substantial new requirements on registered
swap dealers for clearing, trade execution, transaction reporting,
recordkeeping, risk management and business conduct. Certain
of the CFTC’s regulations, including those relating to swap data
reporting, recordkeeping, compliance and supervision, apply to
UBS AG globally. Application of these requirements to UBS AG's
swaps business with non-US persons continues to present a sub-
stantial implementation burden, will likely duplicate or conflict
with legal requirements applicable to us outside the US, including
in Switzerland, and may place us at a competitive disadvantage to
firms that are not CFTC-registered swap dealers.

Regulation of cross-border provision of financial services: In
many instances we provide services on a cross-border basis. We
are therefore sensitive to barriers restricting market access for
third-country firms. In particular, efforts in the European Union
(EV) to harmonize the regime for third-country firms to access the
European market may have the effect of creating new barriers
that adversely affect our ability to conduct business in these juris-
dictions from Switzerland. In addition, a number of jurisdictions
are increasingly regulating cross-border activities on the basis of
some notion of comity (e.g., substituted compliance and equiva-
lence determination). While the issuance of such determinations
in particular jurisdictions may ensure our access to markets in
those jurisdictions, a negative determination in other jurisdictions
may negatively influence our ability to act as a global firm. In ad-
dition, as jurisdictions tend to apply such determinations on a ju-
risdictional level rather than on an entity level, we will generally
need to rely on jurisdictions’” willingness to collaborate.

Resolution and recovery; bail-in

We are currently required to produce recovery and resolution
plans in the US, the UK, Switzerland and Germany and are likely
to face similar requirements for our operations in other jurisdic-
tions, including our operations in the EU as a whole as part of the
proposed EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive. Resolution
plans may increase the pressure on us to make structural changes,
such as the creation of separate legal entities, if the resolution
plan in any jurisdiction identifies impediments that are not accept-
able to the relevant regulators. Such structural changes may neg-
atively impact our ability to benefit from synergies between busi-
ness units, and if they include the creation of separate legal
entities, may have the other negative consequences mentioned
above with respect to subsidiarization more generally.

The Financial Stability Board (FSB) and the BCBS have issued pro-
posed standards on Total Loss-Absorbing Capacity (TLAC) that aims
to build up adequate loss-absorbing capacity for global systemically
important banks to ensure that an orderly wind-down is possible.
The FSB proposes that a minimum Pillar 1 TLAC requirement be set
within the range of 16% to 20% of RWA and at least twice the
Basel Ill tier 1 leverage ratio requirement. In addition, a number of
jurisdictions, including Switzerland, the US, the UK and the EU, have
implemented or are considering implementing changes that would
allow resolution authorities to write down or convert into equity
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unsecured debt to execute a bail-in. The scope of bail-in authority
and the legal mechanisms that would be utilized for the purpose are
subject to a great deal of development and interpretation. Regula-
tory requirements to maintain minimum TLAC, including potential
requirements to maintain TLAC at subsidiaries, as well as the power
of resolution authorities to bail in TLAC and other debt obligations
and uncertainty as to how such powers will be exercised, may in-
crease the total amount and cost of funding for us.

Possible consequences of regulatory and
legislative developments

Planned and potential regulatory and legislative develop-
ments in Switzerland and in other jurisdictions in which we have
operations may have a material adverse effect on our ability to
execute our strategic plans, on the profitability or viability of cer-
tain business lines globally or in particular locations, and in some
cases on our ability to compete with other financial institutions.
The developments have been, and are likely to continue to be,
costly to implement and could also have a negative impact on our
legal structure or business model, potentially generating capital
inefficiencies and affecting our profitability. Finally, the uncer-
tainty related to, or the implementation of, legislative and regula-
tory changes may have a negative impact on our relationships
with clients and our success in attracting client business.

Our capital strength is important in supporting our
strategy, client franchise and competitive position

Our capital position, as measured by the fully applied com-
mon equity tier 1 and total capital ratios under Basel Il require-
ments, is determined by: (i) RWA (credit, non-counterparty re-
lated, market and operational risk positions, measured and
risk-weighted according to regulatory criteria) and (ii) eligible cap-
ital. Both RWA and eligible capital may fluctuate based on a num-
ber of factors. RWA are driven by our business activities and by
changes in the risk profile of our exposures, as well as regulatory
requirements. For instance, substantial market volatility, a widen-
ing of credit spreads (a major driver of our value-at-risk), adverse
currency movements, increased counterparty risk, deterioration in
the economic environment, or increased operational risk could
result in a rise in RWA. Our eligible capital would be reduced if we
experience net losses or losses through other comprehensive in-
come, as determined for the purpose of the regulatory capital
calculation, which may also render it more difficult or more costly
for us to raise new capital. In addition, eligible capital can be re-
duced for a number of other reasons, including certain reductions
in the ratings of securitization exposures, acquisitions and divest-
ments changing the level of goodwill, adverse currency move-
ments affecting the value of equity, prudential adjustments that
may be required due to the valuation uncertainty associated with
certain types of positions, and changes in the value of certain
pension fund assets and liabilities or in the interest rate and other
assumptions used to calculate the changes in our net defined
benefit obligation recognized in other comprehensive income.
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See "Fluctuation in foreign exchange rates and continuing low or
negative interest rates may have a detrimental effect on our capi-
tal strength, our liquidity and funding position, and our profitabil-
ity.” Any such increase in RWA or reduction in eligible capital
could materially reduce our capital ratios.

Risks captured in the operational risk component of RWA have
become increasingly significant as a component of our overall
RWA as a result of significant reductions in market and credit risk
RWA, as we execute our strategy, and increased operational risk
charges arising from operational risk events (including charges
arising from litigation, regulatory and similar matters). We have
agreed with FINMA on a supplemental analysis that is used to
calculate an incremental operational risk capital charge to be held
for litigation, regulatory and similar matters and other contingent
liabilities. The incremental RWA calculated based on this supple-
mental analysis as of 31 December 2014 was CHF 17.5 billion.
Future developments in and the ultimate elimination of the incre-
mental RWA attributable to the supplemental analysis will depend
on provisions charged to earnings for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters and other contingent liabilities and on develop-
ments in these matters. There can be no assurance that we will be
successful in addressing these matters and reducing or eliminat-
ing the incremental operational risk component of RWA.

The required levels and calculation of our regulatory capital
and the calculation of our RWA are also subject to changes in
regulatory requirements or their interpretation, as well as the ex-
ercise of regulatory discretion. Changes in the calculation of RWA
under Basel Il and Swiss requirements (such as the revised treat-
ment of certain securitization exposures under the Basel lll frame-
work) have significantly increased the level of our RWA and,
therefore, have adversely affected our capital ratios. We have
achieved substantial reductions in RWA, in part to mitigate the
effects of increased capital requirements. Further changes in the
calculation of RWA, imposition of additional supplemental RWA
charges, or imposition of an RWA floor based on the standardized
approach or other methodology could substantially increase our
RWA. In addition, we may not be successful in our plans to further
reduce RWA, either because we are unable to carry out fully the
actions we have planned or because other business or regulatory
developments or actions to some degree counteract the benefit
of our actions.

In addition to the risk-based capital requirements, we are sub-
ject to a minimum leverage ratio requirement for Swiss systemi-
cally relevant banks. The leverage ratio operates separately from
the risk-based capital requirements, and, accordingly, under cer-
tain circumstances could constrain our business activities even if
we satisfy other risk-based capital requirements. We have achieved
substantial reductions in our balance sheet and expect to make
further reductions as we wind down our Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio positions. These reductions have improved our leverage
ratio and contributed to our ability to comply with the more strin-
gent leverage ratio requirements. There is also a risk that the min-
imum leverage ratio requirement will be increased significantly
beyond the levels currently scheduled to come into effect, which



would make it more difficult for us to satisfy the requirements
without adversely affecting certain of our businesses. The lever-
age ratio is a simple balance sheet measure and therefore limits
balance sheet intensive activities, such as lending, more than ac-
tivities that are less balance sheet intensive.

Changes in international or Swiss requirements for risk-based
capital, leverage ratios, LCR or NSFR, including changes in mini-
mum levels, method of calculation or supervisory add-ons could
have a material adverse effect on our capital position and our
business. Any such changes that are implemented only in Switzer-
land or more quickly in Switzerland may have an adverse effect on
our competitive position compared with institutions regulated un-
der different regimes.

We may not be successful in completing our announced
strategic plans or in implementing changes in

our businesses to meet changing market, regulatory
and other conditions

In October 2012, we announced a significant acceleration in
the implementation of our strategy. The strategy included trans-
forming our Investment Bank to focus it on its traditional
strengths, very significantly reducing Basel Il RWA and further
strengthening our capital position, and significantly reducing
costs and improving efficiency. We have substantially completed
the transformation of our business, but elements remain that are
not complete. There continues to be a risk that we will not be
successful in completing the execution of our plans, that our
plans may be delayed, that market events may adversely affect
the implementation of our plan or that the effects of our plans
may differ from those intended.

We have substantially reduced the RWA and balance sheet us-
age of our Non-core and Legacy Portfolio positions, but there can
be no assurance that we will continue to be able to exit them as
quickly as our plans suggest or that we will not incur significant
losses in doing so. The continued illiquidity and complexity of
many of our legacy risk positions in particular could make it diffi-
cult to sell or otherwise exit these positions and reduce the RWA
and the balance sheet usage associated with these exposures. As
the size of the Non-core and Legacy Portfolio decreases, achieving
a complete exit of particular classes of transactions will be neces-
sary to achieve the reductions of RWA, balance sheet and costs
associated with the positions. At the same time, our ability to
meet our future capital targets and requirements depends in part
on our ability to reduce RWA and balance sheet usage without
incurring unacceptable losses.

As part of our strategy, we have a program underway to
achieve significant incremental cost reductions. The success of our
strategy and our ability to reach certain of the targets we have
announced depends on the success of the effectiveness and effi-
ciency measures we are able to carry out. As is often the case with
major effectiveness and efficiency programs, our plans involve sig-
nificant risks. Included among these are the risks that restructur-
ing costs may be higher and may be recognized sooner than we

have projected, that we may not be able to identify feasible cost
reduction opportunities that are also consistent with our business
goals and that cost reductions may be realized later or may be less
than we anticipate. Changes in workforce location or reductions
in workforce can lead to charges to the income statement well in
advance of the cost savings intended to be achieved through such
workforce strategy. For example, under IFRS we are required to
recognize provisions for real estate lease contracts when the un-
avoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contracts are
considered to exceed the future economic benefits expected to be
received under them. In addition, as we implement our effective-
ness and efficiency programs we may experience unintended con-
sequences such as the loss or degradation of capabilities that we
need in order to maintain our competitive position and achieve
our targeted returns.

We are exposed to possible outflows of client assets in our as-
set-gathering businesses and to changes affecting the profitability
of our Wealth Management business division and we may not be
successful in implementing the business changes needed to ad-
dress them. We experienced substantial net outflows of client as-
sets in our wealth management and asset management busi-
nesses in 2008 and 2009. The net outflows resulted from a
number of different factors, including our substantial losses, dam-
age to our reputation, the loss of client advisors, difficulty in re-
cruiting qualified client advisors and tax, legal and regulatory de-
velopments concerning our cross-border private banking business.

Many of these factors have been successfully addressed. Our
Wealth Management and Wealth Management Americas business
divisions recorded substantial net new money inflows in 2013 and
2014. Long-term changes affecting the cross-border private bank-
ing business model will, however, continue to affect client flows in
the Wealth Management business division for an extended period
of time. One of the important drivers behind the longer-term re-
duction in the amount of cross-border private banking assets, par-
ticularly in Europe but increasingly also in other regions, is the
heightened focus of fiscal authorities on cross-border investments.
Changes in local tax laws or regulations and their enforcement
and the implementation of cross-border tax information exchange
regimes may affect the ability or the willingness of our clients to do
business with us or the viability of our strategies and business
model. For the last three years, we have experienced net with-
drawals in our Swiss booking center from clients domiciled else-
where in Europe, in many cases related to the negotiation of tax
treaties between Switzerland and other countries.

The net new money inflows in recent years in our Wealth Man-
agement business division have come predominantly from clients
in Asia Pacific and in the ultra high net worth segment globally.
Over time, inflows from these lower-margin segments and mar-
kets have been replacing outflows from higher-margin segments
and markets, in particular cross-border European clients. This dy-
namic, combined with changes in client product preferences as a
result of which low-margin products account for a larger share of
our revenues than in the past, put downward pressure on our re-
turn on invested assets and adversely affect the profitability of our
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Wealth Management business division. We have implemented
changes in our product offerings and service improvements, and
will continue our efforts to adjust to client trends and market dy-
namics as necessary, in an effort to overcome the effects of these
changes in the business mix on our profitability, but there can be
no assurance that we will be able to counteract those effects. In
addition, we have made changes to our business offerings and
pricing practices in line with the Swiss Supreme Court case con-
cerning “retrocessions” (fees paid to a bank for distributing third-
party and intra-group investment funds and structured products)
and other industry developments. These changes may adversely
affect our margins on these products and the current offering
may be less attractive to clients than the products it replaces.
There can be no assurance that we will be successful in our efforts
to offset the adverse impact of these trends and developments.

Global Asset Management experienced net outflows of client
assets in 2012 and 2013, although it had net inflows for the first
three quarters of 2014 and for full year 2014. Further net out-
flows of client assets could adversely affect the results of this busi-
ness division.

Material legal and regulatory risks arise in the
conduct of our business

The nature of our business subjects us to significant regula-
tory oversight and liability risk. As a global financial services firm
operating in more than 50 countries, we are subject to many dif-
ferent legal, tax and regulatory regimes. We are involved in a va-
riety of claims, disputes, legal proceedings and government inves-
tigations. These proceedings expose us to substantial monetary
damages and legal defense costs, injunctive relief and criminal
and civil penalties, in addition to potential regulatory restrictions
on our businesses. The outcome of most of these matters, and
their potential effect on our future business or financial results, is
extremely difficult to predict.

In December 2012, we announced settlements totaling ap-
proximately CHF 1.4 billion in fines by and disgorgements to US,
UK and Swiss authorities to resolve investigations by those au-
thorities relating to LIBOR and other benchmark interest rates. We
entered into a non-prosecution agreement with the US Depart-
ment of Justice (DOJ) and UBS Securities Japan Co. Ltd. also pled
guilty to one count of wire fraud relating to the manipulation of
certain benchmark interest rates. The settlements do not resolve
investigations by other authorities or civil claims that have been or
may in the future be asserted by private and governmental claim-
ants with respect to submissions regarding LIBOR or other bench-
mark interest rates. The extent of our financial exposure to these
remaining matters is extremely difficult to estimate and could be
material.

Our settlements with governmental authorities in connection
with LIBOR and benchmark interest rates starkly illustrate the
much-increased level of financial and reputational risk now asso-
ciated with regulatory matters in major jurisdictions. Very large
fines and disgorgement amounts were assessed against us, and
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the guilty plea of our subsidiary was required, despite our full
cooperation with the authorities in the investigations relating to
LIBOR and other benchmark interest rates, and despite our receipt
of conditional leniency or conditional immunity from antitrust
authorities in a number of jurisdictions, including the US and
Switzerland. We understand that, in determining the conse-
guences to us, the authorities considered the fact that it has in the
recent past been determined that we have engaged in serious
misconduct in several other matters. The heightened risk level
was further illustrated by the European Commission (EC) an-
nouncement in December 2013 of fines against other financial
institutions related to its Yen Interest Rate Derivatives (YIRD) inves-
tigation. The EC stated that we would have been subject to fines
of approximately EUR 2.5 billion had we not received full immu-
nity for disclosing to the EC the existence of infringements relat-
ing to YIRD. Recent resolution of enforcement matters involving
other financial institutions further illustrates the continued in-
crease in the financial and other penalties, reputational risk and
other consequences of regulatory matters in major jurisdictions,
particularly the US, and the resulting difficulty in predicting in this
environment the financial and other terms of resolutions of pend-
ing government investigations and similar proceedings. In 2014,
Credit Suisse AG (CS) and BNP Paribas (BNPP) each pleaded guilty
to criminal charges in the United States and simultaneously en-
tered into settlements with other US agencies, including the Fed-
eral Reserve and the New York Department of Financial Services
(DFS). These resolutions involved the payment of substantial pen-
alties (USD 1.8 billion in the case of CS and USD 8.8 billion in the
case of BNPP), agreements with respect to future operation of
their businesses and actions with respect to relevant personnel. In
the case of BNPP, the DFS suspended for a one-year period BNPP's
ability to conduct through its New York branch business activity
related to the business line that gave rise to the illegal conduct,
namely US dollar clearing for specified BNPP business units. In
addition, the US Department of Justice (DOJ) has announced a
series of resolutions related to the conduct of major financial in-
stitutions in packaging, marketing, issuing and selling residential
mortgage-backed securities. In these resolutions, financial institu-
tions have been required to pay penalties ranging from USD 7 to
USD 16.7 billion and, in many cases, were also required to provide
relief to consumers who were harmed by the relevant conduct.
We continue to be subject to a large number of claims, dis-
putes, legal proceedings and government investigations, includ-
ing the matters described in the notes to the financial statements
included herein and we expect that our ongoing business activi-
ties will continue to give rise to such matters in the future. The
extent of our financial exposure to these and other matters is ma-
terial and could substantially exceed the level of provisions that
we have established for litigation, regulatory and similar matters.
We are not able to predict the financial and other terms on which
some of these matters may be resolved. Litigation, regulatory and
similar matters may also result in non-monetary penalties and
consequences. Among other things, the non-prosecution agree-
ment we entered into with the DOJ in connection with LIBOR (the



NPA) may be terminated by the DOJ if we commit any US crime or
otherwise fail to comply with the NPA and the DOJ may obtain a
criminal conviction of UBS AG in relation to the matters covered
by the NPA. A guilty plea to, or conviction of, a crime (including as
a result of termination of the NPA) could have material conse-
guences for us. Resolution of regulatory proceedings may require
us to obtain waivers of regulatory disqualifications to maintain
certain operations, may entitle regulatory authorities to limit, sus-
pend or terminate licenses and regulatory authorizations and may
permit financial market utilities to limit, suspend or terminate our
participation in such utilities. Failure to obtain such waivers, or any
limitation, suspension or termination of licenses, authorizations or
participations, could have material consequences for us. In con-
nection with discussions of a possible resolution of investigations
relating to our foreign exchange business with the Antitrust and
Criminal Division of the DOJ, we and the DOJ have extended the
term of the NPA by one year to 18 December 2015. As a result of
this history and our ongoing obligations under the NPA, our level
of risk with respect to regulatory enforcement may be greater
than that of some of our peer institutions.

At this point in time, we believe that the industry continues to
operate in an environment where charges associated with litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters will remain elevated for the
foreseeable future and we continue to be exposed to a number of
significant claims and regulatory matters.

Ever since our losses in 2007 and 2008, we have been subject
to a very high level of regulatory scrutiny and to certain regulatory
measures that constrain our strategic flexibility. While we believe
that we have remediated the deficiencies that led to the material
losses during the 2007-2009 financial crisis, the unauthorized
trading incident announced in September 2011, the LIBOR-re-
lated settlements of 2012 and settlements with some regulators
of matters related to our foreign exchange and precious metals
business, the resulting effects of these matters on our reputation
and relationships with regulatory authorities have proven to be
more difficult to overcome. For example, following the unautho-
rized trading incident, FINMA placed restrictions (since removed)
on acquisitions or business expansions in our Investment Bank
unit. We are determined to address the issues that have arisen in
the above and other matters in a thorough and constructive man-
ner. We are in active dialogue with our regulators concerning the
actions that we are taking to improve our operational risk man-
agement and control framework, but there can be no assurance
that our efforts will have the desired effects.

Operational risks affect our business

Our businesses are dependent on our ability to process a
large number of complex transactions across multiple and diverse
markets in different currencies, to comply with requirements of
many different legal and regulatory regimes to which we are sub-
ject and to prevent, or promptly detect and stop, unauthorized,
fictitious or fraudulent transactions. Our operational risk manage-
ment and control systems and processes are designed to help en-

sure that the risks associated with our activities, including those
arising from process error, failed execution, misconduct, unautho-
rized trading, fraud, system failures, financial crime, cyber-attacks,
breaches of information security and failure of security and phys-
ical protection, are appropriately controlled.

For example, cyber-crime is a fast growing threat to large orga-
nizations that rely on technology to support their business. Cy-
ber-crime can range from internet-based attacks that interfere
with the organizations’ internet websites, to more sophisticated
crimes that target the organizations, as well as their clients, and
seek to gain unauthorized access to technology systems in efforts
to disrupt business, steal money or obtain sensitive information.

A major focus of US governmental policy relating to financial
institutions in recent years has been fighting money laundering
and terrorist financing. Regulations applicable to us impose obliga-
tions to maintain effective policies, procedures and controls to de-
tect, prevent and report money laundering and terrorist financing,
and to verify the identity of our clients. Failure to maintain and
implement adequate programs to combat money laundering and
terrorist financing could have serious consequences both from le-
gal enforcement action and from damage to our reputation.

Although we seek to continuously adapt our capability to de-
tect and respond to the risks described above, if our internal con-
trols fail or prove ineffective in identifying and remedying these
risks, we could suffer operational failures that might result in ma-
terial losses, such as the loss from the unauthorized trading inci-
dent announced in September 2011.

Participation in high-volume and high-frequency trading activ-
ities, even in the execution of client-driven business, can also ex-
pose us to operational risks. Our loss in 2012 relating to the Face-
book initial public offering illustrates the exposure participants in
these activities have to unexpected results arising not only from
their own systems and processes but also from the behavior of
exchanges, clearing systems and other third parties and from the
performance of third-party systems.

Our wealth and asset management businesses operate in an
environment of increasing regulatory scrutiny and changing stan-
dards. Legislation and regulators have changed and are likely to
continue to change fiduciary and other standards of care for asset
managers and advisers and have increased focus on mitigating or
eliminating conflicts of interest between a manager or adviser and
the client. These changes have and likely will continue to present
regulatory and operational risks if not implemented effectively
across the global systems and processes of investment managers
and other industry participants. If we fail to effectively implement
controls to ensure full compliance with new, rising standards in
the wealth and asset management industry, we could be subject
to additional fines and sanctions as a result. These could have an
impact on our ability to operate or grow our wealth and asset
management businesses in line with our strategy.

Certain types of operational control weaknesses and failures
could also adversely affect our ability to prepare and publish accu-
rate and timely financial reports. Following the unauthorized trad-
ing incident announced in September 2011, management deter-
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mined that we had a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting as of the end of 2010 and 2011, although
this did not affect the reliability of our financial statements for
either year.

In addition, despite the contingency plans we have in place,
our ability to conduct business may be adversely affected by a
disruption in the infrastructure that supports our businesses and
the communities in which we are located. This may include a dis-
ruption due to natural disasters, pandemics, civil unrest, war or
terrorism and involve electrical, communications, transportation
or other services used by us or third parties with whom we con-
duct business.

Our reputation is critical to the success of our business

Our reputation is critical to the success of our strategic plans.
Damage to our reputation can have fundamental negative effects
on our business and prospects. Reputational damage is difficult to
reverse, and improvements tend to be slow and difficult to mea-
sure. This was demonstrated in recent years, as our very large losses
during the financial crisis, the US cross-border matter (relating to
the governmental inquiries and investigations relating to our
cross-border private banking services to US private clients during
the years 2000-2007 and the settlements entered into with US
authorities with respect to this matter) and other events seriously
damaged our reputation. Reputational damage was an important
factor in our loss of clients and client assets across our asset-gath-
ering businesses, and contributed to our loss of and difficulty in
attracting staff in 2008 and 2009. These developments had short-
term and also more lasting adverse effects on our financial perfor-
mance, and we recognized that restoring our reputation would be
essential to maintaining our relationships with clients, investors,
regulators and the general public, as well as with our employees.
More recently, the unauthorized trading incident announced in
September 2011 and our involvement in the LIBOR matter and in-
vestigations relating to our foreign exchange and precious metals
business have also adversely affected our reputation. Any further
reputational damage could have a material adverse effect on our
operational results and financial condition and on our ability to
achieve our strategic goals and financial targets.

Performance in the financial services industry is affected
by market conditions and the macroeconomic climate

The financial services industry prospers in conditions of eco-
nomic growth, stable geopolitical conditions, transparent, liquid
and buoyant capital markets and positive investor sentiment. An
economic downturn, continued low interest rates or weak or
stagnant economic growth in our core markets, or a severe finan-
cial crisis can negatively affect our revenues and ultimately our
capital base.

A market downturn and weak macroeconomic conditions can
be precipitated by a number of factors, including geopolitical
events, changes in monetary or fiscal policy, trade imbalances,
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natural disasters, pandemics, civil unrest, war or terrorism. Be-
cause financial markets are global and highly interconnected,
even local and regional events can have widespread impact well
beyond the countries in which they occur. A crisis could develop,
regionally or globally, as a result of disruptions in emerging mar-
kets as well as developed markets that are susceptible to macro-
economic and political developments, or as a result of the failure
of a major market participant. We have material exposures to a
number of these markets, both as a wealth manager and as an
investment bank. Moreover, our strategic plans depend more
heavily upon our ability to generate growth and revenue in
emerging markets, causing us to be more exposed to the risks
associated with them. The continued absence of sustained and
credible improvements to unresolved issues in Europe, continued
US fiscal and monetary policy issues, emerging markets fragility
and the mixed outlook for global growth demonstrate that mac-
roeconomic and political developments can have unpredictable
and destabilizing effects. Adverse developments of these kinds
have affected our businesses in a number of ways, and may con-
tinue to have further adverse effects on our businesses as follows:

— ageneral reduction in business activity and market volumes, as
we have recently experienced, affects fees, commissions and
margins; local or regional economic factors, such as the ongo-
ing European sovereign debt concerns and negative interest
rates, could also have an effect on us;

— a market downturn is likely to reduce the volume and valua-
tions of assets we manage on behalf of clients, reducing our
asset and performance-based fees;

— the ongoing low interest rate environment will further erode
interest margins in several of our businesses and adversely af-
fect our net defined benefit obligations in relation to our pen-
sion plans;

— negative interest rates announced by central banks in Switzer-
land or elsewhere may also affect client behavior and changes
to our deposit and lending pricing and structure that we may
make to respond to negative interest rates and client behavior
may cause deposit outflows, reduced business volumes or oth-
erwise adversely affect our businesses;

— reduced market liquidity or volatility limits trading and arbi-
trage opportunities and impedes our ability to manage risks,
impacting both trading income and performance-based fees;

— deteriorating market conditions could cause a decline in the
value of assets that we own and account for as investments or
trading positions;

— worsening economic conditions and adverse market develop-
ments could lead to impairments and defaults on credit expo-
sures and on our trading and investment positions, and losses
may be exacerbated by declines in the value of collateral we
hold; and

— if individual countries impose restrictions on cross-border pay-
ments or other exchange or capital controls, or change their
currency (for example, if one or more countries should leave
the euro), we could suffer losses from enforced default by
counterparties, be unable to access our own assets, or be im-
peded in, or prevented from, managing our risks.



Because we have very substantial exposures to other major fi-
nancial institutions, the failure of one or more such institutions
could have a material effect on us.

The developments mentioned above have in the past affected
and could materially affect the performance of the business units
and of UBS as a whole, and ultimately our financial condition.
There are related risks that, as a result of the factors listed above,
carrying value of goodwill of a business unit might suffer impair-
ments, deferred tax asset levels may need to be adjusted or our
capital position or regulatory capital ratios could be adversely af-
fected.

We hold legacy and other risk positions that may be
adversely affected by conditions in the financial markets;
legacy risk positions may be difficult to liquidate

We, like other financial market participants, were severely
affected by the financial crisis that began in 2007. The deteriora-
tion of financial markets since the beginning of the crisis was ex-
tremely severe by historical standards, and we recorded substantial
losses on fixed income trading positions, particularly in 2008 and
2009. Although we have significantly reduced our risk exposures
starting in 2008, and more recently as we progress our strategy
and focus on complying with Basel Il capital standards, we con-
tinue to hold substantial legacy risk positions, primarily in our Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio. In many cases these risk positions re-
main illiquid, and we continue to be exposed to the risk that the
remaining positions may again deteriorate in value. In the fourth
quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009, certain of these
positions were reclassified for accounting purposes from fair value
to amortized cost; these assets are subject to possible impairment
due to changes in market interest rates and other factors.

Moreover, we hold positions related to real estate in various
countries, and could suffer losses on these positions. These posi-
tions include a substantial Swiss mortgage portfolio. Although
management believes that this portfolio has been very prudently
managed, we could nevertheless be exposed to losses if the con-
cerns expressed by the Swiss National Bank and others about un-
sustainable price escalation in the Swiss real estate market come
to fruition. Other macroeconomic developments, such as the im-
plications on export markets of dramatic appreciation of the Swiss
franc following recent announcements by the Swiss National
Bank, adoption of negative interest rates by the Swiss National
Bank or other central banks or any return of crisis conditions
within the eurozone and the potential implications of the recent
decision in Switzerland to reinstate immigration quotas for
EU/EEA countries, could also adversely affect the Swiss economy,
our business in Switzerland in general and, in particular, our Swiss
mortgage and corporate loan portfolios.

In addition, we are exposed to risk in our prime brokerage, re-
verse repo and Lombard lending activities, as the value or liquidity
of the assets against which we provide financing may decline
rapidly.

Our global presence subjects us to risk from currency
fluctuations

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in Swiss
francs. However, a substantial portion of our assets, liabilities, in-
vested assets, revenues and expenses are denominated in other
currencies, particularly the US dollar, the euro and the British
pound. Accordingly, changes in foreign exchange rates, particu-
larly between the Swiss franc and the US dollar (US dollar reve-
nues account for the largest portion of our non-Swiss franc reve-
nues) have an effect on our reported income and expenses, and
on other reported figures such as other comprehensive income,
invested assets, balance sheet assets, RWA and Basel lll CET1 cap-
ital. These effects may adversely affect our income, balance sheet,
capital and liquidity ratios. The effects described in the sidebar
“Impact of Swiss National Bank actions” in the “Current market
climate and industry drivers” section of this report clearly illustrate
the potential effect of significant currency movements, particu-
larly of the Swiss Franc.

We are dependent upon our risk management and control
processes to avoid or limit potential losses in our counter-
party credit and trading businesses

Controlled risk-taking is a major part of the business of a
financial services firm. Credit risk is an integral part of many of our
retail, corporate, wealth management and Investment Bank activ-
ities, and our non-core activities that were transferred to Corpo-
rate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, including lending,
underwriting and derivatives activities. Changes in interest rates,
credit spreads, securities’ prices, market volatility and liquidity, for-
eign exchange levels and other market fluctuations can adversely
affect our earnings. Some losses from risk-taking activities are in-
evitable, but to be successful over time, we must balance the risks
we take against the returns we generate. We must, therefore,
diligently identify, assess, manage and control our risks, not only
in normal market conditions but also as they might develop under
more extreme (stressed) conditions, when concentrations of ex-
posures can lead to severe losses.

As seen during the financial crisis of 2007-2009, we are not
always able to prevent serious losses arising from extreme or sud-
den market events that are not anticipated by our risk measures
and systems. Value-at-risk, a statistical measure for market risk, is
derived from historical market data, and thus by definition could
not have anticipated the losses suffered in the stressed conditions
of the financial crisis. Moreover, stress loss and concentration con-
trols and the dimensions in which we aggregated risk to identify
potentially highly correlated exposures proved to be inadequate.
Notwithstanding the steps we have taken to strengthen our risk
management and control framework, we could suffer further
losses in the future if, for example:

— we do not fully identify the risks in our portfolio, in particular
risk concentrations and correlated risks;
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— our assessment of the risks identified or our response to nega-
tive trends proves to be untimely, inadequate, insufficient or
incorrect;

— markets move in ways that we do not expect — in terms of their
speed, direction, severity or correlation —and our ability to man-
age risks in the resulting environment is, therefore, affected;

— third parties to whom we have credit exposure or whose secu-
rities we hold for our own account are severely affected by
events not anticipated by our models, and accordingly we suf-
fer defaults and impairments beyond the level implied by our
risk assessment; or

— collateral or other security provided by our counterparties
proves inadequate to cover their obligations at the time of
their default.

We also manage risk on behalf of our clients in our asset and
wealth management businesses. The performance of assets we
hold for our clients in these activities could be adversely affected
by the same factors. If clients suffer losses or the performance of
their assets held with us is not in line with relevant benchmarks
against which clients assess investment performance, we may
suffer reduced fee income and a decline in assets under manage-
ment, or withdrawal of mandates.

If we decide to support a fund or another investment that we
sponsor in our asset or wealth management businesses, we
might, depending on the facts and circumstances, incur charges
that could increase to material levels.

Investment positions, such as equity investments made as part
of strategic initiatives and seed investments made at the inception
of funds that we manage, may also be affected by market risk
factors. These investments are often not liquid and generally are
intended or required to be held beyond a normal trading horizon.
They are subject to a distinct control framework. Deteriorations in
the fair value of these positions would have a negative impact on
our earnings.

Valuations of certain positions rely on models; models
have inherent limitations and may use inputs which have
no observable source

If available, the fair value of a financial instrument or non-finan-
cial asset or liability is determined using quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Where the market is not
active, fair value is established using a valuation technique, in-
cluding pricing models. Where available, valuation techniques use
market observable assumptions and inputs. If such information is
not available, inputs may be derived by reference to similar instru-
ments in active markets, from recent prices for comparable trans-
actions or from other observable market data. If market observ-
able data is not available, we select non-market observable inputs
to be used in our valuation techniques. We also use internally
developed models. Such models have inherent limitations; differ-
ent assumptions and inputs would generate different results, and
these differences could have a significant impact on our financial
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results. We regularly review and update our valuation models to
incorporate all factors that market participants would consider in
setting a price, including factoring in current market conditions.
Judgment is an important component of this process, and failure
to make the changes necessary to reflect evolving market condi-
tions could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
Moreover, evolving market practice may result in changes to valu-
ation techniques that could have a material impact on our finan-
cial results. Changes in model inputs or calibration, changes in the
valuation methodology incorporated in models, or failure to make
the changes necessary to reflect evolving market conditions could
have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Liquidity and funding management are critical to
our ongoing performance

The viability of our business depends on the availability of
funding sources, and our success depends on our ability to obtain
funding at times, in amounts, for tenors and at rates that enable
us to efficiently support our asset base in all market conditions. A
substantial part of our liquidity and funding requirements is met
using short-term unsecured funding sources, including retail and
wholesale deposits and the regular issuance of money market
securities. The volume of our funding sources has generally been
stable, but could change in the future due to, among other things,
general market disruptions or widening credit spreads, which
could also influence the cost of funding. A change in the availabil-
ity of short-term funding could occur quickly.

Reductions in our credit ratings can increase our funding costs,
in particular with regard to funding from wholesale unsecured
sources, and can affect the availability of certain kinds of funding.
In addition, as we experienced in connection with Moody’s down-
grade of our long-term rating in June 2012, rating downgrades
can require us to post additional collateral or make additional cash
payments under master trading agreements relating to our deriva-
tives businesses. Our credit ratings, together with our capital
strength and reputation, also contribute to maintaining client and
counterparty confidence and it is possible that ratings changes
could influence the performance of some of our businesses.

More stringent capital and liquidity requirements will likely lead
to increased competition for both secured funding and deposits
as a stable source of funding, and to higher funding costs. The
addition of loss-absorbing debt as a component of capital require-
ments and potential future requirements to maintain senior unse-
cured debt that could be written down in the event of our insol-
vency or other resolution, may increase our funding costs or limit
the availability of funding of the types required.

We may be unable to identify or capture revenue or
competitive opportunities, or retain and attract qualified
employees

The financial services industry is characterized by intense
competition, continuous innovation, detailed (and sometimes



fragmented) regulation and ongoing consolidation. We face com-
petition at the level of local markets and individual business lines,
and from global financial institutions that are comparable to us in
their size and breadth. Barriers to entry in individual markets and
pricing levels are being eroded by new technology. We expect
these trends to continue and competition to increase. Our com-
petitive strength and market position could be eroded if we are
unable to identify market trends and developments, do not re-
spond to them by devising and implementing adequate business
strategies, adequately developing or updating our technology,
particularly in trading businesses, or are unable to attract or retain
the qualified people needed to carry them out.

The amount and structure of our employee compensation are
affected not only by our business results but also by competitive
factors and regulatory considerations. Constraints on the amount
or structure of employee compensation, higher levels of deferral,
performance conditions and other circumstances triggering the
forfeiture of unvested awards may adversely affect our ability to
retain and attract key employees, and may in turn negatively af-
fect our business performance. We have made changes to the
terms of compensation awards to reflect the demands of various
stakeholders, including regulatory authorities and shareholders.
These terms include the introduction of a deferred contingent
capital plan with many of the features of the loss-absorbing capi-
tal that we have issued in the market but with a higher capital
ratio write-down trigger, increased average deferral periods for
stock awards, and expanded forfeiture provisions for certain
awards linked to business performance. These changes, while in-
tended to better align the interests of our staff with those of other
stakeholders, increase the risk that key employees will be at-
tracted by competitors and decide to leave us, and that we may
be less successful than our competitors in attracting qualified em-
ployees. The loss of key staff and the inability to attract qualified
replacements, depending upon which and how many roles are
affected, could seriously compromise our ability to execute our
strategy and to successfully improve our operating and control
environment.

In a referendum in March 2013, the Swiss cantons and voters
approved an initiative to give shareholders of Swiss listed compa-
nies more influence over board and management compensation
(the “Minder Initiative”). In November 2013, the Swiss Federal
Council issued the final transitional ordinance implementing the
constitutional amendments resulting from this initiative, which
came into force on 1 January 2014. The ordinance requires public
companies to specify in their articles of association (AoA) a mech-
anism to permit a “say-on-pay” vote, setting out three require-
ments: (i) the vote on compensation must be held annually, (ii) the
vote on compensation must be binding rather than advisory and
(iii) the vote on compensation must be held separately for the
board of directors and members of the executive board. In addi-
tion, shareholders will need to determine the details of the “say-
on-pay” vote in the AoA, in particular the nature of the vote,
timing aspects and the consequences of a “no” vote. Each com-
pany affected by the Minder Initiative must undertake a first bind-

ing vote on management compensation and remuneration of the
board of directors at its 2015 annual general meeting.

The EU has adopted legislation that caps the amount of vari-
able compensation in proportion to the amount of fixed compen-
sation for employees of a bank active within the EU. This legisla-
tion will apply to employees of UBS in the EU. These and other
similar initiatives may require us to make further changes to our
compensation structure and may increase the risks described
above.

Our financial results may be negatively affected by
changes to accounting standards

We report our results and financial position in accordance with
IFRS as issued by the IASB. Changes to IFRS or interpretations
thereof may cause our future reported results and financial position
to differ from current expectations, or historical results to differ
from those previously reported due to the adoption of accounting
standards on a retrospective basis. Such changes may also affect
our regulatory capital and ratios. We monitor potential accounting
changes and when these are finalized by the IASB, we determine
the potential impact and disclose significant future changes in our
financial statements. Currently, there are a number of issued but
not yet effective IFRS changes, as well as potential IFRS changes,
some of which could be expected to impact our reported results,
financial position and regulatory capital in the future.

Our financial results may be negatively affected by
changes to assumptions supporting the value of our
goodwill

The goodwill that we have recognized on the respective bal-
ance sheets of our operating segments is tested for impairment at
least annually. Our impairment test in respect of the assets recog-
nized as of 31 December 2014 indicated that the value of our
goodwill is not impaired. The impairment test is based on assump-
tions regarding estimated earnings, discount rates and long-term
growth rates impacting the recoverable amount of each segment
and on estimates of the carrying amounts of the segments to which
the goodwill relates. If the estimated earnings and other assump-
tions in future periods deviate from the current outlook, the value
of our goodwill may become impaired in the future, giving rise to
losses in the income statement. For example, in the third quarter of
2012, the carrying amount of goodwill and certain other non-
financial assets of the Investment Bank was written down, resulting
in a pre-tax impairment loss of almost CHF 3.1 billion.

The effect of taxes on our financial results is significantly
influenced by reassessments of our deferred tax assets

The deferred tax assets (DTA) that we have recognized on our
balance sheet as of 31 December 2014 in respect of prior years’
tax losses reflect the probable recoverable level based on future
taxable profit as informed by our business plans. If the business
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plan earnings and assumptions in future periods substantially de-
viate from current forecasts, the amount of recognized deferred
tax assets may need to be adjusted in the future. These adjust-
ments may include write-downs of deferred tax assets through
the income statement.

Our effective tax rate is highly sensitive both to our perfor-
mance as well as our expectation of future profitability as re-
flected in our business plans. Our results in recent periods have
demonstrated that changes in the recognition of deferred tax as-
sets can have a very significant effect on our reported results. If
our performance is expected to improve, particularly in the US,
the UK or Switzerland, we could potentially recognize additional
deferred tax assets as a result of that assessment. The effect of
doing so would be to significantly reduce our effective tax rate in
years in which additional deferred tax assets are recognized. Con-
versely, if our performance in those countries is expected to pro-
duce diminished taxable profit in future years, we may be required
to write down all or a portion of the currently recognized deferred
tax assets through the income statement. This would have the
effect of increasing our effective tax rate in the year in which any
write-downs are taken.

In 2015, notwithstanding the effects of any potential reassess-
ment of the level of deferred tax assets, we expect our effective
tax rate to be approximately 25%. Consistent with past practice,
we expect to revalue our overall level of deferred tax assets in the
second half of 2015 based on a reassessment of future profitabil-
ity taking into account updated business plan forecasts, including
consideration of a possible further extension of the forecast pe-
riod used for US DTA recognition purposes to seven years from
the six years used at 31 December 2014. The full year effective tax
rate could change significantly on the basis of this reassessment.
It could also change if aggregate tax expenses for locations other
than Switzerland, the US and the UK differ from what is expected.
Our effective tax rate is also sensitive to any future reductions in
statutory tax rates, particularly in the US and Switzerland. Reduc-
tions in the statutory tax rate would cause the expected future tax
benefit from items such as tax loss carry-forwards in the affected
locations to diminish in value. This in turn would cause a write-
down of the associated deferred tax assets.

In addition, statutory and regulatory changes, as well as
changes to the way in which courts and tax authorities interpret
tax laws could cause the amount of taxes ultimately paid by us to
materially differ from the amount accrued.

We are currently considering changes to our legal structure in
the US, the UK, Switzerland and other countries in response to
regulatory changes. Tax laws or the tax authorities in these
countries may prevent the transfer of tax losses incurred in one
legal entity to newly organized or reorganized subsidiaries or
affiliates or may impose limitations on the utilization of tax
losses that are expected to carry on businesses formerly con-
ducted by the transferor. Were this to occur in situations where
there were also limited planning opportunities to utilize the tax
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losses in the originating entity, the deferred tax assets associated
with such tax losses could be written down through the income
statement.

A net charge of CHF 123 million was recognized in operating
expenses (within operating profit before tax) in 2014 in relation to
the UK bank levy. This is a balance sheet levy, payable by banks
operating in the UK. Our bank levy expense for future years will
depend on both the rate of the levy and our taxable UK liabilities
at each year-end; changes to either factor could increase the cost.
This expense could increase if organizational changes involving
UBS Limited and/or UBS AG alter the level or profile of our bank
levy tax base. We expect that the annual bank levy charge will
continue to be recognized for IFRS purposes as an expense arising
in the final quarter of each financial year, rather than being ac-
crued throughout the year, as it is charged by reference to the
year-end balance sheet position.

As UBS Group AG is a holding company, our operating
results, financial condition and ability to pay dividends,
other distributions or to pay our obligations in the future
is dependent on funding, dividends and other distribu-
tions received from UBS AG or any other future direct
subsidiary, which may be subject to restrictions

UBS Group’s ability to pay dividends and other distributions
and to pay our obligations in the future will depend on the level
of funding, dividends and other distributions, if any, received from
UBS AG and any new subsidiaries established by UBS Group in the
future. The ability of such subsidiaries to make loans or distribu-
tions (directly or indirectly) to UBS Group may be restricted as a
result of several factors, including restrictions in financing agree-
ments and the requirements of applicable laws and regulatory
and fiscal or other restrictions. UBS Group’s subsidiaries, including
UBS AG, UBS Switzerland AG, UBS Limited and the US IHC (when
designated) are subject to laws that restrict dividend payments,
authorize regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds
from those subsidiaries to UBS Group, or limit or prohibit transac-
tions with affiliates. Restrictions and regulatory action of this kind
could impede access to funds that UBS Group may need to make
payments.

In addition, UBS Group’s right to participate in a distribution of
assets upon a subsidiary’s liquidation or reorganization is subject
to all prior claims of the subsidiary’s creditors.

UBS Group’s credit rating could be lower than the rating of
UBS AG, which may adversely affect the market value of the secu-
rities and other obligations of UBS Group on a standalone basis.

Furthermore, we expect that UBS Group may guarantee some
of the payment obligations of certain of our subsidiaries from
time to time. These guarantees may require UBS Group to provide
substantial funds or assets to subsidiaries or their creditors or
counterparties at a time when UBS Group is in need of liquidity to
fund its own obligations.



Our stated capital returns objective is based, in part, on
capital ratios that are subject to regulatory change and
may fluctuate significantly

UBS has committed to return at least 50% of its net profit to
shareholders as capital returns, provided its fully applied CET1 capital
ratio is at least 13% and our post-stress fully applied CET1 capital ra-
tio is at least 10%. As of 31 December 2014, our post-stress CET1
capital ratio exceeded this 10% objective, and the actions of the Swiss
National Bank did not cause a breach of this objective in either Janu-
ary or February 2015. However, our ability to maintain a fully applied
CET1 capital ratio of at least 13% is subject to numerous risks, includ-
ing the results of our business, changes to capital standards, method-
ologies and interpretation that may adversely affect our calculated
fully applied CET1 capital ratio, imposition of risk add-ons or addi-
tional capital requirements such as additional capital buffers.

Changes in the methodology, assumptions, stress scenario and
other factors may result in material changes in our post-stress fully
applied CET1 capital ratio. Our objective to maintain a post-stress
fully applied CET1 capital ratio of at least 10% is a condition to our
capital returns commitment. To calculate our post-stress CET1 capi-
tal ratio, we forecast capital one year ahead based on internal pro-
jections of earnings, expenses, distributions to shareholders and
other factors affecting CET1 capital, including our net defined ben-
efit assets and liabilities. We also forecast one-year developments in
RWA. We adjust these forecasts based on assumptions as to how
they may change as a result of a severe stress event. We then further
deduct from capital the stress loss estimated using our combined
stress test (CST) framework to arrive at the post-stress CET1 capital
ratio. Changes to our results, business plans and forecasts, in the
assumptions used to reflect the effect of a stress event on our busi-
ness forecasts or in the results of our CST, could have a material ef-
fect on our stress scenario results and on our calculated fully applied
post-stress CET1 capital ratio. Our CST framework relies on various
risk exposure measurement methodologies which are predomi-
nantly proprietary, on our selection and definition of potential stress
scenarios and on our assumptions regarding estimates of changes in
a wide range of macroeconomic variables and certain idiosyncratic
events for each of those scenarios. We periodically review these
methodologies, and assumptions are subject to periodic review and
change on a regular basis. Our risk exposure measurement method-
ologies may change in response to developing market practice and
enhancements to our own risk control environment, and input pa-
rameters for models may change due to changes in positions, mar-
ket parameters and other factors. Our stress scenarios, the events
comprising a scenario and the assumed shocks and market and eco-
nomic consequences applied in each scenario are subject to periodic
review and change. A change in the CST scenario used to calculate
the fully applied post-stress CET1 capital ratio, or in the assumptions
used in a particular scenario, may cause the post-stress CET1 capital
ratio to fluctuate materially from period to period. Our business
plans and forecasts are subject to inherent uncertainty, our choice of

stress test scenarios and the market and macroeconomic assump-
tions used in each scenario are based on judgments and assump-
tions about possible future events. Our risk exposure methodologies
are subject to inherent limitations, rely on numerous assumptions as
well as on data which may have inherent limitations. In particular,
certain data are not available on a monthly basis and we may there-
fore rely on prior month/quarter data as an estimate. All of these
factors may result in our post-stress CET1 capital ratio, as calculated
using our methodology for any period, being materially higher or
lower than the actual effect of a stress scenario.

We may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the
exchange offer

We established UBS Group AG as a holding company for UBS
AG because we believe that it will, along with other measures al-
ready announced, substantially improve the resolvability of the
Group in response to evolving regulatory requirements. These
measures may also qualify us for a rebate on the progressive buf-
fer capital requirements applicable to us as a systemically relevant
Swiss bank under applicable Swiss TBTF requirements. We may,
however, encounter substantial difficulties in achieving these an-
ticipated benefits or these anticipated benefits may not material-
ize. For example, the relevant regulators may find the measures
that we are undertaking or their implementation to be ineffective
or insufficient (especially in the context of market turbulence or in
distressed situations), or they may not grant potential relief to the
full extent we anticipate. We may also be required to adopt fur-
ther measures to meet existing or new regulatory requirements.
UBS Group has acquired approximately 97 percent of the out-
standing shares of UBS AG. Delay in acquiring full ownership of
UBS AG could adversely affect the anticipated benefits of the ex-
change offer and the liquidity and market value of UBS Group AG
shares. Such a delay may occur if we determine that the squeeze-
out merger cannot be implemented or is not advisable for any
reason, including, among other things, disruption to the business,
the negative impact on regulatory consents, approvals and licenses
or required third-party rights. The existence of minority sharehold-
ers in UBS AG may, among other things, make it more difficult or
delay UBS Group’s ability to implement changes to our legal struc-
ture and interfere with our day-to-day business operations and our
corporate governance. In addition, any holders of UBS AG shares
will have a pro rata claim upon any dividends or other distributions
of UBS AG and would receive a proportionate share of any divi-
dend payments or other distributions made by UBS AG, reducing
the amount of any dividend payments or other distributions that
UBS Group might make to holders of UBS Group AG shares.

Risks associated with a squeeze-out merger

If UBS Group conducts a squeeze-out merger under Swiss
law, UBS AG will merge into a merger subsidiary of UBS Group,
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which will survive the transaction. Although UBS Group expects
that the surviving entity will in most cases succeed to UBS AG's
banking licenses, permits and other authorizations, such entity
may need to re-apply for or seek specific licenses, permits and
authorizations, as well as third-party consents. Furthermore, al-
though we expect this occurrence to be unlikely given that mi-
nority shareholders subject to the squeeze-out will be offered
listed securities in UBS Group and the consideration to be offered
in the squeeze-out merger will be identical to the consideration
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offered in the exchange offer, under Swiss law, a minority share-
holder subject to the squeeze-out merger could theoretically
seek to claim, within two months of the publication of the
squeeze-out merger, that the consideration offered is “inade-
quate” and petition a Swiss competent court to determine what
is “adequate” consideration. Each of these circumstances, if it
were to happen, may generate costs, delay the implementation
of the squeeze-out merger or disrupt or negatively impact our
business.
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Critical accounting policies

Basis of accounting

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The applica-
tion of these accounting standards requires the use of judgment,
based upon estimates and assumptions that may involve signifi-
cant uncertainty at the time they are made. Such judgments, in-
cluding the underlying estimates and assumptions, which reflect
historical experience, expectations of the future and other factors,
or some combination thereof, are regularly evaluated to determine
their continuing relevance under the circumstances. Using differ-
ent assumptions could cause the reported results to differ. Changes
in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial
statements in the periods when changes occur.

We believe that the assumptions we have made are appropri-
ate under the circumstances, and that our financial statements
therefore present fairly the financial position, financial perfor-
mance and cash flows, in all material respects. Alternative out-
comes and sensitivity analyses discussed or referred to in this sec-
tion are included solely to assist the reader in understanding the
uncertainty inherent in the estimates and assumptions used in our
financial statements. They are not intended to suggest that other
estimates and assumptions would be more appropriate.

This section discusses accounting policies that are deemed crit-
ical to our financial position, financial performance and cash flows,
because they are material in terms of the items to which they ap-
ply, and they involve significant assumptions and estimates. A
broader and more detailed description of our significant account-
ing policies is included in “Note 1 Summary of significant account-
ing policies” in the “Financial information” section of this report.

Consolidation of structured entities

We sponsor the formation of structured entities (SEs) and interact
with non-sponsored SEs for a variety of reasons, including allow-
ing clients to obtain or be exposed to particular risk profiles, to
provide funding or to sell or purchase credit risk. An SE is an entity
that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the
dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity. Such entities
generally have a narrow and well-defined objective and include
those historically referred to as special purpose entities and some
investment funds.

In accordance with IFRS, UBS consolidates only SEs that it con-
trols, with control being defined as a function of three elements:
power over the relevant activities of the entity, exposure to variable
returns and an investor's ability to use its power to affect its
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returns. UBS consolidates an entity when all three elements of
control are present. Where UBS has an interest in an SE that
absorbs variability, we consider whether UBS has power over the
SE which allows it to affect the variability of its returns. Consider-
ation is given to all facts and circumstances to determine whether
the Group has power over the SE, that is, the current ability to di-
rect the relevant activities of the SE when decisions about those
activities need to be made. Determining whether we have power
to direct the relevant activities requires a significant degree of
judgment in light of all facts and circumstances. In making that
determination, we consider a range of factors, including the pur-
pose and design of the SE, any rights held through contractual
arrangements such as call rights, put rights or liquidation rights, as
well as potential decision-making rights. Where the Group has
power over the relevant activities, a further assessment is made to
determine whether, through that power, it has the ability to affect
its own returns, that is, assessing whether power is held in a prin-
cipal or agent capacity. Consideration is given to the overall rela-
tionship between UBS, the SE and other parties involved in the SE.
In particular, we assess the following: (i) the scope of decision-mak-
ing authority, (ii) rights held by other parties, including removal or
other participating rights and (iii) exposure to variability, including
remuneration, relative to the total variability of the SE, as well as
whether UBS's exposure is different from that of other investors.
Appropriate weightings are applied to each of these factors on the
basis of the particular facts and circumstances.
- Refer to “Note 1a item 3 Subsidiaries and structured entities”

and “Note 30 Interests in subsidiaries and other entities”

in the “Financial information” section of this report for more

information

Fair value of financial instruments

UBS accounts for a significant portion of its assets and liabilities at
fair value. Under IFRS, the relative degree of uncertainty associ-
ated with the measurement of fair value is reflected by use of a
three-level valuation hierarchy. The best evidence of fair value is a
quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). In the event
that the market for a financial instrument is not active, or where
quoted prices are not otherwise available, a valuation technique is
used. In these cases, fair value is estimated using observable data
in respect of similar financial instruments as well as financial mod-
els. Level 2 of the hierarchy pertains to instruments for which in-
puts to a valuation technique are principally based on observable
market data. Level 3 applies to instruments that are measured by
a valuation technique that incorporates one or more significant
unobservable inputs. Valuation techniques that rely to a greater



extent on unobservable inputs require a higher level of judgment
to calculate a fair value than those based wholly on observable
inputs. Substantially all of UBS's financial assets and financial lia-
bilities are based on observable prices and inputs and hence are
classified in Levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy.

Where valuation techniques, including models, are used to de-
termine fair values, they are periodically reviewed and validated
by qualified personnel, independent of those who sourced them.
Models are calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data
and comparable market prices. Also, models prioritize the use of
observable inputs, when available, over unobservable inputs.
Judgment is required in selecting appropriate models as well as
inputs for which observable data is less readily or not available.

The valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all
the factors relevant to the positions we hold. Valuations are
therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional
factors, including model risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. We use
different approaches to calculate the credit risk, depending on
the nature of the instrument. A credit-valuation-adjustment ap-
proach based on an expected exposure profile is used to adjust
the fair value of derivative instruments, including funded deriva-
tive instruments which are classified as Financial assets desig-
nated at fair value, to reflect counterparty credit risk. Corre-
spondingly, a debit-valuation-adjustment approach is applied to
incorporate UBS’s own credit risk, where applicable, in the fair
value of derivative instruments. Own credit risk for financial
liabilities designated at fair value is calculated using the funds
transfer price curve.

In 2014, the Group incorporated funding valuation adjust-
ments (FVA) into its valuation estimates for certain OTC deriva-
tives, consistent with the industry’s migration towards reflecting
the market cost of unsecured funding in the valuation of such
instruments. Recognition and measurement of FVA derives from
several important management judgments, including estimation
of relevant market clearing prices for funding, the interaction be-
tween FVA and DVA (DVA previously incorporated the full UBS
credit spread including a funding component which is now cap-
tured in FVA), and the determination as to when the weight of
market evidence becomes sufficiently compelling to justify the
change in estimate.

- Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies, comparability
and other adjustments” in the “Financial information” section of
this report for more information

As of 31 December 2014, financial assets and financial liabili-
ties for which valuation techniques are used and whose signifi-
cant inputs are considered observable (Level 2) amounted to CHF
304 billion and CHF 333 billion, respectively, (67% and 89% of
total financial assets measured at fair value and total financial lia-
bilities measured at fair value, respectively). Financial assets and
financial liabilities whose valuations include significant unobserv-
able inputs (Level 3) amounted to CHF 12 billion and CHF 17 bil-
lion, respectively, (3% and 5% of total financial assets measured

at fair value and total financial liabilities measured at fair value,
respectively). These amounts reflect the effect of offsetting, wher-
ever such presentation is required under IFRS.

Uncertainty inherent to estimating unobservable market inputs
can affect the amount of gain or loss recorded for a particular
position. While the Group believes its valuation techniques are
appropriate and consistent with those of other market partici-
pants, the use of different techniques or assumptions to deter-
mine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in
a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. As of
31 December 2014, the total favorable and unfavorable effects of
changing one or more of the unobservable inputs to reflect rea-
sonably possible alternative assumptions for financial instruments
classified as Level 3 were CHF 965 million and CHF 824 million,
respectively. Further discussion of the Group’s use of valuation
techniques, the critical estimates and adjustments applied to
reflect uncertainties within the fair value measurement process,
and its governance over the fair value measurement process can
be found in “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report.

- Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial

information” section of this report for more information

Allowances for credit losses on loans and receivables
measured at amortized cost

Allowances for credit losses represent management’s best estimate
of credit losses incurred in the lending portfolio at the balance
sheet date due to credit deterioration of the issuer or counterparty.
The loan portfolio, which is measured at amortized cost less impair-
ment, consists of financial assets presented on the balance sheet
lines Due from banks and Loans. In addition, irrevocable loan com-
mitments are tested for impairment as described below.

A credit loss expense is recognized if there is objective evidence
that the Group will be unable to collect all amounts due (or the
equivalent thereof) on a claim based on the original contractual
terms due to credit deterioration of the issuer or counterparty.
Allowances for credit losses are evaluated at both a counterpar-
ty-specific level and collectively. Under this incurred loss model, a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired if there is
objective evidence that a credit loss has occurred by the balance
sheet date. Judgment is used in making assumptions when calcu-
lating impairment losses both on a counterparty-specific level and
collectively.

The impairment loss for a loan is the excess of the carrying
value of the financial asset over the estimated recoverable
amount. The estimated recoverable amount is the present value,
calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate, of ex-
pected future cash flows, including amounts that may result from
restructuring or the liquidation of collateral. If a loan has a vari-
able interest rate, the discount rate for calculating the recoverable
amount is the current effective interest rate. An allowance for
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credit losses is reported as a reduction of the carrying value of the
financial asset on the balance sheet.

The collective allowances for credit losses are calculated for
portfolios with similar credit risk characteristics, taking into ac-
count historical loss experience and current conditions. The meth-
odology and assumptions used are reviewed regularly to reduce
any differences between estimated and actual loss experience. For
all of our portfolios, we also assess whether there have been any
unforeseen developments which might result in impairments but
which are not immediately observable. To determine whether an
event-driven collective allowance for credit losses is required, we
consider global economic drivers to assess the most vulnerable
countries and industries.

As of 31 December 2014, the gross loan portfolio was CHF 316
billion and the related allowances for credit losses amounted to
CHF 0.7 billion, consisting of specific and collective allowances of
CHF 687 million and CHF 8 million, respectively.

- Refer to “Note 1a item 11 Allowances and provisions for credit
losses,” “Note 10 Due from banks and loans (held at amortized
cost),” “Note 12 Allowances and provisions for credit losses”
and "Note 27a Measurement categories of financial assets and
liabilities” in the “Financial information” section of this report
for more information

-> Refer to “Policies for past due, non-performing and impaired
claims” in the “Risk management and control” section of this
report for more information

Goodwill impairment test

UBS performs an impairment test on its goodwill assets on an
annual basis, or when indicators of impairment exist. UBS consid-
ers the segments, as reported in “Note 2 Segment reporting,” as
separate cash-generating units. The impairment test is performed
for each segment to which goodwill is allocated by comparing the
recoverable amount, based on its value-in-use, to the carrying
amount of the respective segment. An impairment charge is rec-
ognized if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
The impairment test is based on the assumptions described below.

The recoverable amounts are determined using a discounted
cash flow model, which has been adapted to use inputs that con-
sider features of the banking business and its regulatory environ-
ment. The recoverable amount of a segment is the sum of the
discounted earnings attributable to shareholders from the first
five forecasted years and the terminal value.

The carrying amount for each segment is determined by refer-
ence to the Group’s equity attribution framework described in the
“Capital management” section of this report. The attributed eg-
uity methodology is aligned with the business planning process,
the inputs from which are used in calculating the recoverable
amounts of the respective cash-generating units.

Valuation parameters used within the Group’s impairment test
model are linked to external market information, where applica-
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ble. The model used to determine the recoverable amount is most
sensitive to changes in the forecast earnings available to share-
holders in years one to five, to changes in the discount rates, and
to changes in the long-term growth rate.

Key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amounts
of each segment are tested for sensitivity by applying a reason-
ably possible change to those assumptions. Forecast earnings
available to shareholders were changed by 10%, the discount
rates were changed by 1.0 percentage point and the long-term
growth rates were changed by 0.5 percentage point. Under all
scenarios, the recoverable amounts for each segment exceeded
the respective carrying amount, such that the reasonably possible
changes in key assumptions would not result in impairment as of
31 December 2014.

If the estimated earnings and other assumptions in future peri-
ods deviate from the current outlook, the value of our goodwill
may become impaired in the future, giving rise to losses in the in-
come statement. Recognition of any impairment of goodwill
would reduce IFRS equity attributable to UBS shareholders and net
profit. It would not impact cash flows and, as goodwill is required
to be deducted from capital under the Basel capital framework, no
impact would be expected on the Group total capital ratios.

As of 31 December 2014, total goodwill recognized on the
balance sheet was CHF 6.4 billion, of which CHF 1.4 billion, CHF
3.5 billion and CHF 1.5 billion was carried by Wealth Manage-
ment, Wealth Management Americas and Global Asset Manage-
ment, respectively. On the basis of the impairment testing meth-
odology described above, UBS concluded that the year-end 2014
balances of goodwill allocated to its segments remain recoverable
and thus were not impaired.

-> Refer to “Note 1a item 21 Goodwill and intangible assets,”
“Note 2 Segment reporting” and “Note 17 Goodwill and
intangible assets” in the “Financial information” section of this
report for more information

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets arise from a variety of sources, the most signif-
icant being the following: (i) tax losses that can be carried forward
to be utilized against profits in future years and (i) expenses rec-
ognized in our income statement that are not deductible until the
associated cash flows occur.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax as-
sets to the amount which can be recognized in line with IAS 12 In-
come Taxes. The level of deferred tax asset recognition is influenced
by management’s assessment of our future profitability based on
relevant business plan forecasts. Existing assessments are reviewed
and, if necessary, revised to reflect changed circumstances. This re-
view is conducted annually, in the second half of each year, but ad-
justments may be made at other times, if required. In a situation
where recent losses have been incurred, IAS 12 requires convincing
evidence that there will be sufficient future profitability.



Swiss tax losses may be carried forward for seven years, US
federal tax losses for 20 years and UK and Jersey tax losses for an
unlimited period. The deferred tax assets recognized as of 31 De-
cember 2014 have been based on future profitability assump-
tions, adjusted to take into account the recognition criteria of IAS
12. The level of deferred tax assets recognized may, however,
need to be adjusted in the future in the event of changes in those
profitability assumptions. As of 31 December 2014, the deferred
tax assets amounted to CHF 11 billion, which included CHF 7.5
billion in respect of tax losses (mainly in Switzerland and the US)
that may be utilized to offset taxable income in future years.

- Refer to “Note 1a item 22 Income taxes” and “Note 8 Income

taxes” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount, and are
recognized when UBS has a present obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Provisions are recognized for the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obli-
gation at the balance sheet date.

Recognition of provisions often involves significant judgment
in assessing the existence of an obligation resulting from past
events and in estimating the probability, timing and amount of
any outflows of resources. This is particularly the case with litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters which, because of their na-
ture, are subject to many uncertainties, making their outcome
difficult to predict. Such matters may involve unique fact patterns
or novel legal theories, proceedings which have not yet been ini-
tiated or are at early stages of adjudication, or as to which alleged
damages have not been quantified by the claimants. Determining
whether an obligation exists as a result of a past event and esti-
mating the probability, timing and amount of any potential out-
flows is based on a variety of assumptions, variables, and known
and unknown uncertainties. The amount of any provision recog-
nized can be very sensitive to the assumptions used and there
could be a wide range of possible outcomes for any particular
matter. Statistical or other quantitative analytical tools are of lim-
ited use in determining whether to establish or determine the
amount of provisions in the case of litigation, regulatory or similar
matters. Furthermore, information currently available to manage-
ment may be incomplete or inaccurate increasing the risk of erro-
neous assumptions with regards to the future developments of
such matters. Management regularly reviews all the available in-
formation regarding such matters, including advice from legal
advisors, to assess whether the recognition criteria for provisions
have been satisfied for those matters and, if not, to evaluate
whether such matters represent contingent liabilities. Legal advice
is a significant consideration in determining whether it is more

likely than not that an obligation exists as a result of a past event
and in assessing the probability, timing and amount of any poten-
tial outflows.

As of 31 December 2014, total provisions amounted to CHF
4,366 million, of which CHF 3,053 million pertained to the litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters class. Since the future out-
flow of resources in respect of these matters cannot be deter-
mined with certainty based on currently available information,
the actual outflows may ultimately prove to be substantially
greater (or may be less) than the provisions recognized.

- Refer to “Note 1a item 27 Provisions” and “Note 22 Provisions

and contingent liabilities” in the “Financial information” section
of this report for more information

Pension and other post-employment benefit plans

The full defined benefit obligation, net of plan assets, relating to
our pension and other-post employment benefits is recognized on
the balance sheet, with changes resulting from re-measurements
recorded immediately in other comprehensive income. The net
defined benefit liability (asset) at the end of the year and the re-
lated personnel expense depend on the expected future benefits
to be provided, determined using a number of economic and de-
mographic assumptions. The most significant assumptions in-
clude life expectancy, the discount rate, expected salary increases,
pension rates, and in addition, for the Swiss plan, interest credits
on retirement savings account balances.

Life expectancy is determined by reference to published mor-
tality tables. The discount rate is determined by reference to the
rates of return on high-quality fixed-income investments of ap-
propriate currency and term at the measurement date. The as-
sumption for salary increases reflects the long-term expectations
for salary growth and takes into account inflation, seniority, pro-
motion and other relevant factors such as supply and demand in
the labor market. For a sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit
obligation to these significant actuarial assumptions, refer to
“Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit plans” in
the “Financial information” section of this report.

The most significant plan is the Swiss pension plan. Consistent
with 2013, life expectancy for this plan has been based on the
2010 BVG generational mortality tables. The assumption for the
discount rate has changed from 2.30% in the prior year to 1.15%
in the current year, as a result of lower market yields on corporate
bonds.

- Refer to “Note 1a item 24 Pension and other post-employment
benefit plans” and “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment
benefit plans” in the “Financial information” section of this
report for more information
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Critical accounting policies

Equity compensation

We recognize shares, performance shares, options and share-set-
tled stock appreciation rights awarded to employees as compensa-
tion expense based on their fair value at grant date. The fair value
of UBS Group AG shares issued to employees is determined by
reference to quoted market prices, adjusted, when relevant, to take
into account the terms and conditions inherent in the award. Op-
tions, stock appreciation rights, and certain performance shares is-
sued by UBS to its employees have features which are not directly
comparable with our shares and options traded in active markets.
Accordingly, we determine the fair value using suitable valuation
models. Several recognized valuation models exist. The models we
apply have been selected because they are able to accommodate
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the specific features included in the various instruments granted to
our employees. If we were to use different models, the values pro-
duced would differ, even if the same inputs were used.

The models we use require inputs such as expected dividends,
share price volatility and historical employee exercise behavior
patterns. Some of the model inputs we use are not market ob-
servable and have to be estimated or derived from available data.
Use of different estimates would produce different valuations,
which in turn would result in recognition of higher or lower com-
pensation expense.

- Refer to “Note 1a item 25 Equity participation and other
compensation plans” and “Note 29 Equity participation and
other compensation plans” in the “Financial information” section
of this report for more information



Significant accounting and
financial reporting changes

Significant accounting changes

Fair value measurements — funding valuation adjustments

In 2014, we incorporated funding valuation adjustments (FVA)
into our fair value measurements. This resulted in a net loss of
CHF 267 million when the change was adopted as of 30 Septem-
ber 2014, of which CHF 252 million was attributable to Corporate
Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, CHF 12 million to the
Investment Bank and CHF 3 million to Retail & Corporate.

-> Refer to the “Critical accounting policies” section, “Note 1b
Changes in accounting policies, comparability and other
adjustments” and “Note 24d Valuation adjustments” in
the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments
to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation)
On 1 January 2014, UBS adopted Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments:
Presentation). The amended IAS 32 restricts offsetting on the
balance sheet to only those arrangements in which a right of set-
off exists that is unconditional and legally enforceable, in the nor-
mal course of business and in the event of the default, bankruptcy
or insolvency of the Group and its relevant counterparties and for
which the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to real-
ize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The amendments also provide incremental guidance for deter-
mining when gross settlement systems result in the functional
equivalent of net settlement. UBS is no longer able to offset cer-

tain derivative arrangements under the revised rules. The prior
period balance sheet information as of 31 December 2013 has
been restated to reflect the effects of adopting these amend-
ments. There was no impact on total equity, net profit or earnings
per share. In addition, there was no material impact on the
Group's Basel Ill capital, capital ratios and Swiss SRB leverage
ratio.
- Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies, comparability
and other adjustments” for more information

ETD client cash balances removed from balance sheet

We provide clearing and execution services to clients entering into
exchange-traded derivatives (ETD). In 2014, we changed our
accounting policy with respect to recognizing cash initial margin
collected and remitted (together, client cash balances) to more
closely align with evolving market practices.

Client cash balances that are legally isolated from UBS's estate,
and that UBS neither benefits from nor controls, are not deemed
assets and corresponding liabilities of the Group. Consequently,
they are no longer reflected within Cash collateral payables on
derivative instruments for the amounts due to clients, Cash collat-
eral receivables on derivative instruments in relation to amounts
posted to central counterparties, and Due from banks for any
amounts that are deposited at third-party deposit banks. The
comparative balance sheets as of 31 December 2013 have been
restated accordingly.

-> Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies, comparability

and other adjustments” for more information
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Significant accounting and financial reporting changes

Financial reporting changes

Refinement to the allocation of operating costs for internal services
At the beginning of 2014, we refined the way operating costs for
internal services are allocated from Corporate Center — Core
Functions to the business divisions and Corporate Center — Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio. Under this refinement, each year, as
part of the annual business planning cycle, Corporate Center —
Core Functions agrees with the business divisions and Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio cost allocations for services at fixed amounts
or at variable amounts based on fixed formulas, depending on
capital and service consumption levels as well as the nature of the
services performed. These pre-agreed cost allocations are de-
signed with the expectation that Corporate Center — Core Func-
tions recovers its costs, without a mark-up. Because actual costs
incurred may differ from those expected, however, Corporate
Center — Core Functions may recognize significant under- or
over-allocations depending on various factors, including Corpo-
rate Center — Core Functions’ ability to manage the delivery of its
services and achieve cost savings. Each year, these cost allocations
will be reset, taking account of the prior year’s experience and
plans for the forthcoming period. We expect the refined approach
to strengthen the effectiveness and efficiency of the services per-
formed by Corporate Center — Core Functions, and in particular to
facilitate the achievement of cost savings, by better aligning cost
accountability with the management of these services. Prior peri-
ods have not been adjusted for this refinement.
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Operating income

In 2014, we amended our management discussion and analysis of
operating income for Wealth Management, Wealth Management
Americas and Retail & Corporate to disclose “recurring net fee
income,” which is part of total net fee and commission income in
the UBS Group financial statements, as a separate line in the busi-
ness division reporting tables. This includes fees for services pro-
vided on an ongoing basis such as portfolio management fees,
asset-based investment fund fees, custody fees and account
keeping fees, which are generated on the respective business di-
vision’s client assets. The non-recurring portion of the net fee and
commission income for these business divisions, which mainly
consists of brokerage and transaction-based investment fund fees
as well as credit card fees and fees for payment transactions, is
now presented together with net trading income as “transac-
tion-based income.” With these changes, we aim to enhance the
transparency of operating income disclosure for our client as-
set-gathering businesses.

In addition, we have added a tabular disclosure in the “Group
performance” section with the operating income breakdown for
Wealth Management, Wealth Management Americas and Retail
& Corporate, as well as specific commentary on the new operat-
ing income lines of recurring net fee income and transaction-based
income for these business divisions.



Changes to internal funding and fund transfer pricing
methodology
Effective July 2014, we changed our fund transfer pricing meth-
odology for the divisions Wealth Management and Retail & Cor-
porate. Under the revised methodology, the divisions share in the
benefits of raising liabilities and originating assets, with the pric-
ing curve incentivizing a balanced funding position from a cur-
rency and tenor perspective. The new methodology better aligns
the economics of flows originated in Wealth Management and
Retail & Corporate with UBS’s liquidity and funding appetite and
supports initiatives aimed at achieving the right mix of assets and
liabilities across the two divisions in response to the evolving reg-
ulatory liquidity and funding landscape. The change in fund trans-
fer pricing methodology in Wealth Management and Retail &
Corporate falls under the governance of Group Treasury.

- Refer to the “Treasury management” section in this report for more

information on the internal funding and funds transfer pricing

Client shifts and referrals between Retail & Corporate and
Wealth Management

In 2014, we implemented a remuneration framework for net cli-
ent shifts and referrals between Retail & Corporate and Wealth
Management, consistent with our strategy of collaboration across
our various businesses. Under this framework, a fee is paid from
one business division to the other for the overall net volume of
client shifts and referrals. Clients are mostly shifted from Retail &
Corporate to Wealth Management when they reach a certain
level of wealth following our objective to develop our client rela-
tionships.

Investment bank — Fixed Income Exchange-Traded Derivatives
During 2014, we transferred the fixed income exchange-traded
derivatives execution team from our equities business into our for-
eign exchange, rates and credit (FRC) business within the Invest-
ment Bank’s Investor Client Service business unit. The change is
intended to facilitate the build-out of our FRC execution services
platform. Prior period operating income numbers for equities and
FRC have been restated accordingly. The transfer had no impact
on total operating income for either Investor Client Services or the
overall Investment Bank.

Disclosure of regional performance in financial reports
Throughout 2014, our quarterly results presentations included
disclosure of the regional performance of our business divisions,
including a breakdown of regional operating income, operating
expenses and performance before tax by business division.
Starting with this Annual Report, we also provide such
disclosure in the “Group performance” section of our financial
reports, including our interim reports.
- Refer to the “Group performance” section and “Note 2 Segment
reporting” in the “Financial information” section of this report
for more information

New structure of the Corporate Center

As of 1 January 2015, Corporate Center — Core Functions was
reorganized into two new components, Corporate Center — Ser-
vices and Corporate Center — Group Asset and Liability Manage-
ment (Group ALM), each of which will be reported separately. In
our first quarter 2015 report, we will reflect this change and pro-
vide more information. Our presentation of Corporate Center —
Non-core and Legacy Portfolio is not affected by this change.
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Group performance

Net profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders was CHF 3,466 million compared with CHF 3,172 million in 2013.
We recorded an operating profit before tax of CHF 2,461 million compared with CHF 3,272 million, largely reflecting an
increase of CHF 1,106 million in operating expenses, driven by CHF 893 million higher charges for provisions for litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters. Operating income increased by CHF 295 million, due to higher net fee and commis-
sion income, largely offset by a decline in net interest and trading income. We recorded a net tax benefit of CHF 1,180
million compared with a net tax benefit of CHF 110 million in the prior year, reflecting net upward revaluations of
deferred tax assets in both years, which more than offset tax expenses for taxable profits.

Income statement

For the year ended

% change from

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net interest income 6,555 5,786 5,978 13
Creditloss (expense) /recovery a8 o) (g 56
Net interest income after credit loss expense 6,477 5,736 5,860 13
Net fee ah‘d' ee'rrtr'msmon‘lh'cerhe """"""""""""""""""""" 17076 h 16287 h 15396 """" 5
Nettradlhg'lh'ce'rhe 3842 5130 3526 ..... (25)
of which: net trading income excluding own credit 3,551 5413 Cos28 (34)
of which: own credit on financial liabilities designated at fair valve 292 (283) @202
Stter e iy T G 5
Total operating income 28,027 27,732 25,423 1
Personnel expenses 15,280 15,182 14,737 1
General and administrative expenses T o387 8380 863 12
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment 1 A 816 689 0
Impalrme‘n‘tet 'g'o'odwﬂl ................................................ g o 3030 .......
Amortization and |mpa|rhﬁehtet intangtble.éééets .............................. 83 R 06 0
Total operating expenses 25,567 24,461 27,216 5
Operatlng profit/(loss) before tax 2,461 3,272 (1,794) (25)
o expehéé/(beheflt) ........................................... ('1','1'80) .... (1 10) U 44 o o3
Net profit/(loss) 3,640 3,381 (2,255) 8
Net profit/(loss) attributable to preferred noteholders 142 204 220 (30)
Net proflt/‘('le'sé)' éttrlbut‘a‘b'letd hon cor‘ttrelil'n'g' |nterests """"""""""""""""""" 3 5 S 5 o 540
Net profit/(loss) attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders 3,466 3,172 (2,480) 9
Comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income 5,220 2,524 (1,767) 107
TotaI comprehensive income attributable to preferred noteholders 221 559 179 (60)
TotaI com‘p‘reHertélve income attributable to non- contr(‘)l‘ltﬁgtlhterests ........................ 79 s 0
Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders 4,920 1961 (196 151
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Adjusted results™2

For the year ended 31.12.14

Wealth Global CC - Non-
Wealth Manage- Asset core and
Manage- ment Retail & Manage- Investment CC - Core Legacy
CHF million ment  Americas  Corporate ment Bank  Functions®  Portfolio UBS
Operating income as reported 7901 6998 . o 1902 8346 B9 (821) 28027
of which: own credit on financial liabilities
| deslgnated atfairvalue® 292
of which: gains on sales of real estate 44 44
of which: gain from the partial sale of
Lourinvestment INMAIKIt e B 43
of which: impairment of a financial investment
available-for-sale (48) (48)
Operating income (adjusted) 7,901 6,998 3,741 1,902 8,351 (375) (821) 27,696
Operating expenses asreported 5574 6099 2235 1435 832 688 1144 25567
. of which: ersonnel elated restructuring charges® 0 23 2 37 180 20 7 327,
. of which: other restructuring charges” "6 3 4 B (LU S "o 350,
of which: credit related to changes to
retiree benefit plans in the US® 0 9) 0 8) (20) 0 (3) (41)
Operating expenses (adjusted) 5,389 6,053 2,171 1,393 8,151 658 1,116 24,931
Operating profit/(loss) before tax as reported 2,326 900 1,506 467 (47) (728) (1,965) 2,461
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (adjusted) 2,511 946 1,570 509 199 (1,034) (1,937) 2,766
For the year ended 31.12.13
Wealth Global CC—Non-
Wealth Manage- Asset core and
Manage- ment Retail & Manage-  Investment CC—Core Legacy
CHF million ment Americas Corporate ment Bank Functions® Portfolio UBS
Operating income as reported 7363 6538 . 336 LRSS 8601 .. (oon) .. 37203
of which: own credit on financial liabilities
L Gesignated atfair valie! | e, (283) . (283)
... Of which: gains on sales of eal estate B8 28
of which: net losses related to the buyback of debt
L pUblCtender OfferS e (194 . 7 (167).
of which: gain on sale of Global AM's
.. Canadian domestichUsSiness | e M. 3
of which: net gain on sale of remaining proprietary
trading business 55 (24) 31
Operating income (adjusted) 7,563 6,538 3,756 1,901 8,546 (794) 320 27,829
Operating expensesasfeported | ... 2316 >080 228 139 6300 847 2660 24,461
of which: personnel-related restructuring charges® 71 14 19 10 9 2) 35 156
of which: other restructuring charges® 107 45 35 33 201 (4) 200 616
Operating expenses (adjusted) 5,138 5,621 2,244 1,316 6,090 853 2,425 23,689
Operating profit/(loss) before tax as reported 2,247 858 1,458 576 2,300 (1,854) (2,312) 3,272
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (adjusted) 2,425 917 1,512 585 2,455 (1,647) (2,104) 4,141

1 Adjusted results are non-GAAP financial measures as defined by SEC regulations.
lowing organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies.
in this table are after service allocations to business divisions and Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.

for more information. 5 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.

in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.

7 Reflects a foreign currency translation loss.

2 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments fol-
3 Corporate Center — Core Functions operating expenses presented
4 Refer to "Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial information” section of this report

6 Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit plans”
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Adjusted results™2(continued)

For the year ended 31.12.12

Wealth Global CC - Non-
Wealth Manage- Asset core and
Manage- ment Retail & Manage-  Investment CC - Core Legacy
CHF million ment Americas Corporate ment Bank Functions® Portfolio UBS
Operating in;qme as reported N 7,04717 5,87777 3,72787 1,88737 7,144 (1 ,689) 1,43797 25,42737
of which: own credit on financial liabilities
designateq at fair va/ue"r ) N (2,202) (2,202)
of which: gains on sales of real estate 112 112
Operating income (adjusted) 7,041 5,877 3,728 1,883 7,144 401 1,439 27,513
Operating expenses as repoy‘ged B B 4,63747 5,28717 1,90717 1,314 6,87777 2,00787 5,20727 27,21767
of which: personne/-re/a(ed restructur/ng charges® N 25 3 3 ZQ 25Q (777) 5{3 35{3
of which: gther restructu((ng charges® N N 0 (5) 0 0 2{( (6) 0 14
of which: credit related to changes to
the Swiss pension plan N N (357) (287) (30) (5777) (3) (2) (730)
of which: credit related to changes to
retiree beneﬁt plans in the Us N N (777) (2) ( 76) (9777) (777) (7) (11 6)
of which: impairment of goodwill and
other non-financial assets 3,064 3,064
Operating expenses (adjusted) 4,966 5,284 2,185 1,340 6,746 2,020 2,089 24,627
Operating profit/(loss) before tax as reported 2,407 597 1,827 569 267 (3,698) (3,764) (1,794)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (adjusted) 2,075 594 1,543 543 398 (1,620) (651) 2,885

1 Adjusted results are non-GAAP financial measures as defined by SEC regulations.

for more information.

2014 compared with 2013

Results

We recorded an operating profit before tax of CHF 2,461 million
compared with CHF 3,272 million, largely reflecting an increase of
CHF 1,106 million in operating expenses, driven by CHF 893 mil-
lion higher charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters. Operating income increased by CHF 295 million,
due to CHF 789 million higher net fee and commission income,
largely offset by a CHF 518 million decline in net interest and
trading income. We recorded a net tax benefit of CHF 1,180 mil-
lion compared with a net tax benefit of CHF 110 million in the
prior year, reflecting net upward revaluations of deferred tax as-
sets in both years, which more than offset tax expenses in respect
of taxable profits.

In addition to reporting our results in accordance with IFRS,
we report adjusted results that exclude items that management
believes are not representative of the underlying performance of
our businesses. Such adjusted results are non-GAAP financial
measures as defined by SEC regulations. For 2014, the items we
excluded were an own credit gain of CHF 292 million, gains on
sales of real estate of CHF 44 million, a gain of CHF 43 million

90

2 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments fol-
lowing organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies.
in this table are after service allocations to business divisions and Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.

3 Corporate Center — Core Functions operating expenses presented
4 Refer to "Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial information” section of this report

5 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.

from the partial sale of our investment in Markit, a loss of CHF 48
million related to the impairment of a financial investment avail-
able-for-sale, net restructuring charges of CHF 677 million and a
credit of CHF 41 million related to changes to retiree benefit
plans in the US. For 2013, the items we excluded were an own
credit loss of CHF 283 miillion, gains on sales of real estate of CHF
288 million, net losses related to the buyback of debt in public
tender offers of CHF 167 million, a gain on the sale of Global
Asset Management’s Canadian domestic business of CHF 34 mil-
lion, a net gain on the sale of our remaining proprietary trading
business of CHF 31 million and net restructuring charges of
CHF 772 million.

On this adjusted basis, profit before tax was CHF 2,766 million
compared with CHF 4,141 million in the prior year.

Adjusted operating income decreased by CHF 133 million to
CHF 27,696 million, mainly reflecting a decline of CHF 1,066 mil-
lion in adjusted net interest and trading income, largely offset by
an increase in net fee and commission income of CHF 789 million
and CHF 172 million higher adjusted other income.

Adjusted operating expenses increased by CHF 1,242 million
to CHF 24,931 million, mainly due to CHF 893 million higher net
charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters
as well as CHF 381 million higher other non-personnel expenses.
Adjusted personnel expenses were largely unchanged.



Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 28,027 million compared with
CHF 27,732 million. On an adjusted basis, total operating income
decreased by CHF 133 million to CHF 27,696 million. Adjusted
net interest and trading income declined CHF 1,066 million,
largely in Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio and
in the Investment Bank, partly offset by an increase in Corporate
Center — Core Functions. Net fee and commission income in-
creased by CHF 789 million, mainly in our wealth management
businesses, as well as in the Investment Bank. Adjusted other in-
come increased by CHF 172 million.

Net interest and trading income

Net interest and trading income decreased by CHF 518 million to
CHF 10,397 million. 2014 included an own credit gain on financial
liabilities designated at fair value of CHF 292 million, primarily as
life-to-date own credit losses partially reversed due to time decay.
The prior year included an own credit loss on financial liabilities of
CHF 283 million. Adjusted for the effect of own credit in both
years and a gain related to the buyback of debt in a public tender
offer of CHF 27 million in 2013, net interest and trading income
decreased by CHF 1,066 million to CHF 10,105 million, mainly in
Non-core and Legacy Portfolio and in the Investment Bank, partly
offset by an increase in Corporate Center — Core Functions.

In Wealth Management, net interest and trading income de-
creased by CHF 23 million. Net interest income increased by CHF
104 million to CHF 2,165 million, mainly due to higher net inter-
est income from Lombard loans and mortgages as well as a posi-
tive effect from methodology changes in the allocation of liquidity
and funding costs and benefits for loans and deposits between

Net interest and trading income

Wealth Management and Group Treasury. These effects were
partly offset by lower net interest income from client deposits and
lower allocated revenues from Group Treasury. Net trading in-
come decreased by CHF 127 million to CHF 680 million, largely
driven by lower revenues from structured products and decreases
in foreign exchange trading revenues.

In Wealth Management Americas, net interest and trading in-
come increased by CHF 29 million to CHF 1,352 million. Net inter-
est income increased by CHF 47 million to CHF 983 million, due
to continued growth in loan and deposit balances. Net trading
income decreased by CHF 18 million to CHF 369 million.

In Retail & Corporate, net interest and trading income in-
creased by CHF 51 million to CHF 2,536 million. Net interest in-
come increased by CHF 40 million to CHF 2,184 million, mainly
due to higher revenues allocated from Group Treasury and a
higher loan margin. This was partly offset by a decline in the de-
posit margin, despite selective pricing measures, as the per-
sistently low interest rate environment continued to have an ad-
verse effect on our replication portfolios. Net trading income
increased by CHF 11 million to CHF 352 million.

In the Investment Bank, net interest and trading income de-
creased by CHF 461 million to CHF 4,554 million. Within Investor
Client Services, foreign exchange, rates and credit net interest and
trading income decreased by CHF 246 million, with lower reve-
nues across most products as client activity and volatility levels de-
creased compared with 2013, reflecting the ongoing macroeco-
nomic uncertainty. Also within Investor Client Services, equities net
interest and trading income decreased by CHF 120 million, largely
due to lower derivatives revenues, reflecting lower volatility levels
during 2014, as well as reduced cash revenues. This was partly
offset by higher revenues in financing services, mainly due to

For the year ended % change from

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net interest and trading income
Net interest income 6,555 5,786 5,978 13
Net trading income 3,842 5,130 3,526 - (25)
Total net interest and trading income 10,397 10,915 9,504 (5)
Wealth Management 2,845 2,868 2,728 (1)
Wealth Management Americas 1,352 1323 1,265 2
Retail & Corporate h 2,536 2,485 2,467 2
Global Asset'Management N o 9 9 ' '(100)
Investment Bank h 4,554 5,015 3,574 )
of which: 'Crorporate Client Solutions' '1',047 7 142 706 N (8)
of which: Investor Client Services’ 5,507 '3',873 '2',868 N (9)
Corporate Center h (891  (784) © (540) Y
of which: Core Functions (28 (1,045) (1,992) (97)
of which: own credit on financial liabilities designaféd at fair value 292 ' '(283) (2,202) N
of which: Non-core and [égacy Portfolio h a ' '(864) 261 1,452
Total net interest and trading income 10,397 10,915 9,504 (5)

1In 2014, comparative period figures were corrected. As a result, net interest and trading income for Investment Bank Corporate Client Solutions increased by CHF 107 million and CHF 131 million for 2013 and 2012,

respectively, with an equal and offsetting decrease for Investment Bank Investor Client Services.
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higher equity finance revenues. Corporate Client Solutions net in-
terest and trading income declined by CHF 95 million, largely due
to lower revenues within equities capital markets, which included
revenues from a large private transaction in 2013. This was partly
offset by higher revenues in debt capital markets, due to higher
revenues from leveraged finance, as well as reduced negative risk
management revenues, mainly due to the positive effect of wid-
ening credit spreads during 2014.

Corporate Center — Core Functions net interest and trading
income, adjusted for the effect of own credit in both years and a
gain related to the buyback of debt in a public tender offer of CHF
27 million in 2013, increased by CHF 469 million. 2014 included
gains of CHF 113 million on cross-currency basis swaps held as
economic hedges compared with losses of CHF 222 million in the
prior year. Furthermore, 2014 included gains related to our macro
cash flows hedges of CHF 47 million compared with losses of CHF
153 million in the prior year.

In Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, net inter-
est and trading income decreased by CHF 1,125 million. Non-core
net interest and trading income decreased by CHF 444 million,
partly as 2014 included a net loss of CHF 175 million from the im-
plementation of funding valuation adjustments (FVA) on derivatives.
Further, 2014 included losses in rates of CHF 197 million, mainly
from novation and unwind activities compared with gains of CHF
23 million in the prior year. In addition, 2014 included a loss of CHF
97 million in structured credit as a result of the exit of the majority
of the correlation trading portfolio. This was partly offset by a valu-
ation gain of CHF 68 million on certain equity positions.

Legacy Portfolio net interest and trading income decreased by
CHF 680 million. In 2013, we exercised our option to acquire the
SNB StabFund’s equity and recorded total option revaluation gains
of CHF 431 million prior to the exercise. 2014 included a loss of
CHF 108 million resulting from the termination of certain credit
default swap (CDS) contracts and a net loss from the implemen-
tation of FVA on derivatives of CHF 77 million.

- Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting
changes” section as well as “Note 1b Changes in accounting
policies, comparability and other adjustments” and “Note 24 Fair
value measurement” in the “Financial information” section of
this report for more information on the implementation of
funding valuation adjustments

Credit loss (expense)/recovery

- Refer to the “Liquidity and funding management” section of this
report for more information on the changed methodology for
the allocation of liquidity and funding costs and benefits

- Refer to “Note 3 Net interest and trading income” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

-> Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on own
credit

Credit loss expense/recovery
We recorded net credit loss expenses of CHF 78 million compared
with CHF 50 million in the prior year.

Net credit loss expenses in Retail & Corporate were CHF 95 mil-
lion compared with CHF 18 million in the prior year. 2014 included
net specific credit loss allowances of CHF 105 million compared
with CHF 113 million in the prior year, which was primarily related
to corporate clients in both periods. In addition, 2014 included a
release of CHF 10 million in collective loan loss allowances com-
pared with a release of CHF 95 million in 2013, which partly re-
flected the overall improved outlook for relevant industries.

Wealth Management Americas recorded a net credit loss re-
covery of CHF 15 million in 2014, mainly reflecting the full release
of a loan loss allowance for a single client as well as releases of
loan loss allowances on securities-backed lending facilities collat-
eralized by Puerto Rico municipal securities and related funds. In
the prior year, Wealth Management Americas recorded a net
credit loss expense of CHF 27 million, largely due to loan loss al-
lowances on securities-backed lending facilities collateralized by
Puerto Rico municipal securities and related funds.

Net fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income increased by CHF 789 million to
CHF 17,076 million.

Portfolio management and advisory fees increased by CHF 718
million to CHF 7,343 million, primarily in Wealth Management
Americas, largely reflecting an increase in managed account fees
reflecting higher invested asset levels. Portfolio management and
advisory fees also increased in Wealth Management, primarily due
to an increase in invested assets, the positive effect of pricing
measures and continued growth in discretionary and advisory
mandates. These increases were partly offset by lower income

For the year ended % change from

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Wealth Management (1) (10) 1 (90)
Wealth Management Americas 15 (27) (14)
Retail & Corporate (95) (18) (27) 428
Investment Bank 2 2 0 0
Corporate Center 2 3 (78) (33)
of which: Non-core and légacy Portfolio 2 3 N (78) N (33)
Total (78) (50) (118) 56
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due to the effect of ongoing outflows of assets from cross-border
clients and due to the migration into retrocession-free products
for investment mandates during 2013.

Merger and acquisitions and corporate finance fees increased
by CHF 118 million to CHF 731 million, predominantly in the
Investment Bank, mainly reflecting an increased volume of merg-
ers and acquisition transactions in 2014.

Underwriting fees rose by CHF 96 million, mainly reflecting
higher equity underwriting fees, largely in the Investment Bank,
due to higher revenues from public offerings as the fee pool
increased.

- Refer to “Note 4 Net fee and commission income” in

the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

Other income

Other income was CHF 632 million compared with CHF 580 mil-
lion in the prior year. Adjusted other income increased by CHF
172 million.

Income related to associates and subsidiaries increased by CHF
90 million when adjusted for a net gain of CHF 31 million on the
sale of our remaining proprietary trading business in 2013. 2014
included a gain of CHF 65 million in Corporate Client Solutions
within the Investment Bank on an investment in an associate
which was reclassified to a financial investment available-for-sale
following its initial public offering. 2014 also included a credit of
CHF 58 million related to the release of a provision for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters, which was recorded as other in-
come in Corporate Center — Core Functions, compared with a
credit of CHF 21 million in 2013.

Excluding a gain of CHF 43 million from the partial sale of our
investment in Markit and a loss of CHF 48 million related to the
impairment of a financial investment available-for-sale, both in
2014, adjusted income from financial investments available-for-
sale decreased by CHF 20 million.

Adjusted other income other than income related to associates
and subsidiaries and from financial investments available-for-sale
increased by CHF 102 million when excluding gains on sales of
real estate of CHF 44 million in 2014 and CHF 288 million in
2013, net losses related to the buyback of debt in public tender

offers of CHF 194 million in 2013 and a gain on the sale of Global
Asset Management’s Canadian domestic business of CHF 34 mil-
lion in 2013.

In January 2015, UBS sold a real estate property in Geneva,
Switzerland for a sales price of CHF 535 million, resulting in a gain
on sale of CHF 377 million which will be recognized in the income
statement within Corporate Center in the first quarter of 2015.
This gain will be treated as an adjusting item for the purpose of
calculating adjusted results.

-> Refer to “Note 5 Other income” in the “Financial information”

section of this report for more information

- Refer to “Note 37 Events after the reporting period” in the

“Financial information” section of this report for more informa-
tion

Recurring net fee and transaction-based income in

Wealth Management, Wealth Management Americas and

Retail & Corporate

Recurring net fee income for Wealth Management, Wealth Man-
agement Americas and Retail & Corporate includes fees for ser-
vices provided on an ongoing basis such as portfolio management
fees, asset-based investment fund fees, custody fees and account
keeping fees, which are generated on the respective business divi-
sion’s client assets. This is part of total net fee and commission in-
come in the UBS Group financial statements. Transaction-based
income includes the non-recurring portion of the net fee and com-
mission income for these business divisions, mainly consisting of
brokerage and transaction-based investment fund fees, as well as
credit card fees and fees for payment transactions, together with
the respective divisional net trading income.

In Wealth Management, recurring net fee income increased by
CHF 216 million to CHF 3,783 million, primarily due to an in-
crease in invested assets, the positive effect of pricing measures
and continued growth in discretionary and advisory mandates.
These increases were partly offset by lower income due to ongo-
ing outflows of assets from cross-border clients and due to the
migration into retrocession-free products for investment man-
dates during 2013. Transaction-based income increased by CHF
41 million to CHF 1,928 million. The overall increase was mainly
related to structured products, mandates, wealth planning ser-

Operating income Wealth Management, Wealth Management Americas and Retail & Corporate

Wealth Management

Wealth Management Americas Retail & Corporate

For the year ended

CHF million 311214 311213 310212 311214 311243 311212 311214 311213 31.12.12
Net interest income 2,165 2,061 1,951 983 936 792 2,184 2,144 2,186
Recurring net fee income 3,783 3567 3309 4,294 379 3,199 556 511 512
Transaction-based income 1,928 1,887 1,744 1678 1,800 1871 1,022 1,034 9%7
Other income h h h 25 57 37 30 33 30 75 86 90
Income 7,902 7,573 7,040 6,984 6,565 5,891 3,836 3,774 3,756
Credit loss (expense)/recovery (1) (10) 1 15 (27) (14) (95) (18) (27)
Total operating income 7,901 7,563 7,041 6,998 6,538 5,877 3,741 3,756 3,728
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vices and hedge funds, partly offset by lower income from for-
eign exchange trading and investment funds. In addition, 2014
included first-time fees paid to Retail & Corporate for net client
shifts and referrals.

In Wealth Management Americas, recurring net fee income
increased by CHF 498 million to CHF 4,294 million, mainly due to
an increase in managed account fees reflecting higher invested
asset levels. Transaction-based income decreased by CHF 122 mil-
lion to CHF 1,678 million, mainly due to lower client activity.

In Retail & Corporate, recurring net fee income increased by
CHF 45 million to CHF 556 million, mainly as certain fees related
to retail bank accounts were recorded as recurring net fee income
in 2014, totaling CHF 58 million in 2014, while these fees were
recorded as transaction-based income in 2013. Transaction-based
income decreased by CHF 12 million to CHF 1,022 million, mainly
reflecting the aforementioned change in classification of certain
fees related to retail bank accounts. This was partly offset by first-
time fees received from Wealth Management for net client shifts
and referrals.

- Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management

Americas” and “Retail & Corporate” sections of this report for
more information

Operating expenses

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased by CHF 1,106 million to CHF
25,567 million. Restructuring charges were CHF 677 million com-
pared with CHF 772 million in the prior year. Personnel-related
restructuring charges increased by CHF 171 million to CHF 327
million, while non-personnel-related restructuring charges de-
creased by CHF 266 million to CHF 350 million.

On an adjusted basis, excluding restructuring charges in both
years as well as credits related to changes to retiree benefit plans in
the US of CHF 41 million in 2014, total operating expenses in-
creased by CHF 1,242 million to CHF 24,931 million. This increase
was mainly due to CHF 893 million higher net charges for provisions
for litigation, regulatory and similar matters as well as CHF 381 mil-
lion higher other non-personnel expenses, due to higher costs for
outsourcing of IT and other services as well as higher professional
fees. Adjusted personnel expenses were largely unchanged.

-> Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial

information” section of this report for more information on
restructuring charges

For the year ended % change from

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Personnel expenses (adjusted)’
Salaries - 6,124 6,203 6,750 )
Total variabrlé'compensatioﬁ ' ' 31 13 ' '3',201 ' '3',005 o (3)
of which: }élating to current year? ' 2,338 ' 727,369 ' 7 901 o (1)
of which: }é/ating to prio'rryears3 775 8 ' 7 104 o (7)
Wealth MahégementAmerités: Financial a'd'visor compenéétion“ ”3',385 ”3',140 ”2',873 8
Other perso'n'hel expenses® N N N ”2',372 ”2,481 ”2',595 (4)
Total personnel expenses (adjusted)’ 14,994 15,026 15,225 0
Non-personnel expenses (adjusted)’
Provisions fb'rrlitigation, regﬁiatory and similar matters ' 2,594 ' '1',701 ' '2',549 5
Other non-béfsonnel expenéés6 h ' 5,343 ' '6,962 ' '6',852 s
Total non-personnel expenses (adjusted)’ 9,937 8,662 9,401 15
Adjusting items 636 772 2,589 (18)
of which: bersonne/-re/aféd restructurfn§ charges 327 156 358 S0
of which: other restructu}/:ng charges N 350 616 i o (43)
of which: credits related to changes to retiree benefit b/éns intheUs” o (41) o N '( 116) o
of which: credits related to changes to the Swiss pensibh plan a a h '(730)
of which: f}npa/rment of éoodwi// and other non-financial assets ' 3 064
Total operating expenses as reported 25,567 24,461 27,216 5

1 Excluding adjusting items.
performance awards and other variable compensation.

2 Includes expenses relating to performance awards and other variable compensation for the respective performance year.
4 Financial advisor compensation consists of grid-based compensation based directly on compensable revenues generated by financial advisors and supplemen-

3 Consists of amortization of prior years' awards relating to

tal compensation calculated based on financial advisor productivity, firm tenure, assets and other variables. It also includes charges related to compensation commitments with financial advisors entered into at the time

of recruitment which are subject to vesting requirements.
Personnel expenses” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.

matters) as well as depreciation and impairment of property and equipment and amortization and impairment of intangible assets.

“Financial information” section of this report for more information.
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5 Consists of expenses related to contractors, social security, pension and other post-employment benefit plans and other personnel expenses. Refer to “Note 6
6 Includes general and administrative expenses (excluding charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar

7 Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit plans” in the



Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses increased by CHF 98 million to CHF 15,280
million and included CHF 327 million personnel-related restruc-
turing charges compared with CHF 156 million in the prior year.
On an adjusted basis, excluding restructuring charges and the
aforementioned credits related to changes to retiree benefit plans
in the US in 2014, personnel expenses decreased slightly by CHF
32 million to CHF 14,994 million.

Expenses for salaries, excluding the effect of restructuring, de-
creased by CHF 79 million to CHF 6,124 million, mainly reflecting
an increase in the capitalization of personnel expenses related to
internally generated computer software, partly offset by charges
for role-based allowances.

Adjusted for the effect of restructuring, total variable compen-
sation expenses decreased by CHF 88 million to CHF 3,113 mil-
lion. Expenses for current year awards declined by CHF 31 million
and expenses for prior-year awards decreased by CHF 57 million.

Financial advisor compensation in Wealth Management Amer-
icas increased by CHF 245 million to CHF 3,385 million, corre-
sponding with higher compensable revenues.

Other personnel expenses, adjusted for the effect of restruc-
turing and the aforementioned credits related to changes to re-
tiree benefit plans in the US, decreased by CHF 109 million to CHF
2,372 million, largely due to a decline of CHF 98 million in costs
for pension and other post-employment benefits plans.

-> Refer to “Note 6 Personnel expenses” in the

“Financial information” section of this report for more
information

- Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit

plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

- Refer to “Note 29 Equity participation and other compensation

plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

- Refer to the “Compensation” section of this report for more

information

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by CHF 1,007 mil-
lion to CHF 9,387 million. On an adjusted basis, excluding net
restructuring charges of CHF 319 million in 2014 compared with
CHF 548 million in the prior year, general and administrative ex-
penses increased by CHF 1,236 million, mainly due to CHF 893
million higher net charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory
and similar matters, as well as higher costs for outsourcing of IT
and other services and higher professional fees.

At this point in time, we believe that the industry continues to
operate in an environment where charges associated with litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters will remain elevated for the
foreseeable future and we continue to be exposed to a number of
significant claims and regulatory matters.

Outsourcing of IT and other services, adjusted for the effect of
restructuring, increased by CHF 240 million.

General and administrative expense also included a net charge
of CHF 123 million for the annual UK bank levy for 2014, mainly
in the Investment Bank and in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio,
compared with a net charge of CHF 124 million in the prior year.
Further, 2014 included net charges of CHF 120 million in Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio related to certain disputed receivables
compared with an impairment charge of CHF 87 million in the
prior year.

- Refer to “Note 7 General and administrative expenses”

in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

- Refer to “Note 22 Provisions and contingent liabilities”

in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

Tax

We recognized a net income tax benefit of CHF 1,180 million for
2014, which included a Swiss tax expense of CHF 1,395 million
and a net foreign tax benefit of CHF 2,574 million.

The Swiss tax expense included a current tax expense of CHF
46 million related to taxable profits, against which no losses were
available to offset, mainly earned by Swiss subsidiaries. In addi-
tion, it included a deferred tax expense of CHF 1,348 million,
mainly reflecting the net decrease of deferred tax assets (DTA)
previously recognized in relation to tax losses carried forward.

The net foreign tax benefit included current tax expense of
CHF 409 million in respect of taxable profits earned by non-Swiss
subsidiaries and branches, against which no losses were available
to offset. This was more than offset by a net deferred tax benefit
of CHF 2,983 million, primarily reflecting an increase of DTA relat-
ing to the US.

In 2015, notwithstanding the effects of any potential reassess-
ment of the level of DTA, we expect the effective tax rate to be
approximately 25%. Consistent with past practice, we expect to
revalue the overall level of DTA in the second half of 2015 based
on a reassessment of future profitability taking into account up-
dated business plan forecasts, including consideration of a possi-
ble further extension of the forecast period used for US DTA rec-
ognition purposes to seven years from the six years used at
31 December 2014. The full year effective tax rate could change
significantly on the basis of this reassessment. It could also change
if aggregate tax expenses for locations other than Switzerland,
the US and the UK differ from what is expected.

- Refer to “Note 8 Income taxes” in the “Financial information”

section of this report for more information

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS Group AG
shareholders

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS Group AG share-

holders includes all changes in equity (including net profit) at-
tributed to UBS Group AG shareholders during a period, except
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those resulting from investments by and distributions to UBS
Group AG shareholders as well as equity-settled share-based pay-
ments. Items included in comprehensive income, but not in net
profit, are reported under other comprehensive income (OCI).
These items will be reclassified to net profit when the underlying
item is sold or realized, with the exception of gains and losses on
defined benefit plans and certain property revaluations.

In 2014, total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
Group AG shareholders was CHF 4,920 million, reflecting net
profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders of CHF 3,466
million and OCI attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders of
CHF 1,453 million (net of tax).

In 2014, OCI included foreign currency translation gains of
CHF 1,795 million (net of tax), primarily related to the significant
strengthening of the US dollar against the Swiss franc. OCl related
to cash flow hedges was positive CHF 689 million (net of tax),
mainly reflecting decreases in long-term interest rates across all
major currencies. OCl associated with financial investments avail-
able-for-sale was positive CHF 141 million (net of tax), mainly due
to an increase in net unrealized gains following decreases in long-
term interest rates, partly offset by previously unrealized net gains
that were reclassified from OCI to the income statement upon
sale of investments.

These OCI gains were partly offset by negative OCl on defined
benefit plans of CHF 1,172 million (net of tax). A pre-tax OCl loss
of CHF 995 million was recorded for the Swiss pension plan,
which was mainly due to an increase in the defined benefit obli-
gation, resulting from a significant decline in the applicable dis-
count rate, which is linked to the returns on Swiss AA-rated cor-
porate bonds and decreased from 2.3% as of 31 December 2013
to 1.2% as of 31 December 2014. This was partly offset by an
increase in the fair value of the underlying plan assets and the
reversal of the asset ceiling effect. Net pre-tax OCl losses on non-
Swiss pension plans amounted to CHF 414 million and primarily
related to the UK and US pension plans.

- Refer to the “Statement of comprehensive income” in the

“Financial information” section of this report for more information

-> Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment bene-

fit plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on OCI related to defined benefit plans

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders and
non-controlling interests

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders was CHF 142 mil-
lion in 2014 compared with CHF 204 million in the prior year.
Dividends of CHF 81 million were paid to preferred noteholders,
for which no accrual was required in a prior period. In addition,
2014 included an accrual of CHF 30 million for future dividend
payments triggered by the dividend payment to UBS shareholders
in May 2014. Furthermore, the purchase of UBS AG shares by UBS
Group AG pursuant to the exchange offer caused a triggering
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event which resulted in accruals for future distributions to pre-
ferred noteholders of CHF 31 million. Subsequent to the exchange
offer, the preferred notes issued by UBS AG were re-classified to
equity attributable to non-controlling interests from a UBS Group
AG perspective.

We expect to attribute approximately CHF 80 million in net
profit to these non-controlling interests in both 2015 and 2016.

Net profit attributable to non-controlling interests was CHF 32
million in 2014, which largely reflects net profit attributable to
non-controlling interests in UBS AG and was related to the
non-tendered or not subsequently exchanged UBS AG shares.

- Refer to the “UBS Group - Changes to our legal structure” section

for more information on the establishment of UBS Group AG

Key figures

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 91.0% in 2014 compared with 88.0%
in the prior year. On an adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio was
89.8% compared with 85.0%.

Risk-weighted assets
During 2014, our phase-in Basel lll risk-weighted assets (RWA) de-
creased by CHF 7.7 billion to CHF 220.9 billion. Phase-in credit risk
RWA decreased by CHF 15.7 billion, primarily driven by the sale of
securitization exposures, as well as a reduction in RWA for ad-
vanced and standardized credit valuation adjustments (CVA),
mainly due to derivative trade unwinds and trade compressions.
Furthermore, credit risk RWA of CHF 3.0 billion related to defined
benefit plans were reclassified from credit risk to non-counterpar-
ty-related risk. Non-counterparty-related risk RWA increased by
CHF 6.5 billion, mainly due to the aforementioned reclassification,
as well as higher RWA relating to DTA recognized. Phase-in market
risk RWA increased by CHF 2.8 billion, mainly due to higher RWA
relating to risks-not-in-VaR. Phase-in operational risk RWA de-
creased by CHF 1.2 billion. Incremental operational risk RWA
based on the supplemental operational risk capital analysis mutu-
ally agreed to by UBS and FINMA decreased by CHF 5.0 billion,
which was partly offset by a higher capital requirement based on
the advanced measurement approach (AMA) model output using
the latest FINMA-approved model parameters.

- Refer to the “Investment Bank,” “Corporate Center” and “Capital

management” sections of this report for more information

Net new money

In Wealth Management, net new money was CHF 34.4 billion
with strongest net inflows in Asia Pacific followed by Switzerland
and emerging markets. Net outflows in Europe mainly reflected
ongoing cross-border asset outflows, partly offset by net inflows
from domestic markets. On a global basis, net new money from
ultra high net worth clients was CHF 29.8 billion compared with
CHF 33.6 billion in the prior year.



In Wealth Management Americas, net new money totaled CHF
9.6 billion (USD 10.0 billion) and was predominantly made up of
net inflows from financial advisors employed with UBS for more
than one year. In 2013, net new money was CHF 17.6 billion (USD
19.0 billion).

In Global Asset Management, excluding money market flows,
net new money inflows were CHF 22.6 billion compared with net
new money outflows of CHF 4.8 billion. By channel, net inflows
from third parties were CHF 11.3 billion compared with CHF 0.7
billion in 2013. Net inflows were mainly from clients serviced from
Switzerland, Asia Pacific and Europe. Net new money inflows
from clients of UBS’s wealth management businesses were CHF
11.3 billion compared with net outflows of CHF 5.5 billion in the
prior year. This improvement mainly resulted from better match-
ing of available and attractive Global Asset Management products
to wealth management clients’ changing needs. The net inflows
were mainly from clients serviced from Asia Pacific and Europe.

- Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management

Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information

Net new money'

Invested assets

In Wealth Management, invested assets were CHF 987 billion as
of 31 December 2014, representing an increase of CHF 101 billion
from 31 December 2013, due to positive market performance of
CHF 38 billion, net new money inflows of CHF 34 billion and pos-
itive currency translation effects of CHF 32 billion.

In Wealth Management Americas, invested assets increased by
CHF 162 billion to CHF 1,027 billion during 2014, mainly due to
the strengthening of the USD dollar versus the Swiss franc. In US
dollar terms, invested assets increased by USD 62 billion to USD
1,032 billion, reflecting positive market performance of USD 52
billion and net new money inflows of USD 10 billion.

In Global Asset Management, invested assets were CHF 664
billion as of 31 December 2014 compared with CHF 583 billion as
of 31 December 2013. Positive currency translation effects of CHF
36 billion, favorable market performance of CHF 30 billion, and
net new money inflows of CHF 16 billion all contributed to the
overall increase of CHF 81 billion.

-> Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management

Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information

For the year ended

CHF billion 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12
Wealth Management 34.4 35.9 26.3
Wealth Management Americas 9.6 17.6 20.6
Global Asset Management 15.9 (19.9) (13.3)
of which: excluding money market flows 22.6 (4.8) (5.9)
of Wh/'Ch:‘ }honey markei ﬁéws o . (6.7) h (75, 1) . (7.4)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. Net new money excludes interest and dividend income.

Invested assets'

As of % change from

CHF billion 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Wealth Management 987 886 821 11
Wealth Management Americas 1,027 865 772 19
Global Asset Management 664 583 581 14
of which: éxc/ud/ng moh.ej/'markez‘ funds 600 518 497 6
of which: ﬁoney market funds o 64 65 83 . (2)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of

new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies.
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Regional performance

The operating regions shown in the “Regional performance”
table below, i.e., Americas, Asia Pacific, Europe, Middle East and
Africa, and Switzerland, correspond to the management struc-
ture of the Group from a regional perspective. The allocation of
income and expenses to these regions reflects, and is consistent
with, the basis on which the business is managed and perfor-
mance evaluated. These allocations involve assumptions and
judgments which management considers to be reasonable. The
main principles of the allocation methodology are that client

Regional performance

revenues are attributed to the domicile of the client, with global
clients being split into relevant countries and trading and portfo-
lio management revenues attributed to the country where the
risk is managed. This revenue attribution is consistent with the
mandate of the country and regional Presidents. Expenses are
aligned to the revenues. Certain revenues and expenses, such as
those related to the Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio, certain litigation expenses and restructuring charges
and other items, are managed at a Group level. These revenues
and expenses are included in the Global column.

Americas Asia Pacific

Europe, Middle East

and Africa Switzerland Global Total

For the year ended

CHF billion

311214 311213 311214 311213 31.12.14 31,1213 311214 31,1213 31,1214 311213 31,1214 31.12.13

Operating income

Wealth Management

Corporate Center

Total operating income

Operating expenses

Corporate Center

Total operating expenses

Operating profit/(loss) before tax

Corporate Center

Operating profit/(loss) before tax

98



2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating profit before tax was CHF 3,272 million in 2013 com-
pared with a loss of CHF 1,794 million in the prior year, reflecting
a CHF 2,309 million increase in operating income and a CHF
2,755 million reduction in operating expenses.

In addition to reporting our results in accordance with IFRS, we
report adjusted results that exclude items that management be-
lieves are not representative of the underlying performance of our
businesses. Such adjusted results are non-GAAP financial mea-
sures as defined by SEC regulations. For 2013, the items we ex-
cluded were an own credit loss of CHF 283 miillion, gains on sales
of real estate of CHF 288 million, net losses related to the buyback
of debt in public tender offers of CHF 167 million, a gain on the
sale of Global Asset Management’s Canadian domestic business
of CHF 34 million, a net gain on the sale of our remaining propri-
etary trading business of CHF 31 million and net restructuring
charges of CHF 772 million. For 2012, the items we excluded
were an own credit loss of CHF 2,202 million, gains on sales of
real estate of CHF 112 million, net restructuring charges of CHF
371 million, a credit related to changes to our Swiss pension plan
of CHF 730 million, a credit related to changes to our retiree ben-
efit plans in the US of CHF 116 million and the impairment of
goodwill and other non-financial assets of CHF 3,064 million.

On this adjusted basis, profit before tax was CHF 4,141 million
in 2013 compared with CHF 2,885 million in the prior year. Ad-
justed operating income increased by CHF 316 million, mainly
reflecting an increase of CHF 891 million in net fee and commis-
sion income, largely in our wealth management businesses. Ad-
justed net interest and trading income declined by CHF 535 mil-
lion, mainly as a result of reductionsin Corporate Center—Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio as well as Corporate Center — Core Func-
tions, partly offset by higher revenues in the Investment Bank.
Adjusted other income decreased by CHF 108 million, mainly due
to lower net gains on financial investments available-for-sale.

Adjusted operating expenses decreased by CHF 938 million to
CHF 23,689 million, mainly due to a decline of CHF 848 million in
charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters
as well as a CHF 199 million reduction in personnel expenses, partly
offset by CHF 110 million higher other non-personnel expenses.

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 27,732 million compared with
CHF 25,423 million. On an adjusted basis, total operating income
increased by CHF 316 million to CHF 27,829 million from CHF
27,513 million, as we recorded an increase of CHF 891 million in
net fee and commission income, largely in our wealth manage-
ment businesses. This increase was largely offset by a CHF 535
million decline in adjusted net interest and trading income, mainly
as a result of reductions in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio as well

as Corporate Center — Core Functions, partly offset by higher rev-
enues in the Investment Bank. Adjusted other income decreased
by CHF 108 million, mainly due to lower net gains on financial
investments available-for-sale.

Net interest and trading income

Net interest and trading income increased by CHF 1,411 million to
CHF 10,915 million. 2013 included an own credit loss on financial
liabilities designated at fair value of CHF 283 million, primarily due
to further tightening of our funding spreads, compared with an
own credit loss of CHF 2,202 million in the prior year when our
funding spreads tightened significantly. Excluding the effect of
own credit and a net interest and trading income gain related to
the buyback of debt in a public tender offer of CHF 27 million in
2013, net interest and trading income decreased by CHF 535 mil-
lion to CHF 11,171 million, mainly as a result of reductions in Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio as well as Corporate Center — Core Func-
tions, partly offset by higher revenues in the Investment Bank.

Net interest and trading income in Wealth Management in-
creased by CHF 140 million. Net interest income increased by CHF
110 million to CHF 2,061 million, mainly due to revenues of CHF
110 million allocated from the repurchase agreement unit within
Group Treasury in Corporate Center — Core Functions. Previously,
such revenues were not allocated to the business divisions. The
increase in net interest income was also due to lower costs related
to the multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality,
short-term assets managed centrally by Group Treasury through
the end of 2014 and effective 1 January 2015 by Group ALM.
These factors, together with higher income resulting from in-
creased loan and client deposit volumes, more than offset the neg-
ative effect of a lower deposit margin resulting from the ongoing
low interest rate environment. Net trading income increased by
CHF 29 million to CHF 807 million and included higher income
from foreign exchange-related products and increased treasury-
related income, partly offset by lower income from precious metals.

In Wealth Management Americas, net interest and trading in-
come increased by CHF 58 million, reflecting a CHF 144 million
increase in net interest income primarily due to higher client bal-
ances in securities-backed lending and mortgages. Furthermore,
net funding costs related to the goodwill and intangible assets
that arose from the PaineWebber acquisition are retained in Cor-
porate Center — Core Functions with effect from 1 January 2013.
These increases were partly offset by lower net interest income
from the available-for-sale portfolio, primarily due to lower aver-
age balances. Net trading income decreased by CHF 86 million to
CHF 387 million, mainly due to trading losses related to the Puerto
Rico municipal market as well as lower income from taxable fixed
income and US municipal bond trading.

Net interest and trading income in Retail & Corporate increased
by CHF 18 million.

Within the Investment Bank, Investor Client Services net inter-
est and trading income increased by CHF 1,005 million, primarily
due to higher derivatives revenues, mainly as a result of higher
revenues in Asia Pacific and Europe, Middle East and Africa. Fur-
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thermore, cash revenues increased, largely as 2012 included a loss
of CHF 349 million related to the Facebook initial public offering.
Revenues in financing services and other equities also increased.
These increases were partly offset by lower revenues in rates and
credit, primarily due to weaker trading performance in the flow
businesses, and by slightly lower foreign exchange revenues. Cor-
porate Client Solutions net interest and trading income increased
by CHF 436 million, largely due to higher revenues in equity capi-
tal markets, mainly as a result of a large private transaction re-
corded in the first half of 2013.

Corporate Center — Core Functions net interest and trading in-
come, excluding the effect of own credit, decreased by CHF 972
million, partly due to losses of CHF 153 million related to our macro
cash flow hedge models compared with gains of CHF 152 million in
the prior year. The decrease in net interest and trading income was
also due to a decline in revenues to CHF 22 million from CHF 245
million in the repurchase agreement unit, which was transferred
from the Investment Bank to Corporate Center — Core Functions in
2013 and for which prior-period information was restated. Whereas
restated results reflected no allocation of revenues from the repur-
chase agreement unit to the business divisions, from 2013 onwards
revenues from this unit are allocated to the business divisions,
mainly to Wealth Management. In addition, 2013 included losses
from cross-currency basis swaps of CHF 222 million which are held
as economic hedges and central funding costs retained in Group
Treasury increased. Furthermore, 2013 included CHF 102 million in
net funding costs related to the goodwill and intangible assets that
arose from the PaineWebber acquisition which are retained in Cor-
porate Center — Core Functions with effect from 1 January 2013.

In Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, net interest and trading in-
come decreased by CHF 1,191 million. Non-core net interest and
trading income decreased by CHF 1,146 million, largely due to
lower revenues in rates and credit as we focused on risk-weighted
assets (RWA) and balance sheet reduction, as well as on reducing
operational complexity as part of the accelerated implementation
of our strategy. In 2012, portfolios were actively traded and ben-
efited from increased liquidity, with strong two-way client flow
that resulted in higher revenues. Legacy Portfolio net interest and
trading income decreased by CHF 45 million. In 2013, we exer-
cised our option to acquire the SNB StabFund’s equity and re-
corded an option revaluation gain of CHF 431 million prior to the
exercise compared with a gain of CHF 526 million in the prior
year. Trading revenues also decreased due to an interest charge of
CHF 34 million in 2013 relating to tax obligations of the SNB Stab-
Fund. Legacy Portfolio net interest and trading income, excluding
the SNB StabFund option, increased by CHF 83 million, mainly as
2012 included losses on collateralized debt obligations (CDO) and
related hedging swaps of CHF 171 million as we exited certain
CDO positions to reduce RWA.

-> Refer to “Note 3 Net interest and trading income” in the “Financial

information” section of this report for more information

- Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial

information” section of this report for more information on own
credit
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Credit loss expense/recovery
We recorded net credit loss expenses of CHF 50 million compared
with CHF 118 million in the prior year.

In Wealth Management, net credit loss expenses were CHF 10
million compared with net credit loss recoveries of CHF 1 million
in the prior year.

In Wealth Management Americas, 2013 included net credit
loss expenses of CHF 27 million compared with net credit loss
expenses of CHF 14 million in the prior year. The 2013 expenses
were largely due to loan loss allowances on securities-backed
lending facilities collateralized by Puerto Rico municipal securities
and related funds.

In Retail & Corporate, net credit loss expenses were CHF 18
million compared with net credit loss expenses of CHF 27 million
in the prior year. 2013 included net specific loan loss allowances
of CHF 113 million, reflecting a number of new workout cases
that were individually reviewed, downgraded and impaired as
well as adjustments on existing positions. This was largely offset
by a net release of CHF 95 million of collective loan loss allow-
ances based on the ongoing review of the portfolio, as well as the
overall improved outlook for relevant industries. The prior year
included net specific loan loss allowances of CHF 43 million, partly
offset by a net decrease in collective loan loss allowances of CHF
16 million.

In Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, net credit loss recoveries
were CHF 3 million compared with net credit loss expenses of CHF
78 million in the prior year, which mainly reflected an impairment
charge related to certain student loan auction rate securities, sub-
sequently sold to reduce RWA.

Net fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income increased by CHF 891 million to
CHF 16,287 million.

Portfolio management and advisory fees increased by CHF 730
million to CHF 6,625 million, mainly in Wealth Management
Americas and in Wealth Management, largely due to higher aver-
age invested assets as well as pricing adjustments.

Net brokerage fees increased by CHF 231 million to CHF 3,196
million, mainly in the Investment Bank due to improved market
activity levels, and in Wealth Management Americas due to higher
client activity levels.

Investment fund fees increased by CHF 177 million to CHF
3,803 million, primarily due to higher managed account fees cal-
culated on higher invested asset levels in Wealth Management
Americas and higher client activity levels in Wealth Management.

Total underwriting fees decreased by CHF 165 million to CHF
1,374 million, reflecting a decrease of CHF 208 million in debt
underwriting fees, mainly in the Investment Bank.

- Refer to “Note 4 Net fee and commission income”

in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information



Other income
Other income was CHF 580 million compared with CHF 641 mil-
lion in the prior year.

Income from financial investments available-for-sale was CHF
168 million compared with CHF 308 million in the prior year.

Net gains from disposals of financial investments available-for-
sale in 2013 included gains of CHF 74 million resulting from the
divestment of our participation in Euroclear Plc., of which CHF 27
million was allocated to Retail & Corporate, CHF 25 million to
Wealth Management and CHF 22 million to the Investment Bank.
Further, net gains from disposals of financial investments avail-
able-for-sale included net gains of CHF 61 million in Corporate
Center — Core Functions in 2013. 2012 included net gains of CHF
272 million in Corporate Center — Core Functions, as well as gains
of CHF 101 million in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, mainly re-
lated to the sale of an equity investment.

Income related to associates and subsidiaries increased by CHF
79 million to CHF 160 million, mainly due to lower charges for
certain provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters re-
corded within other income, partly offset by lower income related
to our participation in the SIX Group. Furthermore, 2013 included
a net gain on sale of our remaining proprietary trading business of
CHF 31 million.

Other income excluding income from financial investments
available-for-sale and income related to associates and subsidiar-
ies was unchanged at CHF 252 million. Gains on sales of real es-
tate were CHF 288 million compared with CHF 112 million in the
prior year. Net gains on sales of loans and receivables were CHF
53 million compared with net losses of CHF 11 million in the prior
year. Furthermore, 2013 included losses related to the buyback of
debt in public tender offers of CHF 194 million.

- Refer to “Note 5 Other income” in the “Financial information”

section of this report for more information

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by CHF 2,755 million to CHF
24,461 million. Restructuring charges were CHF 772 million com-
pared with CHF 371 million in the prior year, mainly related to
increased non-personnel-related restructuring charges, partly off-
set by lower personnel-related restructuring charges.
Furthermore, 2012 included a credit related to changes to our
Swiss pension plan of CHF 730 million and a credit related to
changes to our retiree benefit plans in the US of CHF 116 million,
as well as impairment losses on goodwill and other non-financial
assets of CHF 3,064 million. On an adjusted basis, total operating
expenses decreased by CHF 938 million to CHF 23,689 million,
mainly due to a reduction of CHF 848 million in charges for provi-
sions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters as well as a de-
crease of CHF 199 million in personnel expenses, partly offset by
an increase of CHF 110 million in other non-personnel expenses.
-> Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on
restructuring charges

Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses increased by CHF 445 million to CHF 15,182
million. 2013 included net charges of CHF 156 million in person-
nel-related restructuring expenses compared with CHF 358 mil-
lion in the prior year. Furthermore, 2012 included a credit related
to changes to our Swiss pension plan of CHF 730 million and a
credit related to changes to our retiree benefit plans in the US of
CHF 116 million. On an adjusted basis, personnel expenses de-
creased by CHF 199 million to CHF 15,026 million.

Expenses for salaries, excluding the effects of restructuring, de-
creased by CHF 547 million, largely due to a reduction in the num-
ber of personnel as a result of our ongoing cost reduction pro-
grams.

Excluding the effects of restructuring, total variable compensa-
tion expenses increased by CHF 196 million. Expenses for perfor-
mance awards increased by CHF 116 million, due to higher ex-
penses for current year performance awards reflecting a 28%
increase in the overall performance award pool, partly offset by a
lower charge for the amortization of deferred compensation
awards from prior years. Including restructuring, expenses for per-
formance awards were virtually unchanged. Other variable com-
pensation expenses excluding restructuring increased by CHF 80
million, mainly due to increased expenses for retention payments.

Financial advisor compensation in Wealth Management Amer-
icas increased by CHF 267 million, corresponding with higher
compensable revenues.

Other personnel expenses decreased by CHF 114 million on an
adjusted basis, mainly due to lower expenses for pension and
other post-employment benefits plans and reduced expenses for
contractors.

- Refer to “Note 6 Personnel expenses” in the “Financial informa-

tion” section of this report for more information

-> Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit

plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

- Refer to “Note 29 Equity participation and other compensation

plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

- Refer to the “Compensation” section of this report for more

information

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by CHF 273 mil-
lion to CHF 8,380 million. On an adjusted basis, excluding net
restructuring charges of CHF 548 million in 2013 compared with
zero in 2012, general and administrative expenses decreased by
CHF 821 million.

Net charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar
matters decreased by CHF 848 million to CHF 1,701 million, pri-
marily as the prior year included charges arising from fines and
disgorgement resulting from regulatory investigations concerning
LIBOR and other benchmark rates. This was partly offset by higher
provisions in 2013 for claims related to sales of residential mort-
gage-backed securities and mortgages.
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2013 expenses included a net charge of CHF 124 million for the
UK bank levy, mainly in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio and the In-
vestment Bank, compared with a net charge of CHF 127 million
recognized in the prior year, as well as a charge of CHF 110 million
related to the Swiss-UK tax agreement, allocated primarily to
Wealth Management, and an impairment charge of CHF 87 mil-
lion in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio related to certain disputed
receivables. Furthermore, excluding the effects of restructuring,
expenses decreased for outsourcing of information technology
and other services, occupancy, and marketing and public relations,
by CHF 76 million, CHF 66 million and CHF 50 million, respectively.

- Refer to “Note 7 General and administrative expenses” in the

“Financial information” section of this report for more information

- Refer to “Note 22 Provisions and contingent liabilities” in the

“Financial information” section of this report for more information

Depreciation, impairment and amortization

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment was
CHF 816 million compared with CHF 689 million in the prior year,
partly as restructuring-related charges increased to CHF 68 million
from CHF 14 million.

Impairment of goodwill was zero compared with CHF 3,030
million in the prior year.

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets was CHF 83
million compared with CHF 106 million in the prior year. We re-
corded impairment charges of CHF 3 million compared with CHF
17 million.

- Refer to “Note 17 Goodwill and intangible assets” in the “Financial

information” section of this report for more information

Tax

We recognized a net income tax benefit of CHF 110 million for
2013, which included a Swiss tax expense of CHF 548 million and
a net foreign tax benefit of CHF 658 million.

The Swiss tax expense included a current tax expense of CHF
93 million related to taxable profits, against which no losses were
available to offset, earned by Swiss subsidiaries and also from the
sale of real estate. In addition, it included a deferred tax expense
of CHF 455 million, mainly reflecting the amortization of DTA pre-
viously recognized in relation to tax losses carried forward used to
offset taxable profits for the year.

The net foreign tax benefit included a current tax expense of
CHF 342 million in respect of taxable profits earned by non-Swiss
subsidiaries and branches, against which no losses were available
to offset. This was more than offset by a net deferred tax benefit
of CHF 1,000 million reflecting a net upward revaluation of de-
ferred tax assets, partially offset by the amortization of DTA, as tax
losses were used against taxable profits.

-> Refer to “Note 8 Income taxes” in the “Financial information”

section of this report for more information
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Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS Group AG
shareholders

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS Group AG share-
holders was CHF 1,961 million, reflecting net profit attributable to
UBS Group AG shareholders of CHF 3,172 million, partly offset by
negative OCI attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders of CHF
1,211 million (net of tax).
OCl in 2013 included negative cash flow hedge OCI of CHF
1,520 million (net of tax), mainly reflecting significant increases in
long-term interest rates across all major currencies.
Foreign currency translation losses amounted to CHF 471 mil-
lion (net of tax), primarily related to a weakening of the US dollar,
Indian rupee and Australian dollar against the Swiss franc.
OC! associated with financial investments available-for-sale
was negative CHF 154 million (net of tax), mainly as previously
unrealized net gains were reclassified from OCI to the income
statement upon sale of investments.
These decreases in OCl were partly offset by net OCI gains on
defined benefit plans of CHF 939 million (net of tax), mainly re-
lated to our Swiss pension plan which recorded a pre-tax OCl gain
of CHF 1,119 million. This OCI gain on the Swiss pension plan
reflected a gain of CHF 1,124 million due to a reduction of the
defined benefit obligation and a gain of CHF 803 million related
to an increase in the fair value of plan assets, partly offset by an
OClI reduction of CHF 808 million representing the excess of the
pension surplus over the estimated future economic benefit. The
net pre-tax OCI gains on non-Swiss pension plans amounted to
CHF 49 million.
- Refer to the “Statement of comprehensive income” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more information

- Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on OCI related to defined benefit plans

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders was CHF 204
million compared with CHF 220 million in the prior year.

Key figures

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio improved to 88.0% in 2013 compared with
106.6% in the prior year. On an adjusted basis, the cost/income
ratio improved to 85.0% from 89.1%.

Risk-weighted assets

Our phase-in Basel lll RWA decreased by CHF 33 billion to CHF
229 billion, mainly due to a CHF 41 billion reduction in credit risk
RWA and a CHF 17 billion reduction in market risk RWA, partly



offset by a CHF 25 billion increase in operational risk RWA. The
CHF 41 billion decrease in credit risk RWA was mainly due to a
CHF 24 billion reduction related to Other exposure segments,
primarily driven by a reduction in RWA for advanced and stan-
dardized credit valuation adjustments (CVA) of CHF 18 billion,
mainly due to benefits from economic CVA hedges, ratings
migration, reduced exposures and market-driven reductions in
the Investment Bank and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. Further-
more, a decline of CHF 6 billion was realized due to the sale of
securitization exposures in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. Credit
risk RWA for exposures to corporates decreased by CHF 10 billion,
primarily due to a reduction in drawn loans, undrawn loan com-
mitments and derivative exposures in Wealth Management Amer-
icas, the Investment Bank and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.
Credit risk RWA for exposures to banks declined by CHF 6 billion,
mainly due to lower derivative exposures in the Investment Bank
and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. The CHF 17 billion decrease in
market risk RWA was due to a CHF 5 billion decrease in the com-
prehensive risk measure, a decline of CHF 4 billion in the incre-
mental risk charge and reductions of CHF 2 billion, CHF 3 billion
and CHF 1 billion in RWA related to value-at-risk (VaR), stressed
VaR and risks-not-in-VaR, respectively. The CHF 25 billion increase
in operational risk RWA was primarily due to incremental RWA of
CHF 22.5 billion resulting from the supplemental operational risk
capital analysis mutually agreed to by UBS and FINMA.

- Refer to the “Investment Bank,” “Corporate Center” and “Capital

management” sections of this report for more information

Net new money

In Wealth Management, all regions contributed to net inflows of
CHF 35.9 billion in 2013, compared with CHF 26.3 billion in the
prior year. The strongest net inflows were recorded in Asia Pacific
followed by emerging markets, Switzerland and Europe. Net in-
flows in the European onshore and the Swiss-based Global Family
Office business in Europe more than offset net outflows in the
European cross-border business, which was negatively affected by
ongoing asset outflows in the context of fiscal and regulatory
concerns. On a global basis, net new money from ultra high net
worth clients was CHF 33.6 billion compared with CHF 19.9 bil-
lion in the prior year.

In Wealth Management Americas, net new money totaled CHF
17.6 billion, or USD 19.0 billion, compared with CHF 20.6 billion,
or USD 22.1 billion, in the prior year, due to lower inflows from
financial advisors employed with UBS for more than one year as
well as lower inflows from net recruiting of financial advisors. This
decrease was partly offset by higher inflows from the Global Fam-
ily Office.

Excluding money market flows, Global Asset Management re-
corded net new money inflows from third parties of CHF 0.7 bil-
lion compared with net outflows of CHF 0.6 billion in 2012. Net
inflows, notably from clients serviced from Europe, Middle East

and Africa and from Switzerland, were partly offset by net out-
flows from clients serviced from the Americas. Net new money
outflows from clients of UBS’s wealth management businesses,
excluding money market flows, were CHF 5.5 billion compared
with CHF 5.2 billion in the prior year. Net outflows, mainly from
clients serviced from Switzerland, were partly offset by net inflows
from clients serviced from the Americas. Money market net out-
flows from third parties were CHF 1.5 billion compared with net
inflows of CHF 0.9 billion in the prior year and were mainly from
clients serviced from the Americas. Money market net outflows
from clients of UBS's wealth management businesses were CHF
13.6 billion compared with CHF 8.3 billion in the prior year. In
both years, net outflows were primarily due to an ongoing initia-
tive by Wealth Management Americas to increase deposit account
balances in UBS banking entities. This led to CHF 8.3 billion in
outflows from money market funds managed by Global Asset
Management in 2013 and CHF 6.2 billion in 2012. The corre-
sponding increase in deposit account balances in Wealth Man-
agement Americas does not constitute net new money. Total net
new money outflows were CHF 19.9 billion compared with CHF
13.3 billion in the prior year.
-> Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management
Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information

Invested assets

In Wealth Management, invested assets were CHF 886 billion as
of 31 December 2013, representing an increase of CHF 65 billion
from 31 December 2012. Net new money inflows of CHF 36 bil-
lion and positive market performance of CHF 34 billion were
slightly offset by negative currency translation effects of CHF 4
billion.

In Wealth Management Americas, invested assets were CHF
865 billion as of 31 December 2013, an increase of CHF 93 billion
from 31 December 2012. In US dollar terms, invested assets in-
creased by USD 127 billion to USD 970 billion, reflecting positive
market performance of USD 108 billion and continued strong net
new money inflows of USD 19 billion.

In Global Asset Management, invested assets were CHF 583
billion as of 31 December 2013 compared with CHF 581 billion as
of 31 December 2012. Net new money outflows of CHF 20 bil-
lion, combined with negative currency translation effects of CHF
15 billion and a reduction of CHF 7 billion related to the afore-
mentioned sale of the Canadian domestic business, were more
than offset by positive market performance of CHF 44 billion.

- Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management

Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information
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Balance sheet

As of 31 December 2014, our balance sheet assets stood at CHF 1,062 billion, an increase of CHF 49 billion or 5% from

31 December 2013, mainly due to currency effects resulting from the strengthening of the US dollar versus the Swiss
franc. Funded assets, which represent total assets excluding positive replacement values and collateral delivered against
over-the-counter derivatives, increased by CHF 41 billion to CHF 775 billion, also primarily resulting from currency
effects. Excluding these currency effects, funded assets were broadly unchanged.

Balance sheet

% change from

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.13
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 104,073 80,879 29
Due ks . o B 13874 ,,,,,,,,,, @
Cash collateral on securities borowed T k063 27496 """"" (1 2)
Reverse ré‘ph'r'c'h'a'se agre‘e‘rﬁ'e'n't's """""""""""""""""""""""""" 9 1563 """"" (25)
Tradlng pi{r oo sasars 122848 ,,,,,,,,, S
of which: assets p/edgéif as collateral which may be sold or rep/edééd by Eounterpéfrféé ' o o h 42449 """"" 32
Positive replacement values 254084 1
Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments 30979 6,548 17
Flnanmal assets 'd'e5|gnat‘e‘d 'a't' félr valué """"""""""""""""""""""""" 7364 """"" (33)
Loans 286959 ,,,,,,,,, 0
Flnanual ir‘l\./é.sfrh'ents av;a‘llta.btlte' for sale e sy 459 59525 ........ (4)
Investmehfé R T "
Property o éd'uklpment ................................................. 6006 ,,,,,,,,, u
GoodW|II ‘a‘ﬁdtlh;cénglble assets ..................................... 6293 ........ 8
Deferred e 8845 ,,,,,,,,, ’
Ofhor mssere . 2988 o B 20228 ,,,,,,,,, "
Total assets 1,062,478 1,013,355 5
Liabilities
Due to banks 10,492 12,862 (18)
Cash collateral on securities lent T e1s0 9491 (3)
Repurcha‘s‘e'é'g'rééments .................................................. 11818 ,,,,, 1381 e (M)
Tradlng portfollo liabilites 27958 """" %6609 5
Negative replacementvalues 254,101 248079 2
Cash colléfér.éltbéyables on derivative instruments 42372 - h 44507 ........ (5)
Flnanqal Jiabilities de5|gh‘a.t.e.d. atfairvalve 75297 """" 69901 8
Due T 410207 o . 390825 ,,,,,,,,,, :
Db e 91207 ,,,,, 5 1586 ,,,,,,,,, 5
o 4366 ,,,,,, 2971 ,,,,,,,,, o
Othen it 71112 ,,,,, . 2777 ,,,,,,,,, e
Total liabilities 1,008,110 963,419 5
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Balance sheet (continued)

% change from

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.13
Equity

Share capital 372 384 (3)
e prefﬁidfn .............................................. 32590 B 33952 ...... @
T}easury e ( .1.',3,93) B .(1.’,031) ...... 3
'E'quity cla‘s‘sif.iéd'as obliga‘titotﬁtt'o purchaéé own shares (1) o (46) o t98)
cetained ‘e‘a'r'n'ih'gs ............................................ 22134 . B 20608 U ;
bther corﬁ‘p.réh'e'nsive incdrﬁé .récognized‘ difédly in equify; net oftax ( §,693) h .(5.,'8'66) ..... t47)
Equity attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders 50,608 48,002 5
'E'quity attributable to pref‘e.r.ré.d' noteholders 0 B R (100)
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 3760 n
Total equity 54,368 49,936 9
Total liabilities and equity 1,062,478 1,013,355 5

Asset development - divisional view

Investment Bank

Investment Bank total assets increased by CHF 52 billion to CHF
292 billion, primarily within our foreign exchange, rates and
credit businesses and mainly due to fair value changes on both
foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives, which increased
due to currency movements and downward shifts in yield curves,
respectively. Funded assets increased by CHF 14 billion to CHF
171 billion, mainly due to currency effects, and remained within
our limit of CHF 200 billion. Excluding currency effects, Invest-
ment Bank funded assets increased by approximately CHF 3 bil-
lion, mainly due to higher trading assets in the equities business.

Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio

Non-core and Legacy Portfolio total assets decreased by CHF 45
billion to CHF 170 billion, largely due to a CHF 33 billion decline in
positive replacement values (PRV) in Non-core. During the year, we
executed a series of risk transfers to exit the majority of the correla-
tion trading portfolio, which involved entering into a large number
of back-to-back trades to transfer market risk. We subsequently
derecognized these trades from our balance sheet via novations to

Total assets and funded assets

third parties, thereby transferring credit risk, and reducing PRV by
approximately CHF 11 billion. The originally targeted novations are
now complete. Within our rates portfolio, PRV decreased due to
negotiated bilateral settlements with specific counterparties, third-
party novations, including transfers to central clearing houses, and
agreements to net down trades with other dealer counterparties,
partly offset by currency and interest rate movements. Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio funded assets decreased by CHF 10 billion to
CHF 11 billion, mainly due to the full repayment of the loan to the
BlackRock fund, the full exit of precious metal holdings held on
behalf of clients and the maturing of the last remaining trade in
the structured reverse repo portfolio. Furthermore, funded assets
declined following the final exit from student loan auction rate
securities, the sale of CMBS assets used to hedge certain CDS con-
tracts facing monolines that were terminated during the year and
a number of smaller position reductions.

Corporate Center — Core Functions

Corporate Center — Core Functions total assets increased by CHF
10 billion to CHF 258 billion, primarily reflecting an increase in
cash and balances with central banks, which mainly resulted from
rebalancing of our multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered,

31.12.14 31.12.13
CC—Non- CC—Non-
core and Other core and Other
Investment  CC — Core Legacy business Investment  CC - Core Legacy business
CHF billion Bank  Functions Portfolio divisions UBS Bank  Functions Portfolio divisions UBS
Total assets 292 258 170 343 1,062 240 247 215 311 1,013
Less: positive replacement values (109) 0 (141) (7) (257) (76) 0 (174) (3) (254)
Less: collateral delivered against OTC derivatives' (12) 0 (18) 0 (31) (7) 0 (19) 0 (26)
Funded assets 171 257 11 336 775 157 247 22 307 734

1 Mainly consists of cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments and reverse repurchase agreements.
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Balance sheet development - assets

CHF billion
1,260
15 " 3
1,050 - B .26 .. ... 23 = —
885 @n )
= e T
700 - 182 oo T -
161 ’ 138
0 T
31.12.1 31.12.12 31.12.13 Lending Cash and Trading Other Positive Collateral Financial 31.12.14
balances portfolio replacement trading investments
with central values available-
banks for-sale
M Cash and balances with central banks Lending? M Collateral trading® Trading portfolio M Financial investments available-for-sale Other* M Positive replacement values

1 Funded assets, which represent total assets excluding positive replacement values and collateral delivered against OTC derivatives.
4 Includes cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments.

loans. 3 Consists of reverse repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securities borrowed.

high-quality, liquid assets managed centrally by Group Treasury
through the end of 2014 and effective 1 January 2015 by Group
ALM, a majority of which are short-term, combined with several
long-term debt issuances throughout the year and a reduction in
collateral trading assets. The overall size of our multi-currency
portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, liquid assets was broadly
unchanged.

Other business divisions

Wealth Management and Wealth Management Americas total
assets increased by CHF 18 billion and CHF 11 billion to CHF 128
billion and CHF 56 billion, respectively, mainly reflecting increased
lending activities and currency effects. Retail & Corporate and
Global Asset Management total assets were broadly unchanged
at CHF 144 billion and CHF 15 billion, respectively.

Assets and liabilities development - product view

Cash and balances with central banks

Cash and balances with central banks increased by CHF 23 billion
to CHF 104 billion as of 31 December 2014, primarily due to the
abovementioned rebalancing of our multi-currency portfolio of
unencumbered, high-quality, liquid assets, combined with several
long-term debt issuances throughout the year and a reduction in
collateral trading assets.

Lending

Loans increased by CHF 29 billion to CHF 316 billion, predomi-
nantly in our wealth management businesses and mainly reflect-
ing increased Lombard and residential mortgage lending, as well
as currency effects. These increases were partly offset by the full
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2 Consists of due from banks, financial assets designated at fair value and

repayment of the loan to the BlackRock fund and the sale of the
remaining student loan auction rate securities positions in the
Legacy Portfolio. Financial assets designated at fair value were re-
duced by CHF 2 billion, primarily in the Investment Bank. Inter-
bank lending was broadly unchanged at CHF 13 billion.

Collateral trading
Collateral trading assets, which consist of reverse repurchase
agreements and cash collateral on securities borrowed, decreased
by CHF 27 billion to CHF 92 billion, mainly within Group Treasury
in Corporate Center — Core Functions, reflecting a reduction in
externally sourced collateral, combined with a rebalancing of our
multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, liquid
assets.

Collateral trading liabilities, which consist of repurchase agree-
ments and cash collateral on securities lent, were reduced by CHF
2 billion to CHF 21 billion.

Trading portfolio
Trading portfolio assets increased CHF 15 billion to CHF 138 bil-
lion, primarily within the Investment Bank and mainly reflected
currency effects and client-driven increases in equity instruments
held. The increases in the Investment Bank were partly offset by
reductions within Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, which primarily
resulted from ongoing sales and unwinds.

Trading portfolio liabilities were broadly unchanged at CHF 28
billion.

Replacement values
Positive and negative replacement values were higher on both
sides of the balance sheet, increasing by CHF 3 billion and CHF 6



billion to CHF 257 billion and CHF 254 billion, respectively, despite
a reduction in notional volumes. Positive and negative replace-
ment values within the Investment Bank increased by CHF 33 bil-
lion and CHF 32 billion, respectively, reflecting fair value changes
resulting from currency movements and downward shifts in yield
curves. These increases were mostly offset by positive and nega-
tive replacement value reductions in Non-core and Legacy Portfo-
lio of CHF 34 billion and CHF 27 billion, respectively, primarily due
to trade migrations, compressions and market movements.

Financial investments available-for-sale

Financial investments available-for-sale decreased by CHF 2 billion
to CHF 57 billion, mainly reflecting the aforementioned rebalanc-
ing of our multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-qual-
ity, liquid assets.

Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings, which include short-term debt issued and
interbank borrowing, decreased by CHF 3 billion to CHF 38 billion,
primarily due to lower interbank lending within Retail & Corpo-
rate. Short-term debt issued was broadly unchanged at CHF 27
billion.

-> Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information

Balance sheet development - liabilities and equity

Due to customers
Customer deposits increased by CHF 19 billion to CHF 410 billion,
reflecting currency effects and as Wealth Management, Wealth
Management Americas and Retail & Corporate all continued to
attract client money into both current and deposit accounts.
- Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information

Long-term debt issued
Long-term debt issued increased by CHF 15 billion to CHF 139
billion, primarily reflecting the issuance of a variety of instruments
during the vyear, including several fixed-rate bonds, additional
loss-absorbing Basel lll-compliant tier 2 subordinated notes and
new extendible money market certificates, which are held at fair
value within the Investment Bank.
- Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information

Other

Other assets increased by CHF 11 billion, primarily due to a CHF 4

billion increase in cash collateral receivables on derivative instru-

ments, a CHF 2 billion increase in recognized deferred tax assets

and a CHF 1 billion increase in prime brokerage receivables.
Other liabilities increased by CHF 8 billion, primarily due to a

CHF 6 billion increase in prime brokerage payables.

CHF billion

1,400 -
1,260
. 19 15 S ] 4 SN
1’050 H 0 ?
700 -
0
31.12.11 31.12.12 31.12.13 Due to Long-term Other Negative Equity Short-term Collateral 31.12.14
customers debt issued replacement borrowings trading
values
W Equity’ Long-term debt issued? M Due to customers Collateral trading®> M Short-term borrowings* Other® M Negative replacement values

1 Consists of equity attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders and equity attributable to non-controlling interests.
4 Consists of short-term debt issued and due to banks. 5 Includes trading portfolio liabilities and cash collateral payables on

3 Consists of repurchase agreements and cash collateral on securties lent.
derivative instruments.

2 Consists of long-term debt issued and financial liabilities designated at fair value.
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Equity development

Equity attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders increased by
CHF 2,606 million to CHF 50,608 million as of 31 December 2014
from CHF 48,002 million a year earlier. Total comprehensive income
attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders was CHF 4,920 million,
reflecting the net profit attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders
of CHF 3,466 million and other comprehensive income (OCl) attrib-
utable to UBS Group AG shareholders of CHF 1,453 million (net of
tax). OCl included foreign currency translation gains of CHF 1,795
million as well as positive OCI movements related to cash flow
hedges and financial investments available-for-sale of CHF 689 mil-
lion and CHF 141 million, respectively, partly offset by net losses on
defined benefit plans of CHF 1,172 million.

Employee share-based compensation increased share premium
by CHF 619 million, primarily due to the amortization of deferred
equity compensation awards. This increase was more than offset
by the distribution of CHF 938 million out of the capital contribu-
tion reserve of UBS AG.

Net treasury share activity decreased equity attributable to UBS
Group AG shareholders by CHF 400 million, mainly reflecting the

net acquisition of treasury shares in relation to employee share-
based compensation awards.

The establishment of UBS Group AG resulted in a net reduction
in equity attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders of CHF
1,669 million, reflecting non-controlling interests in UBS AG
shares as of 31 December 2014.

-> Refer to the “UBS Group - Changes to our legal structure” section

for more information on the establishment of UBS Group AG

-> Refer to the “Statement of changes in equity” in the “Financial

information” section of this report for more information

- Refer to “Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS Group

AG shareholders” in the “Group performance” section of this
report for more information

Intra-period balances

Balance sheet positions disclosed in this section represent year-
end positions. Intra-period balance sheet positions fluctuate in
the ordinary course of business and may differ from quarter-end
and year-end positions.

Equity attributable to UBS Group AG shareholders: development during 2014

CHF million
55,000 - P .
1,795 - - 141 _..619
. e (1472) - 938
52,500 3,466 938) (400)
: IR 75 50,608
50,000 - (1,669)
' 48,002
47,500 - .
0 — | — |
31.12.13 Net profit Foreign Financial Cash flow  Defined Employee share  Distribution of ~ Treasury Non-controlling ~ Other 311214
currency investments  hedges benefit plans and share options capital contri-  shares interest effect
translation available- (o (ocl plans (within bution reserve of the establishment
[(el@)] for-sale (OCl) share premium)  (within share of UBS Group AG
premium)
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Off-balance sheet

Off-balance sheet arrangements

In the normal course of business, we enter into transactions that
may not be fully recognized on the balance sheet due to the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) accounting treatment
adopted for the specific transaction entered into. These transactions
include derivative instruments, guarantees and similar arrange-
ments, as well as some purchased and retained interests in non-con-
solidated structured entities (SEs), which are transacted for a num-
ber of reasons, including market-making and hedging activities, to
meet specific needs of our clients or to offer investment opportuni-
ties to clients through entities that are not controlled by us.

When we, through these arrangements, incur an obligation or
become entitled to an asset, we recognize these on the balance
sheet. It should be noted that in certain instances the amount
recognized on the balance sheet does not represent the full gain
or loss potential inherent in such arrangements.

-> Refer to “Note 1a Significant accounting policies items 3 and 5”

in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information on accounting policies regarding consolidation and
deconsolidation of subsidiaries, including structured entities,
and recognition and derecognition of financial instruments,
respectively

- Refer to “Note 30 Interests in subsidiaries and other entities” in

the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information on our interests in, and maximum exposure to loss
from, unconsolidated structured entities

The following paragraphs provide more information on several
distinct off-balance sheet arrangements. Additional off-balance
sheet information is primarily provided in Notes 14, 22, 25, 30 and
33 in the “Financial information” section of this report, as well as
in the “UBS Group AG consolidated supplemental disclosures
required under Basel lll Pillar 3 regulations” section of this report.

Risk disclosures, including our involvement with off-balance
sheet vehicles

Refer to the “Risk, treasury and capital management” section of
this report for comprehensive liquidity, market and credit risk in-
formation related to risk positions, which includes our exposures
to off-balance sheet vehicles.

Support provided to non-consolidated investment funds

In 2014, the Group did not provide material support, financial or
otherwise, to unconsolidated investment funds when the Group
was not contractually obligated to do so, nor does the Group
have an intention to do so.

Guarantees and similar arrangements

In the normal course of business, we issue various forms of guaran-
tees, commitments to extend credit, standby and other letters of
credit to support our clients, commitments to enter into forward
starting transactions, note issuance facilities and revolving under-
writing facilities. With the exception of related premiums, generally
these guarantees and similar obligations are kept as off-balance
sheet items unless a provision to cover probable losses is required.

As of 31 December 2014, the net exposure (gross values less
sub-participations) from guarantees and similar instruments was
CHF 14.9 billion, compared with CHF 15.8 billion as of 31 Decem-
ber 2013. Fee income from issuing guarantees was not significant
to total revenues in 2014.

Guarantees represent irrevocable assurances, that, subject to
the satisfaction of certain conditions, we will make a payment in
the event that clients fail to fulfill their obligations to third parties.
We also enter into commitments to extend credit in the form of
credit lines that are available to secure the liquidity needs of cli-
ents. The majority of these unutilized credit lines range in maturity
from one month to five years. If customers fail to meet their obli-
gations, our maximum exposure to credit risk is the contractual
amount of these instruments. The risk is similar to the risk involved
in extending loan facilities and is subject to the same risk manage-
ment and control framework. For the year ended 31 December
2014, we recognized net credit loss recoveries of CHF 49 million,
compared with net credit loss recoveries of CHF 2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2013, related to obligations incurred for
guarantees and loan commitments. Provisions recognized for
guarantees and loan commitments were CHF 23 million as of
31 December 2014 and CHF 61 million as of 31 December 2013.

For certain obligations, we enter into partial sub-participations
to mitigate various risks from guarantees and loan commitments.
A sub-participation is an agreement by another party to take a
share of the loss in the event that the obligation is not fulfilled by
the obligor and, where applicable, to fund a part of the credit fa-
cility. We retain the contractual relationship with the obligor, and
the sub-participant has only an indirect relationship. We will only
enter into sub-participation agreements with banks to which we
ascribe a credit rating equal to or better than that of the obligor.

Furthermore, we provide representations, warranties and in-
demnifications to third parties in the normal course of business.

Clearing house and exchange memberships

We are a member of numerous securities and derivative exchanges
and clearing houses. In connection with some of those member-
ships, we may be required to pay a share of the financial obliga-
tions of another member who defaults, or we may be otherwise
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Guarantees, commitments and forward starting transactions

The table below shows the maximum irrevocable amount of guarantees, commitments and forward starting transactions.

31.12.14 31.12.13
Sub- Sub-

CHF million Gross  participations Net Gross participations Net
Guarantees
Credit guarantees and similar instruments 7,126 ~ (346) 6780 7,730 6700 7,060
Performance guarantees and similar instruments 3,285 (706 2579 343 C(06) 2717
Documentary credts 1283 (1,740) 5543 7,644 (15%9) 6044
Total guarantees 17,694 (2,792) 14,902 18,798 (2,975) 15,823
Commitments
Loan commitments 50,688 (1,256) 49,431 54,913 (1,227) 53,686
Underwriting commitments 6N  (329) 2 760 s 535
Total commitments 51,359 (1,586) 49,773 55,673 (1,452) 54,221
Forward starting transactions’
Reverse repurchase agreements 1034 93%6
'S'écurities‘bb'rfb\'/v'ing agré‘e'n'wé'n't's .................. G5 e
Repurchaseagreements 5368 ................ 8191 ..............

1 Cash to be paid in the future by either UBS or the counterparty.

exposed to additional financial obligations. While the member-
ship rules vary, obligations generally would arise only if the ex-
change or clearing house had exhausted its resources. We con-
sider the probability of a material loss due to such obligations to
be remote.

Swiss deposit insurance

Swiss banking law and the deposit insurance system require Swiss
banks and securities dealers to jointly guarantee an amount of up
to CHF 6 billion for privileged client deposits in the event that a
Swiss bank or securities dealer becomes insolvent. The Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) estimates our
share in the deposit insurance system to be CHF 0.9 billion. The
deposit insurance is a guarantee and exposes us to additional risk.
This is not reflected in the table above due to its unique character-
istics. As of 31 December 2014, we consider the probability of a
material loss from our obligation to be remote.

Contractual obligations

Underwriting commitments

Gross equity underwriting commitments as of 31 December 2014
and 31 December 2013 amounted to CHF 0.7 billion and CHF 0.8
billion, respectively. Gross debt and private equity underwriting
commitments as of 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012
were not material.

Contractual obligations

The table below summarizes payments due by period under
contractual obligations as of 31 December 2014.

All contracts included in this table, with the exception of pur-
chase obligations (i.e., those in which we are committed to pur-
chasing determined volumes of goods and services), are either
recognized as liabilities on our balance sheet or, in the case of
operating leases, disclosed in “Note 33 Operating leases and fi-
nance leases” in the “Financial information” section of this report.

Payment due by period

CHF million < 1year 1-3 years 3-5 years > 5 years Total
Long-term debt obligations 44,338 38,594 21,268 49,626 153,827
o Iéééé'bbl'igation‘s .................................. o o R CE R o
Operating lease obligations 766 13 049 2080 5,170
S ‘dbl'igé'tikons ............................... Vg e Gy e )378
Othor [abliias Gy T g PR it
Total 46,380 40,769 22,559 51,847 161,556
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Long-term debt obligations as of 31 December 2014 were
CHF 154 billion and consisted of financial liabilities designated at
fair value (CHF 79 billion) and long-term debt issued (CHF 75
billion) and represent both estimated future interest and principal
payments on an undiscounted basis. Refer to “Note 27b Maturity
analysis of financial liabilities” in the “Financial information” sec-
tion of this report for more information. Approximately half of
total long-term debt obligations had a variable rate of interest.
Amounts due on interest rate swaps used to hedge interest rate
risk inherent in fixed-rate debt issued, and designated in fair
value hedge accounting relationships, are not included in the ta-
ble on the previous page. The notional amount of these interest
rate swaps was CHF 41 billion as of 31 December 2014. Financial
liabilities designated at fair value (CHF 79 billion on an undis-
counted cash flow basis) mostly consist of structured notes and
are generally economically hedged, but it would not be practicable

to estimate the amount and/or timing of the payments on inter-
est swaps used to hedge these instruments as interest rate risk
inherent in respective liabilities is generally risk managed on a
portfolio level.

Within purchase obligations, the obligation to employees un-
der mandatory notice periods is excluded (i.e., the period in
which we must pay contractually agreed salaries to employees
leaving the firm).

Our obligations recognized on the balance sheet as Due to
banks, Cash collateral on securities lent, Repurchase agreements,
Trading portfolio liabilities, Negative replacement values, Cash
collateral payables on derivative instruments, Due to customers,
Provisions and Other liabilities are excluded from the table on the
previous page. Refer to the respective Notes in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on these
liabilities.
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Cash flows

Cash flows

As a global financial institution, our cash flows are complex and bear little relation to our net earnings and net assets.
Consequently, we believe that traditional cash flow analysis is less meaningful in evaluating our liquidity position than
the liquidity, funding and capital management policies described within the “Risk, treasury and capital management”

section of this report.

Statement of cash flows (condensed)

For the year ended

CHF million 31.12.14 31.12.13
Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities 8,400 50,959
Net cash ﬂov'vrfrom/(used |n) investing activities 2,596 ”5,457
Net cash ﬂovrvrfrom/(used |n) financing activities i,108 (47,555)
Effects of exéhange rate differences on cash and cash eqdiVaIents 8,611 (2,702)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 21,714 6,158
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 126,980 105,266

2014

As of 31 December 2014, cash and cash equivalents totaled CHF
127.0 billion, an increase of CHF 21.7 billion from 31 December
2013, partly due to foreign currency translation effects of CHF 8.6
billion.

Operating activities

In 2014, net cash inflows from operating activities were CHF 8.4
billion, reflecting net cash inflows of CHF 11.1 billion generated by
an overall decrease in operating assets and liabilities, partly offset
by net operating cash outflows (before changes in operating as-
sets and liabilities and income taxes paid, net of refunds) of CHF
2.1 billion. The net inflows related to the decrease in operating
assets and liabilities of CHF 11.1 billion resulted from gross cash
inflows of CHF 37.0 billion, primarily due to a reduction in collat-
eral trading assets, partly offset by gross cash outflows of CHF 25.9
billion, mainly due to an increase in loans and a reduction in cash
collateral payables on derivative instruments.

Compared with 2013, net cash flow from operating activities
declined to an inflow of CHF 8.4 billion from CHF 51.0 billion,
mainly as the reduction in operating assets, net of operating liabil-
ities, was moderate in 2014 compared with the pronounced de-
cline in 2013. In 2014, the growth in loans exceeded the increase
in due to customer balances generating cash outflows of CHF 11.6
billion, whereas in 2013 the growth in due to customer balances
outpaced the increase in loans causing inflows of CHF 12.1 billion.
In addition, significant reductions in trading portfolio assets and
replacement values net of collateral resulted in cash inflows of CHF
18.3 billion in 2013 compared with cash outflows of CHF 9.3 bil-
lion related to these assets and liabilities in 2014.
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Investing activities

Net cash inflows from investing activities were CHF 2.6 billion in
2014, primarily related to the net divestment of financial invest-
ments available-for-sale of CHF 4.1 billion, partly offset by out-
flows of CHF 1.9 billion related to the purchase of property and
equipment.

Compared with 2013, net cash flow from investing activities
declined by CHF 2.9 billion, mainly due to CHF 1.9 billion lower
net inflows from the divestment of financial investments avail-
able-for-sale and CHF 0.7 billion higher outflows related to the
purchase of property and equipment.

Financing activities

The net cash flow from financing activities was an inflow of CHF
2.1 billion in 2014, mainly due to net issuances (issuances less
redemptions) of long-term debt, including financial liabilities des-
ignated at fair value, of CHF 6.8 billion, partly offset by the net
redemption of short-term debt of CHF 2.9 billion, the distribution
of capital contribution reserves of CHF 0.9 billion and the net ac-
quisition of treasury shares and own equity derivative activity of
CHF 0.7 billion.

Compared with 2013, net cash flow from financing activities
increased to a net inflow of CHF 2.1 billion from a net outflow
CHF 47.6 billion, mainly as the net issuance of long-term debt,
including financial liabilities designated at fair value, accounted
for an inflow of CHF 6.8 billion in 2014 compared with an out-
flow of CHF 40.9 billion in 2013 related to net repayments.



Wealth Management

Profit before tax was CHF 2,326 million in 2014, an increase of CHF 79 million compared with the prior year. Adjusted for
restructuring charges, profit before tax increased by CHF 86 million to CHF 2,511 million, mainly due to an increase in
operating income of CHF 338 million, largely as a result of both higher recurring net fee income and net interest income.
This was partly offset by CHF 251 million higher operating expenses, mainly due to a CHF 305 million increase in charges
for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters. The gross margin on invested assets declined by 3 basis
points to 85 basis points. Net new money was CHF 34.4 billion compared with CHF 35.9 billion in the prior year.

Business division reporting’

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net interest income 2,165 2,061 1,951 5
Recurring ne't'fee income N N N N 5,783 '3',567 '3',309 N 6
Transaction-bésed income N N N N '1',928 '1',887 '1',744 N 2
Otherincomé' h h h h h 25 h 57 h 37 h (56)
Income 7,902 7,573 7,040 4
Credit loss (éipense)/recové%y N N N N (1) N (10) g N (90)
Total operating income 7,901 7,563 7,041 4
Personnel expenses 3,369 3,371 2,865 0
General and 'a'dministrative ékpenses N N o o N '1',937 '1',650 '1',360 N 17
Services (to)/from other business divisions N N 58 97 43 N (40)
Depredation'énd impairmehf of property and equipment h h 205 190 159 8
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets h - 5 8 7 (39
Total operating expenses? 5,574 5,316 4,634 5
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 2,326 2,247 2,407 4
Key performance indicators?
Pre-tax profit growth (%) 35 (6.6) (8.6)
Cost/income ratio (%) h h h 705 702 658
Net new mohéygrovvth (%)ﬂ N N N 39 44 35
Gross margih'on invested assets (bps)* N N N 85 88 g9 N (3)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the "Financial information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges. 3 Refer to
the “Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators. 4 Excludes any effect on profit or loss from a property fund (2014: gain of CHF 2 million, 2013: loss of
CHF 10 million, 2012: gain of CHF 4 million).
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Business division reporting’ (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13

Additional information

Recurring income

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion)

Net new money (CHF billion)

Client assets (CHF billion)
Loans, gross (CHF billion)

Due to customers (CHF billion)
Personnel (full-time equivalents)

Client advisors (full-time equivalents)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. 3 Based on the Basel Ill framework
as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report for more information. 4 Based on phase-in
Basel Ill risk-weighted assets for 2014 and 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. 5 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance
with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to the "Capital management”
section of this report for more information.

Regional breakdown of key figures 2

of which: ultra  of which: Global

As of or for the year ended 31.12.14 Asia Pacific Switzerland Emerging markets  high net worth Family Office’

Net new money (CHF billion) 29.8

Netnew money growth (%) 2
Invested assets (CHF billon) 33 269 177 168 . 497
Gross margin on invested assets (bps) 8% & 90 94 55
Client advisors (full-time equivalents) 1473 1418 761 713 729

1 Refer to the "Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators. 2 Based on the Wealth Management business area structure, and excluding minor functions with
57 client advisors, and CHF 10 billion of invested assets, and CHF 0.2 billion of net new money outflows in 2014. 3 Joint venture between Wealth Management and the Investment Bank. Global Family Office is reported
as a sub-segment of ultra high net worth and is included in the ultra high net worth figures. 4 Net new money growth rate and gross margin of 2014 for Europe and emerging markets are calculated based on invested
assets as of 31 December 2013 adjusted for organizational shifts. 5 Gross margin includes income booked in the Investment Bank. Gross margin only based on income booked in Wealth Management is 25 basis
points. 6 Represents client advisors who exclusively serve ultra high net worth clients. In addition to these, other client advisors may also serve certain ultra high net worth clients, but not exclusively.
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2014 compared with 2013

Results

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 7,901 million compared with
CHF 7,563 million in 2013, primarily due to both higher recurring
net fee income and net interest income.

Net interest income increased by CHF 104 million to CHF 2,165
million, mainly due to higher net interest income from Lombard
loans and mortgages as well as a positive effect from methodol-
ogy changes in the allocation of liquidity and funding costs and
benefits for loans and deposits between Wealth Management
and Group Treasury. These effects were partly offset by lower net
interest income from client deposits and lower allocated revenues
from Group Treasury.

- Refer to the “Liquidity and funding management” section of this

report for more information on the changed methodology for
the allocation of liquidity and funding costs and benefits

Recurring net fee income increased by CHF 216 million to CHF
3,783 million, primarily due to an increase in invested assets, the
positive effect of pricing measures and continued growth in dis-
cretionary and advisory mandates. These increases were partly
offset by lower income due to ongoing outflows of assets from
cross-border clients and due to the migration into retroces-
sion-free products for investment mandates during 2013.

Transaction-based income increased by CHF 41 million to CHF
1,928 million. The overall increase was mainly related to struc-
tured products, mandates, wealth planning services and hedge
funds, partly offset by lower income from foreign exchange trad-
ing and investment funds. In addition, 2014 included first-time
fees paid to Retail & Corporate for net client shifts and referrals.

- Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting

changes” section of this report for more information on the
implementation of a remuneration framework for net client
shifts and referrals between Retail & Corporate and Wealth
Management

Other income decreased by CHF 32 million to CHF 25 million,
mainly due to a decline in revenues for other services and as the
prior year included a gain of CHF 25 million related to the divest-
ment of our participation in Euroclear Plc.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 5,574 million, an increase of
CHF 258 million from the prior year. Adjusted for restructuring
charges of CHF 185 million compared with CHF 178 million, op-
erating expenses increased by CHF 251 million to CHF 5,389 mil-
lion, mainly due to an increase in charges for provisions for litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters to CHF 394 million from CHF
89 million while the prior year included a charge in relation to the
Swiss-UK tax agreement of CHF 107 million. Changes to alloca-

tions of Corporate Center costs in 2014 had the effect of increas-
ing personnel, general and administrative expenses and, to a
lesser extent, depreciation and impairment of property and equip-
ment by a total of approximately CHF 40 million, which was offset
by lower net charges from other business divisions.
-> Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” section of our
Annual Report 2013 for more information on the charge related
to the Swiss-UK tax agreement

Personnel expenses decreased slightly to CHF 3,369 million.
Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 70 million compared
with CHF 71 million, personnel expenses decreased by CHF 1 mil-
lion, predominantly due to reduced pension-related expenses,
lower Corporate Center costs, mainly due to personnel-related
technology expenses and outsourcing initiatives, as well as cur-
rency effects. This was almost entirely offset by higher expenses
due to salary increases, staff hires for our strategic and regulatory
priorities, higher variable compensation expenses as well as the
aforementioned changes to allocations of Corporate Center costs.

General and administrative expenses increased by CHF 287
million to CHF 1,937 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges of
CHF 113 million compared with CHF 100 million, general and
administrative expenses increased by CHF 274 million, mainly due
to the aforementioned increase in charges for provisions for litiga-
tion, regulatory and similar matters to CHF 394 million from CHF
89 million while the prior year included a charge in relation to the
aforementioned Swiss-UK tax agreement. In addition, general
and administrative expenses increased due to higher technology
expenses, mainly following outsourcing initiatives, and due to the
aforementioned changes to allocations of Corporate Center costs
in 2014.

Net charges for services from other business divisions de-
creased by CHF 39 million to CHF 58 million, mainly due to the
impact of the aforementioned changes to allocations of Corpo-
rate Center costs in 2014.

Depreciation increased by CHF 15 million to CHF 205 million.
Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 1 million compared
with CHF 7 million, depreciation increased by CHF 21 million,
largely due to higher amortization expenses for capitalized soft-
ware and the aforementioned changes to allocations of Corpo-
rate Center costs in 2014.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 70.5% compared with 70.2% in the
prior year. Adjusted for restructuring charges, the cost/income
ratio increased to 68.2% from 67.8% and remained within our
target range of 60% to 70%.

Net new money

The net new money growth rate decreased to 3.9% from 4.4%
and was within our target range of 3% to 5%. Net new money
was CHF 34.4 billion with strongest net inflows in Asia Pacific
followed by Switzerland and emerging markets. Net outflows in
Europe mainly reflected ongoing cross-border asset outflows,
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partly offset by net inflows from domestic markets. On a global
basis, net new money from ultra high net worth clients was CHF
29.8 billion compared with CHF 33.6 billion in the prior year.

Invested assets

Invested assets were CHF 987 billion as of 31 December 2014,
representing an increase of CHF 101 billion from 31 December
2013, due to positive market performance of CHF 38 billion, net
new money inflows of CHF 34 billion and positive currency trans-
lation effects of CHF 32 billion.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets declined by 3 basis points to
85 basis points and was below our target range of 95 to 105 basis
points, mainly due to a historically low interest rate environment,
client segment and regional mix changes coupled with ongoing
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outflows of assets from cross-border clients, partly offset by con-
tinued growth in discretionary and advisory mandates, the posi-
tive effect of pricing measures and Lombard lending growth.

Personnel

Wealth Management employed 16,760 personnel as of 31 De-
cember 2014 compared with 16,414 as of 31 December 2013,
reflecting an increase in both non-client facing staff and client
advisors.

The number of client advisors increased by 86 to 4,250, mainly
reflecting an increase in our key strategic growth area Asia Pacific,
partly offset by reductions in Europe.

The number of non-client facing staff increased by 261 to
12,510, mainly due to staff hires for our strategic and regulatory
priorities.



2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 7,563 million compared with CHF
7,041 million in 2012, mainly due to higher recurring net fee in-
come, transaction-based income as well as higher net interest in-
come.

Net interest income increased by CHF 110 million to CHF 2,061
million, mainly due to revenues of CHF 110 million allocated from
the repurchase agreement unit within Group Treasury in Corpo-
rate Center — Core Functions. Previously, such revenues were not
allocated to the business divisions. The increase in net interest in-
come was also due to lower costs related to the multi-currency
portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets man-
aged centrally by Group Treasury. These factors, together with
higher income resulting from increased loan and client deposit
volumes, more than offset the negative effect of a lower deposit
margin resulting from the ongoing low interest rate environment.

Recurring net fee income increased by CHF 258 million to CHF
3,567 million, which primarily resulted from a 10% increase in
average invested assets, the positive effect of pricing measures
and continued growth in discretionary and advisory mandates.
These positive effects were partly offset by the negative effect of
the migration to retrocession-free products for investment man-
dates during 2013, as well as due to ongoing outflows of assets
from cross-border clients.

Transaction-based income increased by CHF 143 million to CHF
1,887 million, mainly in Asia Pacific in the first half of 2013. Over-
all, higher transaction-based income from mandates and invest-
ment funds was partly offset by a decrease related to structured
products as well as from foreign exchange trading.

Other income increased to CHF 57 million from CHF 37 million
and included higher revenues for other services, as well as a gain
of CHF 25 million related to the divestment of our participation in
Euroclear Plc. This was partly offset by impairments of CHF 10
million related to our global property fund compared with gains
of CHF 4 million in 2012.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 5,316 million, an increase of
CHF 682 million from the prior year. Restructuring charges were
CHF 178 million compared with CHF 26 million in 2012. Adjusted
for restructuring charges and the aforementioned credit related to
changes to our pension and retiree benefit plans of CHF 358 mil-
lion, operating expenses increased by CHF 172 million to CHF
5,138 million, mainly as 2013 included a charge in relation to the
Swiss-UK tax agreement of CHF 107 million.

Personnel expenses increased to CHF 3,371 million from CHF
2,865 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges and the credit
related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit plans, per-
sonnel expenses increased by CHF 102 million to CHF 3,300 mil-
lion. This increase included CHF 120 million higher personnel ex-
penses due to the centralization of our operations units and
higher variable compensation expenses, partly offset by lower
personnel expenses related to technology and control functions.
The centralization of our operations units from the business divi-
sions in the Corporate Center in July 2012 and the subsequent
reallocation of the operations units resulted in increased person-
nel expenses and general and administrative expenses, offset by
decreased net charges from other business divisions as Retail &
Corporate previously provided significant services to Wealth Man-
agement, which are now provided by the Corporate Center.

General and administrative expenses increased by CHF 290
million to CHF 1,650 million. This included restructuring charges
of CHF 100 million compared with zero in the prior year. Adjusted
for restructuring charges, general and administrative expenses in-
creased by CHF 190 million, mainly due to the aforementioned
Swiss-UK tax agreement, CHF 36 million higher expenses related
to the aforementioned centralization of operations units as well
as slightly higher marketing and branding expenses.

Charges for services from other business divisions decreased to
CHF 97 million from CHF 243 million, mainly due to CHF 157
million lower allocations following the aforementioned centraliza-
tion of operations units.

Depreciation was CHF 190 million compared with CHF 159
million, largely due to higher amortization of capitalized software,
an impairment of capitalized software and restructuring charges
of CHF 7 million compared with zero in the prior year. Amortiza-
tion of intangible assets was CHF 8 million, a slight increase from
CHF 7 million.
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Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 70.2% compared with 65.8% in the
prior year. Adjusted for restructuring charges and the effect from
the credit related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit
plans in 2012, the cost/income ratio improved to 67.8% from
70.5% and was within our target range of 60% to 70%.

Net new money

The net new money growth rate increased to 4.4% from 3.5%
and was near the higher end of our target range of 3% to 5%. All
regions contributed to net inflows of CHF 35.9 billion in 2013. The
strongest net inflows were recorded in Asia Pacific followed by
emerging markets, Switzerland and Europe. Net inflows in the Eu-
ropean onshore and the Swiss-based Global Family Office business
in Europe more than offset net outflows in the European cross-bor-
der business, which was negatively affected by ongoing asset out-
flows in the context of fiscal and regulatory concerns. On a global
basis, net new money from ultra high net worth clients was CHF
33.6 billion compared with CHF 19.9 billion in the prior year.

Invested assets

Invested assets were CHF 886 billion as of 31 December 2013,
representing an increase of CHF 65 billion from 31 December

118

2012. Net new money inflows of CHF 36 billion and positive mar-
ket performance of CHF 34 billion were slightly offset by negative
currency translation effects of CHF 4 billion.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets decreased by 1 basis point to
88 basis points, as the increase in average invested assets out-
paced the increase in revenues. The gross margin was below our
target range of 95 to 105 basis points. The calculation excludes
any effect on profit or loss from a property fund.

Personnel

Wealth Management employed 16,414 personnel as of 31 De-
cember 2013 compared with 16,210 as of 31 December 2012,
mainly reflecting an increase in non-client facing staff.

The number of client advisors increased to 4,164 from 4,128,
primarily in the key strategic growth areas of Asia Pacific and
emerging markets, partly offset by reductions in Switzerland. The
number of client advisors in Europe remained stable. The increase
in non-client facing staff was mainly recorded in Asia Pacific and
emerging markets, in line with the increase in the number of cli-
ent advisors.



Wealth Management Americas

Profit before tax was a record USD 981 million in 2014 compared with the prior record of USD 927 million in 2013.
Adjusted for the effects of restructuring in both years as well as a credit in 2014 related to changes to our retiree benefit
plans in the US, profit before tax increased to USD 1,030 million from USD 991 million. The adjusted result reflected an
8% increase in revenues due to higher recurring income and an 8% increase in operating expenses due to higher
financial advisor related compensation and higher charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters.
Net new money inflows were USD 10.0 billion compared with USD 19.0 billion in the prior year.

Business division reporting — in US dollars’

As of or for the year ended % change from
USD million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net interest income 1,067 1,014 849 5
Recurring ne't'fee income N N N N 4,666 '4,109 '3',427 N 14
Transaction-based income N N N '1',825 '1',946 '2',004 N (6)
Otherincomér h h h h h 33 h 36 h 32 h (8)
Income 7,590 7,105 6,312 7
Credit loss (éipense)/recové%y N N N 16 N (30) N (15) N
Total operating income 7,606 7,075 6,297 8
Personnel expenses 5,218 4,949 4,556 5
Financial édvisor compehéation N N o o N 2,944 '2,708 '2',399 N 9
Compenséﬁon commitments with recruited financial advisors? h 733 690 679 6
Salaries and other persohhel costs? h . . h '1',540 '1',551 '1',477 N (1)
General and'a'dministrative ékpenses N N N '1',204 '1',001 N 958 h 20
Services (to)/from other business divisions N N n RV ' (16) N (21)
Depredation'énd impairmerﬁ of property and equipment h h 140 130 107 8
Amortization and impairmehi of intangible'éssets N N Y) 53 s N (2)
Total operating expenses* 6,625 6,147 5,659 8
Business division operating profit/ (loss) before tax 981 927 638 6
Key performance indicators®
Pre-tax profit growth (%) 5.8 453 21.3
Cost/income ratio (%) h h h 873 865 897
Net new mohéy growth (%)” h h h 1.0 23 29
Gross margih'on invested assets (bps) N N N 76 79 8 N (4)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Financial advisor compensation consists of grid-based compensation based directly on compensable revenues generated by financial advisors and sup-
plemental compensation calculated based on financial advisor productivity, firm tenure, assets and other variables. 3 Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors represents charges related to com-
pensation commitments granted to financial advisors at the time of recruitment which are subject to vesting requirements. 4 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this
report for information on restructuring charges. 5 Refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators.
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Business division reporting — in US dollars' (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from
USD million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13

Additional information

Recurring income 12
Recumng o a5 8% ol o (%) ............................................................
Average attrbuted equity (USD billon? 29 30 66 (3)
et equny (%) ................................................................
Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, USD billon) 218 273 253 (20)
Risk-weighted assets (phase-in, USD billon)® 220 275 256 (20)
Retum on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)* 202 300 249
Leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, USD billon)> ~~—e37 et &)
Goodwill and intangible assets (USD billon) 38 38 39 0
Net new money (USD billion)

Net new money including interest and dividend income (USD billion)e 372 442 a8
estod acsets (USD b||||on) ................................................................. 5
Clont assets(USD billi‘o‘h) .................................................................... 5
Loans, gross (USD billion) 14
Dueto customers (USD billion) 735 3 56 9
Recruitment loans to financial advisos 2925 3063 321 (5)
Other loans to financial advisors 374 401 532 (7)
Personnel (full-time equivalents) (1)
Financial advisors (full-time equivalents) 997 7137 7059 (2)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. 3 Based on the Basel Il framework
as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report for more information. 4 Based on phase-in
Basel Ill risk-weighted assets for 2014 and 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. 5 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance
with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to the "Capital management”
section of this report for more information. 6 Presented in line with historical reporting practice in the US market.

Business division reporting — in Swiss francs'

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net interest income 936 5
Recumng o fom o 3796 .............. 5
A D 1800 ............... ( 7)
Ot e A ( 9)
Income 6,565 6
i o s(expense)/recovery ............................................................. (27) ................
Total operating income 6,538 7
Personnel expenses 4,574 5
s compensatlonz ....................................................... 2503 ............... .
* Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors® &5 68 e 6
" Salaries and other personnel costs o ame 1433 """""""" ( 1)
General and administrative expéhées """""""""" 94 g3 20
Services (to)/from other business divisions T e 13 gy (23)
Depreciation and impaiment of property and equipment 129 2 10 7
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets g 9 st 2)
Total operating expenses* 5,680 7
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 900 858 5

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Financial advisor compensation consists of grid-based compensation based directly on compensable revenues generated by financial advisors and sup-
plemental compensation calculated based on financial advisor productivity, firm tenure, assets and other variables. 3 Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors represents charges related to com-
pensation commitments granted to financial advisors at the time of recruitment which are subject to vesting requirements. 4 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the "Financial information” section of this
report for information on restructuring charges.
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Business division reporting — in Swiss francs' (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Key performance indicators?
Pre-tax profit growth (%) 4.9 43.7 28.9
oo (%) ........................................................................... g w5 gos
et newmoneygrowth (%) ....................................................................... R Jg
o argln e e (bps) ................................................................ e g e ( 4)
Additional information
Recurring income 5,276 4,732 3,991 1
Recurrmg oo a5 2% of o ( %) ............................................................ e oy by
Averageattnbuted eqmty(CHF biliibﬁ)é .............................................................. RISy S o ( 4)
Rt equny (%) .................................................................. s o oy
Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, CHF billion)t 07 243 32 (1)
Risk-weighted assets (phase-in, CHF billion)* 219 25 35 (1)
oo |skwe|ghted assets gross(%)5 .......................................................... bon oo e
Leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, CHF billion)e 633 s 1
oo andlntang e et (CHF b|II|on) .......................................................... S R g 5
Net new money (CHF billion) 9.6 17.6 20.6
Net new money including interest and dividend income (CHF billion)? 350 08 v
i oo (CHF b||||on) .................................................................... : 027 ............. wee Sy o
Cion assets(CHF bilii‘o‘n‘) ........................................................................ : 081 ............. gy gy .
Loans, gross (CHF billion) 44.4 34.8 31.2 28
e etstomers (CHFblIIlon) .................................................................... Sy oo g oS
Recruitment loans to financial adviso,s 2009 2733 297 6
Other loans fo firomeial advisans g T i
Personnel (full-time equivalents) 16,134 16,344 16,094 1)
Financial advisors (full-time equivalents) 6997 A 7059 2)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators. 3 Refer to the “Capital man-
agement” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. 4 Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012
are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report for more information. 5 Based on phase-in Basel Ill risk-weighted assets for 2014 and 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets
for 2012. 6 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted
exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to the "Capital management” section of this report for more information. 7 Presented in line with historical reporting practice
in the US market.
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2014 compared with 2013

Results

Operating income

Total operating income increased by USD 531 million to USD
7,606 million due to continued growth in managed account fees
within recurring net fee income and higher net interest income,
partly offset by lower transaction-based income.

Net interest income increased by USD 53 million to USD 1,067
million due to continued growth in loan and deposit balances. The
average mortgage portfolio balance increased 37% and the aver-
age securities-backed lending portfolio balance increased 12%.

Recurring net fee income increased by USD 557 million to USD
4,666 million, mainly due to a 21% increase in managed account
fees reflecting higher invested asset levels.

Transaction-based income decreased by USD 121 million to
USD 1,825 million, mainly due to lower client activity.

Net credit recoveries were USD 16 million compared with net
loss expenses of USD 30 million in the prior year. 2014 included
the full release of a loan loss allowance for a single client as well
as releases of loan loss allowances on securities-backed lending
facilities collateralized by Puerto Rico municipal securities and re-
lated funds. The expenses in the prior year were largely due to
loan loss allowances on securities-backed lending facilities collat-
eralized by Puerto Rico municipal securities and related funds.

- Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this

report for more information on our exposure to Puerto Rico
municipal securities and related funds

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased by USD 478 million to USD 6,625
million from USD 6,147 million. On an adjusted basis, operating
expenses increased by USD 493 million to USD 6,576 million,
primarily due to USD 236 million higher financial advisor compen-
sation corresponding to higher compensable revenues as well as
USD 141 million higher charges for provisions for litigation, regu-
latory and similar matters.

Adjusted for restructuring charges of USD 25 million and credits
of USD 10 million related to changes to retiree benefit plans in the
US in 2014 as well as restructuring charges of USD 16 million in
2013, personnel expenses increased by USD 270 million to USD
5,203 million, mainly due to USD 236 million higher financial advi-
sor compensation corresponding to higher compensable revenues.

Adjusted for restructuring charges of USD 35 million in 2014
compared with USD 49 million in the prior year, general and ad-
ministrative expenses increased by USD 217 million to USD 1,169

122

million, mainly due to aforementioned higher charges for provisions
for litigation, regulatory and similar matters and higher Corporate
Center costs.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 87.3% compared with 86.5% in
2013. On an adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio increased to
86.6% from 85.6% and remained within our target range of
80% 10 90%.

Net new money

In 2014, the net new money growth rate was 1.0%, which was
below the target range of 2% to 4%, mainly due to net outflows
resulting from financial advisor attrition and lower than expected
inflows from recruited financial advisors. In 2014, net new money
totaled USD 10.0 billion and was predominantly made up of net
inflows from financial advisors employed with UBS for more than
one year. Net new money was USD 19.0 billion in the prior year.
Including interest and dividend income, net new money inflows
were USD 37.2 billion compared with USD 44.2 billion in the prior
year.

Invested assets

Invested assets were USD 1,032 billion as of 31 December 2014,
an increase of USD 62 billion from 31 December 2013, reflecting
positive market performance of USD 52 billion and net new
money inflows of USD 10 billion. During 2014, managed account
assets increased by USD 38 billion to USD 346 billion as of 31 De-
cember 2014, and comprised 34% of invested assets compared
with 32% as of 31 December 2013.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets was 76 basis points in 2014,
a decrease of 3 basis points from 79 basis points in 2013, and
remained within our target range of 75 to 85 basis points. This
reflected a 7% increase in income compared with an 11% in-
crease in average invested assets. The gross margin from recurring
income was unchanged from 2013, while the gross margin from
non-recurring income decreased by 3 basis points, primarily due
to lower transaction-based income.

Personnel

As of 31 December 2014, Wealth Management Americas em-
ployed 16,134 personnel, a decrease of 210 from 31 December
2013. Financial advisor headcount decreased by 140 to 6,997
mainly due to attrition of lower-producing advisors. Non-financial
advisor headcount decreased by 70 to 9,137.



2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income
Total operating income increased to USD 7,075 million from USD
6,297 million in 2012.

Net interest income increased by USD 165 million to USD
1,014 million, primarily due to continued growth in loan and de-
posit balances. The average securities-backed lending portfolio
balance increased 14% and the average mortgage portfolio bal-
ance nearly doubled from 2012. Furthermore, net funding costs
related to the goodwill and intangible assets that arose from the
PaineWebber acquisition are retained in Corporate Center — Core
Functions with effect from 1 January 2013. These increases were
partly offset by lower net interest income from the available-for-
sale portfolio, primarily due to lower average balances.

Recurring net fee income increased by USD 682 million to USD
4,109 million, mainly due to higher managed account fees which
were calculated on higher invested asset levels.

Transaction-based income decreased by USD 58 million to USD
1,946 million, mainly due to trading losses related to the Puerto
Rico municipal market as well as lower income from taxable fixed
income, US municipal bond trading and annuity products partially
offset by higher income from equities and structured products.

Other income increased by USD 4 million to USD 36 million.

Net credit loss expenses were USD 30 million compared with
net credit loss expenses of USD 15 million in the prior year. The
2013 expenses were largely due to loan loss allowances on secu-
rities-backed lending facilities collateralized by Puerto Rico munic-
ipal securities and related funds.

- Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this

report for more information on our exposure to Puerto Rico
municipal securities and related funds

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased by USD 488 million to USD 6,147
million from USD 5,659 million. On an adjusted basis, operating
expenses increased by USD 421 million mainly due to higher fi-

nancial advisor compensation corresponding to higher compensa-
ble revenues.

Excluding the effects of restructuring in both years as well as a
credit to personnel expenses of USD 2 million related to changes
to our retiree benefit plans in the US in 2012, adjusted personnel
expenses were USD 4,933 million, an increase of USD 379 million
from USD 4,554 million due to a 13% increase in financial advisor
compensation corresponding to higher compensable revenues,
and a 2% increase in expenses for compensation commitments
with recruited financial advisors. Recruitment loans to financial
advisors were USD 3,063 million as of 31 December 2013, a de-
crease of USD 178 million from 31 December 2012. On an ad-
justed basis, salaries and other personnel costs increased 4% due
to higher other variable compensation expenses and USD 20 mil-
lion of costs related to the partial settlement of a previously dis-
continued US defined benefit pension plan.

Adjusted for restructuring charges, general and administrative
expenses decreased by USD 11 million to USD 952 million from
USD 963 million, due to lower charges for provisions for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters, partly offset by increases in alloca-
tion of Corporate Center costs. On an adjusted basis, services
to/from other business divisions increased by USD 30 million
mainly due to lower net charges to the Investment Bank.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio improved to 86.5% from 89.7% in 2012.
On an adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio improved to 85.6%
from 89.7% and remained within our target range of 80% to
90%.

Net new money

The net new money growth rate was 2.3% compared with 2.9%
in 2012, and was within the target range of 2% to 4%. Net new
money totaled USD 19.0 billion compared with USD 22.1 billion
in the prior year due to lower inflows from financial advisors em-
ployed with UBS for more than one year as well as lower inflows
from net recruiting of financial advisors, partly offset by higher
inflows from the Global Family Office. Including interest and divi-
dend income, net new money inflows were USD 44.2 billion com-
pared with USD 44.8 billion in the prior year.
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Wealth Management Americas

Invested assets

Invested assets were USD 970 billion as of 31 December 2013, an
increase of USD 127 billion from USD 843 billion as of 31 Decem-
ber 2012, reflecting positive market performance of USD 108 bil-
lion and continued strong net new money inflows. During 2013,
managed account assets increased by USD 60 billion to USD 308
billion as of 31 December 2013, and comprised 32% of invested
assets compared with 29% as of 31 December 2012.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets was 79 basis points in 2013,
an increase of 1 basis point from 78 basis points in 2012, and re-
mained within our target range of 75 to 85 basis points. This re-
flected a 13% increase in income compared with a 12% increase
in average invested assets. The gross margin from recurring in-
come increased by 4 basis points due to higher managed account
fees and higher net interest income, while the gross margin from
non-recurring income decreased by 3 basis points, primarily due
to lower trading income.
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Personnel

As of 31 December 2013, Wealth Management Americas em-
ployed 16,344 personnel, an increase of 250 from 31 December
2012. Financial advisor headcount increased by 78 to 7,137,
mainly reflecting the hiring of experienced financial advisors and
trainees as well as continued low financial advisor attrition. The
number of non-financial advisor employees increased by 172 to
9,207, mainly due to hiring of wealth strategy associates to fur-
ther enhance advice-based wealth management solutions offered
to target client segments.



Retail & Corporate

Profit before tax increased to CHF 1,506 million in 2014 from CHF 1,458 million in the prior year. Adjusted for restructur-
ing charges, profit before tax increased by CHF 58 million to CHF 1,570 million, mainly reflecting CHF 73 million lower
adjusted operating expenses. The net new business volume growth rate for retail business increased to 2.3% from 1.9%.

Business division reporting’

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net interest income 2,144 2
Recumn‘g‘ net fee | ncome 55 si1 sz 9
Transactfdh'bé'séd mcome """"""""""""""""" 1034 """"" (1)
b oo g gy (1.3)
Income 3,774 2
Credit loss (expense) /recovery (95 e @ 428
Total operating income 3,756 0
Personnel expenses 1,442 (5)
General and .édhw'lnlstra‘tl‘v‘é ékbénses ....................................... 875 ....... (2)
SerV|ces (to)/from other b ................. (162) ...... (22)
Depreaa‘t‘lc‘)h.éhd' |mpa|rme tof property and equment .................. 43 s (3)
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets o o0
Total operating expenses? 2,298 (3)
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 1,458 3
Key performance indicators?
Pre-tax profit growth (%) 33 (20.2) (3.0)
Cost/médrﬁé o w ha oo e
Net et margln (bpé) .................................................... deg e R )
Net new business volume growth for retal business (%) 23 9 33
Additional information
Average attributed eqmty (CHF billion)* 4.1 0
.................................... 15
.................................... 297 SRR
............................ 4 R
.................... 7
........................... a SR
Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF b||||on) """"""""""""""""""""""" 00 oo
Busmess volume for retail business (CHF billion) 141 140 1
Net new business volume for retail business (CHF billion) 26 a5 23
Client assets (CHF billion) 404 381 7
Dueto customers (CHF billion) 4373 1332 B 3
Loans gross (CHF blllloh) .................................................. Ges s 1
Secured loan portfolio as a % of total loan portfolio, gross (%) 931 931 o7
Impaired loan portfolio as a % of total loan portfolio, gross (%>~~~ 08 o7 o7

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 9,200 9,463 10,156 (3)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the "Financial information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges. 3 Refer to
the "Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators. 4 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution
framework. 5 Based on the Basel Il framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this
report for more information. 6 Based on phase-in Basel Ill risk-weighted assets for 2014 and 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. 7 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total
adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the report-
ing period. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report for more information. 8 Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this report for more information on impairment ratios.
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Retail & Corporate

2014 compared with 2013

Results

Operating income

Total operating income decreased by CHF 15 million to CHF 3,741
million, reflecting increased credit loss expenses, largely offset by
higher recurring net fee income and increased net interest in-
come.

Net interest income increased by CHF 40 million to CHF 2,184
million, mainly due to higher revenues allocated from Group Trea-
sury and a higher loan margin. This was partly offset by a decline
in the deposit margin, despite selective pricing measures, as the
persistently low interest rate environment continued to have an
adverse effect on our replication portfolios.

Recurring net fee income increased by CHF 45 million to CHF
556 million, mainly as certain fees related to retail bank accounts
were recorded as recurring net fee income in 2014, totaling CHF
58 million in 2014, while these fees were recorded as transac-
tion-based income in 2013.

Transaction-based income decreased by CHF 12 million to CHF
1,022 million, mainly reflecting the aforementioned change in
classification of certain fees related to retail bank accounts. This
was partly offset by first-time fees received from Wealth Manage-
ment for net client shifts and referrals.

- Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting
changes” section of this report for more information on the
implementation of a remuneration framework for net client
shifts and referrals between Retail & Corporate and Wealth
Management

Other income decreased by CHF 11 million to CHF 75 million,
mainly as 2013 included a CHF 27 million gain related to the di-
vestment of our participation in Euroclear Plc., partly offset by
higher income from our participation in the SIX Group in 2014.

Net credit loss expenses were CHF 95 million in 2014 com-
pared with CHF 18 million in the prior year. 2014 included net
specific credit loss allowances of CHF 105 million compared with
CHF 113 million in the prior year, which was primarily related to
corporate clients in both periods. In addition, 2014 included a
release of CHF 10 million in collective loan loss allowances
compared with a release of CHF 95 million in 2013, which partly
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reflected the overall improved outlook for relevant industries. The
remaining balance of the collective loan loss allowances amounted
to CHF 5 million as of 31 December 2014.
- Refer to “Note 12 Allowances and provisions for credit losses”
in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information
- Refer to the "Current market climate and industry drivers"
section of this report for more information on the impact of
Swiss National Bank actions in January 2015

Operating expenses

Operating expenses decreased by CHF 63 million to CHF 2,235
million. Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 64 million in
2014 and CHF 54 million in the prior year, operating expenses
decreased by CHF 73 million to CHF 2,171 million, reflecting
lower personnel expenses as well as reduced general and admin-
istrative expenses, partly offset by lower net charges to other busi-
ness divisions. Changes to allocations of Corporate Center costs
in 2014 had the effect of decreasing personnel as well as general
and administrative expenses and, to a lesser extent, depreciation
and impairment of property and equipment by a total of approxi-
mately CHF 40 million, which was offset by lower net charges to
other business divisions.

Personnel expenses decreased by CHF 79 million to CHF 1,363
million. Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 29 million com-
pared with CHF 19 million in the prior year, personnel expenses
decreased by CHF 89 million to CHF 1,334 million, partly reflect-
ing our outsourcing initiatives, which led to reduced personnel
expenses but higher general and administrative expenses. Fur-
thermore, personnel expenses decreased due to lower pension-re-
lated expenses and personnel-related technology expenses as well
as the aforementioned changes to allocations of Corporate Cen-
ter costs in 2014.

General and administrative expenses decreased by CHF 16 mil-
lion to CHF 859 million, mainly due to lower marketing expenses,
which included a one-time reversal of an accrual, lower expenses
for real estate and the aforementioned changes to allocations of
Corporate Center costs. This was partly offset by higher profes-
sional fees.

Net charges for services to other business divisions decreased
by CHF 36 million to CHF 126 million, mainly as a result of
the aforementioned changes to allocations of Corporate Center
costs.



Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 58.3% compared with 60.9% in the
prior year. On an adjusted basis excluding restructuring charges,
the cost/income ratio was 56.6% compared with 59.5% in the
prior year and remained within our target range of 50% to 60%.

Net interest margin

The net interest margin increased 3 basis points to 159 basis
points, reflecting the aforementioned increase in net interest in-
come partly offset by a slightly higher average loan volume. The
net interest margin remained within the target range of 140 to
180 basis points.

Net new business volume growth for retail business

The growth rate for net new business volume for our retail busi-
ness was 2.3% compared with 1.9% in 2013 and remained
within the target range of 1% to 4%. In the retail business, both
net new client assets and, to a lesser extent, net new loans were
positive. The slight increase in loans reflected our strategy to grow
our business in high-quality loans moderately and selectively.

Personnel

Retail & Corporate employed 9,200 personnel as of 31 December
2014, a decrease of 263 compared with 9,463 as of 31 Decem-
ber 2013, mainly reflecting our ongoing cost reduction programs
as well as changes to allocations of centralized shared services
units’ personnel, which led to a decrease of approximately 140
personnel.
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Financial and operating performance
Retail & Corporate

2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income
Total operating income increased by CHF 28 million to CHF 3,756
million.

Net interest income was CHF 2,144 million compared with
CHF 2,186 million. The ongoing low interest rate environment
continued to adversely affect the deposit margin. The resulting
lower interest income was partly offset by pricing adjustments
and substantial growth in average deposit volumes. Interest in-
come from loans increased, reflecting slightly higher average vol-
ume and an improved margin. Furthermore, costs related to the
multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, short-
term assets managed centrally by Group Treasury decreased.

Recurring net fee income was CHF 511 million, almost un-
changed from CHF 512 million. Transaction-based income in-
creased by CHF 67 million to CHF 1,034 million, mainly reflecting
higher treasury-related income as well as higher client activity lev-
elsin 2013.

Other income was CHF 86 million, broadly unchanged from
CHF 90 million in the prior year, and included a CHF 27 million
gain related to the divestment of our participation in Euroclear
Plc., almost entirely offset by lower income related to our partici-
pation in the SIX Group.

Credit loss expenses were CHF 18 million in 2013 compared
with CHF 27 million in the prior year. 2013 included net specific
loan loss allowances of CHF 113 million, reflecting a number of
new workout cases that were individually reviewed, downgraded
and impaired as well as adjustments on existing positions. This
was largely offset by a net release of CHF 95 million of collective
loan loss allowances based on the ongoing review of the portfo-
lio, as well as the overall improved outlook for relevant industries.
The prior year included net specific loan loss allowances of CHF
43 million, partly offset by a net decrease in collective loan loss
allowances of CHF 16 million. The remaining balance of the col-
lective loan loss allowances amounted to CHF 15 million as of
31 December 2013.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased to CHF 2,298 million from CHF
1,901 million, mainly as 2012 included a credit to personnel ex-
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penses of CHF 287 million related to changes to our Swiss pen-
sion plan. Adjusted for this and restructuring charges of CHF 54
million in 2013 and CHF 3 million in the prior year, operating ex-
penses increased by CHF 59 million to CHF 2,244 million, mainly
as a result of CHF 45 million higher charges for provisions for liti-
gation, regulatory and similar matters.

Personnel expenses increased by CHF 155 million to CHF 1,442
million, due to the aforementioned credit in 2012 related to
changes to our Swiss pension plan. Adjusted for this item and
restructuring charges, personnel expenses decreased by CHF 148
million to CHF 1,423 million, mainly due to the centralization of
operations units in Corporate Center in July 2012. This centraliza-
tion and subsequent reallocation of the operations units had the
effect of reducing personnel expenses as well as general and ad-
ministrative expenses, and decreasing net charges to other busi-
ness divisions. Moreover, personnel expenses decreased as 2013
included a credit from the release of accruals for untaken vacation
compared with a charge in 2012 when accruals for untaken vaca-
tion were increased. These decreases were partly offset by higher
variable compensation expenses.

General and administrative expenses were CHF 875 million
compared with CHF 857 million in 2012. Adjusted for restructur-
ing charges, general and administrative expenses decreased by
CHF 15 million to CHF 842 million, reflecting the abovementioned
centralization of operations units. This was partly offset by CHF 45
million higher net charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory
and similar matters. Moreover, costs rose as a result of increased
expenses related to the refurbishment of our branch network and
our multi-channel offering, as well as due to higher marketing
expenses.

Net charges to other business divisions were CHF 162 million,
a decrease from CHF 370 million in the prior year, primarily as a
result of the abovementioned centralization of operations units in
2012.

Depreciation was CHF 143 million, an increase of CHF 15 mil-
lion from the prior year, reflecting higher software depreciation
expenses.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 60.9% compared with 50.6% in the
prior year. On an adjusted basis excluding the credit related to
changes to our Swiss pension plan in 2012 as well as restructuring
charges, the cost/income ratio was 59.5% compared with 58.2%
in the prior year and was within our target range of 50% to 60%.



Net interest margin

The net interest margin decreased 4 basis points to 156 basis
points, reflecting the aforementioned reduction in net interest in-
come on a slightly higher average loan volume. The net interest
margin remained within the target range of 140 to 180 basis
points.

Net new business volume growth for retail business

The net new business volume growth rate in our retail business
was 1.9% compared with 3.3% in 2012 and remained within the
target range of 1% to 4%. In the retail business, both net new
client assets and, to a lesser extent, net new loans were again
positive. The slight increase in loans reflected our strategy to grow
our business in high-quality loans moderately and selectively.

Personnel

Retail & Corporate employed 9,463 personnel as of 31 December
2013, a decrease of 693 compared with 10,156 as of 31 Decem-
ber 2012, mainly reflecting changes to allocations of Corporate
Center shared services units’ personnel, which led to a decrease
of approximately 500 personnel.
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Global Asset Management

Global Asset Management

Profit before tax was CHF 467 million in 2014 compared with CHF 576 million in 2013. Adjusted for restructuring charges
in both years, a gain on the sale of our Canadian domestic business in 2013, and credits related to changes to retiree
benefit plans in the US in 2014, profit before tax was CHF 509 million compared with CHF 585 million in the prior year.
This decrease was mainly due to charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters of CHF 55 million.
Excluding money market flows, net new money inflows were CHF 22.6 billion compared with net outflows of CHF 4.8
billion in the prior year.

Business division reporting’

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net management fees? 1,756 1,739 1,721 1
Berfor e e ey (26)
Total operating income 1,902 1,935 1,883 (2)
Personnel expenses 887 873 885 2
General and administrative expenses - T ag 3 15
Senvices (to)/from other business divisions @) an o 18
'Dépreciat‘ibh'éhd' impairrﬁéhf 'o'f'propert‘y‘ and 'e'quipme‘n‘t' """""""""""""""""" a3 a7 37 9)
Ar'nortizat‘ié'n' and impair‘rﬁ'eh't'o'f intangi‘bl'e' ééééts """"""""""""""""""" 9 g s 13
Total operating expenses? 1,435 1,359 1,314 6
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 467 576 569 (19)
Key performance indicators*
Pre-tax profit growth (%) (18.9) 1.2 32.3
o (%) .......................................................................................... Seg g Gog
e moneygrovvth excludlngmoney U TP, (%) ......................................................... Ly (.1. O) ................ (.1‘ 2) ....................
o margln RS RS (bps) ........................................................................... Sy G G &
Information by business line
Operating Income
Traditional investments 1,118 1,144 1,119 (2)
OConnorandA&QZ10 ................. s s (21)
b ] et Gy sog e
S andpnvate eqmty ................................................................................... R gt o o
B S g Sy e i
Total operating income 1,902 1,935 1,883 (2)
Gross margin on invested assets (bps)
Traditional investments 21 22 23 (5)
Seomo A&Q ............................................................................................... g g gy (31)
bl o] st gy R Gy o
R pnvate eqmty .................................................................................. PR e e )
Total gross margin 31 33 33 (6)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Net management fees include transaction fees, fund administration revenues (including net interest and trading income from lending activities and for-
eign exchange hedging as part of the fund services offering), gains or losses from seed money and co-investments, funding costs and other items that are not performance fees. In addition, in 2013 net management fees
included a gain on disposal of CHF 34 million from the divestment of our Canadian domestic business. 3 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this report for information
on restructuring charges. 4 Refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators. In the second quarter of 2014, the definition of the net new money
growth key performance indicator was amended. Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments and financial reporting changes” section of our second quarter report for more information.
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Business division reporting’ (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Net new money (CHF billion)
Traditional investments 10.7 (18.5) (11.6)
OConnorandA&Q .............................................................................................. gy (.2. 5) ................ (27) .....................
el o TR B BRI
S andpnvateequny ............................................................................... (05) B TR (02) ...................
Total net new money 15.9 (19.9) (13.3)

Net new money excluding money market flows 22.6 (4.8) (5.9)
...... ofWh/chfromth/rdparnes11307(06)
""" of which: from UBS’s wealth management businesses g1z sy gy
Moneymarketﬂows .......................................................................................... (67)(151) ................ (74) .....................
...... ofwh/chfromth/rdpart/es00(15)09
..... ofWh/chfromUBSSvvea/thmanagementbusmesses(67)(736)(83)
Invested assets (CHF billion)
Traditional investments 574 506 504 13
OConnorandA&Q ............................................................................................... G B R s
el o PR R PR o
S andpnvate equny .................................................................................. RIS g g 5
Total invested assets 664 583 581 14
e ofWh/chexc/ud/ngmoneymarketfunds600 ................. L oy e
..... ofWh/chmoneymarketfunds646583(2)
Assets under administration by fund services
Assets under administration (CHF billion)? 520 432 410 20
R e (CHFblII|on)3 ................................................................ Gy T
o margm S underadmmlstratlon(bps) ................................................................ [ JERHEEES RS .
Additional information
Average attributed equity (CHF billion)* 1.7 1.8 2.2 (6)

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 1.5 1.4 1.5 7

Personnel (full-time equivalents) 3,817 3,729 3,781 2

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 This includes UBS and third-party fund assets, for which the fund services unit provides professional services, including fund set-up, accounting and re-
porting for traditional investment funds and alternative funds. 3 Inflows of assets under administration from new and existing funds less outflows from existing funds or fund exits. 4 Refer to the “Capital manage-
ment” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. 5 Based on the Basel IIl framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are
on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the "Capital management” section of this report for more information. 6 Based on phase-in Basel Ill risk-weighted assets for 2014 and 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets
for 2012. 7 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted
exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report for more information.
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Financial and operating performance
Global Asset Management

2014 compared with 2013

Results

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 1,902 million compared with
CHF 1,935 million in 2013. Performance fees were CHF 50 million
lower at CHF 146 million compared with CHF 196 million, mainly
in the O’Connor and A&Q business line. This was partly offset by
higher net management fees, which increased to CHF 1,756 mil-
lion from CHF 1,739 million in 2013. Net management fees in
2013 included a gain of CHF 34 million on the sale of our Cana-
dian domestic business. Excluding this gain in 2013, net manage-
ment fees were CHF 51 million higher in 2014, primarily in global
real estate and traditional investments.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 1,435 million in 2014 com-
pared with CHF 1,359 million in 2013. Adjusted for restructuring
charges of CHF 50 million in 2014 and CHF 43 million in 2013, as
well as credits of CHF 8 million in 2014 related to changes to re-
tiree benefit plans in the US, operating expenses were CHF 77
million higher at CHF 1,393 million compared with CHF 1,316
million. The increase was mainly due to charges for provisions for
litigation, regulatory and similar matters of CHF 55 million com-
pared with zero in 2013.

Personnel expenses were CHF 887 million compared with CHF
873 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 37 million
compared with CHF 10 million and the abovementioned credits
related to retiree benefit plans in the US in 2014, personnel
expenses were CHF 5 million lower at CHF 858 million compared
with CHF 863 million.

General and administrative expenses were CHF 516 million
compared with CHF 448 million. Adjusted for restructuring
charges of CHF 11 million in 2014 and CHF 26 million in 2013,
general and administrative expenses were CHF 83 million higher
at CHF 505 million compared with CHF 422 million. The increase
was mainly due to the abovementioned charges for provisions for
litigation, regulatory and similar matters, a CHF 14 million provi-
sion for a possible settlement related to a fund liquidation and
higher professional fees.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 75.4% compared with 70.2% in the
prior year. Adjusted for the abovementioned restructuring
charges, the gain on sale of our Canadian domestic business, and
the credits related to changes to retiree benefit plans in the US,
the cost/income ratio was 73.2% compared with 69.2% and was
above our target range of 60% to 70%.
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Net new money

The net new money growth rate, excluding money market flows,
was within the target range of 3% to 5% at positive 4.4% com-
pared with negative 1.0% in the prior year.

Excluding money market flows, net new money inflows were
CHF 22.6 billion compared with net new money outflows of CHF
4.8 billion. By channel, net inflows from third parties were CHF
11.3 billion compared with CHF 0.7 billion in 2013. Net inflows
were mainly from clients serviced from Switzerland, Asia Pacific
and Europe. Net new money inflows from clients of UBS’s wealth
management businesses were CHF 11.3 billion compared with
net outflows of CHF 5.5 billion in the prior year. This improvement
mainly resulted from better matching of available and attractive
Global Asset Management products to wealth management cli-
ents’ changing needs. The net inflows were mainly from clients
serviced from Asia Pacific and Europe.

Money market net outflows were CHF 6.7 billion compared
with CHF 15.1 billion. By channel, net flows from third parties
were zero compared with net outflows of CHF 1.5 billion in the
prior year. Net inflows in Asia Pacific and Switzerland were offset
by net outflows in the Americas and Europe. Net outflows from
clients of UBS's wealth management businesses were CHF 6.7 bil-
lion compared with CHF 13.6 billion in the prior year. In both
years, net outflows were primarily due to an ongoing initiative by
Wealth Management Americas to increase deposit account bal-
ances in UBS banking entities. This led to outflows of CHF 3.9
billion from money market funds managed by Global Asset Man-
agement in 2014 and CHF 8.3 billion in 2013. The corresponding
increase in deposit account balances in Wealth Management
Americas does not constitute net new money.

Invested assets

Invested assets were CHF 664 billion as of 31 December 2014
compared with CHF 583 billion as of 31 December 2013. Positive
currency translation effects of CHF 36 billion, favorable market
performance of CHF 30 billion, and net new money inflows of
CHF 16 billion all contributed to the overall increase of CHF 81
billion.

As of 31 December 2014, CHF 209 billion, or 31%, of invested
assets were managed in indexed strategies and CHF 64 billion, or
10%, of invested assets were money market assets. The remain-
ing 59% of invested assets were managed in active, non-money
market strategies. On a regional basis, 32% of invested assets
related to clients serviced from Switzerland, 24% from Europe,
Middle East and Africa, 23% from the Americas, and 21% from
Asia Pacific.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin was 31 basis points compared with 33 basis
points in 2013, and below our target range of 32 to 38 basis
points. This decrease was mainly due to lower performance fees,
changes in the asset mix, and as 2013 included the aforemen-
tioned gain on sale of our Canadian domestic business.



Results by business line

Traditional investments

Operating income was CHF 1,118 million compared with CHF
1,144 million in 2013. Excluding the abovementioned gain on
sale of our Canadian domestic business in 2013, net manage-
ment fees were CHF 14 million higher than in the prior year. Per-
formance fees were CHF 6 million lower.

The gross margin was 21 basis points compared with 22 basis
points, due to changes in the asset mix and 2013 having included
the aforementioned gain on sale of our Canadian domestic busi-
ness.

Net new money inflows were CHF 10.7 billion compared with
net outflows of CHF 18.5 billion in the prior year. Excluding money
market flows, net new money inflows were CHF 17.4 billion com-
pared with net outflows of CHF 3.5 billion. The improvement was
seen across all asset classes and in flows from both third party
clients and clients of UBS’s wealth management businesses. Equi-
ties net inflows, notably to indexed strategies, were CHF 9.2 bil-
lion compared with CHF 2.6 billion. Fixed income net inflows
were CHF 4.6 billion compared with net outflows of CHF 6.0 bil-
lion. Multi-asset net inflows (which included flows related to al-
ternative investments not managed by the O'Connor and A&Q,
global real estate or infrastructure and private equity investment
areas) were CHF 3.6 billion compared with net outflows of CHF
0.1 billion.

Invested assets were CHF 574 billion as of 31 December 2014
compared with CHF 506 billion as of 31 December 2013. By man-
date type, CHF 235 billion of invested assets related to equities,
CHF 154 billion to fixed income, CHF 64 billion to money markets
and CHF 121 billion to multi-asset mandates (including CHF 6
billion of alternative investments not managed by the O'Connor
and A&Q, global real estate or infrastructure and private equity
investment areas).

O’Connor and A&Q

Operating income was CHF 210 million compared with CHF 266
million in 2013 due to lower performance fees in both O'Connor
single-manager funds and A&Q multi-manager funds as well as
slightly lower net management fees. The gross margin decreased

to 66 basis points from 95 basis points due to lower performance
fees. Net new money inflows were CHF 3.3 billion compared with
net outflows of CHF 2.5 billion in the prior year. Net inflows were
mainly to A&Q’s multi-manager funds from clients of UBS’s wealth
management businesses. Invested assets were CHF 35 billion as of
31 December 2014 compared with CHF 27 billion as of 31 De-
cember 2013.

Global real estate

Operating income was CHF 353 million compared with CHF 317
million in 2013, due to higher net management fees, including
higher transaction fees, as well as higher performance fees. The
gross margin increased to 84 basis points compared with 76 basis
points due to the higher performance and transaction fees. Net
new money inflows were CHF 2.3 billion compared with CHF 1.2
billion in 2013. Invested assets were CHF 46 billion as of 31 De-
cember 2014 compared with CHF 42 billion as of 31 December
2013.

Infrastructure and private equity

Operating income was CHF 42 million compared with CHF 38
million in 2013, with the increase mainly reflecting higher net
management fees. The gross margin was 49 basis points com-
pared with 48 basis points. Net new money outflows were CHF
0.5 billion compared with zero in the prior year. Invested assets
were CHF 9 billion as of 31 December 2014 compared with CHF
8 billion as of 31 December 2013.

Fund services

Operating income was CHF 178 million compared with CHF 171
million in 2013, due to higher administration fees resulting from
higher average assets under administration. The gross margin on
assets under administration was 4 basis points, in line with the
prior year. Net new assets under administration inflows were CHF
43.9 billion compared with CHF 3.8 billion in the prior year. Total
assets under administration increased to CHF 520 billion as of
31 December 2014 from CHF 432 billion as of 31 December
2013, mainly due to net new assets under administration, favor-
able market performance of CHF 25 billion and positive currency
translation effects of CHF 20 billion.
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Personnel

Global Asset Management employed 3,817 personnel as of
31 December 2014 compared with 3,729 as of 31 December
2013. The net increase of 88 personnel primarily reflected in-
creases in traditional investments and fund services, partly offset
by decreases in personnel allocated from Corporate Center units.

Investment performance

Although it was another challenging year for active managers in
general, our active equity funds maintained their strong rankings
versus peers over one year and longer-term. Strongly-performing
strategies versus benchmark for 2014 included US equity, pan Eu-
ropean concentrated alpha equity, emerging markets and Asia
equity. Our core global equity strategy underperformed versus
benchmark for the year mainly due to stock selection in US en-
ergy, and indeed our global ex-US equity strategy outperformed.
Indexed strategies met their objectives in 2014 by closely tracking
benchmarks.

In fixed income, developed market bond strategies had a
mixed year with some outperforming and some underperforming
their benchmarks. Yields across developed sovereign markets de-
clined sharply, interest rates reached unprecedented low levels in
many segments and our defensive duration positioning in some
strategies detracted. Emerging market debt strategies underper-
formed as overweights to Venezuelan and Russian US dollar-
denominated bonds were a drag on performance. Overall, fixed
income fund peer rankings remained strong longer-term. Liquidity
and money market funds continued to achieve their capital pres-
ervation objectives.
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In global investment solutions, absolute return strategies had a
positive year and income focused strategies also performed well.
Benchmark-relative strategies had a mixed year with a wide range
of relative returns as asset allocation effects were mixed and stock
selection generally detracted. Currency positioning was also a de-
tractor for the year. Multi-asset fund peer rankings remained
strong longer-term. Global convertible strategies were modestly
behind their benchmarks for the year but, longer-term, retained
good peer rankings.

O’Connor’s flagship multi-strategy hedge fund performed in
line with its multi-strategy peers and was ahead of the broad
hedge fund average. In a strong year for A&Q, core multi-man-
ager hedge funds delivered positive absolute returns and finished
the year ahead of peer indices, in some cases significantly ahead.

Global real estate’s US, Swiss, German and UK direct invest-
ment strategies, Japanese J-REIT and multi-manager strategies
delivered strong positive absolute returns — in most cases dou-
ble-digit — for the year. Pan-European direct funds produced more
mixed results. The Swiss real estate securities composite was
slightly negative versus benchmark but generated strong positive
absolute returns for the year.

In infrastructure and private equity, the direct infrastructure eg-
uity portfolio delivered consistent cash distributions in line with its
investment objectives. Longer-term total returns faced downward
pressure from the sustained low interest rate environment, which
impacted returns in regulated core infrastructure investments.
From private equity portfolios, it was another year of very high
distributions and strong performance. Infrastructure multi-man-
ager portfolios continued to be built out, with investors benefit-
ing from increased distributions from portfolio companies.



2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 1,935 million compared with
CHF 1,883 million in 2012. Performance fees were higher at CHF
196 million compared with CHF 162 million, mainly due to strong
investment performance in O’Connor and A&Q. Net manage-
ment fees included a gain of CHF 34 million on the sale of our
Canadian domestic business. Excluding this gain, net manage-
ment fees were CHF 16 million lower, as lower fees in O'Connor
and A&Q more than offset higher fees in global real estate.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 1,359 million in 2013 com-
pared with CHF 1,314 million in 2012. Adjusted for restructuring
charges of CHF 43 million in 2013 and CHF 20 million in 2012, as
well as credits of CHF 30 million and CHF 16 million in 2012 re-
lated to changes to our Swiss pension plan and our retiree benefit
plans in the US, respectively, operating expenses were lower at
CHF 1,316 million compared with CHF 1,340 million.

Personnel expenses were CHF 873 million compared with CHF
885 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges and the above-
mentioned credits related to our Swiss pension plan and US re-
tiree benefit plans, personnel expenses were lower at CHF 863
million compared with CHF 911 million, mainly due to lower vari-
able compensation expenses.

General and administrative expenses were CHF 448 million in
2013 compared with CHF 395 million. Adjusted for restructuring
charges of CHF 26 million in 2013, general and administrative
expenses were CHF 422 million compared with CHF 395 million.
This increase was mainly due to higher professional fees, higher
ETF-related index licensing fees, and higher fund promotion activ-
ity. Restructuring charges in 2013 included CHF 19 million real
estate-related provisions for onerous lease contracts as we ratio-
nalized our office space in some principal locations.

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment in-
creased to CHF 47 million from CHF 37 million in the prior year,
primarily due to asset impairments related to the abovementioned
office space rationalization and higher depreciation of software
and information technology equipment.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 70.2% compared with 69.8% in the
prior year. Adjusted for restructuring charges, the gain on sale of
our Canadian domestic business and credits related to our Swiss
pension plan and US retiree benefit plans, the cost/income ratio
improved to 69.2% from 71.2% and was within our target range
of 60% to 70%.

Net new money

The net new money growth rate, excluding money market flows,
was negative 1.0% compared with negative 1.2%. Our target net
new money growth rate range is 3% to 5%.

Excluding money market flows, net new money outflows were
CHF 4.8 billion compared with CHF 5.9 billion. By channel, net
inflows from third parties were CHF 0.7 billion compared with net
outflows of CHF 0.6 billion in 2012. Net inflows, notably from
clients serviced from Europe, Middle East and Africa and from
Switzerland, were partly offset by net outflows from clients ser-
viced from the Americas. Net new money outflows from clients of
UBS’s wealth management businesses were CHF 5.5 billion com-
pared with CHF 5.2 billion in the prior year. Net outflows, mainly
from clients serviced from Switzerland, were partly offset by net
inflows from clients serviced from the Americas.

Money market net outflows were CHF 15.1 billion compared
with CHF 7.4 billion. By channel, net outflows from third parties
were CHF 1.5 billion compared with net inflows of CHF 0.9 billion
in the prior year and were mainly from clients serviced from the
Americas. Money market net outflows from clients of UBS's
wealth management businesses were CHF 13.6 billion compared
with CHF 8.3 billion in the prior year. In both years, net outflows
were primarily due to an ongoing initiative by Wealth Manage-
ment Americas to increase deposit account balances in UBS bank-
ing entities. This led to CHF 8.3 billion in outflows from money
market funds managed by Global Asset Management in 2013
and CHF 6.2 billion in 2012. The corresponding increase in de-
posit account balances in Wealth Management Americas does
not constitute net new money.

Invested assets

Invested assets were CHF 583 billion as of 31 December 2013
compared with CHF 581 billion as of 31 December 2012. Net new
money outflows, combined with negative currency translation ef-
fects of CHF 15 billion and a reduction of CHF 7 billion related to
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the aforementioned sale of our Canadian domestic business,
were more than offset by positive market performance of CHF 44
billion.

As of 31 December 2013, CHF 166 billion, or 28%, of invested
assets were managed in indexed strategies and CHF 65 billion, or
11%, of invested assets were money market assets. The remain-
ing 61% of invested assets were managed in active, non-money
market strategies. On a regional basis, 34% of invested assets
related to clients serviced from Switzerland, 24% from the Amer-
icas, 22% from Europe, Middle East and Africa and 20% from
Asia Pacific.

Gross margin on invested assets
The gross margin of 33 basis points was in line with 2012 and
within our target range of 32 to 38 basis points.

Results by business line

Traditional investments

Operating income was CHF 1,144 million compared with CHF
1,119 million in 2012. Excluding the abovementioned gain on
sale of our Canadian domestic business, net management fees
were in line with the prior year, while performance fees were
lower.

The gross margin was 22 basis points compared with 23 basis
points, reflecting lower performance fees.

Net new money outflows were CHF 18.5 billion compared
with CHF 11.6 billion in the prior year. Excluding money market
flows, net new money outflows were CHF 3.5 billion compared
with CHF 4.3 billion. Equities net inflows, notably to indexed
strategies, were CHF 2.6 billion compared with net outflows of
CHF 1.3 billion. Fixed income net outflows were CHF 6.0 billion
compared with net inflows of CHF 2.4 billion. Multi-asset net out-
flows (which included flows related to alternative investments not
managed by the O'Connor and A&Q, global real estate or infra-
structure and private equity investment areas) were CHF 0.1 bil-
lion compared with CHF 5.4 billion.

Invested assets were CHF 506 billion as of 31 December 2013
compared with CHF 504 billion as of 31 December 2012. By man-
date type, CHF 196 billion of invested assets related to equities,
CHF 135 billion to fixed income, CHF 65 billion to money markets
and CHF 109 billion to multi-asset mandates (including CHF 5
billion of alternative investments not managed by the O'Connor
and A&Q, global real estate or infrastructure and private equity
investment areas).

O’Connor and A&Q

During 2013, the management of the former alternative and
guantitative investments business line was split into its two con-
stituent parts — O'Connor, the single-manager hedge funds busi-
ness, and A&Q hedge fund solutions (A&Q), the multi-manager
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hedge funds business. The two businesses continue to be re-
ported together as O’'Connor and A&Q.

Operating income was CHF 266 million compared with CHF
268 million in the prior year. Higher performance fees as a result
of strong investment performance, in both A&Q multi-manager
funds and O’Connor single-manager funds, were offset by lower
net management fees as a result of net new money outflows.

The gross margin increased to 95 basis points from 91 basis
points due to higher performance fees.

Net new money outflows were CHF 2.5 billion compared with
CHF 2.7 billion in the prior year.

Invested assets were CHF 27 billion as of 31 December 2013
compared with CHF 28 billion as of 31 December 2012.

Global real estate

Operating income was CHF 317 million compared with CHF 293
million, due to higher net management and performance fees.
The gross margin increased to 76 basis points compared with 74
basis points in 2012, due to higher operating income. Net new
money inflows were CHF 1.2 billion compared with CHF 1.3 bil-
lion in 2012. Invested assets were CHF 42 billion as of 31 Decem-
ber 2013 compared with CHF 40 billion as of 31 December 2012.

Infrastructure and private equity

Operating income was CHF 38 million compared with CHF 35
million, with the increase reflecting higher net management fees.
The gross margin was 48 basis points compared with 44 basis
points. Net new money flows were zero compared with net out-
flows of CHF 0.2 billion in the prior year. Invested assets were CHF
8 billion as of 31 December 2013, in line with the prior year-end.

Fund services

Operating income was CHF 171 million compared with CHF 169
million, due to higher administration fees resulting from higher
average assets under administration. The gross margin on assets
under administration was 4 basis points, in line with the prior
year. Net new assets under administration inflows were CHF 3.8
billion compared with CHF 7.7 billion in the prior year. Total assets
under administration increased to CHF 432 billion as of 31 De-
cember 2013 from CHF 410 billion as of 31 December 2012,
mainly due to positive market performance and net new assets
under administration inflows.

Personnel

Global Asset Management employed 3,729 personnel as of
31 December 2013 compared with 3,781 as of 31 December
2012, a net decrease of 52 personnel. The decrease was primarily
due to cost reduction programs in Corporate Center units, and a
net reduction in O'Connor and A&Q, partly offset by headcount
increases in fund services and global real estate.



Investment Bank

The Investment Bank recorded a loss before tax of CHF 47 million in 2014 compared with a profit of CHF 2,300 million in
2013. On an adjusted basis, the Investment Bank recorded a profit before tax of CHF 199 million compared with CHF
2,455 million, mainly due to CHF 1,846 million higher charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters
and lower revenues in Investor Client Services, partly offset by higher Corporate Client Solutions revenues. Fully applied
risk-weighted assets increased by CHF 4 billion to CHF 67 billion as of 31 December 2014.

Business division reporting’

As of or for the year ended

% change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Corporate Client Solutions 3,206 2,979 2,826 8
Advisory 708 588 638 20
'Equity Cap‘i{él'l'vlarkets ................................ : .',021 ‘..1.’.142 ..... G 0
Dbt Capit‘a'I'IVI'arkets ................................ : 0 5 sa5 ‘..1.’.009 ..... 5
'Financing‘Sb'Il'Jt'ions g e R i
ik Managérhént .................................. ) . ...(,239) . ”'('283) ..... &)
'Investor Cllent Servicés;m ‘..5.,'137 ‘..5,'619 ‘..4,'319 ..... (9)
Equities 3,695 3,915 2,440 (6)
Foreign Exchange, Rates and Credit 1,442 1,704 ey (15)
Income 8,343 8,599 7,144 (3)
Credit Ioss‘('e'><'p'ense)/ recbiléﬁ """"""""""""""" ) o 0
Total operating income 8,346 8,601 7,144 (3)
Personnel expenses 4,065 3,984 4,539 2
General and administrative é}(benses o o o o o h 4,037 h '2,'040 h '2','312 """ 98
Services (tdj/frbm other business divisions 3 3 ‘ "'('202) """ 0
'Depreciati(‘)h'éhd impairnﬁérﬁ 6fproperty and 'equipmentm” Cm 260 . na 5
Amortization and impairrﬁ.eh.t'of intangiblte.é.s'sets .................... 15 u 13 7
Total operating expenses? 8,392 6,300 6,877 33
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax (47) 2,300 267

Key performance indicators?

Pre-tax profit growth (%) 761.4

Cost/income ratio (%) 100.6 73.3 96.3

Return on attributed equity (%) (0.6) 28.7 2.4

Return on assets, gross (%)* 3.2 3.3 2.4

Average VaR (1-day, 95% confidence, 5 years of historical data)® 12 13 30 (8)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new

accounting standards, changes in accounting policies or due to a change to report own credit gains and losses as part of Corporate Center — Core Functions.

2 Refer to "Note 32 Changes in organization” in the

“Financial information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges. 3 Refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of this report for the definitions of our key performance indicators.
4 In the fourth quarter of 2014, UBS removed exchange-traded derivative (ETD) client cash balances from the balance sheet. Balance sheet assets as of 31 December 2013 were restated from CHF 245.0 billion to
CHF 240.0 billion. The average leverage ratio denominator for fourth quarter 2013 was restated from CHF 275.3 billion to CHF 270.3 billion. Associated ratios were restated accordingly. Other prior periods were not
restated. Refer to “Note 1 Basis of accounting” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. 5 Average VaR has not been restated for periods prior to 2013.
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Business division reporting’ (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13

Additional information
Total assets (CHF billion)?3
Funded assets (CHF billion)

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion) 0.1 0.1 0.1 0
Compensation ratio (%) 48.7 46.3 63.5
Impaired loan portfolio as a % of total loan portfolio, gross (%)° 0.3 0.2 0.3
Personnel (full-time equivalents) 11,794 11,615 13,595 2

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new
accounting standards, changes in accounting policies or due to a change to report own credit gains and losses as part of Corporate Center — Core Functions. 2 In the fourth quarter of 2014, UBS removed
exchange-traded derivative (ETD) client cash balances from the balance sheet. Balance sheet assets as of 31 December 2013 were restated from CHF 245.0 billion to CHF 240.0 billion. The average leverage ratio de-
nominator for fourth quarter 2013 was restated from CHF 275.3 billion to CHF 270.3 billion. Associated ratios were restated accordingly. Other prior periods were not restated. Refer to “Note 1 Basis of accounting” in
the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. 3 Based on third-party view, i.e., without intercompany balances. 4 Funded assets are defined as total IFRS balance sheet assets less positive
replacement values (PRV) and collateral delivered against over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. 5 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution frame-
work. 6 Based on the Basel Il framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report
for more information. 7 Based on phase-in Basel Il risk-weighted assets for 2014 and 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. 8 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted
exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period.
Refer to the "Capital management” section of this report for more information. 9 Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this report for more information on impairment ratios.
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2014 compared with 2013

Results

Operating income

Total operating income decreased CHF 255 million or 3% to CHF
8,346 million from CHF 8,601 million, as revenues in Investor Cli-
ent Services declined CHF 482 million, partly offset by CHF 227
million higher revenues in Corporate Client Solutions. On an ad-
justed basis, excluding an impairment loss of CHF 48 million on a
financial investment available-for-sale and a gain of CHF 43 mil-
lion from the partial sale of our investment in the financial services
company Markit, both in 2014, as well as a CHF 55 million gain
from the sale of our remaining proprietary trading business in
2013, total operating income decreased CHF 195 million or 2%
to CHF 8,351 million from CHF 8,546 million. In US dollar terms,
adjusted operating income decreased 1%.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased by CHF 2,092 million or 33%
to CHF 8,392 million compared with CHF 6,300 million. Adjusted
for restructuring charges of CHF 261 million in 2014 and CHF 210
million in 2013, and credits of CHF 20 million related to changes
to retiree benefit plans in the US in 2014, total operating expenses
increased by CHF 2,061 million or 34% to CHF 8,151 million com-
pared with CHF 6,090 million. This increase was mainly due to
CHF 1,846 million higher charges for provisions for litigation, reg-
ulatory and similar matters, as well as higher professional fees,
and was partly offset by lower personnel expenses. In US dollar
terms, adjusted operating expenses also increased 34%.

Personnel expenses increased to CHF 4,065 million from CHF
3,984 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 130 mil-
lion in 2014 and CHF 9 million in 2013, as well as the aforemen-
tioned credits related to changes to retiree benefit plans in the US
in 2014, personnel expenses decreased slightly to CHF 3,955 mil-
lion from CHF 3,975 million.

General and administrative expenses increased to CHF 4,037
million from CHF 2,040 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges
of CHF 125 million in 2014 and CHF 177 million in 2013, general
and administrative expenses increased to CHF 3,912 million from
CHF 1,863 million, mainly due to the aforementioned increase in

charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar mat-
ters, and higher professional fees, partly offset by the effects of
our ongoing cost reduction programs.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio increased to 100.6% from 73.3%. On an
adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio increased to 97.6% from
71.3% and was above our target range of 65% to 85%.

Risk-weighted assets
Fully applied risk-weighted assets (RWA) increased by CHF 4 bil-
lion to CHF 67 billion as of 31 December 2014 from CHF 62 billion
as of 31 December 2013 and remained within our limit of CHF 70
billion. The increase was mainly due to CHF 6 billion higher mar-
ket risk RWA related to risks-not-in-VaR and stressed value-at-risk,
partly offset by CHF 1 billion lower operational risk RWA, resulting
from a reduction in the incremental RWA based on the supple-
mental operational risk capital analysis mutually agreed to by UBS
and FINMA.
- Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for
more information

Funded assets
Funded assets increased to CHF 171 billion as of 31 December
2014 from CHF 157 billion as of 31 December 2013, mainly due
to currency effects, and remained within our limit of CHF 200
billion. Excluding currency effects, funded assets increased by ap-
proximately CHF 3 billion, mainly due to higher trading assets in
the equities business.
- Refer to the “Balance sheet” section of this report for more
information
- Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting
changes “ section of this report for more information
on the removal of ETD client cash balances from our balance
sheet

Return on attributed equity
Return on attributed equity (ROAE) for 2014 was negative 0.6%,
and 2.6% on an adjusted basis, below our target of over 15%.
- Refer to the discussion of “Equity attribution and return on
attributed equity” in the “Capital management” section of this
report for more information
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Operating income by business unit

Corporate Client Solutions

Corporate Client Solutions revenues increased 8% to CHF 3,206
million from CHF 2,979 million, largely due to higher revenues in
advisory and debt capital markets and lower risk management
charges, partly offset by lower revenues in equity capital markets
and financing solutions. In US dollar terms, revenues increased
9%.

Advisory revenues increased 20% to CHF 708 million from CHF
588 million, mainly reflecting an increased volume of mergers and
acquisition transactions in 2014.

Equity capital markets revenues decreased 11% to CHF 1,021
million from CHF 1,142 million. This decrease was mainly due to
a large private transaction recorded in 2013, partly offset by
higher revenues from public offerings in 2014 as the fee pool in-
creased 19%.

Debt capital markets revenues increased 13% to CHF 1,005
million from CHF 888 million, due to higher revenues from lever-
aged finance, partly offset by slightly lower investment grade rev-
enues. Excluding a gain on an investment in an associate, which
was reclassified to a financial investment available-for-sale follow-
ing its initial public offering in 2014, adjusted leveraged finance
revenues were broadly in line with 2013.

Financing solutions revenues decreased 14% to CHF 514 mil-
lion compared with CHF 599 million, mainly due to a reduction in
revenues in the real estate finance business.

Risk management revenues improved to negative CHF 42 mil-
lion from negative CHF 239 million, mainly due to the positive
effect of widening credit spreads during 2014.

Investor Client Services

Investor Client Services revenues decreased 9% to CHF 5,137 mil-
lion from CHF 5,619 million, due to lower revenues in both the
equities and foreign exchange, rates and credit businesses. In US
dollar terms, revenues decreased 8%.

-> Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting
changes” section of this report for more information on the
transfer of our exchange-traded fixed income derivatives
execution business from equities into foreign exchange, rates
and credit

Equities

Equities revenues decreased 6% to CHF 3,695 million from CHF
3,915 million. Adjusted for the aforementioned impairment loss
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and gain on a partial sale of a financial investment available-for-
sale in 2014, as well as a gain from the sale of our remaining
proprietary trading business in 2013, revenues decreased 3% to
CHF 3,739 million from CHF 3,860 million due to lower revenues
in derivatives, other equities and cash, partly offset by higher rev-
enues in financing services.

Cash revenues decreased slightly to CHF 1,352 million com-
pared with CHF 1,374 million, mainly due to lower commission
income as client activity levels declined.

Derivatives revenues decreased to CHF 1,126 million from CHF
1,350 million, mainly as a result of lower trading revenues, reflect-
ing lower volatility levels during 2014.

Financing services revenues increased to CHF 1,289 million from
CHF 1,084 million, mainly due to higher equity finance revenues.

Other equities revenues decreased to negative CHF 70 million
from positive CHF 108 million. Adjusted for an impairment loss of
CHF 48 million on a financial investment available-for-sale in 2014
and a gain from the sale of our former proprietary trading busi-
ness in 2013, other equities revenues decreased to negative CHF
22 million from positive CHF 53 million. This decrease was mainly
due to higher revenues in 2013 related to equity investments prior
to their transfer to Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Port-
folio, as well as a gain related to the divestment of our participa-
tion in Euroclear Plc.

Foreign exchange, rates and credit

Foreign exchange, rates and credit revenues decreased 15% to
CHF 1,442 million from CHF 1,704 million. Adjusted for gains re-
lated to the aforementioned partial sale of a financial investment
available-for-sale, revenues decreased to CHF 1,403 million from
CHF 1,704 million, with lower revenues across most products as
client activity and volatility levels decreased compared with 2013,
reflecting the ongoing macroeconomic uncertainty.

Foreign exchange revenues declined, mainly due to lower rev-
enues from the foreign exchange spot and options businesses,
reflecting the lower client activity and volatility levels.

Rates and credit revenues declined, primarily due to weaker
trading performance in the credit business.

Personnel

The Investment Bank employed 11,794 personnel as of 31 De-
cember 2014, an increase of 179 compared with 11,615 as of
31 December 2013, mainly due to an increase in personnel allo-
cated from Corporate Center shared services units.



2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income

Total operating income increased 20% to CHF 8,601 million from
CHF 7,144 million, mainly as a result of higher equities revenues
within Investor Client Services. On an adjusted basis, excluding a
gain from the sale of our remaining proprietary trading business
in the first half of 2013, total operating income increased 20% to
CHF 8,546 million from CHF 7,144 million. In US dollar terms,
adjusted operating income increased 21%.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased 8% to CHF 6,300 million
compared with CHF 6,877 million. Adjusted for restructuring
charges of CHF 210 million in 2013 and CHF 273 million in 2012,
a credit of CHF 91 million related to changes to our retiree benefit
plans in the US and a credit of CHF 51 million related to changes
to our Swiss pension plan in 2012, total operating expenses de-
creased 10% to CHF 6,090 million compared with CHF 6,746
million. This reduction was mainly due to our ongoing cost reduc-
tion programs and CHF 241 million lower charges for provisions
for litigation, regulatory and similar matters. These decreases
were partly offset by higher variable compensation expenses, re-
flecting improved business performance. In US dollar terms, ad-
justed operating expenses decreased 9%.

Personnel expenses declined to CHF 3,984 million from CHF
4,539 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges of CHF 9 million
in 2013 and CHF 250 million in 2012, as well as the abovemen-
tioned credits related to changes to our retiree benefit plans in the
US and our Swiss pension plan in 2012, personnel expenses de-
creased to CHF 3,975 million from CHF 4,431 million, largely due
to savings resulting from our ongoing cost reduction programs,
partly offset by higher variable compensation expenses, in line
with improved business performance.

General and administrative expenses decreased to CHF 2,040
million from CHF 2,312 million. Adjusted for restructuring charges
of CHF 177 million in 2013 and CHF 11 million in 2012, general
and administrative expenses decreased to CHF 1,863 million from
CHF 2,301 million, largely due to CHF 241 million lower charges
for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters and
lower professional fees.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio improved to 73.3% from 96.3%. On an
adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio improved to 71.3% from
94.4%, within our target range of 65% to 85%.

Risk-weighted assets

Fully applied RWA decreased to CHF 62 billion as of 31 December
2013 from CHF 64 billion as of 31 December 2012, primarily due
to a reduction in credit risk RWA, partly offset by the incremental
RWA resulting from the supplemental operational risk capital
analysis mutually agreed to by UBS and FINMA. Year-end 2013
RWA were within our target of less than CHF 70 billion.

Funded assets

Funded assets decreased to CHF 157 billion as of 31 December
2013 from CHF 185 billion as of 31 December 2012 and were
within our limit of less than CHF 200 billion. This decline was
largely due to lower collateral trading assets across businesses as
well as due to a reduction in trading portfolio assets in our foreign
exchange, rates and credit business and a reduction in lending
assets in Corporate Client Solutions.

Return on attributed equity
Return on attributed equity for 2013 was 28.7%, and 30.6% on
an adjusted basis, consistent with our target of more than 15%.

Operating income by business unit

Corporate Client Solutions

Corporate Client Solutions revenues increased 5% to CHF 2,979
million from CHF 2,826 million, largely due to higher revenues in
equity capital markets. In US dollar terms, revenues increased
6%.

Advisory revenues declined 8% to CHF 588 million from CHF
638 million, mainly as the market fee pool decreased 11%.

Equity capital markets revenues increased 47% to CHF 1,142
million from CHF 777 million. This increase was mainly due to a
large private transaction recorded in the first half of 2013.

Debt capital markets revenues decreased 12% to CHF 888 mil-
lion from CHF 1,009 million, largely due to a decline in investment
grade revenues. Leveraged finance revenues were broadly in line
with the prior year.

Financing solutions revenues decreased 13% to CHF 599 mil-
lion compared with CHF 685 million, mainly due to a reduction in
revenues in both the structured financing and real estate finance
businesses.

Risk management revenues improved to negative CHF 239 mil-
lion from negative CHF 283 million, mainly due to lower mark-to-
market losses.

Investor Client Services

Investor Client Services revenues increased 30% to CHF 5,619 mil-
lion from CHF 4,319 million, due to higher revenues in the equities
businesses. In US dollar terms, revenues also increased 30%.
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Equities
Equities revenues increased to CHF 3,915 million from CHF 2,440
million, as a result of higher revenues across all businesses and
regions.

Cash revenues increased to CHF 1,374 million compared with
CHF 879 million. Revenues increased due to higher commission
income and an improvement in client trading revenues. In addi-
tion, 2012 included a loss of CHF 349 million related to the Face-
book initial public offering.

Derivatives revenues increased to CHF 1,350 million from CHF
660 million, mainly as a result of higher revenues in Asia Pacific
and Europe, Middle East and Africa. In addition, 2012 included
negative adjustments related to the refinement of our own credit
calculation methodology.

In financing services revenues increased to CHF 1,084 million
from CHF 944 million, mainly as a result of higher trading reve-
nues in equity finance.

Other equities revenues increased to CHF 108 million from
negative CHF 44 million. Adjusted for a gain from the sale of our
former proprietary trading business in 2013, other equities reve-
nues increased to CHF 53 million from negative CHF 44 million.
This improvement was mainly due to both higher revenues on
equity investments prior to their transfer to Corporate Center —
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Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, and a gain related to the divest-
ment of our participation in Euroclear Plc.

Foreign exchange, rates and credit

Foreign exchange, rates and credit revenues decreased to CHF
1,704 million from CHF 1,879 million, mainly due to lower rates
and credit revenues.

Foreign exchange revenues declined slightly, primarily due to a
decrease in revenues from the emerging market short-term inter-
est rate business, partly offset by an increase in electronic trading
revenues as volumes rose.

Rates and credit revenues declined, primarily due to weaker
trading performance in the flow businesses. This was partly offset
by negative debit valuation adjustments of CHF 18 million in 2013
compared with negative debit valuation adjustments of CHF 115
million in the prior year.

Personnel

The Investment Bank employed 11,615 personnel as of 31 De-
cember 2013, a decrease of 1,980 compared with 13,595 as of
31 December 2012, mainly as a result of our ongoing cost reduc-
tion programs.



Corporate Center

Corporate Center reporting — Total'

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indlicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Income excluding own credit (1,153) (380) 2,029 203
O et (283) ........ (2202) ...............
Cradit o s(expense)/recovery3 ............................................................. o ST (78) ,,,,,
Total operating income (860) (660) (251)
Personnel expenses 794 939 910
General and administrative expenses 99 2443 2837
Services (to)/from other business divisions s & 3
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment 29 5. 51
Impawmentof 'g'o'o'dwi‘ll .................................................................... g G 3030 ......
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 6 3 8B 100
Total operating expenses* 1,832 3,507 7,210 (48)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (2,692) (4,167) (7,461) (35)

Additional information

Average attributed equity (CHF billion)® 233 (12)
............................................ e (8)
............................................. wi
............................................. s

Leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, CHF billion) 334, 3945

Personnel before allocations (full-time equivalents) 24,082 25,892

Allocations to business divisions (full-time equivalents) ~(@1324) 21441 (23,1000

Personnel after allocations (full-time equivalents) 7 aas0 2640 2790

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to the retrospective adoption of
new accounting standards, changes in accounting policies or due to a change to report own credit gains and losses as part of Corporate Center — Core Functions. 2 Represents own credit changes on financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The cumulative own credit loss for such debt held on 31 December 2014 amounts to CHF 0.3 billion. This loss has increased the fair value of financial liabilities designated
at fair value recognized on our balance sheet. Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. 3 Includes credit loss (expense)/recovery on reclas-
sified and acquired securities. 4 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges. s Refer to the “Capital management” section
of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. 6 Based on third-party view, i.e., without intercompany balances. 7 Based on the Basel Il framework as applicable for Swiss systemically rele-
vant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the "Capital management” section of this report for more information. 8 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as "to-
tal adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the
reporting period. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information.
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Corporate Center - Core Functions

Corporate Center — Core Functions recorded a loss before tax of CHF 728 million in 2014 compared with a loss of

CHF 1,854 million in the prior year. 2014 included total operating expenses remaining in Corporate Center — Core
Functions after service allocations of CHF 688 million. Total operating income was negative CHF 39 million and included
treasury income remaining in Corporate Center — Core Functions of negative CHF 367 million and an own credit gain

of CHF 292 miillion.

Corporate Center reporting — Core Functions'’

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Treasury income remaining in Corporate Center — Core Functions (902) (59)
oun e R (283) .......
Ofher S R I IR (80)
Total operating income (1,007) (96)
Personnel expenses 424 0
General and administrative wpemses T s 42 1896 (42)
Services (to)/from other business divisions g Y
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment 2 o9
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets g oo
Total operating expenses? 847 (19)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (1,854) (61)
Additional information
Average attributed equity (CHF billion)* 15.5 12.5 6.6 24
Totalasse‘t‘s'('C'l'-I'F'brllron)‘H”m 2578 Ca74 w29 4
Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, CHF bilion 301 07 62 45
Rlsk welg‘rrted assets (phés'é'rh' CHF bllilerr) ............................... 322 T 213 w67 51
Leverage ratio d'e'nomrna‘tbr('bhése in, CHF 'brl'lron) 2408 S35 3
Personnel before allocations (full-time equivalents) 23,637 23,860 25,351 (1)
Allocations to business divisions and CC — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio (full-tine equivalents) (22,667) (22804  (4863) | 0
Personnel after allocations (full-time equivalents) 970 105% 488 (8)
Corporate Center — Core Functions — expenses before service allocation to business divisions and CC - Non-core and Legacy Portfolio
Personnel expenses 3,937 4,199 4,110 (6)
General and administrative expenses a1 4263 5236 | 3)
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment " 7e 761 647 0
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 6 4 : 50
Total operating expenses before service allocation to business divisions and
CC - Non-core and Legacy Portfolio® 8,849 9,227 9,995 (4)
Net allocations to business divisions ('8,'1'6'1) """ (8381) N h (7986) """"" (3)
of which: Wealth Management 2115 (2,068) e 2
of which: Wealth Management Americas 1127 (1,132) (059 0
of which: Retail & Corporate (1198 (1,301) 40 @)
of which: Global Asset Management @98 s38) 499 )
of which: Investment Bank 2707 (2,515) e 8
o which: Non-core and legacy Portfolio (5199 ®7 663 (37)
Total operating expenses? 688 847 2,008 (19)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new
accounting standards, changes in accounting policies or due to a change to report own credit gains and losses as part of Corporate Center — Core Functions. 2 Represents own credit changes on financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The cumulative own credit loss for such debt held on 31 December 2014 amounts to CHF 0.3 billion. This loss has increased the fair value of financial liabilities designated at
fair value recognized on our balance sheet. Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. 3 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges. 4 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. 5 Based on
third-party view, i.e., without intercompany balances. 6 Based on the Basel IIl framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the
"Capital management” section of this report for more information. 7 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio require-
ments. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to the "Capital management” section of this report for more information.
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2014 compared with 2013

Results

Operating income
Total operating income was negative CHF 39 million in 2014.
Treasury income remaining in Corporate Center — Core Functions
of negative CHF 367 million was partly offset by an own credit
gain on financial liabilities designated at fair value of CHF 292
million and income related to other items of CHF 36 million. Total
operating income in the prior year was negative CHF 1,007 mil-
lion.
-> Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on own
credit

Treasury income remaining in Corporate Center — Core Func-
tions, after allocations to the business divisions, was negative
CHF 367 million in 2014. This mainly reflected central funding
costs related to our long-term debt portfolio of CHF 771 million,
which were retained in Group Treasury, partly offset by interest
income of CHF 129 million related to preferred securities, gains
of CHF 113 million from cross-currency basis swaps which are
held as economic hedges and a gain of CHF 47 million related to
our macro cash flow hedges. Treasury income also included re-
tained revenues from the investment of the Group’s equity.

Compared with the prior year, treasury income remaining in
Corporate Center — Core Functions improved to negative CHF
367 million from negative CHF 902 million. This improvement was
mainly due to the aforementioned gains from cross-currency basis
swaps and our macro cash flow hedges compared with the prior-
year losses of CHF 222 million and CHF 153 million, respectively.
In addition, 2013 included net losses of 194 million related to the
buyback of debt. These positive effects were partly offset by in-
creased central funding costs retained in Group Treasury of CHF
771 million compared with CHF 510 million, partly due to new
debt issuances.

- Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for

more information on funding costs

We recorded an own credit gain on financial liabilities desig-
nated at fair value of CHF 292 million, primarily as life-to-date
own credit losses partially reversed due to time decay. The prior
year included an own credit loss of CHF 283 million.

Operating income excluding own credit and treasury income de-
clined to CHF 36 million from CHF 178 million in 2013, mainly due
to lower gains on sales of real estate of CHF 44 million compared
with CHF 288 million. In addition, 2014 included a credit of CHF 58
million related to the release of a provision for litigation, regulatory
and similar matters which was recorded within other income.

Operating expenses before service allocations

On a gross basis, before service allocations to the business divi-
sions and Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, total
operating expenses decreased by CHF 378 million to CHF 8,849
million. Restructuring charges were CHF 484 million compared
with CHF 707 million in the prior year. 2014 also included credits
of CHF 16 million related to changes to retiree benefit plans in the
US. Adjusted for these items, operating expenses before service
allocations were CHF 8,381 million compared with CHF 8,520
million in the prior year. This decrease of CHF 139 million was
mainly due to CHF 338 million lower personnel expenses and a
net release of CHF 125 million for provisions for litigation, regula-
tory and similar matters compared with charges of CHF 187 mil-
lion. These decreases were partly offset by higher professional
fees related to our strategic and regulatory priorities and increased
outsourcing activities.

Personnel expenses decreased by CHF 262 million to CHF
3,937 million. On an adjusted basis, excluding net restructuring
charges of CHF 221 million in 2014 and CHF 129 million in 2013,
as well as the aforementioned credits of CHF 16 million related to
changes to retiree benefit plans in the US, personnel expenses
were CHF 3,732 million in 2014 compared with CHF 4,070 million
in the prior year. This decrease of CHF 338 million was mainly due
to outsourcing and offshoring initiatives, lower variable compen-
sation accruals as well as our ongoing cost reduction programs.

General and administrative expenses decreased by CHF 119
million to CHF 4,144 million. On an adjusted basis, excluding net
restructuring charges of CHF 240 million in 2014 and CHF 513
million in 2013, general and administrative expenses increased by
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CHF 154 million, mainly due to higher professional fees related to
our strategic and regulatory priorities as well as increased out-
sourcing activities. These increases were partly offset by a net re-
lease of CHF 125 million for provisions for litigation, regulatory
and similar matters compared with charges of CHF 187 million.

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment in-
creased marginally to CHF 762 million, mainly reflecting higher
depreciation charges related to capitalized software, largely offset
by CHF 42 million lower restructuring charges.

The business divisions and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio were
charged CHF 8,161 million for shared services, a decrease of CHF
220 million.

Operating expenses after service allocations

Total operating expenses remaining in Corporate Center — Core
Functions, after allocations to the business divisions and Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio, decreased to CHF 688 million from CHF 847
million. This decrease of CHF 159 million was mainly due to a net
release of CHF 125 million for provisions for litigation, regulatory
and similar matters compared with charges of CHF 187 million in
the prior year, partly offset by additional expenses related to our
strategic and regulatory priorities.

Operating expenses remaining in Corporate Center — Core
Functions related mainly to Group governance functions and
other corporate activities, as well as the difference between the
actual costs incurred for internal services and the associated
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guaranteed cost allocations to the business divisions and Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio. This difference amounted to CHF 38
million in 2014.

Risk-weighted assets

Fully applied Basel Il risk-weighted assets (RWA) increased by CHF
9 billion to CHF 30 billion as of 31 December 2014, primarily due
to CHF 3 billion higher incremental RWA resulting from the sup-
plemental operational risk capital analysis mutually agreed to by
UBS and FINMA and CHF 3 billion higher market risk RWA, mainly
reflecting reduced diversification benefits.

- Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for
more information on risk-weighted assets

Personnel

As of 31 December 2014, Corporate Center — Core Functions
employed 23,637 personnel compared with 23,860 at the end of
the prior year. This decrease of 223 personnel was mainly related
to our ongoing cost reduction programs and outsourcing activi-
ties. As of 31 December 2014, 22,667 personnel were allocated
to the business divisions and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio,
based on services consumed. Personnel remaining in Corporate
Center — Core Functions after allocations decreased to 970 from
1,055 and related to Group governance functions and other cor-
porate activities.



2013 compared with 2012

Operating income
Total operating income was negative CHF 1,007 million in 2013.
Treasury income remaining in Corporate Center — Core Functions
of negative CHF 902 million and an own credit loss on financial
liabilities designated at fair value of CHF 283 million were partly
offset by income related to other items of CHF 178 million. Total
operating income in the prior year was negative CHF 1,689 mil-
lion.
-> Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on own
credit

Treasury income remaining in Corporate Center — Core Func-
tions, after allocations to the business divisions, was negative CHF
902 million. This was mainly due to central funding costs of CHF
510 million, which were retained in Group Treasury, losses of CHF
222 million from cross-currency basis swaps which are held as
economic hedges and net losses of CHF 194 million related to the
buyback of debt in public tender offers. Furthermore, we recorded
losses of CHF 153 million related to our macro cash flow hedge
models. These negative effects were partly offset by net gains of
CHF 47 million, related to high-quality liquid asset portfolios
which represent the difference between the financial costs in-
curred and the economic charges to the business divisions and
Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. This differ-
ence arises mainly due to fair value movements on derivative in-
struments used to economically hedge high-quality liquid finan-
cial investments available-for-sale on which unrealized fair value
changes are recorded directly in equity.

Compared with the prior year, treasury income remaining in
Corporate Center — Core Functions decreased to negative CHF
902 million from positive CHF 688 million. The 2012 result in-
cluded gains of CHF 152 million related to our macro cash flow

hedge models, as opposed to the abovementioned losses in 2013,
and central funding costs retained in Group Treasury of CHF 268
million compared with CHF 510 million. Furthermore, 2013 in-
cluded the aforementioned losses from cross-currency basis swaps
and net losses related to the buyback of debt as well as a decline
in revenues to CHF 22 million from CHF 245 million in the repur-
chase agreement unit, which was transferred from the Investment
Bank to Corporate Center — Core Functions in 2013 and for which
prior period information was restated. Whereas restated results
reflected no allocation of revenues from the repurchase agree-
ment unit to the business divisions, from 2013 onwards revenues
from this unit are allocated to the business divisions, mainly to
Wealth Management. 2013 also included CHF 206 million lower
realized gains on sales of financial investments held in the avail-
able-for-sale portfolio which was transferred from Wealth Man-
agement Americas to Group Treasury during 2013.
- Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information on funding costs

We recorded an own credit loss on financial liabilities designated
at fair value of CHF 283 million, primarily due to tightening of our
funding spreads. The prior year included an own credit loss of CHF
2,202 million when our funding spreads tightened significantly.

Operating income excluding own credit and treasury income
was CHF 178 million, largely due to gains on sales of real estate
of CHF 288 million, partly offset by CHF 102 million in net funding
costs related to the goodwill and intangible assets that arose from
the PaineWebber acquisition which are retained in Corporate
Center — Core Functions with effect from 1 January 2013. In
2012, income related to other items was negative CHF 175 mil-
lion, mainly due to charges related to our multi-currency portfolio
of unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets managed cen-
trally by Group Treasury and charges for certain provisions for liti-
gation, regulatory and similar matters which were recorded within
other income, partly offset by gains on sales of real estate of CHF
112 million.
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Operating expenses before service allocations

On a gross basis, before service allocations to the business divi-
sions and Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, total
operating expenses decreased by CHF 768 million to CHF 9,227
million, including net restructuring charges of CHF 707 million
compared with CHF 37 million in the prior year. The prior year
included the positive effects from changes to our Swiss pension
plan and our retiree benefit plans in the US of CHF 276 million
and CHF 16 million, respectively. Adjusted for these items, operat-
ing expenses before allocations to the business divisions and Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio were CHF 8,520 million compared with
CHF 10,250 million in the prior year. This decrease of CHF 1,730
million was mainly due to CHF 1,283 million lower charges for
provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters, our ongo-
ing cost reduction programs and lower marketing costs.

Personnel expenses increased by CHF 89 million to CHF 4,199
million. Adjusted for net restructuring charges of CHF 129 million
compared with CHF 24 million in 2012, as well as the abovemen-
tioned positive effects from changes to our Swiss pension plan
and our retiree benefit plans in the US, personnel expenses were
CHF 4,070 million in 2013 compared with CHF 4,378 million in
the prior year. This decrease of CHF 308 million was mainly due to
further headcount reductions related to our ongoing cost reduc-
tion programs.

General and administrative expenses decreased by CHF 973
million to CHF 4,263 million. On an adjusted basis, excluding net
restructuring charges of CHF 513 million in 2013 and restructur-
ing releases of CHF 1 million in 2012, general and administrative
expenses decreased by CHF 1,487 million, mainly due to CHF
1,283 million lower charges for provisions for litigation, regula-
tory and similar matters and lower marketing costs.

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment in-
creased to CHF 761 million from CHF 647 million, mainly due to
real estate-related restructuring charges of CHF 65 million com-
pared with CHF 14 million as well as higher amortization and an
impairment of capitalized software.
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The business divisions and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio were
charged CHF 8,381 million for shared services costs, an increase
of CHF 395 million, mainly related to higher restructuring charges,
partly offset by lower cost allocations following reduced person-
nel expenses incurred.

Operating expenses after service allocations
Total operating expenses remaining after allocations to the busi-
ness divisions and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio decreased to
CHF 847 million from CHF 2,008 million. This decrease of CHF
1,161 million was mainly due to CHF 1,283 million lower charges
for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters.
Operating expenses remaining in Corporate Center — Core
Functions are related to Group governance functions and other
corporate activities.

Risk-weighted assets

Fully applied Basel Ill risk-weighted assets (RWA) were CHF 21
billion as of 31 December 2013, CHF 5 billion higher than at the
end of the prior year, mainly due to incremental RWA resulting
from the supplemental operational risk capital analysis mutually
agreed to by UBS and FINMA.

-> Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for
more information on risk-weighted assets

Personnel

As of 31 December 2013, Corporate Center — Core Functions em-
ployed 23,860 personnel compared with 25,351 as of 31 Decem-
ber 2012. This decrease of 1,491 personnel was mainly related to
our ongoing cost reduction programs. As of 31 December 2013,
22,804 personnel were allocated to the business divisions as well
as Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, based on services consumed.
The 1,055 personnel remaining in Corporate Center — Core Func-
tions after allocations were related to Group governance func-
tions and other corporate activities.



Corporate Center - Non-core and Legacy Portfolio

Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio recorded a loss before tax of CHF 1,965 million in 2014 compared with
a loss of CHF 2,312 million in the prior year. Operating income was negative CHF 821 million, and included negative
funding and debit valuation adjustments on derivatives of CHF 345 million, as well as losses from unwind and novation
activity. Operating expenses decreased to CHF 1,144 million from CHF 2,660 million, mainly due to lower charges for
provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters. Risk-weighted assets decreased significantly, by CHF 28 billion

to CHF 36 billion.

Corporate Center reporting — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio’

As of or for the year ended

% change from

CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.14 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.13
Non-core (519) (50) 1,135 938
Legacy Portfolio " (304) 304 38 h

of which: SNB StabFund option o 412 539 (100)
Income (823) 344 1,516
Credit loss (éipense)/reconéfyz B 3 (78) (33)
Total operating income (821) 347 1,439
Personnel expenses 371 515 628 (28)
General and admlnlstratlve expenses 684 ' 2 022 ”1',141 ' (66)
Services (to)/from other busmess d|V|5|ons 62 ' 65 335 ' (5)
Depreciation and |mpa|rment ofproperty and equipment Y 55 vt ' (51)
Impalrment of goodwill ' 0 0 "3',030 '
Amomzatlon and |mpa|rmént of mtanglble assets 0 3 28 '(100)
Total operating expenses? 1,144 2,660 5,202 (57)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (1,965) (2,312) (3,764) (15)
Additional information
Average attributed equity (CHF billion)* 4.9 10.8 16.5 (55)
Total assets (CHF billion)* 1169.8 21510 4286 e
Risk- welghted assets (fuIIy applled CHF b|II|on) 35 7 . 635 1025 h (44)
Risk- Welghted assets (phase in, CHF b||||on) 357 635 1025 h (44)
Leverage ratio denominator (phase in, CHF b||||on) ”'93.4 ' 160 0 h (42)
Personnel before aIIocatlons (fuII time equwalents) 137 222 541 (38)
Allocations from business d|V|5|ons (full-time equwalents)' h "1',343 "1',363 "1',763 ' (1)
Personnel after allocations (full-time equivalents) 1,480 1,585 2,304 (7)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes, and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new

accounting standards or changes in accounting policies. 2 Includes credit loss (expense)/ recovery on reclassified and acquired securities.
section of this report for information on restructuring charges. 4 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework.

3 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information”
5 Based on third-party view, i.e.,

without intercompany balances. 6 Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the " Capital manage-
ment” section of this report for more information. 7 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data
represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Refer to the " Capital management” section of this report for more information.
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Financial and operating performance
Corporate Center

2014 compared with 2013

Operating income by business unit

Non-core

Income was negative CHF 519 million in 2014, mainly due to a
net loss of CHF 260 million related to funding and debit valuation
adjustments (FVA/DVA) on derivatives, of which CHF 175 million
was recorded upon the implementation of FVA. In addition, the
year included negative revenues of CHF 202 million mainly due to
novation and unwind activity in rates, as well as a loss of CHF 97
million in structured credit as a result of the exit of the majority of
the correlation trading portfolio. This was partly offset by a valua-
tion gain of CHF 68 million on certain equity positions.

In the prior year, Non-core revenues were negative CHF 50 mil-
lion, mainly due to a negative debit valuation adjustment of CHF
99 million, partly offset by slightly positive revenues in rates and
credit.

- Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting
changes” section as well as “Note 1b Changes in accounting
policies, comparability and other adjustments” and “Note 24 Fair
value measurement” in the “Financial information” section of
this report for more information on the implementation of
funding valuation adjustments

Legacy Portfolio

Income was negative CHF 304 million in 2014, mainly due to a
loss of CHF 108 million resulting from the termination of certain
credit default swap (CDS) contracts and a net loss of CHF 85 mil-
lion related to FVA/DVA on derivatives, of which CHF 77 million
was recorded upon the implementation of FVA. In addition, 2014
included valuation losses on financial assets designated at fair
value and losses related to the sale of the remaining student loan
auction rate securities positions.

Compared with the prior year, income in the Legacy Portfolio
decreased to negative CHF 304 million from positive CHF 394
million, mainly due to the abovementioned losses in 2014. In
2013, we exercised our option to acquire the SNB StabFund’s eg-
uity and recorded total option revaluation gains of CHF 431 mil-
lion prior to the exercise.
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Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased to CHF 1,144 million from
CHF 2,660 million in the prior year.

Personnel expenses declined by CHF 144 million to CHF 371
million, mainly due to a decrease in front office personnel and
restructuring charges of CHF 17 million in 2014 compared with
CHF 35 million in the prior year.

General and administrative expenses decreased by CHF 1,338
million to CHF 684 million, largely as charges for provisions for
litigation, regulatory and similar matters declined by CHF 1,127
million to CHF 193 million. Furthermore, restructuring charges de-
clined by CHF 159 million to CHF 14 million. 2014 included a
charge of CHF 52 million for the annual UK bank levy compared
with CHF 68 million in 2013. Also, 2014 included CHF 120 million
in net charges related to certain disputed receivables compared
with CHF 88 million in 2013.

Charges for services from other business divisions decreased by
CHF 3 million to CHF 62 million, mainly as a result of reduced
consumption of shared services.

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment de-
creased to CHF 27 million from CHF 55 million, mainly due to the
absence of restructuring charges compared with CHF 26 million in
the prior year.

Risk-weighted assets

Risk-weighted assets (RWA) decreased significantly by CHF 28 bil-
lion to CHF 36 billion.

Non-core RWA decreased by CHF 16 billion to CHF 16 billion
as a result of reductions of outstanding over-the-counter deriva-
tive transactions by means of negotiated bilateral settlements
with specific counterparties, third-party novations or trade com-
pressions. Furthermore, incremental RWA resulting from the sup-
plemental operational risk capital analysis mutually agreed to by
UBS and FINMA reduced by CHF 3 billion. Lastly, the aforemen-
tioned exit of the majority of the correlation trading portfolio re-
sulted in a CHF 1 billion RWA reduction.

Legacy Portfolio RWA decreased by CHF 12 billion to CHF 19
billion, mainly resulting from the aforementioned termination of
certain CDS contracts, the sale of the remaining student loan auc-



tion rate securities positions as well as due to the exit of certain
positions across the collateralized loan obligations, refer-
ence-linked notes and real estate securities portfolios. Further-
more, incremental RWA resulting from the supplemental opera-
tional risk capital analysis mutually agreed to by UBS and FINMA
reduced by CHF 1 billion.

- Refer to the discussions of “Corporate Center — Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio” and “Capital management” in the “Risk,
treasury and capital management” section of this report for
more information on risk-weighted assets

Balance sheet assets

During 2014, balance sheet assets decreased by CHF 45 billion to
CHF 170 billion, largely due to a CHF 33 billion decline in positive
replacement values in Non-core. During the year, we executed a
series of risk transfers to exit the majority of the correlation trad-
ing portfolio, which involved entering into a large number of
back-to-back trades to transfer market risk. We subsequently
derecognized these trades from our balance sheet via novations
to third parties, thereby transferring credit risk, and reducing PRV
by approximately CHF 11 billion The originally targeted novations
are now complete. Within our rates portfolio, PRV decreased due
to negotiated bilateral settlements with specific counterparties,
third-party novations, including transfers to central clearing
houses, and agreements to net down trades with other dealer
counterparties, partly offset by currency and interest rate move-
ments. Funded assets decreased by CHF 10 billion to CHF 11 bil-
lion, mainly due to the full repayment of the loan to the BlackRock

fund, the full exit of precious metal holdings held on behalf of
clients and the maturing of the last remaining trade in the struc-
tured reverse repo portfolio. Furthermore, funded assets declined
following the final exit from student loan auction rate securities,
the sale of CMBS assets used to hedge certain CDS contracts fac-
ing monolines that were terminated during the year and a num-
ber of smaller position reductions.
- Refer to the “Balance sheet” section of this report for more
information
-> Refer to “Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio”
in the “Risk management and control” section of this report
for more information

Leverage ratio denominator

The leverage ratio denominator decreased to CHF 93 billion as of
31 December 2014 from CHF 160 billion at the end of the prior
year, mainly due to a reduction in average balance sheet assets.
-> Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for
more information on the leverage ratio denominator

Personnel

As of 31 December 2014, a total of 1,480 personnel were em-
ployed within Non-core and Legacy Portfolio compared with
1,585 at the end of the prior year. Front office personnel de-
creased to 137 from 222 and personnel allocated from Corporate
Center shared services units decreased by 20 to 1,343.
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Financial and operating performance
Corporate Center

2013 compared with 2012

Operating income by business unit

Non-core
Total income was negative CHF 50 million in 2013, mainly due to
a negative debit valuation adjustment of CHF 99 million, partly
offset by slightly positive revenues in rates of CHF 19 million and
credit of CHF 15 million. These modestly positive revenues demon-
strate that significant reductions in RWA and balance sheet as-
sets, as well as operational complexity, following the accelerated
implementation of our strategy, were achieved at negligible cost.
In the prior year, Non-core revenues were positive CHF 1,135
million as, during 2012, the portfolios were actively traded and
benefited from increased liquidity, with strong two-way client
flow that resulted in higher revenues.

Legacy Portfolio

Total income was CHF 394 million in 2013. We exercised our op-
tion to acquire the SNB StabFund’s equity and recorded total op-
tion revaluation gains of CHF 431 million prior to the exercise,
partly offset by a reduction in trading revenues due to an interest
charge of CHF 34 million relating to tax obligations of the SNB
StabFund.

Legacy Portfolio income excluding the SNB StabFund option
was negative CHF 18 million, mainly due to mark-to-market losses
of CHF 122 million in the municipal portfolios, partly offset by
gains of CHF 84 million from reference-linked note portfolios.

Compared with the prior year, income in the Legacy Portfolio
increased to CHF 394 million from CHF 381 million, mainly as
2012 included losses on collateralized debt obligations (CDO) and
related hedging swaps of CHF 171 million as we exited certain
CDO positions to reduce RWA. In 2012, we recorded gains of CHF
526 million on the revaluation of our option to acquire the SNB
StabFund’s equity.

Credit loss expense/recovery

In 2013, we recorded credit loss recoveries of CHF 3 million,
mainly in the Legacy Portfolio, due to sales and redemptions of
student loan auction rate securities impaired in prior periods. Net
credit loss expenses were CHF 78 million in 2012, which mainly
reflected an impairment charge related to certain student loan
auction rate securities, subsequently sold to reduce RWA.
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Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased to CHF 2,660 million from
CHF 5,202 million in the prior year.

Personnel expenses declined by CHF 113 million to CHF 515
million, mainly due to a decrease in front office personnel follow-
ing the accelerated implementation of our strategy and head-
count reductions related to our ongoing cost reduction programs,
as well as restructuring charges of CHF 35 million in 2013 com-
pared with CHF 58 million in the prior year.

General and administrative expenses increased by CHF 881
million to CHF 2,022 million, largely due to charges for provisions
for litigation, regulatory and similar matters of CHF 1,320 million
compared with CHF 634 million, restructuring charges of CHF
173 million compared with zero, as well as an impairment charge
of CHF 87 million related to certain disputed receivables.

Charges for services from other business divisions decreased by
CHF 270 million to CHF 65 million, mainly as a result of reduced
consumption of shared services.

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment in-
creased to CHF 55 million from CHF 41 million, mainly due to re-
structuring charges of CHF 26 million compared with zero in the
prior year.

An impairment of goodwill of CHF 3,030 million was recog-
nized in 2012.

Risk-weighted assets

RWA for Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio de-
creased by CHF 39 billion to CHF 64 billion, significantly below
our year-end 2013 target of CHF 85 billion.

Non-core RWA decreased by CHF 32 billion to CHF 33 billion
as a result of continued activity targeted at reducing the number
of outstanding over-the-counter derivative transactions by means
of negotiated bilateral settlements with specific counterparties,
third-party novations or trade compressions. These reductions
were partly offset by the effect of the supplemental operational
risk capital analysis mutually agreed to by UBS and FINMA.

Legacy Portfolio RWA decreased by CHF 7 billion to CHF 31 bil-
lion, mainly due to sales and redemptions of student loan auction
rate securities and sales of bonds within the reference-linked notes
portfolios. These reductions were partly offset by the effect of the
supplemental operational risk capital analysis referred to above.



Balance sheet assets

Balance sheet assets decreased 50% to CHF 215 billion as of
31 December 2013 from CHF 429 billion as of 31 December
2012. This decrease was mainly due to a CHF 166 billion reduc-
tion in positive replacement values, largely in Non-core, primarily
as a result of significant ongoing unwind, novation and compres-
sion activity during 2013. Funded assets decreased by CHF 39
billion, mainly as a result of exiting government and other liquid
bond positions along with the sale of distressed assets in Non-
core, as well as sales and redemptions of student loan auction
rate securities in the Legacy Portfolio.

Personnel

As of 31 December 2013, a total of 1,585 personnel were em-
ployed within Non-core and Legacy Portfolio compared with
2,304 as of 31 December 2012. Front office personnel decreased
to 222 from 541 and personnel allocated from Corporate Center
shared services units decreased by 400 to 1,363.
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Risk, treasury
and capital
management

Audited information according to IFRS 7 and IAS 1

Risk and capital disclosures provided in line with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standard 7 (IFRS 7) Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, and International Accounting Standard 1 (IAS 1) Financial Statements: Presentation form part of the finan-
cial statements audited by the independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young Ltd, Basel. Information that has been
subject to audit is marked as “Audited” within this section of the report and is considered part of the audited financial statements
included in the “Financial information” section of this report. Audited information provided in this section applies to both UBS Group
AG (consolidated) and UBS AG (consolidated). Differences between these two scopes of consolidation are provided where applicable.
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Implementation of the recommendations of the Enhanced Disclosure Task Force (EDTF)

Implementation of EDTF recommendations

The Enhanced Disclosure Task Force (EDTF) was established by the
Financial Stability Board (FSB) in 2012 to facilitate discussion
among users, authors and other interested parties as to how dis-
closure can be enhanced to help restore investor confidence in
banks. We are a member and endorse the work of the EDTF. In its
“Enhancing the Risk Disclosure of Banks” report issued on
29 October 2012, the EDTF set out recommendations designed to
guide banks in disclosing their risk, liquidity and funding, and
capital management in a more transparent and comprehensible
way.

The EDTF recommendations are based on seven principles,
which emphasize the importance of clear, balanced, comprehen-
sive and relevant disclosures. Further, they require that disclosures
be based on the same information that senior management uses
for making its strategic decisions and managing the bank’s risks.
These principles are closely aligned with our own financial disclo-
sure principles of transparency, consistency, simplicity, relevance
and best practice.

We began to incorporate the EDTF recommendations in our
Annual Report 2012 and made significant further improvements
to our disclosures in our Annual Report 2013, including making
structural changes to the "Risk, treasury and capital manage-
ment” section and introducing a large number of new and en-
hanced quantitative and qualitative disclosures. Consistent with
Recommendation 1 of the EDTF, where appropriate, we brought
together those related risk disclosures we consider to be most
relevant to a particular component of our business, including in-

Throughout the Annual Report, signposts
that are displayed at the beginning of a
section, table or chart — Pillar 3 |
— indicate that those items have been
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audited, have addressed the recommenda-
tions of the Enhanced Disclosure Task
Force, or are Basel Pillar 3 disclosure
requirements, respectively. A “triangle”

tegrating certain disclosures, which had been previously pre-
sented separately within our Pillar 3 disclosures or our consoli-
dated financial statements.

In 2014, the EDTF examined how its recommendations were
implemented in the 2013 annual reports published by 41 selected
banks, including UBS, and its findings were published by the FSB
on 30 September 2014 in its 2014 Progress Report on Implemen-
tation of the EDTF Principles and Recommendations. Several dis-
closures from our Annual Report 2013 were provided as examples
of leading practice in the progress report, and bilateral feedback
from the EDTF affirmed our implementation of other key recom-
mendations, ranking us very favorably relative to the other sur-
veyed banks.

Consistent with our financial disclosure principles, we regard
the enhancement of our disclosures as an ongoing commitment.
We continue to regularly review our disclosures for further amend-
ments that may be necessary to better reflect the developments in
our business, as well as the principles and recommendations es-
tablished by the EDTF.

T